

"Protecting Public Health and the Environment"

CONTRACT NO. B485

PASSAIC VALLEY SEWERAGE COMMISSION 600 WILSON AVENUE NEWARK, NEW JERSEY 07105

CONTRACT AND SPECIFICATIONS

FOR

SUPPORT SERVICES FOR THE PLANTWIDE BUILDING AUTOMATIC TEMPERATURE CONTROL SYSTEM FOR A TWO (2) YEAR PERIOD

December 2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DIVISION 0 - BIDDING REQUIREMENTS

| 00000 | BID DOCUMENT SUBMISSION CHECKLIST |
|----------|--|
| 00100 | INVITATION TO BID AND INSTRUCTION TO BIDDERS |
| 00300 | BID FORMS – PROPOSAL |
| 00301 | BID BOND |
| 00302 | SURETY COMPANY CERTIFICATE |
| 00303 | STATEMENT OF OWNERSHIP |
| 00304 | AFFIRMATIVE ACTION COMPLIANCE |
| 00305 | BID SHEET |
| 00306 | NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT |
| 00400 | SUPPLEMENTS TO BID FORMS |
| 00401 | REFERENCE QUESTIONNAIRE |
| 00402 | ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT OF CHANGES TO BID DOCUMENTS FORM |
| 00403 | SUBCONTRACTOR LISTING |
| 00404 | PUBLIC WORKS CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION |
| 00500 | CONTRACT AGREEMENT |
| 00700 | GENERAL CONDITIONS |
| 00800 | SUPPLEMENTAL CONDITIONS |
| | |
| DIMIGION | 1 CENEDAL DECLIDEMENTS |

| DIVIDIOI | 1 - OLIVLIAL INEQUINEMILIATO | |
|----------------|--|----------------------|
| 01010 | SCOPE OF WORK | |
| 01010 | ERRORS OR OMISSIONS OF DETAILS IN SPECIFICA | TIONS |
| 01025 | PAYMENT | |
| 01037 | REPLACEMENTS | |
| 01038 | CARE AND PROTECTION OF PROPERTY AND MATE | RIALS |
| 01040 | CONCURRENT WORK AND OTHER CONTRACTORS | |
| 01046 | WORKING HOURS | |
| 01047 | MANUFACTURER'S CERTIFICATION AND ACCEPTAN | NCE |
| 01048 | SUBCONTRACTORS | |
| 01049 | WORK DONE BY PVSC PERSONNEL | |
| 01301 | SHOP DRAWING SUBMITTALS | |
| 01302 | O & M MANUALS | |
| 01303 | RECORD DRAWINGS | |
| 01304 | SHOP DRAWINGS AND O & M MANUAL REVIEW | |
| 01309 | SPARE PARTS, SPECIAL TOOLS LUBRICANTS | |
| 01310 | SCHEDULING | |
| 01410 | TESTING OF MATERIALS | |
| 01420 | INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE | |
| 01421 | DEFECTIVE WORK, EQUIPMENT OR MATERIALS | 41105 |
| 01422 | OWNER'S RIGHT TO DO WORK AND THREE-DAY CL | AUSE |
| 01602 01603 | TOOLS, EQUIPMENT AND UTILITIES SAFETY | |
| 01603 | MATERIALS HANDLING AND STORAGE | |
| 01630 | DOMESTIC PRODUCTS AND MATERIALS | |
| 01710 | QUALIFICATION OF CONTRACTOR | |
| 01710 | TRADE PRACTICE/SUPERVISION | |
| 01720 | WARRANTY AND QUALITY ASSURANCE | |
| 01750 | MAINTENANCE OF PLANT OPERATIONS DURING CO | ONSTRUCTION |
| 01700 | With the transfer of the trans | one meeting the many |
| DIVISION | 2 - SITE WORK | ** |
| DIVISION | 3 - CONCRETE | ** |
| DIVISION | 4 - MASONRY | ** |
| DIVISION | 5 - METALS | ** |

| DIVISION 6 - V | VOOD AND PLASTIC |
|----------------|---|
| DIVISION 7 - T | HERMAL AND MOISTURE PROTECTION |
| DIVISION 8 - E | OOORS AND WINDOWS |
| DIVISION 9 - F | INISHES |
| DIVISION 10 - | SPECIALTIES |
| DIVISION 11 - | |
| | |
| | FURNISHINGS |
| | SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION |
| DIVISION 14 - | CONVEYING SYSTEMS |
| DIVISION 15 - | <u>MECHANICAL</u> |
| 45054 41150 | |
| 159/1 – AUTO | MATIC TEMPERATURE CONTROLS |
| 1.0 | |
| | Description Contractor's Workforce |
| 1.3 | Contractor's Workforce System Description |
| 1.4 | Submittals |
| 1.5 | Agency and Code Approvals |
| 1.6 1.7 | Software License Agreement Delivery, Storage and Handling |
| 1.8 | Job Conditions |
| _ | Quality Assurance |
| | Specification Nomenclature |
| | Materials General |
| 2.1 | |
| 2.3 | |
| 2.4 | Networks |
| 2.5 | Network Area Controller (NAC) |
| 2.6 | Network Area Controller (NAC) Data |
| 2.8 | Audit Log |
| 2.9 | Database Backup and Storage |
| 2.10 2.11 | Interoperable Digital Controller (IDC) Software |
| | System Programming |
| 2.13 | Object Libraries |
| | Lonworks Network Management |
| | HVAC Panel Construction Other Control System Hardware |
| 3.0 | Execution |
| 3.1 | Installation |
| 3.2 | Wiring and Devices |
| 3.3 3.4 | Services of Manufacturer's Representative Warranty |
| 3.5 | |
| 3.6 | Field Acceptance Testing |
| 3.7 3.8 | • |
| ა.0 | IUGIIUIIUUII |

3.9

Certifications

**

**

** NOT PART OF THIS CONTRACT

APPENDIX 1

Certification of Non-Involvement in Prohibited Activities In Russia Or Belarus

APPENDIX 2

American with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990

APPENDIX 3

Prevailing Wages:

- Essex County
- Statewide NJ
- o Federal Essex County, NJ

APPENDIX 4

Notification Letter for Temporary Chemical or Fuel Storage Tanks, Equipment, & Reciprocation Internal Combustion Engines (RICE) Form. And the Contractor Equipment Visual Leak Inspection SOP and Weekly Visual Leak Detection Log

- 1. Temporary Equipment Notification Package
- 2. Attachment A (Temporary Equipment Notification Form)
- 3. Attachment B (Temporary Equipment Schedule)
- 4. Attachment C (Temporary Equipment Visual Inspection and Monitoring Checklist Procedure)
- 5. Attachment D (Temporary Equipment Visual Inspection and Monitoring Checklist)

APPENDIX 5

EXECUTIVE ORDER 189

APPENDIX 6

Disclosure of Investment Activities in Iran Form

00000 BID DOCUMENT SUBMISSION CHECKLIST

Contract No. B485 - SUPPORT SERVICES FOR THE PLANTWIDE BUILDING AUTOMATIC TEMPERATURE CONTROL SYSTEM FOR A TWO (2) YEAR PERIOD.

NOTE: Failure to submit items 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 12 and 13 below is a mandatory clause for the bid to be

rejected.

| ejected | Item | Contract Section | Initial Each Item Submitted with Bid |
|---------|--|-------------------------|---|
| 1. | Disclosure of Investment Activities in Iran | 00100 and Appendix 6 | |
| 2. | Contractor's NJ Dept. of Treasury Business Registration Certificate | 00100 | |
| 3. | Signature/Bid Form | 00300 | |
| 4. | Bid Bond or Certified Check | 00301 | |
| 5. | Surety Company Certificate | 00302 | |
| 6. | Statement of Ownership | 00303 | |
| 7. | Affirmative Action Compliance | 00304 | |
| 8. | Bid Sheet | 00305 | |
| 9. | Submittal of Bid | 00305 | |
| 10. | Non-Collusion Affidavit | 00306 | |
| 11. | Supplement to Bid Forms Reference Questionnaire | 00401 | |
| 12. | Acknowledgment of Receipt of Changes to Bid Documents | 00402 | |
| 13. | Subcontractor's Listing | 00403 | |
| 14. | Public Works Contractor Registration | 00404 | |
| 15. | Insurance Requirements | 00727 | |
| 16. | Hazardous Material (MSDS) | 00826 | |
| 17. | Notice to all State Vendors | 00833 | |
| 18. | Certification of Non-Involvement in Prohibited Activities in Russia or Belarus | 00100 and Appendix 1 | |

The following are the documents statutorily required with the submission of the bid proposal: Bid Bond or Certified Check (N.J.S.A. 40A:11-21); Consent of Surety (N.J.S.A. 40A:11-22); Statement of Corporate Ownership (N.J.S.A. 52:25-24.2); Acknowledgement of Receipt of Changes to Bid Documents (N.J.S.A. 40A:11-23.1(a); and Subcontractor's Listing (N.J.S.A. 40A:11-16). All items not specifically referenced above are highly encouraged to be submitted with the bid, but must be submitted prior to contract award.

| Name of Bidder: (Company Name) | | |
|-----------------------------------|--|--|
| By Authorized Representative: | | |
| Signature: | | |
| Print Name and Title: | | |
| Date: | | |

DIVISION 0 - BIDDING REQUIREMENTS

00100 <u>INVITATION TO BID AND INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS</u>

All properly submitted proposals will be opened on January 14, 2026 at 10:00 o'clock a.m. in the PVSC Purchasing Department, Administration Building. At that time and place, the sealed proposals will be publicly opened, announced and recorded via the Zoom Conferencing Application at https://pvsc.zoom.us/j/2496333971 Bidders can also dial into the bid opening by phone at (1+646 876 9923), access code (249 633 3971).

Work to be performed under Contract B485 includes, but is not limited to, the furnishing of all safety, supervision, labor, materials, supplies, equipment and all other facilities required to:

Install, and maintain Building Automatic Temperature Control (ATC) systems located throughout PVSC.

The work shall also include any necessary design, additions or alterations required to service, support, or upgrade existing ATC systems at PVSC.

The work required under this contract is indeterminate. Individual Task Orders will be issued to the contractor based on an agreed upon detailed scope of work. Each Task Order shall establish a "Not to Exceed" cost limit based on the labor rates provided in Section 00400.

<u>Security Notice:</u> All contractors, subcontractors, contractor employees and/or representatives entering the plant must have and must present to PVSC Security, government issued identification such as a valid Picture Driver's License or Passport. This applies to bid openings, pre-bid conferences and all on-premises contract work.

All bids must be made upon the blank form of proposal annexed hereto. All blank spaces must be filled in, in ink, in both words and figures, with the amounts for which the proposal is made. The proposal must be signed by the bidder who shall include his business address.

Proposals shall be enclosed in opaque sealed envelopes, addressed to the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission, 600 Wilson Avenue, Newark, New Jersey07105, with the name and address of the bidder plainly marked upon the outside thereof. (If forwarded by mail, the sealed envelope containing the proposal, marked as directed above must be enclosed in another envelope addressed as specified in the Proposal, preferably by registered mail.) If forwarded by express carrier or other delivery service, please be advised that access to the PVSC is restricted to the following address: 699 Avenue P – Newark NJ – 07105 (GPS location of Gate #3) this is for directional purposes is only. The outside envelope containing bids must clearly identify the bid number, contract name, and bid opening date. Failure to follow this procedure is grounds for rejection.

It is the purpose of Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission not to award the contract to any bidder who does not furnish evidence satisfactory to them that he is responsible and that he has sufficient financial resources, ability, experience and equipment to enable him to prosecute the work successfully, and to fulfill all requirements of the contract.

Each bid must be accompanied by a certified check, or by a bid bond in an amount not less than \$1,000 or 10% of the total bid, not to exceed \$20,000.00 enclosed in a sealed envelope, with the bid. Certified checks shall be drawn upon a National Bank or a Trust Company doing business in the State of New Jersey, and shall be payable to the order of the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission. Bid bonds shall be prepared on the form of Bid Bond attached hereto in Section 00301, and shall be duly executed by the bidder as principal and having as surety thereon, sureties or a surety company shall be licensed to do business in the State Of New Jersey, and listed in the current Federal Register, Department of the Treasury Circular 570, "Surety Companies Acceptable on Federal Bonds", and shall be satisfactory to the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission.

Bid securities will be returned to all except the three (3) apparent lowest responsible bidders within ten (10) days after the formal opening of bids, (Sundays and Holidays excepted) and the remaining bid securities will be returned to the unsuccessful bidders within three (3) days (Sundays and Holidays excepted) after the awarding and signing of the contract and the approval of the Contractor's performance bond, or if no Contract has been so executed, within 60 days after the date of the opening of bids, upon demand of the bidder at any time thereafter, as long as he has not been notified of the acceptance of his bid.

All bidders on this Contract are required to complete a "Statement of Ownership" found in Section 00303.

No contractor shall bid on any contract for public work as defined in section 2 of P.L.1963, c. 150 (C.34:11-56.26) unless the contractor is registered pursuant to this act N.J.S.A. 34:11-56.48 et seq. No contractor shall list a subcontractor in a bid proposal for the contract unless the subcontractor is registered pursuant to P.L.1999, c.238 (CN.J.S.A. 34:11-56.48 et seq.) at the time the bid is made. No contractor or subcontractor, including a subcontractor not listed in the bid proposal, shall engage in the performance of any public work subject to the contract, unless the contractor or subcontractor is registered pursuant to that act.

Pursuant to N.J.S.A. 52:32-44, Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission ("Contracting Agency") is prohibited from entering into a contract with an entity unless the bidder/proposer/contractor, and each subcontractor that is required by law to be named in a bid/proposal/contract has a valid Business Registration Certificate on file with the Division of Revenue and Enterprise Services within the Department of the Treasury.

Prior to contract award or authorization, the contractor shall provide the Contracting Agency with its proof of business registration and that of any named subcontractor(s).

Subcontractors named in a bid or other proposal shall provide proof of business registration to the bidder, who in turn, shall provide it to the Contracting Agency prior to the time a contract, purchase order, or other contracting document is awarded or authorized.

During the course of contract performance:

- (1) the contractor shall not enter into a contract with a subcontractor unless the subcontractor first provides the contractor with a valid proof of business registration.
- (2) the contractor shall maintain and submit to the Contracting Agency a list of subcontractors and their addresses that may be updated from time to time.
- (3) the contractor and any subcontractor providing goods or performing services under the contract, and each of their affiliates, shall collect and remit to the Director of the Division of Taxation in the Department of the Treasury, the use tax due pursuant to the Sales and Use Tax Act, (N.J.S.A. 54:32B-1 et seq.) on all sales of tangible personal property delivered into the State. Any questions in this regard can be directed to the Division of Taxation at (609)292-6400. Form NJ-REG can be filed online at http://www.state.nj.us/treasury/revenue/busregcert.shtml.

Before final payment is made under the contract, the contractor shall submit to the Contracting Agency a complete and accurate list of all subcontractors used and their addresses.

Pursuant to <u>N.J.S.A.</u> 54:49-4.1, a business organization that fails to provide a copy of a business registration as required, or that provides false business registration information, shall be liable for a penalty of \$25 for each day of violation, not to exceed \$50,000, for each proof of business registration not properly provided under a contract with a contracting agency.

Emergency Purchases or Contracts

For purchases of an emergent nature, the contractor shall provide its Business Registration Certificate within two weeks from the date of purchase or execution of the contract or prior to payment for goods or services, whichever is earlier.

All bidders on this Contract are required to be eligible for Contract award under the terms and conditions of N.J.S.A 19:44A-20.13 et seq.

The bidder to whom a Contract is awarded will be required to provide the necessary documents as required by the statutory and regulatory cites at <u>N.J.S.A.</u> 10:5-31 <u>et seq.</u> and <u>N.J.A.C.</u> 17:27-1.1 et seq.

The bidder to whom a contract is awarded will be required to execute the contract within ten (10) business days(not including Saturday, Sunday or holidays) from the date of the mailing of a notice from Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission to the bidder, according to the address given him, that the contract is ready for signature; and in case of his failure or neglect so to do, Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission may, at its option, determine that the bidder has abandoned the contract; and thereupon the proposal and acceptance shall be null and void, the bid security accompanying the proposal shall be forfeited to the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission, and the bidder shall additionally be liable for all damages to the Commission occasioned by such default.

Bid Security will be held in lieu of a Performance Bond for the duration of the contract, at which time it will be returned to the Contractor.

The successful bidder shall be solely responsible for the safety of its employees, subcontractors, suppliers and representatives, including but not limited to the development and implementation of effective safety practices and programs in accordance with Federal, State and Local requirements, including the requirements of PVSC's Construction Safety & Health Manual for Contractors:

http://www.nj.gov/pvsc/home/forms/pdf/ConstructionSafetyHealthManualforContractors0827201 2.pdf

Prior to commencing any work at the site the Successful Bidder shall designate in writing to PVSC the name of the person who is their on-site safety officer. The successful bidder shall provide a competent safety officer that must be on the project site at all times. The competent safety officer must hold (or furnish suitable proof of course completion and application for), at a minimum, a valid 10 Hour OSHA Construction card prior to the performance of any work under the contract. The successful bidder shall also furnish personnel meeting the requirements of "competent person" as defined by OSHA for all applicable aspects of the work. Submission of a bid on this project shall constitute a representation by the bidder that it has obtained, reviewed and will comply with the requirements of the Construction Safety & Health Manual, referenced above, as well as all other Federal, State and Local safety requirements,

The Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission reserves the right to reject all bids pursuant to N.J.S.A. 40A:11-13.2, to waive minor informalities and to award the contract to the lowest responsible bidder in accordance with applicable law.

Investment Activities in Iran, Russia or Belarus

In accordance with N.J.S.A. 52:32-58 et seq., Bidder shall certify and submit with their bid forms of Certification promulgated by State of New Jersey Division of Purchase and Property entitled "Certification of Non-Involvement in Prohibited Activities in Iran Form" and "Certification of Non-Involvement In Prohibited Activities In Russia Or Belarus". The forms of Certification and appropriate list dated January 28, 2013 can be found in Appendix 1 of this contract document and at:

https://www.nj.gov/treasury/purchase/forms/DisclosureofInvestmentActivitiesinIran.pdf and http://www.state.nj.us/treasury/purchase/pdf/Chapter25List.pdf, respectively.

Requirements for Ineligible Telecommunication Equipment and Services Providers

The United States Government passed Public Law 115-232 in August of 2020. Among other things, this law prohibits the use of SRF funds for goods and services supplied by specific companies and corporations.

As described in section 889 of Public Law 115-232, covered telecommunications equipment or services includes:

- Telecommunications equipment produced by Huawei Technologies Company or ZTE Corporation (or any subsidiary or affiliate of such entities).
- For the purpose of public safety, security of government facilities, physical security surveillance of critical infrastructure, and other national security purposes, video surveillance and telecommunications equipment produced by Hytera Communications Corporation, Hangzhou Hikvision Digital Technology Company, or Dahua Technology Company (or any subsidiary or affiliate of such entities).
- Telecommunications or video surveillance services provided by such entities or using such equipment.
- Telecommunications or video surveillance equipment or services produced or provided by an entity that the Secretary of Defense, in consultation with the Director of the National Intelligence or the Director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, reasonably believes to be an entity owned or controlled by, or otherwise connected to, the government of a covered foreign country.

There is no exhaustive list of components and services that fall under the prohibition. Project Sponsors should exercise due diligence and be particularly mindful of project components with internet or cellular connections. For example, Sponsors should be mindful of automatic meter reading (AMR) technology and advanced metering infrastructure (AMI), instrumentation control systems (e.g. process control systems, distributed control systems and programmable logic controls), and security cameras and other electronic security measures to ensure that those items are procured from a non-excluded entity. Items included in the prohibition are not eligible SRF costs, and the SRF programs cannot reimburse borrowers for these costs.

Certification of Non-Involvement in Prohibited Activities in Iran

In accordance with P.L.2022, c.3, Bidder shall certify and submit with their bid as set forth therein on a form of Certification promulgated by the Senate and General Assembly of the State of New Jersey entitled "Certification of Non-Involvement in Prohibited Activities in Iran". The form of Certification dated March 25, 2022 can be found in **Appendix 6** of this contract document

If the contract is to be awarded, it will be awarded to the lowest responsive and responsible bidder(s).

All questions must be submitted to <u>Ryan McCann</u> electronically at <u>rmccann@pvsc.com</u>. The final day to submit questions shall be no later than 10:00 am EST seven (7) days prior to bid date, Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays excepted.

Notice of revisions or addenda to the bid documents will be provided [in accordance with N.J.S.A 40A:11-23(c)(2).] no later than seven days, Saturdays, Sundays, or holidays excepted, prior to the date for acceptance of bids, to any person who has submitted a bid or who has received a bid package in any of the following ways: i) in writing by certified mail or ii) by certified facsimile

transmission, meaning that the sender's facsimile machine produces a receipt showing date and time of transmission and that the transmission

Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission Office of the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission 600 Wilson Avenue, Newark, N. J. 07105

| Thomas Fuscaldo: Acting Clerk | Contract No. B485 | |
|-------------------------------|-------------------|--|
| Date: | | |

00300 BID FORMS CONTRACT NO. B485

PASSAIC VALLEY SEWERAGE COMMISSION PROPOSAL TO

SUPPORT SERVICES FOR THE PLANTWIDE BUILDING AUTOMATIC TEMPERATURE CONTROL SYSTEM FOR A TWO (2) YEAR PERIOD

To: PASSAIC VALLEY SEWERAGE COMMISSION

The undersigned, as bidder, declares that the only persons or parties interested in this proposal as principles are named under the bid signatures, that the proposal is made without collusion with any other person, firm or corporation; that he has carefully examined the annexed proposed form of contract and bond and the drawings therein referred to; and that he proposes and agrees, if this proposal is accepted, to contract with the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission, in the form of the copy of the Contract deposited in the office of the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission, to perform all the work described in the contract specifications in the manner and time therein prescribed, and according to the requirements of the Engineer as therein set forth, and that he will take in full payment therefore the following sums, exclusive of all taxes, to wit:

If this proposal shall be accepted by the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission, and the undersigned shall fail to contract as aforesaid, within ten (10) days (not including Sunday) from the date of the mailing of a notice from the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission to him, according to the address herewith given, that the contract is ready for signature, then the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission may at their option determine that the bidder has abandoned the contract and thereupon the proposal and acceptance shall be null and void, and the Bid Bond or certified check and the proceeds thereof for \$1,000.00 or 10% of the total bid, not to exceed \$20,000.00 dollars accompanying this proposal shall become the property of the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission and additionally the bidder shall be liable to said Commission for any and all damages accruing to said Commission by reason of said default; otherwise the accompanying Bid Bond or certified check shall be returned to the undersigned.

Signature of bidder with residence and business address.

| RESIDENTIAL: _ | BUSINESS: | |
|----------------|-----------|--|
| <u>-</u> | | |
| _ | | |
| | | |
| Signed: | Dated: | |

| follows: | |
|---|------------------|
| In case of a corporation, give names of President, Treasu | rer and Manager. |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| Bidder's New Jersey Business Registration Certificate Nu | mber: |
| (Also Provided Copy of Certificate) | |
| | |

The names and residences of all persons and parties interested in the foregoing bid, as principals, are as

The bidder is requested to state below what work of a character similar to that included in the proposed contract he has done, and give references that will enable the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commissioner's to judge his experience, skill and business standing.

This requirement will be fulfilled by completion of the "Reference Questionnaire" included in Section 00401 – Reference Questionnaire.

00301 BID BOND Contract No. B485

| bid, | Principal; and nd unto the Passaic Valley Sewera not to exceed \$20,000.00 for the erally bind ourselves, our heirs, exe | payment of which, we | penal sum of \$1,000 Il and truly to be mad | le, we hereby jointly and |
|------------|--|--|---|---------------------------|
| | ed this | | | |
| The Sew | condition of the above obligation is erage Commission a certain Bid, ract in writing, to: | such that whereas the | Principal has submit | ted to the Passaic Valley |
| SU | JPPORT SERVICES FOR THE PL SYSTE | ANTWIDE BUILDING EM FOR A TWO (2) YE | | ERATURE CONTROL |
| NOV | V THEREFORE, | | | |
| A. | If said Bid shall be rejected, or, in | the alternate, | | |
| B. | If said Bid shall be accepted and Contract attached hereto (properly for his faithful performance of said created by the acceptance of said | y completed in accord d Contract, and shall | ance with said Bid) a | and shall furnish a bond |
| | Then, this obligation shall be voi expressly understood and agreed in no event, exceed the penal amount | that the liability of the | Surety for any and al | |
| shal | Surety, for value received, hereby so be in no way impaired or affected l and said Surety does hereby waive | by any extension of tim | ne within which the Pr | |
| as a | /ITNESS WHEREOF, the Principa re corporations having caused the ed by their proper officers, the day | eir corporate seals to | be hereto affixed ar | |
| Prin | cipal: | Surety: | | |
| | Print Name | | Print Name | _ |
| Ву: | Authorized Signature | By: | Authorized Signature | |
| | Print Name | | Print Name | |
| Title | : | Title: | | |
| Seal | | Seal: | | |

00302 SURETY COMPANY CERTIFICATE

(To Accompany Proposal)

| KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that for and in consideration of the sum of \$1.00, lawful money of the United States, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, paid the undersigned corporation, and for other valuable consideration, the |
|--|
| (Name of Surety Company) |
| corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of and licensed to do business in the State of New Jersey, certifies and agrees, that if Contract No. B485 is awarded to |
| (Name of Bidder) undersigned corporation will execute the Bond or Bonds as required by the Contract Documents and will become surety in the full amount of the Contract price for the faithful performance of the contract and for payment of all persons supplying labor or furnishing materials in connection thence with. |
| (Surety) |

(To be accompanied by the usual proof of authority of officers of surety company to execute the same.)

CONTRACT B485 SO-1

STATEMENT OF OWNERSHIP (OWNERSHIP DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATION)

N.J.S.A. 52:25-24.2 (P.L. 1977, c.33, as amended by P.L. 2016, c.43)

This Statement Shall Be Included with All Bid and Proposal Submissions

| Name of Business: | |
|--------------------------------------|--|
| | |
| Address of Business: | |
| | |
| Name of person completing this form: | |

N.J.S.A. 52:25-24.2:

"No corporation, partnership, or limited liability company shall be awarded any contract nor shall any agreement be entered into for the performance of any work or the furnishing of any materials or supplies, unless prior to the receipt of the bid or proposal, or accompanying the bid or proposal of said corporation, said partnership, or said limited liability company there is submitted a statement setting forth the names and addresses of all stockholders in the corporation who own 10 percent or more of its stock, of any class, or of all individual partners in the partnership who own a 10 percent or greater interest therein, or of all members in the limited liability company who own a 10 percent or greater interest therein, as the case may be.

If one or more such stockholder or partner or member is itself a corporation or partnership or limited liability company, the stockholders holding 10 percent or more of that corporation's stock, or the individual partners owning 10 percent or greater interest in that partnership, or the members owning 10 percent or greater interest in that limited liability company, as the case may be, shall also be listed. The disclosure shall be continued until names and addresses of every noncorporate stockholder, and individual partner, and member, exceeding the 10 percent ownership criteria established in this act, has been listed.

To comply with this section, a bidder with any direct or indirect parent entity which is publicly traded may submit the name and address of each publicly traded entity and the name and address of each person that holds a 10 percent or greater beneficial interest in the publicly traded entity as of the last annual filing with the federal Securities and Exchange Commission or the foreign equivalent, and, if there is any person that holds a 10 percent or greater beneficial interest, also shall submit links to the websites containing the last annual filings with the federal Securities and Exchange Commission or the foreign equivalent and the relevant page numbers of the filings that contain the information on each person that holds a 10 percent or greater beneficial interest."

The Attorney General has advised that the provisions of N.J.S.A. 52:25-24.2, which refer to corporations and partnerships apply to limited partnerships, limited liability partnerships, and Subchapter S corporations.

CONTRACT B485 SO-2

This Ownership Disclosure Certification form shall be completed, signed and notarized.

Failure of the bidder/proposer to submit the required information is cause for automatic rejection of the bid or proposal

Part I

| | - |
|-------------------|--|
| Checl | k the box that represents the type of business organization: |
| | ole Proprietorship (skip Parts II and III, sign and notarize at the end) |
| $\square_{N^{C}}$ | on-Profit Corporation (skip Parts II and III, sign and notarize at the end) |
| Pa | artnership |
| Lir | mited Liability Company |
| $\square_{F^{c}}$ | or-profit Corporation (including Subchapters C and S or Professional Corporation) |
| Ot | ther (be specific): |
| <u>Part</u> | <u>II</u> |
| | I certify that the list below contains the names and addresses of all stockholders in the corporation who own 10 percent or more of its stock, of any class, or of all individual partners in the partnership who own a 10 percent or greater interest therein, or of all members in the limited liability company who own a 10 percent or greater interest therein, as the case may be. |
| | OR |
| | I certify that no one stockholder in the corporation owns 10 percent or more of its stock, of any class, or no individual partner in the partnership owns a 10 percent or greater interest therein, or that no member in the limited liability company owns a 10 percent or greater interest therein, as the case may be. |
| _ | and notarize the form below, and, if necessary, complete the list below. e attach additional sheets if more space is needed): |
| Name: | Name: |
| Addres | es: Address: |
| | |

CONTRACT B485 SO-3 Name: Name: Address: Address: Part III - Any Direct or Indirect Parent Entity Which is Publicly Traded: "To comply with this section, a bidder with any direct or indirect parent entity which is publicly traded may submit the name and address of each publicly traded entity and the name and address of each person that holds a 10 percent or greater beneficial interest in the publicly traded entity as of the last annual filing with the federal Securities and Exchange Commission or the foreign equivalent, and, if there is any person that holds a 10 percent or greater beneficial interest, also shall submit links to the websites containing the last annual filings with the federal Securities and Exchange Commission or the foreign equivalent and the relevant page numbers of the filings that contain the information on each person that holds a 10 percent or greater beneficial interest." Pages attached with name and address of each publicly traded entity as well as the name and address of each person that holds a 10 percent or greater beneficial interest. Submit here the links to the Websites (URLs) containing the last annual filings with the federal Securities and Exchange Commission or the foreign equivalent. **AND** Submit here the relevant page numbers of the filings containing the information on each person holding a 10 percent or greater beneficial interest. (Affiant) Subscribed and sworn before me this ____ day of _____, 2 _____. (Print name of affiant and title if applicable) (Notary Public) (Corporate Seal if a Corporation)

My Commission expires:

00304 AFFIRMATIVE ACTION COMPLIANCE

IF AWARDED A CONTRACT YOUR COMPANY/FIRM WILL BE REQUIRED TO PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION TO THE COMMISSION PRIOR TO THE ACTUAL AWARD OF THE CONTRACT AND/OR EXECUTION THEREOF:

Pursuant to N.J.S.A. 10:5-31, Affirmative Action Compliance is required by Contractors bidding on Contracts let by Public Agencies (see Section 00737). Failure to submit the form may result in the contract being terminated. Upon award and prior to execution of the Contract, the low bidder must furnish the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission with the following documentation:

The Public Agency requires the construction Contractor that is to be awarded the Contract to submit their **Initial Project Workforce Report** (copy marked Public Agency).

Note: The Initial Project Workforce Report (A.A. 201) must be submitted by the seventh calendar day after issuing notification of award.

If the construction Contractor does not submit the Initial Project Manning Report (A.A. 201) within the required time period, the Public Agency <u>may</u> extend the time period to the fourteenth calendar day.

If by the fourteenth calendar day the Contractor does not submit the Affirmative Action document, the Public Agency <u>must</u> declare the Contractor as being non-responsive and may award the Contract to the second lowest responsible bidder.

The Public Agency requires the construction Contractor that is awarded the Contract to submit their **Monthly Project Workforce Report** (A.A. 202) once a month for the duration of the contract to the Dept. of Labor and to the Public Agency Compliance Officer.

00305 BID SHEET (Including Terms and Conditions Applicable to the Proposal)

Contract No. B485 - SUPPORT SERVICES FOR THE PLANTWIDE BUILDING AUTOMATIC TEMPERATURE CONTROL SYSTEM FOR A TWO (2) YEAR PERIOD

| Name of Contractor: | | |
|---------------------|---|--|
| Business Name: | | |
| Mailing Address: | (Mailing Address must include Street Address) | |
| | | |
| Telephone No | Fax No | |
| Contact Person: | | |

A. The Bidder shall furnish all supervision, labor, equipment, materials and supplies necessary to furnish, install, and maintain Building Automatic Temperature Control (ATC) systems located throughout PVSC for a two (2) year period, beginning from the Notice to Proceed date. The work shall also include any necessary design, additions or alterations required to service, support, or upgrade existing ATC systems at PVSC. The Contractor shall have all the necessary licenses to maintain and integrate Invensys/TAC control systems.

The Contractor shall specialize in the Building Automatic Temperature Control System industry. The Contractor shall have a minimum of 10 years of experience including: 10 years of documented experience with LON based DDC's as manufactured by Barber Colman/Siebel/Invensys/TAC/Schneider Electric *I/A Series* and all necessary licensing to service its equipment; minimum 10 years of documented experience and *certification* in the programming and configuration of with Tridium's Niagara Frameworks including N-4.

The Contractor shall ensure that all requested work shall be performed by personnel who are trained and certified to provide the type of service specified, as outlined in section 01710 – Qualification of Contractor.

The contractor shall be reimbursed for materials based on invoice price plus a fixed fee in accordance with the fixed fee schedule provided in Section 01025.

Costs for the Contractor to supply rental equipment that is not included within this contract shall be based on documented invoices. Plus a fixed fee in accordance with a fee schedule provided in Section 01025

For purposes of evaluating and comparing bids only, the contractor shall provide Labor Rates for the identified labor categories identified in Section 00400 to maintain a hypothetical work crew at a PVSC facility, for a period of one forty (40) hour work week per year. The Contractor hourly rates for labor shall commence from the actual time the Contractor reports at the PVSC Facility requiring service until the time leaving PVSC. PVSC will maintain appropriated records showing the actual time the contractor spent on the job. The contractor will not be compensated for any traveling time between place of business and the PVSC Facility where work is to be performed.

All hourly labor rate(s) listed in **listed in Section 00400**) shall be filled out. Failure to do so may be considered a non-responsive bid and may be cause for the bid to be rejected. The hypothetical work crew described is for bid evaluation purposes only. Actual crews, equipment and duration will vary, depending on the specific task to be done.

The work required under this contract is indeterminate. There shall be no fixed contract amount. Individual Task Orders will be issued to the contractor based on an agreed upon detailed scope of work. Each Task Order shall establish a "not to exceed" cost limit, based on the labor rate provided in Section 00400.Contractor's time required to develop a cost proposal for any given task or project and the time spent in pre-construction meeting(s) shall not be compensable.

In the event of a conflict between the bid specifications (request for proposal, invitation to bid, etc.) and the contractors bid submission (proposal, response, etc.) the terms of the specifications (or otherwise as referenced) shall govern the agreement between PVSC and the contractor.

- **B**. All prices are exclusive of N. J. State and Federal Taxes. The Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission is an agency of the State of New Jersey and is exempt from the New Jersey Sales and Use Taxes, pursuant to Section 9(a)(1) of the New Jersey Sales and Use Tax Act (N.J.S.A. 54:32B-1 et seq.).
- C. The cost of all Warrantees shall be included.
- **D.** The bidder's price shall be inclusive, including all labor, equipment, consumables, inspection and transportation. Bidder shall not include the cost of any services provided by PVSC.
- **E.** Prices shall also include all transportation charges on materials removed from site and charges pertaining to disposal and other costs pertaining to the execution of the work.
- **F.** Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission reserves the right to reject all bids, or to accept any bid should they deem it to be in their interest to do so, pursuant to the Local Public Contracts Law ("LPCL"). Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission also reserves the right to waive any minor informality or non-material exceptions in the bid should they deem it to be in their interest to do so pursuant to N.J.S.A. 58:14 et seq.
- G. Contract Period and Extension Option: Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission reserves the right to extend this contract should they deem it to be in their interest to do so, pursuant to the Local Public Contracts Law ("LPCL"). The Contractor will be so notified of the Commission's intent at least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration date of the existing contract. The Contractor shall have fifteen (15) calendar days to respond to the Commission's request to extend the contract. If the Contractor agrees to the extension, all terms and conditions of the original contract, including all prices, will be applicable.
- **H.** The successful Bidder shall maintain for the duration of the work to be done under this contract, Liability Insurance in the amounts specified in the General Conditions, Section 00727. Upon execution of the contract, the contractor shall furnish the PVSC with all certificates of insurance as required and set forth herein.
- I. It is the bidder's responsibility to visit the PVSC facilities to inspect and to verify all locations, dimensions, conditions and access as needed to perform the contract work. Arrangements for the site visits can be arranged, by contacting Mr. Ryan McCann, Senior Engineer at (973) 817-5832.
- J. No variations will be permitted to the terms and conditions of the contract. Terms and conditions are in accordance with Local Public Contracts Law and other applicable law and the policies of the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission. Any bids that include variations to the terms and conditions will be considered non-responsive and will be rejected.
- **K.** No exceptions will be permitted to the terms and conditions of the contract. Terms and conditions are in accordance with N. J. Laws for Public Bidding and the policies of the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission. Any bids that include exceptions to the terms and conditions will be considered non-responsive and will be rejected.
- L. Only Bidders with experience with a similar type of work will be considered. Certification of this experience, and the names and addresses of at least three (3) customers from whom similar work was performed within the last two (2) years, shall be supplied with the bid. A certification questionnaire form is included for the Contractor's convenience.

M. Notice of Executive Order 125 Requirement for Posting of Winning Proposal and Contract Documents

Pursuant to Executive Order No. 125, signed by Governor Christie on February 8, 2013, the Office of the State Comptroller ("OSC") is required to make all approved State contracts for the allocation and expenditure of federal reconstruction resources available to the public by posting such contracts on an appropriate State website. Such contracts are posted on the New Jersey Sandy Transparency website located at:

http://nj.gov/comptroller/sandytransparency/contracts/sandy/.

The contract resulting from this bid is subject to the requirements of Executive Order No. 125. Accordingly, the OSC will post a copy of the contract, including the bid document, the winning bidder's proposal and other related contract documents for the above contract on the Sandy Transparency website.

In submitting its proposal, a bidder may designate specific information as not subject to disclosure. However, such bidder must have a good faith legal and/ or factual basis to assert that such designated portions of its proposal (i) are proprietary and confidential financial or commercial information or trade secrets or (ii) must not be disclosed to protect the personal privacy of an identified individual. The location in the proposal of any such designation should be clearly stated in a cover letter, and a redacted copy of the proposal should be provided.

The State reserves the right to make the determination as to what is proprietary or confidential, and will advise the winning bidder accordingly. The State will not honor any attempt by a winning bidder to designate its entire proposal as proprietary, confidential and/or to claim copyright protection for its entire proposal. In the event of any challenge to the winning bidder's assertion of confidentiality with which the State does not concur, the bidder shall be solely responsible for defending its designation.

- **N.** Unless prevented by strike or strikers which prevent construction or delivery of equipment or supplies from the manufacturer, failure to complete the work within the specified time shall be considered an abandonment of the contract and the Commission may seek redress for damages.
- **O.** The work must be completed without interrupting the operation of the PVSC Treatment Plant. The contractor must schedule his operations in detail with PVSC as noted in Div. 1, Section 01310 of Contract Specifications.
- P. Payment will be made in accordance with Section 01025.
- Q. Proposals shall be enclosed in opaque sealed envelopes, addressed to the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission, 600 Wilson Avenue, Newark, New Jersey07105, with the name and address of the bidder plainly marked upon the outside thereof. (If forwarded by mail, the sealed envelope containing the proposal, marked as directed above must be enclosed in another envelope addressed as specified in the Proposal, preferably by registered mail.) If forwarded by express carrier or other delivery service, please be advised that access to the PVSC is restricted to the following address: 699 Avenue P Newark NJ 07105 (GPS location of Gate #3) this is for directional purposes is only. The outside envelope containing bids must clearly identify the bid number, contract name, and bid opening date. Failure to follow this procedure is grounds for rejection.

To the extent that <u>N.J.S.A.</u> 2A:30A-2 et seq. applies to the project and its related work and/or any agreement between PVSC and the Contractor, all exceptions contained in <u>N.J.S.A.</u> 2A:30A-2(a) et seq. as defined in Section 01025 Payments, shall apply solely for the benefit of PVSC.

| STATE OF NEW JERSEY | | | | |
|---|--------------------------|-------------------|--------------------------|-----------------|
| COUNTY OF | | | § | |
| I, | of the | _ | in | the County |
| of and State of | | , of full age, | being duly sworn | according to |
| law, on my oath depose and say that: | | | | |
| I am | , of | | <u>,</u> the Bidder maki | ng the Bid for |
| this Project. | | | | |
| I execute the said Bid with full a | uthority to do so. | | | |
| I, and to the best of my know | ledge, the Bidder, | and any office | r, director, emplo | yee or other |
| representative of the bidder, have not, di | irectly or indirectly, e | ntered into any | agreement, partic | cipated in any |
| collusion, or otherwise taken any action in | n restraint of free, co | mpetitive biddin | g in connection w | ith the above- |
| named Project. | | | | |
| All statements contained in said | l Bid and all Contrac | t Documents a | nd in this affidavi | t are true and |
| correct, and made with full knowledge th | at the Passaic Valle | y Sewerage Co | mmission rely upo | on the truth of |
| the statements contained in said Bid an | nd Contract Docum | ents, and in the | e statements con | tained in this |
| Affidavit, in awarding the Contract for sa | id Project. | | | |
| I further warrant that no person o | or selling agency has | been employed | d or retained to so | licit or secure |
| such contract agreement or understand | ding for a commissi | on, percentage | e, brokerage or c | ontingent fee |
| except bona fide employees or bona fid | de established comr | nercial or sellir | ng agencies main | tained by the |
| Bidder. | | | | |
| | Sw | orn | on | Behalf |
| of: | | | | |
| | Name of Bidder: | | | _ |
| Sworn and subscribed to before me this day of, 20 | | | | |

Notary Public of New Jersey

CONTRACT NO. B485

CONTRACTOR MUST COMPLETE ALL BID ITEMS OR BID SHALL BE CONSIDERED NON RESPONSIVE

For purposes of evaluating and comparing bids, the Bidder shall provide the following cost to maintain a hypothetical work crew at PVSC Facility, for the period of time outlined below, including a hypothetical material costs and contractor equipment costs.

Hourly Rate per Person shall include all wages, labor, travel, taxes, insurance (including Liability Insurance), overhead, licenses, qualifications, profit and all other mark-ups and costs.

| Column 1 | Column 2 | Column 3 | Column 4 | Column 5 | Column 6 | Column 7 | Column 8 |
|-------------|--|----------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|--|--------------------------------|--|
| ITEM | Labor Classification | Units | Number of Hours | Rate Per Hour Year One | Total Cost Year One No. of Hours x Rate per Hour | Rate Per Hour Year Two | Total Cost Year Two No. of Hours x Rate per Hour |
| 1. | Field Engineer Straight Time | Per Hour | 160 | | | | , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , |
| 2. | Field Engineer Over Time | Per Hour | 40 | | | | |
| 3. | Field Engineer Premium Time | Per Hour | 16 | | | | |
| 4. | Technician Straight Time | Per Hour | 160 | | | | |
| 5. | Technician Over Time | Per Hour | 40 | | | | |
| 6. | Technician Premium Time | Per Hour | 16 | | | | |
| 7. | Hardware Engineer (Remote) Straight Time | Per Hour | 160 | | | | |
| 8. | Hardware Engineer (Remote) Over Time | Per Hour | 40 | | | | |
| 9. | Hardware Engineer (Remote) Premium Time | Per Hour | 16 | | | | |
| 10. | Software Engineer (Remote) Straight Time | Per Hour | 160 | | | | |
| 11. | Software Engineer (Remote) Over Time | Per Hour | 40 | | | | |
| 12. | Software Engineer (Remote) Premium Time | Per Hour | 16 | | | | |
| 13. | Electrician Straight Time | Per Hour | 160 | | | | |
| 14. | Electrician Over Time | Per Hour | 40 | | | | |
| 15. | Electrician Premium Time | Per Hour | 16 | | | | |
| | | | • | Total Year One Sum Column 6 | | Total Year Two Sum Column 8 | |

24 of 98

| LABOR TOTAL (SUM YEAR ONE AND YEAR TWO) (Sum of Column 6 + Column 8) | \$ | |
|--|--------|--|

Overtime and Premium Time will be allowed when approved in advance by PVSC. The overtime hourly rate will be used for more than 8 hours in a day, and all Saturday hours. Premium rate will be used for Sundays and Holidays.

Item 16 Materials

Contractor will be paid for actual cost of materials plus a fixed fee in accordance with a fee schedule provided in Section 01025. Estimated Cost is Actual Cost plus Markup.

| ITEM | ITEM | UNIT | EST. | BID UNIT | ESTIMATED |
|------|-----------|----------------|------|-------------|-------------|
| 16. | Materials | Actual Cost | 1 | \$30,000.00 | \$33,750.00 |

Item 17 Equipment Contractor Owned or Rental

Contractor will be paid for the cost of Contractor owned equipment **ONLY** as specified in footnote for Item 17. Contractor will be paid the cost of rented equipment plus a fixed fee in accordance with a fee schedule provided in Section 01025.

| ITEM | ITEM | UNIT | EST. | BID UNIT | ESTIMATED |
|------|------------------|--------|------|-------------|-------------|
| | Equipment Rental | Actual | 1 | \$30,000.00 | \$33,750.00 |
| 17. | | Cost | | | |

<u>Item 18 Unforeseen Contingency</u>

The "Unforeseen Contingency" allowance is intended to provide for work that may later be determined to be necessary for the completion of the project but is not covered in the bid specifications. Written authorization by the OWNER for utilization of any part of the contingency allowance for any such work shall be required.

| ITEM | ITEM | UNIT | EST | BID UNIT | TOTAL |
|------|------------------------|--------|-----|-------------|-------------|
| 18. | Unforeseen Contingency | Actual | 1 | \$20,000.00 | \$20,000.00 |
| | | Cost | | | |

NOTE: CONTRACTOR MUST COMPLETE ALL BID ITEMS OR BID SHALL BE CONSIDERED NON RESPONSIVE

NOTE: THE TOTAL AMOUNT BID IS THE CORRECT SUM OF THE UNIT PRICES BID MULTIPLIES BY THE LISTED QUANTITIES.

TOTAL BID PRICE

Labor Total of Year One and Year Two (Sum of Column 6 + Column 8) PLUS

Items #16 Materials; #17 Equipment Contractor Owned or Rental and #18 Unforeseen Contingency

| \$ | | |
|----|--|--|
| | | |

| Amount Written | |
|----------------|-------------|
| | Dollars and |
| | Cents |

Begin Footnotes for Item 17

Compensation for Contractor Owned Equipment ONLY

Compensation cost for construction equipment shall be based upon the most current costs established in Rental Rates for Construction Equipment (Blue Book) published by:

Equipment Watch
6151 Powers Ferry Rd
Suite 200
Atlanta, GA 30339
http://www.equipmentwatch.com

The hourly charge for each piece of equipment will be the applicable monthly cost divided by 176 whether owned by the Contractor or rented from an outside source. Regional adjustments and hourly cost to run equipment may be included. Overhead and Profit are to be excluded. Payment will only be allowed actual equipment used on the Project work site. Equipment that is on the job-site but idle or unused will not be included in the cost of the work.

End Footnotes for Item 17.

Contract No. B485 - SUPPORT SERVICES FOR THE PLANTWIDE BUILDING AUTOMATIC TEMPERATURE CONTROL SYSTEM FOR A TWO (2) YEAR PERIOD

00401 Supplement to Bid Forms

REFERENCE QUESTIONNAIRE

A reference list generated by the bidder is acceptable provided all of the information listed below is supplied.

| WERE LIENS CLAIMS OR STOP NOTICES FILED? ATTACH | | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| WERE ANY PENALTIES IMPOSED? ATTACH EXPLANATION | | | |
| WAS TIME EXTENSION NECESSARY YES / NO ATTACH EXPI ANATION | | | |
| APPROX. DATE COMPLTD MO. / YR. | | | |
| LIST NAME & TEL. NO. OF PERSON IN | | | |
| CHECK PRIME OR SUB CONT. PR SUB | | | |
| PROJECT LOCATION & SPECIFIC TYPE OF WORK PERFORMED BY YOUR ORGANIZATION AND CONTRACT PRICE | | | |
| NAME OF OWNER COMPLETE ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER | | | |

Local Unit Reference Number

PASSAIC VALLEY SEWERAGE COMMISSION

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT OF CHANGES TO BID DOCUMENTS FORM

CONTRACT NO. B485

SUPPORT SERVICES FOR THE PLANTWIDE BUILDING AUTOMATIC TEMPERATURE CONTROL SYSTEM FOR A TWO (2) YEAR PERIOD

Pursuant to N.J.S.A. 40A:11-23.1a et seq., the undersigned bidder hereby acknowledges receipt of the following notices, revisions, or addenda to the bid advertisement specifications or bid documents. By indicating date of receipt, bidder acknowledges the submitted bid takes into account the provisions of the notice, revision or addendum. Note that the PVSC's record of notice to bidders shall take precedence and that failure to include provisions of changes in a bid proposal may be subject for rejection of the bid. If there were no revisions or addenda write NONE on the top line, sign the acknowledgment below and submit with the bid documents.

How Received

(mail fax

| or Title of Addendum/Revision | (mail, fax, pick-up, etc.) | Date Received |
|-----------------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------|
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| Acknowledgment by Bidder: | | |
| Name of Bidder: (Company Name) | | |
| By Authorized Representative: | | |
| Signature: | | |
| Print Name and Title: | | |
| Date: | | |
| | | |

00403

PASSAIC VALLEY SEWERAGE COMMISSION

CONTRACT NO. B485 - SUBCONTRACTOR LISTING

The undersigned proposes to use the following subcontractors to perform the work indicated (use additional sheets as required).

| WC | ork to be Performed | Name(s) and Address of Subcontractor(s)** | License Number(s) |
|----|--|---|-------------------|
| 1. | Plumbing & Gas Fitting and all Kindred Work | | - - - |
| 2. | Heating and Ventilation and all Kindred Work | | - - - |
| 3. | Electrical Work | | - - |
| 4. | Structural Steel and Ornamental Iron Work | | - - - |
| | Name and Title of Authori | · | |
| | Signature of Authorized | Representative | |

**IMPORTANT NOTE: Whenever a Bid sets forth more than one subcontractor for any of the specialty trade categories (1) through (4) specified hereinabove in this section, the Bidder shall submit to PVSC a certificate signed by the bidder listing each subcontractor named in the Bid for that category. The certificate shall set forth the scope of work for which the subcontractor has submitted a price quote and which the Bidder has agreed to award to each subcontractor should the Bidder be awarded the contract. The certificate shall be submitted to PVSC simultaneously with the list of subcontractors. The certificate may take the form of a single certificate listing all subcontractors or, alternatively, a separate certificate may be submitted for each subcontractor.

00404 PUBLIC WORKS CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION

PASSAIC VALLEY SEWERAGE COMMISSION 600 WILSON AVENUE NEWARK, NEW JERSEY 07105

PUBLIC WORKS CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION

CONTRACT NO. B485

SUPPORT SERVICES FOR THE PLANTWIDE BUILDING AUTOMATIC TEMPERATURE CONTROL SYSTEM FOR A TWO (2) YEAR PERIOD

1. In accordance with "The Public Works Contractor Registration Act," P.I., 1999, c238 (N.J.S.A. 34:11 – 56.48 et seq.) amended by P.L. 2003, C91.

"No contractor shall bid on any contract for public work as defined in section 2 of P.L 1963, c150 (C34:11 – 56.26 et seq.) unless the contractor is registered pursuant to this act. No contractor shall list a subcontractor in a bid proposal for the contract unless the subcontractor is registered pursuant to P.L 1999, c238 (C34:11 – 56.48 et seq.) at the time the bid is made. No contractor or subcontractor, including a subcontractor not listed in the bid proposal, shall engage in the performance of any public work subject to the contract, unless the contractor is registered pursuant to that act." (N.J.S.A. 34:11 – 56.51 et seq.)

"Contractor means a person, partnership, association, joint stock company, trust, corporation, or other legal business entity or successor thereof who enters into a contract which is subject to the provisions of the "New Jersey Prevailing Wage Act," P.L 1963, c150 (C34:11 – 56.25 et seq.) and includes any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor of a contractor defined herein" (N.J.S.A. 34:11 – 56.50 et seq.).

2. Proof of registration is required before an award can be made:

"Each contractor shall, after the bid is made and prior to the awarding of this contract, submit to the public entity the certificates of registration for all subcontractors listed in the bid proposal. Applications for registration shall not be accepted as a substitute for a certificate of registration for the purposes of this section." (N.J.S.A. 34:11 - 56.55 et seq.).

- 3. On and after August 16, 2003, Contractors and their listed subcontractors bidding on covered work shall provide proof of the required registration prior to the contract award. [As a practical matter, proof of required registration should be submitted with the Bid].
- 4. By signing this form, the Contractor certifies that they shall provide proof of the required registration prior to the contract award.

| (Signature) | (Date) |
|--------------------------------|------------|
| (Signature) | (Date) |
| | |
| | |
| (Name and Title of Signer - Pl | ease type) |

END OF SECTION

00500 CONTRACT AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 2)

CONTRACT NO. B485 PASSAIC VALLEY SEWERAGE COMMISSION 600 WILSON AVENUE NEWARK, NEW JERSEY 07105

CONTRACT AND SPECIFICATIONS FOR

SUPPORT SERVICES FOR THE PLANTWIDE
BUILDING AUTOMATIC TEMPERATURE CONTROL SYSTEM FOR A TWO (2) YEAR PERIOD

| THIS AGREEMENT, made and executed this and between the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission, | day of | , 20 by |
|--|--------|-------------|
| New Jersey, hereinafter called the "Commission," acting through its Chairman, and | | |
| a corporation chartered under the laws of the State of | | partnership |
| individual with principals offices at | | |
| hereinafter called the "Contractor." | | |

WITNESSETH: That the said Contractor has agreed and by these presents does agree with the Commission, for the Prices bid and stipulated in the Proposal herein contained or hereunto annexed and under the terms and conditions expressed in Bonds bearing even date with these presents, and herein contained or hereunto annexed, to furnish at his own cost and expense all the necessary materials, labor, superintendence, tools, and appliances and shall execute, construct, and finish and test in an expeditious and workmanlike manner all the work as described in the contract specifications commencing the work within ten (10) days from the date of Notice to Proceed and executing the same within the time and proceed in the manner specified and in conformity with the requirements set forth in the Contract Documents herein contained or hereunto attached and in accordance with the Contract Specifications of said Work.

In the event that the contract documents, exclusive of the Contractor's Bid Form, are in conflict with the Contractor's Bid or Bid Form, the provisions, terms and conditions of the Commission Contract Documents and specifications shall bind the parties.

The Contractor shall proceed with the said Work in a prompt and diligent manner and shall do all parts thereof at such times in such order as the Commission may approve. Further, he shall complete the whole of said Work in accordance with the Contract Documents to the satisfaction of the Commission.

The Commission shall not be liable to the Contractor for any neglect, default, delay or interference of or by another other contractor, nor shall any such neglect, default, delay or interference of any other contractor, or alteration which may be required in said Work, release the Contractor from the obligation to finish the said Work within the time aforesaid or from the damages to be paid in default thereof.

00500 CONTRACT AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 2)

| Name and addresses of each pe | erson or company interested in the Contract: |
|---|--|
| | |
| bid (less retainage, if any) as compensation for furnishing all n | t the Commission are to pay and the Contractor is to receive the amount stipulated in the proposal herein contained or hereto annexed, as full naterial and labor and in all respects completing the herein described work conditions herein specified, and for fully complying with the terms and |
| date when a fully executed and set forth above and shall remain | ons of law, the Contract shall be in full force and effect from and after the approved counterpart hereof is delivered to the Contractor at the address and continue in full force and effect until after the expiration of the warranty se sureties are finally released by the Commission. |
| IN WITNESS WHEREOF: The mentioned. | parties hereto have executed this agreement the day and year first above |
| | PASSAIC VALLEY SEWERAGE COMMISSION |
| (SEAL) | BY:BRENDAN MURPHY, CHAIRMAN |
| | ATTEST BY: PASSAIC VALLEY SEWERAGE COMMISSION THOMAS FUSCALDO, ACTING CLERK |
| | CONTRACTOR NAME |
| | BY: CONTRACTOR SIGNATURE |
| (SEAL) | ATTEST BY:CONTRACTOR |

00700 **GENERAL CONDITIONS – INDEX** 00701 **Knowledge of Contract Conditions & Requirements** 00702 **Surety Bond** 00703 **Obligation of Contractor** 00704 **Engineering Decision Final** 00705 **Bankruptcy of Contractor** 00706 **Responsibility of Contractor** 00707 **Claims by Contractor** 00708 **Completion of Work** 00709 **Subcontracts** 00710 **Changes to Contract** 00711 **No Waiver of Contract** 00712 **Claims for Extra Work** 00713 N. J. Contract Laws 00714 **Starting Date** 00715 **Contractor Inspection of Site** 00716 **Prior Site Visit** 00717 **Existing Physical Conditions** 00718 **Joint Venture** 00719 **Omissions by Sub-Contractors** 00720 N. J. Statutes 00721 **Access to Work** 00722 **Temporary Utilities** 00723 **Permits** 00724 **Save Owner Harmless** 00725 NOT USED IN THIS CONTRACT 00726 NOT USED IN THIS CONTRACT 00727 **Insurance Requirements** 00728 **Removal of Temporary Work** 00729 **Release from All Claims** 00730 **Claims Against Contractor** 00731 **Lien Against Contractor** 00732 **Consent of Surety to Final Payment** 00733 NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS CONTRACT 00734 **Certification of Engineer** 00735 **Extra Work**

00736

00737

Default of Contractor

Affirmative Action and Americans With Disabilities Act

00738 Substantial Completion and Inspections

00700 GENERAL CONDITIONS

00701 The Contractor enters into this agreement with the full knowledge of the conditions and requirements of the specifications, including the physical characteristics above, on and below the surface of the ground where applicable.

The Contractor will, simultaneously with the execution of this contract, deliver to PVSC a surety bond of a surety company qualified to do business in New Jersey, and shall be listed in the current Federal Register, Department of the Treasury Circular 570. "Surety Companies acceptable on Federal Bonds." The said surety bond will provide that the surety company will become surety for the faithful performance of the work and shall be in an amount equal to the contract price, and shall be so conditioned as to indemnity PVSC against any losses due to the failure of the Contractor to conform to the requirements.

The form of the surety bond shall be subject to the approval of the Chief Counsel of PVSC and shall be in accordance with the requirements of N.J.S.A. 2A:44-143 to 147.

00703 The Contractor agrees that during the entire term of the contract it will pursue the work faithfully and diligently and will, at all times, have the necessary sources of supply, labor, material and machinery necessary to complete the contract in accordance with the terms of the specifications.

00704 All work done under this contract shall be done to the satisfaction of the Engineer of PVSC, who shall in all cases determine the amount, quality, acceptability and fitness of the material and work which are to be paid for hereunder and shall decide any questions which may arise as to the fulfillment of this decision thereon shall be final and conclusive. The word "Engineer" shall mean the person holding the position of Manager of Plant Engineering of the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission, or his duly authorized representative.

00705 If the Contractor should be adjudged a bankrupt, or if it should make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors, or if a receiver should be appointed on account of its insolvency, or if it should persistently or repeatedly refuse or should fail to supply enough skilled workmen or proper materials, or if it should fail to make prompt payment to subcontractors for material, labor, or equipment rental, or persistently disregard laws, ordinances, or other instructions of the Engineer, or this contract, then PVSC, upon the certificate of the Engineer that sufficient cause exists to justify such action, may without prejudice to any other right or remedy and after giving the Contractor thirty (30) days written notice, terminate the employment of the Contractor. The termination of the employment of the Contractor under the provisions of this paragraph shall not relieve the surety of its responsibility.

O0706 The Contractor shall be responsible for all parts of its work, either temporary or permanent, until the contract is accepted by PVSC and it shall thoroughly protect all work, finished or unfinished, against damage from any cause. Risk of loss shall remain with the Contractor until the work has been accepted by a resolution duly adopted by PVSC. The use of part or all of the work by PVSC shall not relieve the Contractor of its responsibility until such time as the work has been formally accepted by resolution. The Contractor shall conduct its operations in such a manner as to provide maximum safety for all employees on the work and the public as well, and shall comply with the requirements of all New Jersey and Federal Statutes governing safety requirements for employees.

In order to safely and responsibly allow contractors access to PVSC facilities it is critical that all contractors working at PVSC adhere to the guidance and recommendations issued by the Centers for Disease Control ("CDC") and the New Jersey Department of Health ("NJDOH"). PVSC reserves the right to implement these and any other health and safety related requirements at anytime based on direction from the CDC and NJDOH. PVSC also

retains the right to require protocols not specifically addressed by the CDC or NJDOH to maintain a safe and healthy work environment for its employees, vendors, agents and guests.

In addition at a minimum, the Contractor will be required to adhere to the following PVSC Protocols:

- All personnel shall view and sign acknowledgement form for PVSC's Contractor Training Course;
- All personnel shall submit completed training and safety documents required TWO (2) Business Days before entering site.
- All personnel shall report to Security for credentialing prior to any work
- All personnel shall have PVSC's Contractor Training 'Sticker" affixed and visible on their hard hats;
- All personnel to which it applies will be issued a PVSC Contractor Identification Card:
- All personnel shall participate in their company's traditional safety talk prior to commencing work activities each day on site;

PVSC's Contractor Safety Training has been uploaded in video form to our Website, https://www.nj.gov/pvsc/, along with the corresponding documents required by the contractors. These can be located on the home page under "Current News Click Here." Once completed, the documents should be emailed to PVSCTraining@pvsc.com. Once received and validated by the Safety Department, contractors will verify with their PVSC project point of contact, their ability to comply with the additional PVSC Contractor Site Access Protocols as they may apply. Only after this verification will the contractor receive approval to enter PVSC facilities. The PVSC point of contact shall notify Security & Safety of the anticipated start date of the contractor to allow Gate Access.

All personnel shall submit completed training and safety documents required <u>TWO (2)</u> Business Days before entering site.

On their first entry into PVSC all new contractors shall report to the Security Building to receive their Safety Orientation Hard Hat sticker and if applicable (by project) their contractor Identifications.

All notices, demands, requests, instructions, approvals and claims shall be in writing. Any notice to or demand upon the Contractor shall be sufficiently given if delivered at the office of the Contractor specified in the bid (or at such other offices as the Contractor may from time to time designate to the Engineer in writing) or if deposited in the United States mail in a sealed, postage prepaid envelope, or delivered by telephone electronic/facsimile (FAX) transmission system. All papers required to be delivered to PVSC shall, unless otherwise specified to the Contractor in writing, be delivered to the office of PVSC AT 600 Wilson Avenue, Newark, New Jersey and any notice to or demand upon PVSC shall be sufficiently given if delivered to the said office, or if deposited in the United States mail in a sealed, postage-prepaid envelope, certified mail, return receipt requested.

- **00708** No final payment shall be made until the Engineer has certified to PVSC that the work has been completed by the Contractor in accordance with the requirements of the plans, specifications and contract.
- O0709 The Contractor shall not assign the contract or sublet it in whole or in part without the prior written consent of PVSC, nor shall the Contractor assign any monies due or becoming due to it without the prior written consent of PVSC.

- **00710** This contract, and all incorporations by reference together with the plans, specifications and bid documents, constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between the parties. This contract may not be modified, altered, abridged, amended or supplemented, except by written agreement executed by the parties.
- Neither the inspection by the Engineer or any agent or employee of PVSC, nor any order by PVSC for the payment of money, nor any payment for, or acceptance of, the whole or any part of the work, by PVSC or the Engineer, nor any possession taken by PVSC or their employees, shall operate as a waiver of any provisions of this contract, or of any right to damage herein provided, nor shall any waiver of any breach of the contract be held to be a waiver of any or subsequent breach. Any remedy provided in this Contract shall be taken and construed as cumulative, that is, in addition to each and every other remedy herein provided, and PVSC shall also be entitled as of right to a writ of injunction against any breach of any of the provisions of this contract.
- The Contractor covenants and agrees that anything in this contract or in the contract documents to the contrary notwithstanding, or regardless of any matter, thing, contingency or condition unforeseen or otherwise, present or future, the Contractor shall not be entitled to receive any additional or further sums of money than the amounts in said contract documents provided, except pursuant to a written change order duly authorized by a resolution of PVSC; and the failure of PVSC to insist upon strict performance of any of the terms, covenants, agreements, provisions or conditions in this contract or in the contract documents or any one or more instances, shall not be construed as a waiver of relinquishment for the future of any such terms, covenants, agreements, provisions and conditions, but the same shall be and remain in full force and effect with power and authority on the part of PVSC to enforce the same or cause the same to be enforced at any time, without prejudice to any other rights which PVSC may have against the Contractor under this contract or the contract documents.
- **00713** Plans, specifications and the within contract shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New Jersey.
- **00714** The Contractor shall commence with the work on the project within ten (10) days after notice to proceed unless stated otherwise herein.
- The Contractor has agreed that is has carefully examined the site of the work, the form of the contract and specifications and the drawings referred to therein, and will provide all necessary machinery, tools, apparatus, and other means for construction and do all the work and furnish all the materials called for by the within contract and the specifications and the requirements under them of the Engineer and in accordance with the bidders notice, information for bidders, plans, general requirements, specifications, etc., all of which are incorporated herein as though fully set forth and form a part of this contract.
- O0716 The Contractor is held to have visited the site prior to the time of submitting bids and to have apprised and informed itself of all conditions at the site. Any information furnished by a representative of PVSC upon such matters shall in no way relieve the Contractor from risk or responsibility in fulfilling all of the terms of the contract; nor shall PVSC assume any responsibility or incur any liability as the result of furnishing of information by any representative.
- O0717 Any information as to the location of existing substructures and utilities shown on the contract drawings is not guaranteed as to accuracy by PVSC and PVSC incurs no responsibility or obligation to the Contractor or others in connection therewith.
- The Contractor shall not employ any subcontractor that PVSC may object to as incompetent or unfit; nor shall the Contractor subcontract to any person that has submitted a bid proposal for the award of the contract. Additionally, the Contractor shall not enter into any joint venture of any kind whatsoever relating to the within construction. PVSC may waive the provisions of this paragraph in its sole and absolute discretion, upon submission of a written request by the Contractor for a waiver supported by a disclosure of all of the facts and circumstances accompanied by a copy of the joint venture contract agreement or understanding.

of Treasury required at, or before, time of award.

The Contractor shall list all subcontractors that it intends to employ in its bid proposal. PVSC encourages Contractors to supply sufficient information for PVSC to identify the contractor and named subcontractors through a computerized system maintained by the State of New Jersey pursuant to N.J.S.A. 52:32-44(b). The subcontractor's State license number and business registration certificate from the NJ Department of Treasury are not required prior to bid, but are required to be submitted prior to Contract Award.

- **00719** The Contractor agrees that it is as fully responsible to PVSC for the acts and omissions of its subcontractors and of persons either directly or indirectly employed by them, as it is for the acts and omissions of persons directly employed by it.
- **00720** All statutes not referred to herein but required by law to be applicable are incorporated herein as though fully set forth though fully set forth.
- **00721** Representatives of PVSC shall have access to the work when it is in progress. Any inspection costs incurred by PVSC by reason of any breach or derelictions by the Contractor shall be chargeable to the Contractor.
- **00722** The Contractor must arrange for its own utilities, paying for all permits, connections, consumption, as required of whatsoever kind.

The Contractor must provide the OWNER written notification at least 14 days prior to bringing power generating equipment or stationary equipment containing Reciprocating Internal Combustion Engines (RICE) onsite, such as back-up generators and emergency generators. The Contractor is advised that the OWNER maintains both a Title V Air Permit and a Discharge Prevention Containment and Countermeasure Plan (DPCC), and in order to maintain these permits and Plans, notification is required.

- 1. The Contractor is advised that emergency generators and back-up or continuous power generators are two distinct categories. An emergency generator* is only used to provide power during power outages.
 - * In order for an event to be classified as an actual emergency (see definition of "emergency generator" at N.J.A.C. 7:27-19.1), there must be a voltage reduction issued by PJM and posted on the PJM internet website (www.pjm.com) under the "emergency procedures" menu.
- 2. A 14-Day Notification form, entitled "14 Day Notification Letter for temporary Fuel or Chemical Storage tanks, equipment, & Reciprocating Internal Combustion Engines (RICE)", including completion instruction is included in Appendix 3. Each piece of equipment requires a separate form. Electronic copies are available from, and shall be submitted through use of electronically.
- 3. Provision of a written notification to the OWNER does not constitute approval of the equipment. No equipment shall be brought on site without prior written approval by the OWNER.
- 4. All power generating equipment, emergency generators, and stationary RICE containing equipment must be installed in secondary containment if they are capable of storing 5 or more gallons of hazardous material (i.e. fuel) and are subject to the requirements of Contractor Hazardous Material Storage Tanks discussed below.

The Contractor shall be responsible for any/all cost of clean-up, fees, fines, etc., that may result from a violation of the OWNER'S assorted permits, including, but not limited to it NJPDES operating permit, Title V Permit, Regulatory Inspection violation, or hazardous material spill.

The Contractor shall procure at its own expense all necessary permits to prosecute and complete the work. It shall keep itself fully informed of all existing and future state and Federal Laws and Regulations and Municipal Ordinances and Regulations, in any manner affecting the work and the persons engaged or employed in the work, or the materials used in the work, or in any affecting the performance of the work, either with respect to hours of labor or otherwise, and of

all such laws, ordinances, regulations, orders and decrees, and shall protest and indemnify PVSC and their officers and agents against any claims or liability arising from or based on the violation of any such law, ordinance, regulation, order or decree, whether by itself, or by its agents or employees.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless PVSC and its Commission, officers, directors, employees, and agents (collectively, the "Indemnified Parties" and individually, an "Indemnified Party") from and against any and all claims, damages, losses, fines, civil penalties, liabilities, judgments, costs and expenses of any kind or nature whatsoever, including, but not limited to, interest, court costs and attorneys' fees, which in any way arise out of or result from any act(s) or omission(s) by Contractor (or anyone directly or indirectly employed by Contractor, including sub-contractors, or anyone for whose acts Contractor may be liable) in the performance or non-performance of services or other obligations under this agreement or in the use or occupancy of any facilities or equipment provided by the Indemnified Parties, including, but not limited to, injury to or death of any person, damage to or destruction of any property, real or personal (including, but not limited to, property owned, leased or under the control of the Indemnified Parties), and liability or obligations under or with respect to any violation of federal, state and local laws, regulations, rules, codes and ordinances (including, but not limited to, those concerning environmental protection).

This section shall apply regardless of whether or not the damage, loss, or injury complained of arises out of or relates to the negligence (whether active, passive or otherwise) of, or was caused in part by, an Indemnified Party. However, nothing contained in this section shall be construed as a release or indemnity by Contractor of an Indemnified Party from or against any loss, liability, or claim to the extent arising from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of that Indemnified Party.

This section shall not be construed to negate, abridge or otherwise reduce any other right to indemnity which would otherwise exist in favor of any Indemnified Party, or any obligation of Contractor, or its officers, directors, employees, agents, contractors, or sub-contractors to indemnify an Indemnified Party. Contractor's obligations under this section shall not be limited by any limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits paid or payable by Contractor under workers' compensation laws, disability benefits laws, or other employee benefit laws or regulations.

The indemnification obligations of this section shall survive termination or expiration of the Contract.

00725 NOT USED IN THIS CONTRACT

00726 NOT USED IN THIS CONTRACT

00727 The Contractor must procure and maintain during the term of this contract the following types of insurance coverage, which shall be consistent with the terms of the specifications and general and supplemental conditions:

- 1. Commercial General Liability ("GCL") insurance, for personal injury and property damage liability of not less than five million dollars (\$5,000,000.00) combined single limit for each occurrence/five million dollars (\$5,000,000.00) aggregate;
- 2. Comprehensive automobile liability insurance coverage of not less than one million dollars (\$1,000,000.00) combined single limit;
- 3. Workers' compensation with limits in accordance with New Jersey law; and
- 4. Employer liability insurance with limits of at least five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000.00).

PVSC and its Commission, officers, directors, employees, and agents shall be named as additional insureds on the CGL and comprehensive automobile liability policies, and, within 20

days of the Notice of Intent to Award Contract, the Contractor shall provide evidence of same in the form of certified endorsements specifically naming PVSC and its commissioners, officers, directors, employees, and agents as additional insureds. The submission of a Certification of Insurance will not serve as adequate proof that PVSC and its commissioners, officers, directors, employees, and agents have been named as additional insureds.

Each insurance policy shall contain a provision stating that neither the insured, nor the insurer may cancel, materially change, or refuse renewal without a minimum 30 days prior written notice to PVSC. In the event of cancellation due to non-payment of premiums, said notice shall be at least 10 days prior to cancellation. All insurance required pursuant to this section shall remain in full force and effect until the final contract payment, or until the end of the warranty period whichever is later.

Each insurance policy shall provide that neither the Contractor, nor its insurer, shall have any right to subrogation against PVSC. Any and all policies of insurance maintained by the Contractor shall be primary without contribution from any insurance procured, carried, and/or maintained by PVSC.

In the event the Contractor is permitted to utilize any subcontractor, the Contractor shall require the subcontractor's insurance coverage to be at least equal to the requirements set forth above, including, without limitation, the provisions regarding the naming of additional insureds and the Contractor's insurance being primary. In the alternative, the Contractor may insure the activities of its subcontractors under its own policies. The Contractor is responsible for and will assume all liabilities for any insurance deficiency or delinquency of a subcontractor or any claim that may result because of the deficiency or delinquency.

The Contractor's insurance carrier(s) shall also provide an endorsement insuring, accepting and including the requirement of indemnification and defense as set forth in General Conditions Section 00724.

- 00728 Before the final acceptance of the work, the Contractor shall remove all equipment, temporary work, unused materials and rubbish, and temporary buildings; shall repair or replace in an acceptable manner all private or public property which may have been damaged, destroyed, moved or removed on account of the prosecution of the work; and shall leave the site and all adjacent properties in a neat and presentable condition wherever its operations have disturbed conditions existing at the time of the starting of the work.
- No final or semifinal payment shall be made until the Contractor has executed and delivered a release to PVSC and every member, agent or employee thereof, from all claims and liability to the Contractor for everything and anything done or furnished, or of any person relating to or affecting the work. (Semifinal payment shall mean payment for all work performed under the contract, except retainage held as a guarantee against warrantee claims.)
- 00730 Before final or semifinal payment, the Contractor shall deliver to PVSC an affidavit of payment of all claims of suppliers and subcontractors. In the event that any supplier or subcontractor has not been paid and the claim is disputed by the Contractor, the Contractor shall submit all of the facts in its affidavit and PVSC shall be authorized, in the exercise of its discretion, to withhold from the payment the sum of money sufficient to guarantee payment of the claim. Nothing contained herein, however, shall incur any responsibility by PVSC to any material man or subcontractor, nor shall anything contained herein give rise to a cause of action by any subcontractor or supplier against PVSC.
- Before final acceptance and final or semifinal payment by PVSC, the Contractor shall deliver to PVSC a complete release of all liens arising out of the contract. Contractor agrees that at no time shall any municipal liens, mechanical liens, notices of intention, or secured instruments be filed against the work and should PVSC be compelled to remove or discharge a municipal lien, mechanics lien, notice of intention or secured instrument, the Contractor shall reimburse PVSC for all costs.

00732 Before final or semifinal payment the Contractor shall deliver to PVSC a consent or the Surety to the final payment. Release of final payment shall act to release PVSC of all claims by the Contractor's performance of the contract.

00733 NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS CONTRACT

00734 All payments under the within contract shall be upon the written certification of the Engineer.

To the extent applicable, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 2A:30A-2(f) et seq., disputes regarding whether a party has failed to make payments required pursuant to N.J.S.A. 2A:30A-2 et seq. may be submitted to a process of alternative dispute resolution. Alternative dispute resolution permitted by this section shall not apply to disputes concerning the bid solicitation or award process, or to the formation of contracts or subcontracts. In any civil action brought to collect payments pursuant to this section, the action shall be conducted inside of this State and the prevailing party shall be awarded reasonable costs and attorney fees.

00735 The Commission may order, and the Contractor shall perform, extra work under this contract that is limited to the subject matter of this contract.

On any work done by the contractor, as ordered by the Commission in writing, which is not covered in the contract, the contractor shall be paid as extra work. Extra Work costs shall be arrived at as follows:

- (a) By such applicable unit prices, if any, as are set forth in the contract; or
- (b) If no such unit prices are set forth, and if the parties cannot agree upon prices or lump sum, then for work performed the Contractor shall receive as compensation the actual cost to him, which cost shall include only:
 - 1. Labor, including foreman, but not supervisors.
 - 2. Materials entering permanently into the work.
 - 3. The ownership or rental cost of construction plant and equipment during the time of use on the extra or changed order.
 - 4. Power and consumable supplies for the operation of power equipment during the above time.
 - 5. Insurance.
 - 6. Social Security and old age and unemployment contributions.
 - 7. Plus a fixed fee equal to 15% of the summation of items #1 through #6 above, which fee shall be compensation to cover the cost of supervision, overhead, bond, profit, and any other general expenses. The prime contractor will not be permitted to include both his 15% and any subcontractor's 15% for the items enumerated herein.
- 00736 In the event that the vendor, unless prevented by strike or strikers, which prevents delivery of parts or services, and shall fail to furnish the materials, or services listed in this contract as per the specifications, and according to all the terms of this contract, the Commissioner reserves the right to rescind the contract and purchase the materials, or services through the open market, and the vendor agrees to pay the excess costs, if any, between the amount paid for same and the amount calculated at the contract price.
- **00737** During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:

The contractor or subcontractor, where applicable, will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of age, race, creed, color, national origin, ancestry, marital status, affectional or sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, disability, nationality or sex.

Except with respect to affectional or sexual orientation and gender identity or expression, the contractor will ensure that equal employment opportunity is afforded to such applicants in recruitment and employment, and that employees are treated during employment, without regard to their age, race, creed, color, national origin, ancestry, marital status, affectional or sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, disability, nationality or sex. Such equal employment opportunity shall include, but not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The contractor agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided by the Public Agency Compliance Officer setting forth provisions of this nondiscrimination clause.

The contractor or subcontractor, where applicable will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard to age, race, creed, color, national origin, ancestry, marital status, affectional or sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, disability, nationality or sex.

The contractor or subcontractor will send to each labor union, with which it has a collective bargaining agreement, a notice, to be provided by the agency contracting officer, advising the labor union or workers' representative of the contractor's commitments under this act and shall post copies of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for employment.

The contractor or subcontractor, where applicable, agrees to comply with any regulations promulgated by the Treasurer, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 10:5-31 et seq., as amended and supplemented from time to time and the Americans with Disabilities Act.

When hiring or scheduling workers in each construction trade, the contractor or subcontractor agrees to make good faith efforts to employ minority and women workers in each construction trade consistent with the targeted employment goal prescribed by N.J.S.A. 17:27-7.2 et seq.; provided, however, that the Dept. of Labor and Workforce Development (LWD), Construction EEO Monitoring Program may, in its discretion, exempt a contractor or subcontractor from compliance with the good faith procedures prescribed by the following provisions prescribed by the following provisions, A, B and C, as long as the Dept. of LWD, Construction EEO Monitoring Program is satisfied that the contractor or subcontractor is employing workers provided by a union which provides evidence, in accordance with standards prescribed by the Dept. of LWD, Construction EEO Monitoring Program, that is percentage of active "card carrying" members who are minority and women workers is equal to or greater than the targeted employment goal established in accordance with N.J.A.C. 17:27-7.2 et seq.. The contractor or subcontractor agrees that a good faith effort shall include compliance with the following procedures:

A. If the contractor or subcontractor has a referral agreement or arrangement with a union for a construction trade, the contractor or subcontractor shall, within three (3) business days of the contract award, seek assurances from the union that it will cooperate with the contractor of subcontractor as it fulfills its affirmative action obligations under this contract and in accordance with the rules promulgated by the Treasurer pursuant to N.J.S.A. 10:5-31 et seq., as supplemented and amended from time to time and the Americans with Disabilities Act. If the contractor or subcontractor is unable to obtain said assurances from the construction trade union as least five (5) business days prior to the commencement of construction work, the contractor or subcontractor agrees to afford equal employment opportunities minority and women workers directly, consistent with this chapter. If the contractor's or subcontractor's prior experience with a construction trade union, regardless of whether the union has provided said assurances, indicates a significant possibility that the trade union will not refer sufficient minority and women workers consistent with affording equal employment opportunities as specified in this chapter, the contractor or subcontractor agrees to be prepared to provide such opportunities to minority and women workers directly, consistent with this chapter, by complying with the hiring or scheduling procedures prescribed under (B) below; and the contractor or subcontractor further agrees to take said action immediately if it determines that

- the union is not referring minority and women workers consistent with the equal employment opportunity goals set forth in this chapter.
- B. If good faith efforts to meet targeted employment goals have not or cannot be met for each construction trade by adhering to the procedures of (A) above, or if the contractor does not have a referral agreement or arrangement with a union for a construction trade, the contractor or subcontractor agrees to take the following actions:
 - To notify the public agency compliance officer, the Dept. of LWD, Construction EEO Monitoring Program, and minority and women referral organizations listed by the Division pursuant to N.J.A.C. 17:27-5.3 et seq., of its workforce needs, and request referral of minority and women workers;
 - 2) To notify any minority and women workers who have been listed with it as awaiting available vacancies;
 - 3) Prior to commencement of work, to request that the local construction trade union refer minority and women workers to fill job openings, provided the contractor or subcontractor has a referral agreement or arrangement with a union for the construction trade;
 - 4) To leave standing requests for additional referral to minority and women workers with the local construction trade union, provided the contractor or subcontractor has a referral agreement or arrangement with a union for the construction trade, the State Training and Employment Service and other approved referral sources in the area;
 - 5) If necessary to lay off some of the workers in a given trade on the construction site, layoffs shall be conducted in compliance with the equal employment opportunity and non-discrimination standards set forth in this regulation, as well as with applicable Federal and State court decisions;
 - 6) To adhere to the following procedure when minority and women workers apply or are referred to the contractor or subcontractor:
 - The contractor or subcontractor shall interview the referred minority or women worker.
 - ii) If said individuals have never previously received any document or certification signifying a level of qualification lower than that required in order to perform the work of the construction trade, the contractor or subcontractor shall in food faith determine the qualifications of such individuals. The contractor or subcontractor shall hire or schedule those individuals who satisfy appropriate qualification standards in conformity with the equal employment opportunity and nondiscrimination principles set forth in this chapter. However, a contractor or subcontractor shall determine that the individual at least possesses the requisite skills, and experience recognized by a union, apprentice program or a referral agency provided the referral agency is acceptable to the Dept. of LWD, Construction EEO Monitoring Program. If necessary, the contractor or subcontractor shall hire or schedule minority and women workers who qualify as trainees pursuant to these rules. All of the requirements, however, are limited by the provisions of (C) below.
 - iii) The name of any interested women or minority individual shall be maintained on a waiting list, and shall be considered for employment as described in (i) above, whenever vacancies occur. At the request of the Dept. of LWD, Construction EEO Monitoring Program, the contractor or subcontractor shall provide evidence of its good faith efforts to employ women and minorities from the list to fill vacancies.
 - iv) If, for any reason, said contractor or subcontractor determines that a minority individual or a woman is not qualified or if the individual qualifies as an advanced trainee or apprentice, the contractor or subcontractor shall inform the individual in

writing of the reasons for the determination, maintain a copy of the determination in its files, and send a copy to the public agency compliance officer and to the Dept. of LWD, Construction EEO Monitoring Program.

- 7) To keep a complete and accurate record of all requests made for the referral of workers in any trade covered by the contract, on forms made available by the Dept. of LWD, Construction EEO Monitoring Program and submitted promptly to the Dept. of LWD, Construction EEO Monitoring Program upon request.
- C. The contractor or subcontractor agrees that nothing contained in (B) above shall preclude the contractor or subcontractor from complying with the union hiring hall or apprenticeship policies in any applicable collective bargaining agreement or union hiring hall arrangement, and, where required by custom or agreement, it shall send journeymen and trainees to the union for referral, or to the apprenticeship program for admission, pursuant to such agreement or arrangement. However, where the practices of a union or apprenticeship program will result in the exclusion of minorities and women or the failure to refer minorities and women consistent with the targeted county employment goal, the contractor or subcontractor shall consider for employment persons referred pursuant to (B) above without regard to such agreement or arrangement; provided further, however, that the contractor or subcontractor shall not be required to employ women and minority advanced trainees and trainees in numbers which result in the employment of advanced trainees and trainees as a percentage of the total workforce for the construction trade, which percentage significantly exceeds the apprentice to journey worker ratio specified in the applicable collective bargaining agreement, or in the absence of a collective bargaining agreement, exceeds the ratio established by practice in the area for said construction trade. Also, the contractor or subcontractor agrees that, in implementing the procedures of (B) above, it shall, where applicable, employ minority and women workers residing within the geographical jurisdiction of the union.

After notification of award, but prior to signing a construction contract, the contractor shall submit to the public agency compliance officer and the Dept. of LWD, Construction EEO Monitoring Program an initial project workforce report (Form AA 201) electronically provided to the public agency by the Dept. of LWD, Construction EEO Monitoring Program, through its website, for distribution to and completion by the contractor, in accordance with N.J.A.C. 17:27-7 et seq. The contractor also agrees to submit a copy of the Monthly Project Workforce Report once a month thereafter for the duration of this contract to the Division and to the public agency compliance officer.

The contractor agrees to cooperate with the public agency in the payment of budgeted funds, as is necessary, for on-the-job and/or off-the-job programs for outreach and training of minorities and women.

- D. The contractor and its subcontractors shall furnish such reports or other documents to the Dept. of LWD, Construction EEO Monitoring Program as may be requested by the Dept. of LWD, Construction EEO Monitoring Program from time to time in order to carry out the purposes of these regulations, and public agencies shall furnish such information as may be requested by the Dept. of LWD, Construction EEO Monitoring Program for conducting a compliance investigation pursuant to <u>Subchapter 10 of the Administrative Code (N.J.A.C. 17:27)</u>.
- E. The CONTRACTOR and the OWNER do hereby agree that the provisions of Title II of the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990 (the "Act") (42 U.S.C. §12101 et seq.), which prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability by public entities in all services, programs and activities provided or made available by public entities, and the rules and regulations promulgated pursuant thereunto, are made a part of this contract. In providing any aid, benefit, or service on behalf of the OWNER pursuant to this contract, the CONTRACTOR agrees that the performance shall be in strict compliance with the Act. In the event that the CONTRACTOR, its agents, servants, employees, or subcontractors violate or are alleged to have violated the Act during the performance of this Contract, the CONTRACTOR shall defend the OWNER in any action or administrative proceeding commenced pursuant to this

Act. The CONTRACTOR shall indemnify, protect, and save harmless the OWNER, its agents, servants, and employees from and against any and all suits, claims, losses demands, or damages, or whatever kind or nature arising out of or claimed to arise out of the alleged violation. The CONTRACTOR shall at its own expense, appear, defend, and pay any and all charges for legal services and any and all costs and other expenses arising from such action or administrative proceeding or incurred in connection therewith. In any and all complaints brought pursuant to the OWNER grievance procedure, the CONTRACTOR agrees to abide by any decision of the OWNER which is rendered pursuant to said grievance procedure. If any action or administrative proceeding results in an award of damages against the OWNER or if the OWNER incurs any expense to cure a violation of the ADA which has been brought pursuant to its grievance procedure, the CONTRACTOR shall satisfy and discharge the same at its own expense.

F. The OWNER shall, as soon as practicable after a claim has been made against it, give written notice thereof to the CONTRACTOR along with full and complete particulars of the claim. If any action or administrative proceedings is brought against the OWNER or any of its agents, servants, and employees, the OWNER shall expeditiously forward or have forwarded to the CONTRACTOR every demand, complaint, notice, summons, pleading, or other process received by the OWNER or its representatives. It is expressly agreed and understood that any approval by the OWNER of the services provided by the CONTRACTOR pursuant to this contact will not relieve the CONTRACTOR of the obligation to comply with the Act and to defend, indemnify, protect, and save harmless the OWNER pursuant to this paragraph. It is further agreed and understood that the OWNER assumes no obligation to indemnify or save harmless the CONTRACTOR, its agents, servants, employees and subcontractors for any claim which may arise out to their performance of this Agreement. Furthermore, the CONTRACTOR expressly understands and agrees that the provisions of this indemnification clause shall in no way limit the CONTRACTOR'S obligations assumed in this agreement, nor shall they be construed to relieve the CONTRACTOR from any liability, nor preclude the OWNER from taking any other actions available to it under any other provisions of the Agreement or otherwise at law.

00738 Substantial Completion and Inspections

Substantial Completion

When work (or specified part thereof) has progressed (including and specified operational periods) to a point that the Owner determines that the work is ready for its intended use with contract documents.

Substantial Completion Inspection

At the point that the Contractor feels that substantial completion is satisfied, request in writing to the Owner a substantial completion inspection. At or prior to the time the Contractor requests substantial completion the Contractor shall have previously submitted O&M manuals, spare parts, guarantees, warranties, as-built and record drawings, certifications and other documents necessary for close-out of the work. At the substantial completion inspection, the Owner shall: inspect the work, add to the Contractor's list any other items to be completed or corrected; and, determine whether the work is substantially complete. If the work is not substantially complete, the Contractor shall forthwith complete all the items the owner has determined to be needed for substantial completion. Upon completion of such work the Contractor shall request an inspection of such work. When the Owner determines that the work is substantially complete including all claims and compensation therefore have been satisfied, the (Owner and Contractor) shall each sign the Certificate of Substantial Completion and semi-final payment will be released, which excludes retainage and punch list items (with dollar amounts associated) listed in the Certificate of Substantial Completion.

Final Inspection

Inspection shall be conducted between the Owner and Contractor to determine if deficiencies have been completed and work is acceptable, so that final payment can be released to the Contractor.

END OF SECTION

00800 **SUPPLEMENTAL CONDITIONS – INDEX** 00821 **Anti-Discrimination** 00822 **Foreign Corporations** 00823 **Prevailing Wage** 00825 **Use Of Domestic Materials** 00826 **Hazardous Materials** 00827 **Certified Payroll Set Aside Contract Compliance** 00828 00829 NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS CONTRACT 00830 **Contract Duration** 00831 **Liquidated Damages** 00832 **Maintenance of Records** 00833 NOTICE TO ALL STATE VENDORS: SET-OFF FOR STATE TAX 00834 CHANGE CONDIDTIONS CLAUSES FOR CERTAIN LOCAL PUBLIC CONTRACTS 00835 **DIANE B. ALLEN EQUAL PAY ACT**

00800 SUPPLEMENTAL CONDITIONS

00821 N.J.S.A. 10:2-1 - Anti-Discrimination

Every contract for or on behalf of the State or any county or municipality or other political subdivision of the State, or any agency of or authority created by any of the foregoing, for the construction, alteration or repair of any public building or public work or for the acquisition of materials, equipment, supplies or services shall contain provisions by which the contractor agrees that:

- a. In the hiring of persons for the performance of work under this contract or any subcontract hereunder, or for the procurement, manufacture, assembling or furnishing of any such materials, equipment, supplies or services to be acquired under this contract, no contractor, nor any person acting on behalf of such contractor or subcontractor, shall by reason of race, creed, color, national origin, ancestry, marital status, gender identity or expression, sex, affectional or sexual orientation, discriminate against any person who is qualified and available to perform the work to which the employment relates;
- b. No contractor, subcontractor, nor any person on his behalf shall in any manner, discriminate against or intimidate any employee engaged in the performance of work under this contract or any subcontract hereunder, or engaged in the procurement, manufacture, assembling or furnishing of any such materials, equipment, supplies or services to be acquired under such contract, on account of race, creed, color, national origin, ancestry, marital status, gender identity or expression, sex, affectional or sexual orientation;
- c. There may be deducted from the amount payable to the contractor by the contracting public agency, under this contract, a penalty of \$50.00 for each person for each calendar day during which such person is discriminated against or intimidated in violation of the provisions of the contract; and
- d. This contract may be canceled or terminated by the contracting public agency, and all money due or to become due hereunder may be forfeited, for any violation of this section of the contract occurring after notice to the contractor from the contracting public agency of any prior violation of this section of the contract.

00822 N.J.S.A. 14A:13-3 - Foreign Corporations

- No foreign corporation shall have the right to transact business in this State until it shall have
 procured a certificate of authority to do so from the Secretary of State. A foreign corporation
 may be authorized to do in this State any business which may be done lawfully in this State
 by a domestic corporation, to the extent that it is authorized to do such business in the
 jurisdiction of its incorporation, but no other business.
- 2. Without excluding other activities which may not constitute transacting business in this State, a foreign corporation shall not be considered to be transacting business in this State, for the purposes of this act, by reason of carrying on in this State any one or more of the following activities:
 - a. Maintaining, defining or otherwise participating in any action or proceeding, whether judicial, administrative, arbitrative or otherwise, or effecting the settlement thereof or the settlement of claims or disputes;
 - b. Holding meetings of its directors or shareholders;
 - c. Maintaining bank accounts or borrowing money, with or without security, even if such borrowings are repeated and continuous transactions and even if such security has a situs in this State;

- Maintaining offices or agencies for the transfer, exchange and registration of its securities, or appointing and maintaining trustees or depositaries with relation to its securities.
- 3. The specification in subsection 14A:13-3(2) does not establish a standard for activities which may subject a foreign corporation to service of process or taxation in this State.

00823 N.J.S.A. 34:11-56.25 - Prevailing Wages

Every contract in excess of \$2,000 for any public work to which any public body is a party or for public work to be done on property or premises leased or to be leased by a public body, shall contain a provision stating the prevailing wage rate which can be paid (as shall be designated by the commissioner) to the workers employed in the performance of the contract and the contract shall contain a stipulation that such workers shall be paid not less than such prevailing wage rate. Such contract shall also contain a provision that in the event it is found that any workers, employed by the contractor or any subcontractor covered by said contract, has been paid a rate of wages less than the prevailing wage required to be paid by such contract the public body or lessor may terminate the contractor's or subcontractor's right to proceed with the work, or such part of the work as to which there has been a failure to pay required wages and to prosecute the work to completion or otherwise. The contractor and his sureties shall be liable to the public body or lessor for any excess costs occasioned thereby.

N.J.S.A. 34:11-56.26(5) et seq. has added to the existing prevailing wage requirements off-site workers who custom fabricate plumbing, heating, cooling, ventilation, or exhaust duct systems and mechanical insulation as part of a public works project.

N.J.S.A. 34:11-56.25 et seq., requires that all public works employers shall submit a certified payroll record to the public body or lessor which contracted for the public work project each payroll period within ten (10) days of the payment of wages. The public body shall receive, file and make available for inspection during normal business hours the certified payroll records. A copy of the certified payroll form may be obtained by contacting the New Jersey Department of Labor, Division of Workplace Standards, Public Contracts Section, CN 389, Trenton, New Jersey 08625-0389.

<u>NOTE:</u> Prevailing wage rates will not apply or be applicable to any contract unless an appendix from the New Jersey Department of Labor which includes the "Prevailing Wage Rate Determination," listing the prevailing wage levels is attached to the contract.

00825 N.J.S.A. 52:33-2 and -3 - Use of Domestic Materials

52:33-2 Notwithstanding any inconsistent provision of any law, and unless the head of the department, or other public officer charged with the duty by law, shall determine it to be inconsistent with the public interest, or the cost to be unreasonable, only domestic products and materials shall be acquired or used for any public work. This requirement is specifically set forth in N.J.S.A. 40A:11-18 et seq. and is incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof.

This section shall not apply with respect to domestic materials to be used for any public work, if domestic materials of the class or kind to be used are not mined, produced or manufactured, as the case may be, in the United States in commercial quantities and of a satisfactory quality.

52:33-3 Every contract for the construction, alteration, or repair of any public work in this state shall contain a provision that in the performance of the work the contractor and all subcontractors shall use only domestic materials in the performance of the work; but if the head of the department or other public officer authorized by law to make the contract shall find that in respect to some particular domestic materials it is impracticable to make such requirement or that it would unreasonably increase the cost, an exception shall be noted in the specifications as to that particular material, and a public record made of the findings which justified the exception.

00826 Hazardous Materials

All hazardous material whether sold, delivered, and/or used to perform a service on the PVSC site, shall be properly labeled in accordance with the New Jersey Worker and Community Right to Know Act (P.L. 1983, c315, N.J.S.A. 34:5A-1 et seq.). The bidder shall include with his bid proposal the Material Safety Data Sheets, for all the hazardous products that he intends to deliver to the PVSC under this bid. The bidder shall comply with these terms otherwise his bid will be disqualified.

Hazardous material not complying with this act will cause the PVSC to reject shipments or deny the use of such materials on its site. The bidder shall be responsible for any cost incurred for materials found not to be in compliance with the act. The PVSC will make the sole determination if this act is being violated, and the bidder shall abide by this decision. Violation of this act may be considered an abandonment of the contract, and the Commission may seek redress under the Default Article of the contract.

Any equipment that meets the criteria of a hazardous material storage tank (i.e. capable of storing five (5) gallons of more of a hazardous material, including petroleum products) shall be inspected weekly in the same manner and using the same requirements as a Contractor Hazardous Material Storage Tank (CHMST) described in Section 01750 of these specifications. Any equipment capable of storing five (5) gallons of more of a hazardous material, including petroleum products shall be stored in secondary containment.

Comply with all Federal, State, and Local regulations, rules, guidance, and requirements concerning the handling, transportation and disposal of wastes, including, but not limited to:

- Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA)- Non-Hazardous Wastes: 40 CFR 239-259
- RCRA-Hazardous Wastes: RCRA: 40 CFR 260-273,
- RCRA Universal Wastes: 40 CFR 273
- RCRA- Used Oil and Underground Storage Tanks: 40 CFR 273- 282
- United States Department of Transportation (USDOT) Hazardous Material Regulations: 49 CFR 100-185
- New Jersey Administrative Code (NJAC) 7:26 Solids Waste Rule
- NJAC 7:26A Recycling
- NJAC 7:26G Hazardous Waste;
- NJAC 7:26H Solid Waste Utility Regulations

00827 Certified Payroll

Effective February 18, 1992 Regulation N.J.A.C. 12:60 and 6.1 of the New Jersey Prevailing Wage Act, N.J.S.A. 34:11-56.25 et seq., requires that all public works employers shall submit a certified payroll record to the public body or lessor which contracted for the public work project each payroll period within ten (10) days of the payment of wages. The public body shall receive, file and make available for inspection during normal business hours the certified payroll records.

A copy of the certified payroll form may be obtained by contacting the New Jersey Department of Labor, Division of Workplace Standards, Public Contracts Section, CN 389, Trenton, New Jersey 08625-0389, telephone (609) 292-2259.

00828 Set-Aside Contract Compliance

Contractor shall comply with the New Jersey Statute governing minority and female contractor and subcontractor participation on construction contracts as required by N.J.S.A. 52:32-17 et seq. The regulations, which are more specifically set forth in N.J.A.C. 17:14-1.1 et seq., are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof.

00829 NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS CONTRACT

00830 N.J.S.A. 40A:11-17 - Number of Working Days Specified

All specifications for the doing of any public work for a contracting unit shall fix the date before which the work shall be completed, or the number of working days to be allowed for its completion; and every such contract shall contain a provision for a deduction, from the contract price, or any wages paid by the contracting unit to any inspector or inspectors necessarily employed by it on the work, for any number of days in excess of the number allowed in the specifications.

00831 N.J.S.A. 40A:11-19 - Liquidated Damages

Any contract made pursuant to P.L.1971, c.198 (C.40A:11-1 et seq.) may include liquidated damages for the violation of any of the terms and conditions thereof or the failure to perform said contract in accordance with its terms and conditions, or the terms and conditions of P.L.1971, c.198 (C.40A:11-1 et seq.). Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, it shall be void, unenforceable and against public policy for a provision in a contract entered into under P.L.1971, c.198 (C.40A:11-1 et seq.) to limit a contractor's remedy for the contracting unit's negligence, bad faith, active interference, tortious conduct, or other reasons uncontemplated by the parties that delay the contractor's performance, to giving the contractor an extension of time for performance under the contract. For the purposes of this section, "contractor" means a person, his assignees or legal representatives with whom a contract with a contracting unit is made.

00832 MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS

Pursuant to N.J.A.C. 17:44-2-2, the contractor shall maintain all documentation related to products, transactions or services under this contract for a period of five (5) years from the date of final payment. Such records shall be made available to the New Jersey Office of the State Comptroller upon request.

00833 NOTICE TO ALL STATE VENDORS: SET-OFF FOR STATE TAX

- a. Whenever any taxpayer under contract to provide goods or services to the State of New Jersey or its agencies or instrumentalities, and including the legislative and judicial branches of State government, or under contract for construction projects of the State of New Jersey or its agencies or instrumentalities, and including the legislative and judicial branches of State government, is entitled to payment for the goods or services or on that construction project and at the same time the taxpayer is indebted for any State tax, the Director of the Division of Taxation shall seek to set off so much of that payment as shall be necessary to satisfy the indebtedness. The director, in consultation with the Director of the Division of Budget and Accounting in the Department of the Treasury, shall establish procedures and methods to effect a set-off. The director shall give notice of the set-off to the taxpayer, the provider of goods or services or the contractor or subcontractor of construction projects and provide an opportunity for a hearing within 30 days of such notice under the procedures for protests established under R.S. 54:49-18, but no request for conference, protest, or subsequent appeal to the Tax Court from any protest under this section shall stay the collection of the indebtedness. No payment shall be made to the taxpayer, the provider of goods or services or the contractor or subcontractor of construction projects pending resolution of the indebtedness. Interest that may be payable by the State pursuant to P.L.1987, c.184 (C.52:32-32 et seq.), to the taxpayer, the provider of goods and services or the contractor or subcontractor of construction projects shall be stayed.
- b. The Department of the Treasury shall notify each provider of goods or services and contractor or subcontractor of a construction project under contract with the State, its agencies or instrumentalities in an amount of \$500,000 or greater on the effective date of P.L.1995, c.159 (C.54:49-19 et seq.) of the provisions of this section in writing within 30 days after its effective date. A contract entered into by the State, its agencies or instrumentalities with a provider of goods or services or a contractor or subcontractor of a construction project after the effective date of P.L.1995, c.159 (C.54:49-19 et seq.) shall contain a notice of the provisions in this section.

00834 CHANGE CONDIDTIONS CLAUSES FOR CERTAIN LOCAL PUBLIC CONTRACTS (N.J.S.A. 40A:11-16.7)

All construction contracts issued by a contracting unit for bids which were advertised on or after the effective date [Jan. 16, 2018] of <u>P.L.2017, c.317</u> (<u>C.40A:11-16.7</u> et seq.) shall include the changed conditions contract provisions set forth in this section, which provisions shall be deemed to be a part of any such contract even if not expressly incorporated therein, and which provisions may not be modified in any manner by the contracting unit.

00835 DIANE B. ALLEN EQUAL PAY ACT (pursuant to P.L.1963, c.150 (C.34:11-56.25 et seq.)

Pursuant to the DIANE B. ALLEN EQUAL PAY ACT, N.J.S.A. 34:11-56.14.b., the Contractor shall provide to the Commissioner of the New Jersey Department of Labor and Workforce Development, through certified payroll records required pursuant to P.L.1963, c.150 (C.34:11-56.25 et seq.), information regarding the gender, race, job title, occupational category, and rate of total compensation of every employee of the employer employed in the State in connection with the contract. The Contractor shall provide the Commissioner, throughout the duration of the contract with an update to the information whenever payroll records are required to be submitted pursuant to P.L.1963, c.150 (C.34:11-56.25 et seq.).

Information regarding the Diane B. Allen Equal Pay Act and its requirements may be obtained from the New Jersey Department of Labor and Workforce Development (LWD) web site at: https://nj.gov/labor/equalpay/equalpay.html

LWD forms may be obtained from the online web site at: https://nj.gov/labor/forms-pdfs/equalpayact/MW-562withoutfein.pdf.

DIVISION 1 - GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

01010 SCOPE OF WORK

The work of this contract shall consist of furnishing all supervision, labor, equipment, materials and supplies necessary to furnish, install, and maintain Building Automatic Temperature Control (ATC) systems located throughout PVSC.

The work shall also include any necessary design, additions or alterations required to service, support, or upgrade existing ATC systems at PVSC.

The Contractor shall specialize in the Building Automatic Temperature Control System industry. The Contractor shall have a minimum of 10 years of experience including: 10 years of documented experience with LON based DDC's as manufactured by Invensys/TAC and all necessary licensing to service its equipment; 10 years of documented experience in the programming and configuration of Tridium's Niagara Framework.

The Contractor shall ensure that all requested work shall be performed by personnel who are trained and certified to provide the type of service specified, as outlined in section 01710 – Qualification of Contractor.

It is the intent of this contract to require an installation complete in every detail, whether or not indicated in the Specifications. Consequently, the Contractor shall be responsible for all details necessary to furnish, install and properly adjust, test, and place in successful operation, a complete installation of the equipment as specified.

01011 ERRORS OR OMISSIONS OF DETAILS IN SPECIFICATIONS

Errors in the specifications which are purely typographical shall be interpreted as would be the logical conclusion or brought to the attention of the Owner for interpretation.

The Contractor is required to check all dimensions and quantities on any drawings or schedules made available by the Owner, and shall notify the Owner of all errors therein which he may discover by such examination.

01025 PAYMENT

Payments to the contractor shall be based on submission of a detailed invoice identifying the labor, material, rental equipment (to supply equipment that is not included within this contract) and subcontractor costs, if applicable.

Labor costs shall be reimbursed based on documented timesheet reports of the hours worked on site times the specific labor rate identified in Section 00400.

Rental Equipment costs to supply equipment not included within this contract shall be reimbursed based on documented invoices from all suppliers and/or vendors. Original invoices shall be submitted for every piece of rental equipment procured for each assigned task order for which payment is being requested.

Material Cost shall be reimbursed based on documented invoices from all suppliers and vendors. Original invoices shall be submitted for every item of material purchased for each assigned task order for which payment is being requested. The hypothetical material cost in Section 00400 Supplement to Bid Forms is strictly hypothetical. The Contractor will be reimbursed only for the actual material costs, supported by suppliers and/or vendors invoices and purchased specifically by authorization of the task order.

The contractor shall be entitled to a fixed fee in addition to the actual material and rental equipment costs in accordance with the schedule below. The fixed fee amount shall be included in the overall cost of the individual Task Orders and shall be part of the "not to exceed" amount. Payment of

the fixed fee amount shall either be proportionately reimbursed based on the progress payments under the Task Order or at the completion of the task order.

| Range | | Fixed Fee |
|----------------|----------------|--------------|
| \$0.00 | \$100.00 | \$0.00 |
| \$101.00 | \$500.00 | \$30.00 |
| \$501.00 | \$1,000.00 | \$75.00 |
| \$1,001.00 | \$5,000.00 | \$300.00 |
| \$5,001.00 | \$10,000.00 | \$750.00 |
| \$10,001.00 | \$25,000.00 | \$1,750.00 |
| \$25,001.00 | \$50,000.00 | \$3,750.00 |
| \$50,001.00 | \$75,000.00 | \$6,250.00 |
| \$75,001.00 | \$100,000.00 | \$8,750.00 |
| \$100,001.00 | \$125,000.00 | \$11,250.00 |
| \$125,001.00 | \$150,000.00 | \$13,750.00 |
| \$150,001.00 | \$175,000.00 | \$16,250.00 |
| \$175,001.00 | \$200,000.00 | \$18,750.00 |
| \$200,001.00 | \$250,000.00 | \$22,500.00 |
| \$250,001.00 | \$300,000.00 | \$27,500.00 |
| \$300,001.00 | \$400,000.00 | \$35,000.00 |
| \$400,001.00 | \$500,000.00 | \$45,000.00 |
| \$500,001.00 | \$750,000.00 | \$62,500.00 |
| \$750,001.00 | \$1,000,000.00 | \$87,500.00 |
| \$1,000,001.00 | \$2,000,000.00 | \$150,000.00 |

The contractor's Payment Application / Invoice will be based upon work completed and certified by the Plant Engineer. After acceptance by the Plant Engineer of the completed work, the Contractor shall submit the payment application/invoice for the amount due.

All payment applications / invoices shall reference the PVSC Contract Number and shall also include a description of the services provided. In addition to the formal contract documents, the Contractor will receive a copy of a PVSC Purchase Order. To assure proper payment, the PVSC purchase order number must also appear on the Contractor's invoice.

PVSC's payment cutoff date is not less than eighteen (18) days prior to the next Commission's meeting date. To assure timely payment, payment applications/invoices must be submitted to PVSC's Plant Engineer not less than five (5) working days prior to the above payment cutoff date. A schedule of meeting dates will be furnished to the contractor.

After acceptance by the PVSC of a payment application / invoice, the Commission at their next scheduled monthly meeting will authorize payment for the amount due. Payment will be made to the contractor during the week following the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission meeting.

Where instruction manuals and parts list are specified in the Contract Documents: Payment will not be made until approved instruction manuals and parts lists have been received and approved by PVSC.

01037 REPLACEMENTS

In the event of damage to any PVSC property or equipment, immediate necessary repairs and/or replacements shall be made subject to the approval of the Engineer, and at no additional cost to the Owner.

In the event of damage to any equipment critical to the Sewerage Treatment Plant, repairs will be made by PVSC and the cost will be back charged to the Contractor.

01038 CARE AND PROTECTION OF PROPERTY AND MATERIALS

From the commencement of the work until its completion, the Contractor shall be solely responsible for damages caused to the property of the Owner, for the care, protection and security of the work covered by the contract, and for all materials delivered to the site or incorporated in the work.

01040 CONCURRENT WORK AND OTHER CONTRACTORS

The right is reserved by the Owner to do work using its own forces or other contractors and to permit public utility companies and others to do work during the progress and within the limits of or adjacent to the Project, and the Contractor shall conduct his work and cooperate with such other parties so as to cause as little interference as possible with such other work, as the Owner may direct.

If, in the judgment of the Owner, the joint occupation of the site of the work by the Owner or by two (2) or more contractors working on different contracts at the same time actually impedes progress in the work herein described, the Owner may extend the time for the completion of the work and in an amount which accords with and compensates for the delays so caused.

01046 WORKING HOURS

Contractor will have access to the site and work of this contract during normal PVSC working hours (7:45 a.m. to 4:15 p.m.), five (5) days per week, with the exception of PVSC Holidays. Other hours require PVSC consent and approval. A list of PVSC Holidays will be provided to the Contractor.

01047 MANUFACTURER'S CERTIFICATION AND ACCEPTANCE

The Contractor shall supply to the Owner a certificate from each manufacturer of equipment, certifying that the equipment as installed and tested meets all the requirements of the Contract Documents, that it is fully suitable and will function properly for the use intended and within the system called for by the Contract Documents, and that the guarantee as required by this Contract will be in full force and effect.

When the specifications call for "supervision, installation, adjustment, start-up," and words of similar intent, by the manufacturer's "factory employed technicians," the Contractor shall provide a certificate co-signed by the manufacturer as to compliance with the stipulated requirements.

The Contractor is hereby put on notice that final acceptance of any equipment will be withheld, appropriate amounts of money will be retained by the Owner, and the warranty period will not commence until such certifications are supplied.

01048 SUBCONTRACTS AND SUBCONTRACTORS

The Contractor shall, within ten (10) days after "Notice to Proceed" notify the Engineer in writing of the names, addresses and experience records of subcontractors (if any) he proposes for principal parts of the work. PVSC reserves the right to review the qualifications of all subcontractors and to reject any deemed not qualified to perform the work required. Subcontractors must be covered by insurance as required in the General Conditions, Sections 00725, 00726 and 00727.

The Contractor agrees that he is as fully responsible to the Owner for the acts and omissions of his subcontractors and of persons either directly or indirectly employed by them as he is for acts and omissions of persons directly employed by him. He further agrees that he will bind his subcontractors to each and every part of the Contract Documents.

Nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any contractual relation between any subcontractor and the Owner.

01301 SHOP DRAWING SUBMITTALS

The Contractor shall submit for the Owner's review and approval, Shop Drawings showing the details of all materials, equipment and installations which the Contractor proposes to furnish in conformance with the Contract Drawings and Specifications. The Shop Drawings shall be reviewed for conformance with all the Contract Documents.

The Shop Drawings shall consist of catalog cuts, manufacturer's details, text, drafted drawings, layout drawings, assembly drawings, floor plans and any other documents which describe the item being submitted.

Shop Drawings shall give all ratings, configurations, dimensions and ancillary items in sufficient detail to enable the Owner to pass on the suitability of the equipment, materials or layout for the purpose intended. The drawings shall, where needed for clarity, include outline and sectional views, and detailed dimensions and designations of the kind of material. Drawings for submission shall be coordinated by the Contractor with the drawings previously approved and with the existing space, equipment, structure, and all other requirements of the Contract.

The Contractor shall submit four (4) copies of all Shop Drawings for approval. The Owner shall retain two (2) copies for his records, and return two (2) to the Contractor.

01302 O & M MANUALS

Operation and Maintenance Manuals (O & M Manuals) for the equipment supplied shall be furnished as a part of this contract. The O & M Manuals shall consist of neatly bound and indexed instructions for installation, operation, adjustment, lubrication and preventive maintenance.

In addition, the O & M Manuals shall include but not be limited to the following:

- 1. Name of manufacturer
- 2. Model number of item
- 3. Local distributor
- 4. Manufacturer's recommended spare parts list
- 5. Special tools required
- 6. Manufacturer recommended lubricants

The Contractor shall submit four (4) copies of all O & M Manuals for approval. The Owner shall retain three (3) copies and return one (1) to the Contractor.

01303 RECORD DRAWINGS

During construction, the Contractor shall keep an accurate record of the installed work including any deviations, however minor, from the contract drawings. Upon completion of the contract work, the Contractor shall submit a copy of these "as-built" drawings to the Engineer. Submittal and approval of the "as-built" drawings is required before semifinal payment.

01304 SHOP DRAWING AND 0 & M MANUAL REVIEW

Material or equipment shall not be purchased or fabricated until the Owner has reviewed and approved the shop drawings, which shall represent all materials, equipment and work involved. No materials or equipment shall be delivered to the site until shop drawings have been returned by the Engineer and marked "APPROVED" or "APPROVED AS NOTED – RESUBMISSION

NOT REQUIRED." If the latter designation is used, the Contractor must make all changes noted or indicated.

Any materials or equipment furnished in spite of the above, without properly noted shop drawings, shall be promptly removed.

If the shop drawings are marked "CORRECTIONS NECESSARY – RESUBMISSION REQUIRED" or "NOT APPROVED" by the Owner, they shall be <u>promptly</u> corrected and resubmitted to the Owner for review.

The Owner's approval of the Contractor's submittals shall be considered to be a gratuitous service, given as assistance to the Contractor in interpreting the requirements of this Contract, and in no way shall it relieve the Contractor of any of his responsibilities under this Contract. An approval of a shop drawing shall be interpreted to mean that the Owner has found no specific objections in the submitted material, and in no way relieves the Contractor of his obligation to provide full and complete working and satisfactory systems, structures and units in complete conformity with the Contract Documents.

The O & M Manuals and record drawing shall also be reviewed and approved by the Owner as are the Shop Drawings. The O & M Manuals and Record Drawings shall be furnished and approved before the contract is accepted and the warranty begins.

01309 SPARE PARTS, SPECIAL TOOLS & LUBRICANTS

The following spare parts shall be provided:

To be specific to equipment furnished.

The Contractor shall furnish, with each piece of equipment, any **SPECIAL** tools recommended by the manufacturer for the servicing of the equipment.

All spare parts shall be plainly tagged and marked for identification and ordering. They shall be treated with suitable preservatives, wrapped and packaged to provide adequate protection for long term storage, price of each spare part shall be included with the documentation of spare parts.

The Contractor shall furnish and use, for each piece of equipment, the type of lubricant recommended by the manufacturer of the equipment, with no substitutions. He shall furnish a schedule listing the type, frequency of application, and manufacturer of the lubricant recommended for each piece of equipment. At the time of turning the installation over to the Owner, the Contractor shall furnish one (1) year's supply of each type of lubricant in unopened containers.

01310 SCHEDULING

Within ten (10) days after receipt of Notice to Proceed the Contractor shall meet with the PVSC Plant Engineer to provide a schedule of work, acceptable to the Owner. The Contractor will not be permitted to interfere with the operation of the Plant.

01410 TESTING OF MATERIALS

The Commission may hire a testing laboratory to determine if the materials conform to the specifications. If the specifications are not met, the materials will be rejected and the cost of testing will then be paid by the vendor.

01420 INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE

Inspection of materials by the Commissions' personnel shall not relieve the vendor of any obligations to fulfill the terms of this contract, and any defective part found at the time of installation

shall be made good. All unsuitable materials shall be rejected notwithstanding that such part and materials have been previously overlooked by the Engineer and accepted.

01421 DEFECTIVE WORK, EQUIPMENT OR MATERIALS

If the Contractor shall fail or neglect to replace any defective work or to discard condemned materials within two (2) days after the service by the Owner of an order to replace such defective work or discard such equipment or materials, or to prove to the satisfaction of the Owner that he is initiating effective efforts to replace defective materials, the Owner may cause such defective work to be replaced or the condemned materials to be discarded, and acceptable materials provided. The expense thereof shall be deducted from the monies as are or may become due under this contract; or if such monies are not sufficient to meet said expense, the additional monies shall be furnished by the contractor or his Surety. If, during the warranty period provided for hereinafter, any work done in accordance with that article shall be found defective before the end of the warranty period, such defective work shall be made good in the same manner as provided herein. The Owner will have the option at all times to allow the defective or improper work to stand and to accept an equitable deduction from the contract price therefore.

01422 OWNER'S RIGHT TO DO WORK AND THREE-DAY CLAUSE

If the Contractor or his subcontractors should neglect to prosecute the work properly or fail to perform any provisions of the contract documents, the Owner, after three (3) days written notice to the Contractor may without prejudice to any other remedy he may have, make good such deficiencies and may deduct the cost thereof from the payment then or thereafter due the Contractor.

01602 TOOLS, EQUIPMENT AND UTILITIES

All tools, and equipment, required to perform the work described in the contract shall be provided by the Contractor.

01603 SAFETY

In order to safely and responsibly allow contractors access to PVSC facilities it is critical that all contractor working at PVSC adhere to the guidance and recommendations issued by the Centers for Disease Control ("CDC") and the New Jersey Department of Health ("NJDOH"). PVSC also retains the right to require protocols not specifically addressed by the CDC or NJDOH to maintain a safe and healthy work environment for its employees, vendors, agents and guests.

- In addition at a minimum, the Contractor will be required to adhere to the following PVSC Protocols:
 - All personnel shall view and sign acknowledgement form for PVSC's Contractor Training Course;
 - All personnel shall submit completed training and safety documents required TWO (2) Business Days before entering site.
 - All personnel shall report to Security for credentialing prior to any work
 - All personnel shall have PVSC's Contractor Training 'Sticker" affixed and visible on their hard hats:
 - All personnel to which it applies will be issued a PVSC Contractor Identification Card;

PVSC's Contractor Safety Training has been uploaded in video form to our Website, https://www.nj.gov/pvsc/, along with the corresponding documents required by the contractors. These can be located on the home page under "Current News Click Here." Once completed, the documents should be emailed to PVSCTraining@pvsc.com.

Once received and validated by the Safety Department, contractors will verify with their PVSC project point of contact, their ability to comply with the additional PVSC Contractor Site Access Protocols as they may apply. Only after this verification will the contractor receive approval to enter PVSC facilities. The PVSC point of contact shall notify Security & Safety of the anticipated start date of the contractor to allow Gate Access.

All personnel shall submit completed training and safety documents required <u>TWO (2)</u> Business Days before entering site.

On their first entry into PVSC all new contractors shall report to the Security Building to receive their Safety Orientation Hard Hat sticker and if applicable (by project) their contractor Identifications.

The Contractor is solely responsible for the safety of its employees, subcontractors, suppliers and representatives, including but not limited to the development and implementation of effective safety practices and programs in accordance with Federal, State and Local requirements, including the requirements of PVSC's Construction Safety & Health Manual for Contractors:

http://www.nj.gov/pvsc/home/forms/pdf/ConstructionSafetyHealthManualforContractors0827201 2.pdf

Prior to commencing any work at the site the Contractor shall designate in writing to PVSC the name of the person who is their on-site safety officer. The Contractors designated on-site safety officer shall be in charge of all of the safety programs of the Contractor and will be responsible to ensure the proper development, implementation and enforcement of all necessary and appropriate safety practices. The Contractor's designated on-site safety officer shall be on site at all times that work is being conducted, and shall be solely responsible for supervision of the Contractor's employees, subcontractors, suppliers and representatives for safety.

The Contractor throughout the work of this contract shall comply with the PVSC Safety Rules, as well as the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and the applicable New Jersey Department of Labor Administrative Codes. The Contractor will be provided with a copy of the PVSC Safety Rules, these rules, including the wearing of protective head gear, shall be strictly enforced by the Contractor in respect to his own employees, subcontractor's employees, and other personnel engaged in business with the Contractor on PVSC's property.

Contractor's (and subcontractor's) personnel when on PVSC property shall wear OSHA approved hard hats and shall prominently display the Company Name or Logo on the hard hat.

The Contractor is advised of the 15 MPH speed limit on all plant roads, and will be held responsible for his employees (and subcontractors) compliance with this and all rules for traffic safety in the plant.

The Contractor's attention is directed toward several OSHA Safety and Health Standards and New Jersey Labor Department Administrative Codes that influence the conduct of his work in specific areas.

- 1. OSHA Confined Space Standard, 29 CFR 1910.146 Work in Confined Spaces
- 2. OSHA Control of Hazardous Energy (Lockout/Tagout) Standard, 29 CFR 1910.147 (Electrical energy lockout and other energy sources such as steam, air, liquids.)
- 3. NJAC 7:31-1.1 Toxic Catastrophe Prevention Act

Before any work commences on PVSC property, the Contractor's Superintendent shall contact the PVSC Facility Supervisor at the site. The PVSC Supervisor will inform the Contractor of the PVSC emergency plant evacuation plan and where he is to assemble his personnel.

The Contractor shall instruct and show his personnel where to assemble, at the sound of the PVSC emergency evacuation siren. The Facility Supervision will notify the Contractor's personnel of the emergency evacuation route they are to follow. At the assembly point, the Contractor's person in charge shall account for all his personnel, supply transportation, and see that they utilize the prescribed evacuation route.

Where portions of the work of the contract fall under the authority of these Administrative Codes for Public Employees, the Contractor shall at all times maintain safety standards for his employees at least as comprehensive as that imposed by the Codes. This includes, for example (and not limited to), monitoring of air in confined spaces with appropriate instrumentation for noxious or toxic gases % oxygen, and lockout and tagout of hazardous energy such as electrical, steam, air or liquids under pressure.

The Contractor shall be responsible for providing first aid, and emergency medical assistance for any of his employees injured on the work site. The Contractor shall be responsible for arranging emergency assistance with local hospitals, and/or EMT services. The Contractor's arrangements shall be submitted in writing, with required telephone numbers to PVSC's Security Department. PVSC Security will summon the Contractor's emergency personnel, if the Contractor calls PVSC Security from any in plant telephone.

Contractor's personnel will not be treated in the PVSC Dispensary for minor injuries, cuts or services.

01604 MATERIALS HANDLING AND STORAGE

Material storage and staging area shall be approved by the Owner. All equipment and materials to be incorporated in the work shall be so placed as not to injure the work or the Owner's property as so that free access may be had at any time to all parts of the work, and to all utility installations in the vicinity of the work.

Materials and equipment shall be kept neatly piled and compactly and conveniently stored so as to inconvenience as little as possible travel in the area. Contractor shall obtain approval of PVSC for storage of his materials and equipment.

All loss, injury, or damage to the work or materials from whatever cause, shall be made good at the Contractor's expense.

Contractor shall be responsible for daily cleanup.

All removed materials, rubbish and other things not required to be incorporated in the work shall be promptly removed from the property.

The Contractor will be responsible for the security of his tools, equipment and all his materials.

Any spillage caused by the Contractor, his subcontractors, suppliers or his equipment, while on PVSC property, shall be the Contractor's responsibility to properly clean up at the Contractor's expenses. The clean-up shall meet all Federal and State requirements, including proper documentation as may be required.

01630 DOMESTIC PRODUCTS AND MATERIALS

In accordance with N.J.S.A. 40A:11-18 et seq., only products and materials produced, mined or manufactured in the United States which will ultimately become the property of the PVSC may be used in this contract.

This section shall not apply with respect to domestic materials, if domestic materials of the class or kind to be used are not mined, produced or manufactured, as the case may be, in the United States in commercial quantities and of a satisfactory quality or in respect to some particular domestic materials it is impracticable to make such requirement or that it would unreasonably

increase the cost, an exception shall be permitted. Any request for exception of this requirement shall be in writing and shall be approved by the Engineer.

01710 QUALIFICATION OF CONTRACTOR

The Contractor and his personnel must be experienced in the type of work specified herein.

The Contractor shall supply certification of this experience by furnishing at least three (3) customers (with names and addresses and telephone numbers) where he had performed work of a similar nature and the dates the work was performed. (In coordination with Reference List in Sections 00401 and 00305 (I), and with specific technical qualification requirements as stated in Section 10005.)

01720 TRADE PRACTICE/SUPERVISION

The Contractor shall retain skilled craftsmen for the duration of the job and shall provide continual supervision to insure that good trade practices, including safety, are adhered to.

Further, the Contractor's Superintendent and trade Foreman shall be available for consultation with regard to work performed under this specification, to the PVSC designated representative, throughout each day for the duration of the contract.

Contractor will be held responsible for the conduct of his personnel on site, and shall promptly remove individuals who are drunk, disorderly, or found with controlled substances, when requested by the Owner.

Parking for Contractor trucks and employees vehicles with the plant is at the Commission's convenience. Parking shall be where designated by the Commission and is subject to change.

01730 WARRANTY AND QUALITY ASSURANCE

Contractor shall warrant all work to PVSC for one (1) year against defective materials and workmanship. Warranty to begin from date of substantial completion as defined/determined by PVSC.

Inspection of work and materials by the Owner shall not relieve the Contractor of any obligations to fulfill the terms of this contract, and any defective work found at the time of installation shall be made good. All unsuitable materials shall be rejected notwithstanding that such materials have been previously overlooked by the Owner and accepted.

The work site shall remain open to the Owner for purposes of inspection. The Owner reserves the right to halt progress as he deems the specifications or the intent of the specifications are not being adhered to. The terms Owner, Engineer or Plant Engineer, shall be construed to be interchangeable in this Contract.

01750 MAINTENANCE OF PLANT OPERATION DURING CONSTRUCTION

The existing PVSC Facilities [i.e. wastewater treatment plant (both process and non-process) and pumping stations] will be maintained in continuous operation by the Owner during the entire construction period. Work under the contract shall be so scheduled and conducted by the Contractor such that work will not impede any treatment process, create potential hazards to operation or equipment, reduce the quality of the effluent or cause odor, or other nuisance. In performing the work shown as specified, the Contractor shall plan and schedule the work to meet the operating requirements and additional constraints outlined in this Section.

Contractor hazardous material storage tanks (CHMST) are defined as any storage vessel capable of storing five (5) or more gallons of hazardous materials (including petroleum productions), as defined by N.J.A.C. 7:1E-Appendices A and B. Storage vessels may include chemical vats, drums, pails, and tanks; including those tanks built into non-self-propelled equipment such as

stationary RICE containing equipment, pumps, compressors, generators; oil filled transformers, fuel tanker trucks, etc.

The NJDEP regulations (DPCC) require a minimum of 60 days' notice from the OWNER for the installation of any CHMST holding a hazardous substance, which includes all types of petroleum products and approval of such installation by the NJDEP prior to installation. The Contractor shall not furnish, deliver, and/or use any CHMST to any PVSC Facility until the Contractor prepares and submits (at least 60-days in advance of bringing the CHMST on site) to the OWNER a letter fully describing the CHMST system including identifying the hazardous substance; a description of the installation, including show the tank will be filled; how the requirements of NJAC 7:1E will be satisfied; and specific dates of installation and removal. Upon installation the Owner must prepare and submit a DPCC Plan Amendment to the NJDEP within 30 days. The Contractor will provide the Owner with any information, details, plans, etc., required for the DPCC Plan Amendment within five (5) day of a request from the Owner.

There are circumstances where a Contractor may find it necessary to use a CHMST on a temporary basis. A common example is the use of a fuel tank for a backup electrical generator during a construction project. When a CHMST will be on site for less than six (6) months, it is acceptable to notify the OWNER in writing of a CHMST without requiring the OWNER to amend its Discharge Prevention, Containment and Countermeasure (DPCC) Plan. This temporary use letter must be received by the OWNER at least 14-days prior to bringing the CHMST on site. The letter must fully describe the installation, including how the CHMST will be filled, and must document how the requirements of N.J.A.C. 7:1E will be satisfied. The letter must also specify dates of installation and removal. This temporary use letter fulfills both the 60-day notification requirement and the plan amendment submission requirement.

A 14-Day Notification Letter "form" is included in Appendix 4 entitled "14 Day Notification Letter for temporary Fuel or Chemical Storage tanks, equipment, & Reciprocating Internal Combustion Engines (RICE)". The form includes the instructions for completing the form as well as a description of the requirements of both the OWNER'S DPCC and Title V Air Permit.

The 14-Day Notification form is available electronically. The Contractor shall submit the 14-Day Notification form as directed by the instructions and ensure all those listed on the form are notified. Provision of a written notification to the OWNER does not constitute approval of the equipment. No equipment shall be brought on site without prior written approval by the OWNER.

If a temporary tank will be kept on site for six (6) months or longer, additional notifications and a full plan amendment (as described above) will be required. After project completion, the plan must be amended a second time when the tank is removed. Also, if the Contractor using a temporary CHMST later determines that it must be kept on site for more than six (6) months, a plan amendment must be submitted. Refer to N.J.A.C. 7:1E-4 for more information. The Contractor shall provide a written notification after 90 days of the initial installation date of a temporary use CHMST to the OWNER to confirm the status and removal date of the CHMST.

Any and all CHMSTs must be installed in secondary containment meeting the requirements of N.J.A.C. 7:1Ewhen not in active use. CHMSTs in active use shall also be installed in secondary containment when stationary or located in an existing contained area to the greatest extent practicable.

The Contractor, using only trained personnel, shall be required to complete and document weekly visual inspections of each CHMST and monitor and document any hazardous material transfers into and out of each CHMST (such as bulk fueling or hazardous material transfer) during the entirety of the transfer process. A Standard Operating Procedure entitled "Contractor Equipment Visual Leak Inspection SOP" and "Weekly Visual Leak Detection Log" inspection checklist for the Weekly Visual Inspection and hazardous material inspections are included in Appendix 4. The Contractor may also access the forms electronically. Signed copies of the inspection forms must be maintained onsite at all times, and copies provided to the OWNER.

The Contractor shall designate specific employees to be trained on the inspection and delivery/hazardous material transfer monitoring procedures, practices, and recordkeeping. The Contractor shall provide the OWNER with written proof of initial training and annual refresher training. Initial training shall be given to designated employees within five (5) business days of the start of the onsite project work or arrival of a new designated employee onsite. Annual refresher training shall be given once per calendar year. No designated employee shall go more than 365 consecutive calendar days without training.

END OF SECTION

DIVISION 15 - MECHANICAL

15971 Automatic Temperature Controls

1.0 General

- A. The work of this contract shall consist of furnishing all supervision, labor, and materials necessary to furnish, install, and maintain building Automatic Temperature Control (ATC) systems throughout PVSC.
- B. The work shall also include any necessary design, additions or alterations required to service, support, or upgrade existing ATC systems at PVSC.
- C. PVSC presently has a combination of LON-based and BACnet IP control HVAC systems at various facilities and buildings throughout the plant which are connected to PVSC's HVAC network. The Contractor shall specialize in Automatic Temperature Control (ATC) systems and have a minimum of 10 years documented experience with LON based and BACnet IP DDC's as manufactured by Schneider Electric. The Contractor shall have all necessary licensing to service equipment by Schneider Electric.

Existing ATC installation locations are:

- 1. Industrial & Pollution Control Building
- 2. Sludge Thickener Facility
- 3. Sludge Heat Treatment Facility
- 4. OEM Building
- 5. Filter Press Facility
- 6. Oxygenation Tanks
- 7. Wet Weather Pumping Station Facility
- 8. Oxygen Production Facility
- 9. Administration Building (Computer Room A/C on network)
- 10. Warehouse
- 11. Cake Storage
- 12. Vehicle Maintenance
- 13. Effluent Pumping Station
- 14. Solids Handling Building
- 15. Decant Facility
- 16. Primary Clarifiers
- 17. Northeast, Southeast and West Pumping Stations
- 18. Grit & Screen

D. Overall, the scope of work may include any of the following types of tasks listed below (beginning with item number 1.4). The tasks shall be billed to PVSC at the scheduled rate listed in section 00400. The list below is neither inclusive nor exclusive of tasks to be performed.

1.1 Description

- A. The Contractor shall furnish all labor, materials, equipment, and service necessary for a complete and operating Building Management Control System (BMS), utilizing Direct Digital Controls as described herein. The Control System shall be capable of total integration of the HVAC systems with user access to all system data either locally over a secure Intranet within the plant or by remote access by a standard Web Browser over the Internet. This shall include HVAC control, all trending, reporting and maintenance management functions related to normal HVAC operations as indicated in this specification or recommended by the equipment manufacturer. It is the intent of the specifications to maintain or construct a complete and working installation.
- B. All work described in this section shall be installed, wired, circuit tested and calibrated by factory technicians qualified for this work. The Contractor shall be responsible for the proper operation, installation, and maintenance of all control systems herein specified. The Contractor shall be responsible for coordination of all interfaces with other equipment to achieve the required control operation.
- C. All labor, material, equipment and software not specifically referred to herein or on the plans, which are required to meet the functional intent of this specification, shall be provided without additional cost to the PVSC.
- D. The PVSC Facility presently has Schneider Electric Building Systems in several of its buildings. The Contractor shall integrate the new and existing Schneider Electric Building Systems together as part of the existing Facility Management Control PVSC Network. All components, software and operation shall be interoperable with the existing Schneider Electric EcoStruxure building automation system. The installed system shall be capable of interfacing directly with the existing Invensys systems, including the existing PVSC dynamic color graphics software, and programming software. All systems will be shown via dynamic graphics with all pertinent system alarms for proper operation and maintenance. The use of separate PC workstations, gateways, metalinks, replacement of existing controllers and control devices and additional software graphic packages to accomplish this interface will not be accepted.
- E. The Contractor shall visit PVSC Buildings in accordance with Section 00100 (Invitation to Bid) to verify the existing DDC controls equipment and ability to be compatible with new controls before bid. The Contractor shall provide Web based graphics for controlled equipment under this contract that matches the functionality and appearance of the graphics already in use on the existing systems. The Contractor shall configure graphic displays to meet PVSC's requirements.

1.2 Contractor's Work Force

The Contractor shall employ a sufficient work force to maintain the schedule established by the Plant Engineer. The contractor is not expected to maintain a full-time workforce onsite unless work is available to maintain such workforce. There will be no guaranteed minimum utilization of the Contractor's services by PVSC under this contract, except that for any given task assigned, the minimum billable time shall be four (4) hours. However, the contractor shall report to the site with adequate workforce to perform all work requested and to make necessary repairs with adequate workforce to perform all work requested or to make necessary repairs commencing within three (3) days of receiving notice from

PVSC by telephone, e-mail, US mail and/or fax. Depending on the amount of work assigned, this may require the Contractor to retain additional resources.

1.3 System Description

A. The entire Control System shall be comprised of a network of interoperable, standalone direct digital controllers (DDCs) communicating on a LonWorks and BACnet IP open protocol communication network. All information from the controllers shall be available to local computers within the facility via local Intranet/Internet and to remote computers or from multiple facilities via the Internet. The Control System shall be able to communicate to third party systems such as HVAC, lighting, energy metering, power management, security, access control, fire-life safety systems and other building management related devices with open, interoperable communication capabilities.

1.4 Submittals

A. In accordance with the procedures and requirements set forth in Section 01310 of the General requirements, the Contractor shall obtain from the equipment manufacturer and submit the following:

1. Shop Drawings

- 00100 Each submittal shall be complete in all respects, incorporating all information and data listed herein and all additional information required for evaluation of the proposed equipment's compliance with the Contract Documents.
- 00101 Partial, incomplete or illegible submissions will be returned to the Contractor without review for re-submittal.
- O0102 Shop drawing shall reflect careful coordination with work installed under these Specifications, and that of other Sections, especially with respect to interfacing between motor starters and controls. Refer to the elementary wiring diagrams shown on the Electrical Drawings. The logic diagrams submitted under this Section shall show not only the controls furnished by this Contractor, but the various elements of the motor start circuits furnished under other Sections.
- 00103 In addition to the shop drawing submittal requirements indicated above, the Contractor shall provide computer disks (CD-RW) which shall contain the approved version of all shop drawings. Drawing files representation shall conform to the latest version of AutoCAD.
- 00104 Shop Drawings shall include but not be limited to:
 - Equipment specifications and data sheets identifying all specific model and number materials used and methods of fabrication.
 - Complete assembly, diagrammatic layout drawings in 11" x 17" format showing unit and field mounted devices including their location, installation drawings with clearly marked dimensions.
 - 3) Control panel drawings with Bill of Materials showing component layouts, component and electrical laddle.
 - 4) Logic diagrams.

- 5) Sequence of operations, indicating diagrams and power requirements function of each equipment.
- 6) Point-to-Point interconnecting wiring diagrams in 11" x 17" format.
- 7) Function definition tables for electronic and sequential controllers.
- Example equipment and control panel nameplate data sheet.
- 9) Start-up and shutdown procedures.
- 10) Sample of the as-built diagrammatic layout drawings in 11" x 17" format which shall define formats, labeling, etc.
- List of the final diagrammatic layout drawings and control panel drawings to be produced.
- 12) Aggregate power requirements (in VA) of Control components for each system and control panel.
- 13) Programming instruction manual for controllers.
- 14) Control schematics conforming to Joint Indicating Council (JIC) standards. Complete control schematic and point-to-point internal and external wiring diagrams. Separate control schematics shall be provided for each panel.
- 15) Conduit layout drawings in 11" x 17" format showing proposed routing of exposed and concealed conduits. Drawings shall show conduit size, quantity, locations and size of pull and junction boxes and all penetrations. All conduits shall have proper identification as to size and quantity of wire.
- 16) Manufacturer's literature, illustrations, specifications, engineering data, and catalog cuts.
- 17) Control Valve sizing and schedule which includes:
 - a) Valve Size.
 - b) CV Value.
 - c) Design Flow Rate (gpm).
 - d) Location and Unit Served.
- 18) All devices submitted shall be cross-referenced and labeled with project designations.
- 19) Preliminary and final database and alarm listings.
- 20) Proposed Color Graphic displays with description.
- 21) Network Configuration.
- Software listing with descriptions, model number, revision number and date.

- 23) Program logic listings.
- 24) System Block Diagram and architectural drawings in 11" x 17" format.
- 25) Input/Output point list of all connected points including Adobe PDF and MS Excel files in addition to printer lists.
- 26) All graphic displays to be provided are to be submitted full scale in color printer formatted and in PDF file format. For the Engineer and Owner's review format and modification.
- 27) Lesson plan for required training.
- 28) Submit a list of local projects (three minimum) of similar type and size the bidder has installed, utilizing the products proposed for this project, with Owner's representative's names and telephone numbers for the reference. This list should directly:
 - a) Submitted project to include direct integration to third Party microprocessor controllers of the type specified within the scope where an integration and interoperation of the Lonworks controls has been successfully achieved between two different manufacturers' controls systems.
- 29) Qualifications Data.
- 30) Written Confirmation shall be provided indicating that control systems provided under this Section will be fully compatible and interface properly with all equipment, control components and software and hardware currently residing in the plant.
- 31) Written confirmation that a products used on this project are of current manufacturer's and are readily available through multiple distribution channels. New unproven products in "Field Testing" status are not acceptable.

B. Operation and Maintenance Manuals

- 1. The Contractor shall submit operation and maintenance manuals.
- 2. Two (2) copies of a preliminary O&M manual shall be included in the shop drawing submittal. Without inclusion of these manuals, the submittal will be considered incomplete and will be returned without review.
- 3. Operation and maintenance Manuals: Submit complete manuals including:
 - a. Copies of all Shop Drawings, test reports, maintenance data and schedules, description of operation and spare parts information.
 - b. Maintenance instructions and lists of recommended spare parts for each type of control device.
 - c. Control panel and interconnection wiring diagrams in 11" x 17" format with identified and numbered system components and devices.
 - d. All drawings and description of interface with existing systems, including: interconnection drawings, screens, alarms. All O&M information shall be appended to the existing O&M manuals.

- e. Keyboard illustrations and step-by-step procedures indexed for each operator function.
- f. Inspection period, cleaning methods, cleaning materials, and calibration tolerances.
- g. Calibration records and list of set points.
- h. Programming instruction manuals for controllers.
- i. Software and Firmware Operational Documentation: Include the following:
 - Software lists with descriptions, model number, revision number and date.
 - 2) Engineering and installation manuals.
 - 3) Program Software Backup: On a magnetic media or compact disc, complete with data files.
 - 4) Device address list.
 - 5) Printout of software application and graphic screens.
 - 6) Licenses, guarantee, and warranty documents for all equipment and systems.

C. Record Drawings

Upon completion of new work, provide an electronic set of 'as-built' drawings, job
documentation and application software on compact disk. Drawings shall be
provided as AutoCAD compatible files. Submittal data such as sequence of
operation and cut sheets shall be provided in an Adobe Acrobat format. Five (5)
printed copies of the 'as-built' drawings shall be provided in addition to the
documents on compact disk. Revise Shop Drawings to reflect actual installation
and operating sequences.

1.5 Agency and Code Approvals

- A. All products of the Control System shall be provided with the following agency approvals. Verification that the approvals exist for all submitted products shall be provided with the submittal package. Systems or products not currently offering the following approvals are not acceptable.
 - 1. UL-916; Energy Management Systems
 - 2. ULC; UL Canadian Standards Association
 - 3. FCC, Part 15, Subpart J, Class A Computing Devices

1.6 Software License Agreement

A. The PVSC shall sign a copy of the manufacturer's standard software and firmware licensing agreement. The PVSC must be listed as the licensed user. The Contractor shall include the costs to transfer licenses to PVSC. Such license shall grant use of all programs and application software to PVSC.

1.7 Delivery, Storage and Handling

A. Provide factory-shipping cartons for each piece of equipment and control device. Maintain cartons through shipping, storage, and handling as required to prevent equipment damage. Store equipment and materials inside and protected from weather.

1.8 Job Conditions

A. Cooperation with Other Trades: Coordinate the Work of this section with that of other PVSC personnel to insure that the Work will be carried out in an orderly fashion. It shall be this Contractor's responsibility to check the Contract Documents for possible conflicts between his work and that of other crafts in equipment location, pipe, duct and conduit runs, electrical outlets and fixtures, air diffusers, and structural and architectural features.

1.9 Quality Assurance

- A. The Manufacturer of the digital controllers shall provide documentation supporting compliance with ISO-9001 (Model for Quality Assurance in Design/Development, Production, Installation and Servicing). Product literature provided by the digital controller manufacturer shall contain the ISO-9001 Certification Mark from the applicable registrar.
- B. The Contractor shall specialize in automatic temperature controls and have a minimum of 10 years documented experience with LON based DDC's. See section 01710.

1.10 Specification Nomenclature

A. Acronyms used in this specification are as follows:

BMS Building Management System Network Area Controller NAC Interoperable Digital Controller IDC Browser User Interface BUI **PCW** Portable Computer Workstation PMI Power Measurement Interface JDE Java Desk Environment DDC **Direct Digital Controls** LAN Local Area Network WAN Wide Area Network Web Browser Interface WBI OOT Object Oriented Technology **PICS** Product Interoperability Compliance Statement **Automatic Temperature Controls** ATC **HVAC** Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning Air Handling Unit AHU

JIC Joint Indicating Council FUI Full User Interface

XIF External (Device) Interface File

2.0 Materials

2.1 General

A. All Control Systems shall be comprised of a stand-alone digital controller(s), a computer system, graphical user interface software, network devices, work place pro software, work place tech tool software and other devices as specified herein.

B. The installed system shall provide secure password access to all features, functions and data contained in the Control System.

2.2 Acceptable Manufacturers

A. Control System

 Tridium Front End based on Niagara 4 framework utilizing a WEB Browser user interface and Lon Based Digital Controllers, Schneider Electric EcoStruxure or equal. Substitute Manufacturer's will be required to provide a system demonstration along with the necessary software, etc. to provide a completely integrated system capable of communicating with the PVSC existing DDC Systems.

2.3 Open, Interoperable, Integrated Architectures

- A. The programming computer software shall employ object-oriented technology (OOT) for representation of all data and control devices within the system. For each Lon Works device that does not have Lon Mark certification, the device supplier must provide an XIF file for the device. All components and controllers supplied under this contract shall be true "peer to peer" communicating devices. Components or controllers requiring "polling" by a host to pass data shall not be acceptable.
- B. The supplied system must incorporate the ability to access all the data using Java enabled browsers without requiring proprietary operator interface and configuration programs. An Open Data Base Connectivity (ODBC) or Structured Query Language (SQL) compliant server database is required for all system database parameter storage. This data shall reside on PVSC's existing enterprise server for all database access. Systems requiring propriety database or property user interface programs shall not be acceptable.
- C. A hierarchical topology is required to assure reasonable system response time and to manage the flow and sharing of data without unduly burdening the customer's internal Intranet network. Systems employing a "flat" single tiered architecture shall not be acceptable.

2.4 Networks

- A. The Local Area Network (LAN) shall be either a 10 or 100 Megabits/sec Ethernet network supporting Java, XML, HTTP, BACnet IP and CORBA IIOP for maximum flexibility for integration of building data with enterprise information systems and providing support for multiple Network Area Controllers (NACs), Browser User Interfaces (BUI's)
- B. Local area network minimum physical and media access requirements:
 - 1. Ethernet; IEEE standard 802.3
 - 2. Cable; 10 Base-T, UTP-8 wire, category 5
 - 3. Minimum throughput; 10 Mbps, with ability to increase to 100 Mbps

2.5 Network Access

A. Remote Access.

 For Local Area Network installations, provide access to the Owner's Ethernet Network. The owner shall provide a future connection to the LAN to enable this access.

2.6 Network Area Controller (NAC)

- A. The Network Area Controller (NAC) shall provide the interface between the LAN or WAN and the field control devices, and provide global supervisory control functions over the control devices connected to the NAC. It shall be capable of executing application control programs to provide:
 - 1. Calendar functions
 - 2. Scheduling
 - 3. Trending
 - 4. Alarm monitoring and routing
 - 5. Time synchronization
 - 6. Integration of LonWorks controller data
 - 7. Network Management functions for all LonWorks based devices.
 - 8. Tunneling capabilities to perform remote programming of LON Controller (IDC).
- B. The Network Area Controller must provide the following hardware features as a minimum:
 - 1. Two Ethernet Ports -10 / 100 Mbps
 - 2. One RS-232 port and/or Two Serial Ports
 - 3. One LonWorks Interface Port 78KB FTT-10A
 - 4. Battery Backup
 - 5. Flash memory for long term data backup (If battery backup or flash memory is not supplied, the controller must contain a hard disk with at least 1 gigabyte storage capacity)
 - 6. The NAC must be capable of operation over a temperature range of 0 to 55°C
 - 7. The NAC must be capable of withstanding storage temperatures of between 0 and 70°C
 - 8. The NAC must be capable of operation over a humidity range of 5 to 95% RH, non-condensing
 - 9. ASD Driver capable communicating with existing network 8000 devices
 - 10. BAC Net Driver
- C. The NAC shall provide multiple user access to the system and support for ODBC or SQL. A database resident on the NAC shall be an ODBC-compliant database or must provide an ODBC data access mechanism to read and write data stored within it.

- D. The NAC shall support standard Web browser access via the Intranet/Internet. It shall support a minimum of 16 simultaneous users.
- E. Event Alarm Notification and actions
 - The NAC shall provide alarm recognition, storage; routing, management, and analysis to supplement distributed capabilities of equipment or application specific controllers.
 - 2. The NAC shall be able to route any alarm condition to any defined user location whether connected to a local network or remote via dial-up, telephone connection, or wide-area network.
 - 3. Alarm generation shall be selectable for annunciation type and acknowledgement requirements including but limited to:
 - a. To alarm
 - b. Return to normal
 - c. To fault
 - 4. Provide for the creation of an unlimited number of alarm classes for the purpose of routing types and or classes of alarms, i.e.: HVAC, Fire, smoke, high room temperature, etc.
 - 5. Provide timed (schedule) routing of alarms by class, object, group, or node.
 - 6. Provide alarm generation from binary object "runtime" and /or event counts for equipment maintenance. The user shall be able to reset runtime or event count values with appropriate password control.
- F. Control equipment and network failures shall be treated as alarms and annunciated.
- G. Alarms shall be annunciated in any of the following manners as defined by the user:
 - 1. Screen message text
 - 2. Email of the complete alarm message to multiple recipients. Provide the ability to route and email alarms based on:
 - a. Day of week
 - b. Time of day
 - c. Recipient
 - 3. Pagers via paging services that initiate a page on receipt of email message
 - 4. Graphic with flashing alarm object(s)
 - 5. Printed message, routed directly to a dedicated alarm printer
- H. The following shall be recorded by the NAC for each alarm (at a minimum):
 - 1. Time and date

- 2. Location (building, floor, zone, office number, etc.)
- 3. Equipment (air handler #, access way, etc.)
- 4. Acknowledge time, date, and user who issued acknowledgement.
- 5. Number of occurrences since last acknowledgement.
- I. Alarm actions may be initiated by user defined programmable objects created for that purpose.
- J. Defined users shall be given proper access to acknowledge any alarm, or specific types or classes of alarms defined by the user.
- K. A log of all alarms shall be maintained by the NAC and/or a server (if configured in the system) and shall be available for review by the user.
- L. Provide a "query" feature to allow review of specific alarms by user-defined parameters.
- M. A separate log for system alerts (controller failures, network failures, etc.) shall be provided and available for review by the user.
- N. An Error Log to record invalid property changes or commands shall be provided and available for review by the user.

2.7 Data Collection and Storage

- A. The NAC shall have the ability to collect data for any property of any object and store this data for future use.
- B. The data collection shall be performed by log objects, resident in the NAC that shall have, at a minimum, the following configurable properties:
 - 1. Designating the log as interval or deviation.
 - 2. For interval logs, the object shall be configured for time of day, day of week and the sample collection interval.
 - 3. For deviation logs, the object shall be configured for the deviation of a variable to a fixed value. This value, when reached, will initiate logging of the object.
 - 4. For all logs, provide the ability to set the maximum number of data stores for the log and to set whether the log will stop collecting when full, or rollover the data on a first-in, first-out basis.
 - 5. Each log shall have the ability to have its data cleared on a time-based event or by a user-defined event or action.
- C. All log data shall be stored in a relational database in the NAC and the data shall be accessed from a server (if the system is so configured) or a standard Web Browser.
- D. All log data, when accessed from a server, shall be capable of being manipulated using standard SQL statements.
- E. All log data shall be available to the user in the following data formats:
 - 1. HTML

- 2. XML
- 3. Plain Text
- 4. Comma or tab separated values
- F. Systems that do not provide log data in HTML and XML formats at a minimum shall not be acceptable.
- G. The NAC shall have the ability to archive its log data either locally (to itself), or remotely to a server or other NAC on the network. Provide the ability to configure the following archiving properties, at a minimum:
 - 1. Archive on time of day
 - 2. Archive on user-defined number of data stores in the log (buffer size)
 - 3. Archive when log has reached its user-defined capacity of data stores
 - 4. Provide ability to clear logs once archived

2.8 Audit Log

- A. Provide and maintain an Audit Log that tracks all activities performed on the NAC. Provide the ability to specify a buffer size for the log and the ability to archive log based on time or when the log has reached its user-defined buffer size. Provide the ability to archive the log locally (to the NAC), to another NAC on the network, or to a server. For each log entry, provide the following data:
 - 1. Time and date
 - 2. User ID
 - 3. Change or activity: i.e., Change setpoint, add or delete objects, commands, etc.

2.9 Database Backup and Storage

- A. The NAC shall have the ability to automatically backup its database. The database shall be backed up based on a user-defined time interval.
- B. Copies of the current database and, at the most recently saved database shall be stored in the NAC. The age of the most recently saved database is dependent on the user-defined database save interval.
- C. The NAC database shall be stored, at a minimum, in XML format to allow for user viewing and editing, if desired. Other formats are acceptable as well, as long as XML format is supported.

2.10 Interoperable Digital Controller (IDC)

- A. Controls shall be microprocessor based Interoperable LonMark or LonWorks Controllers (IDC) and BACnet IP. Where possible, all Interoperable Digital Controllers shall bear the applicable LonMark interoperability logo on each product delivered.
- B. A majority of the existing HVAC control are being accomplished using LonMark based devices where the application has a LonMark profile defined. Where LonMark devices are not available for a particular application, devices based on LonWorks shall be acceptable. For each LonWorks device that does not have LonMark certification, the

device supplier must provide an XIF file for the device. Publicly available specifications for the Applications Programming Interface (API) must be provided for each LonWorks / LonMark controller defining the programming or setup of each device. All programming, documentation and programming tools necessary to set up and configure the supplied devices per the specified sequences of operation shall be provided. Any new or upgraded controllers and/or panels will include Schneider Electric EcoStruxure BACnet IP based controllers.

- C. The LonWorks and BACnet IP network trunk shall be run to the nearest Network Area Controller (NAC). A maximum of 126 devices may occupy any one LonWorks and/or BACnet IP trunk and must be installed in buss architecture using the appropriate trunk termination device. All LonWorks and LonMark devices must be supplied using FTT-10A LonWorks communications transceivers. Where LonWorks controllers are not being used, BACnet IP controllers will be utilized.
- D. The Network Area Controller will provide all scheduling, alarming, trending, and network management for the LonMark / LonWorks and BACnet based devices.
- E. The IDCs shall communicate with the NAC at a baud rate of not less than 78.8K baud. The IDC shall provide LED indication of communication and controller performance to the technician, without cover removal.
- F. All IDCs shall be fully application programmable and shall at all times maintain their LONMARK certification as well as BACnet designation. Controllers offering application selection only (non-programmable), require a 10% spare point capacity to be provided for all applications. All control sequences within or programmed into the IDC shall be stored in non-volatile memory, which is not dependent upon the presence of a battery, to be retained.
- G. The supplier of any programmable IDC shall provide one (1) copy of the manufacturer's programming tool, software with documentation, to the PVSC.

2.11 Software

A. Development Software

- 1. The Contractor shall furnish, install, configure, program, customize and test software required herein or necessary to provide a system that is fully operational and meets the requirements of the Contract documents.
- 2. It shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to furnish the correct number of software packages complete with all documentation and licensing. Only fully licensed, original copies of software shall be provided. Once the installation is complete, the Contractor shall transfer registered ownership to the PVSC and turn over all software, disks, keys, documentation, license and warranty agreements. The PVSC shall receive all system upgrades and revisions offered by the software vendor including installation, reconfiguration, modifications, etc., at no additional cost, for a period of 2 years from date of final acceptance of the entire DDC system.
- 3. The Contractor shall furnish, install, configure, develop, customize, test and place in satisfactory operating condition, the EcoStruxure Workstation, Pro Block (Windows Base XPI) and Workplace Tech Tool software system. The system shall have an unlimited tag database capability. The system shall include all drivers, modules, etc., required for a complete installation. All necessary or manufacturer recommended add-on modules or programs shall be provided.
- 4. The Contractor shall, using the EcoStruxure Workstation software, build customized graphic displays, reports, trend graphics, alarm tables and historical

records to allow the operator to display, control and print all information available from all HVAC system equipment prior to approval, all graphic displays shall be submitted for review. Graphic displays shall be highly detailed that matches title, functionality and appearance of the graphics already in use at the PVSC. The graphic displays shall show all available information for each piece of equipment as listed in the sequence of operation and detailed on the Contract Drawings. Equipment status and control shall be shown graphically using color, flashing, animation, etc. and through text messages. A general plant and system overview graphic, along with floor plan navigation, shall be developed that will allow the operator to view and select individual items and displays for more detailed viewing and control. Each subsystem and piece of equipment shall have an individual graphic developed for it. Where space and clarity do not permit, a system may be broken up into multiple screens.

B. Browser User Interface Software

- The system shall be capable of supporting an unlimited number of clients using a standard Web browser such as Internet Explorer or Mozilla Fire Fox. Systems requiring additional software (to enable a standard Web browser) to be resident on the client machine, or manufacture-specific browsers shall not be acceptable.
- 2. The Web browser software shall run on any operating system and system configuration that is supported by the Web browser. Systems that require specific machine requirements in terms of processor speed, memory, etc., in order to allow the Web browser to function with the Control System, shall not be acceptable.
- 3. The Web browser shall provide the same view of the system, in terms of graphics, schedules, calendars, logs, etc., and provide the same interface methodology as is provided by the Full User Interface (FUI). Systems that require different views or that require different means of interacting with objects such as schedules, or logs, shall not be permitted.
- 4. The Web browser client shall support at a minimum, the following functions:
 - a. User log-on identification and password shall be required. If an unauthorized user attempts access, a blank web page shall be displayed. Security using Java authentication and encryption techniques to prevent unauthorized access shall be implemented.
 - b. Graphical screens developed for the FUI shall be the same screens used for the Web browser client. Any animated graphical objects supported by the FUI shall be supported by the Web browser interface.
 - c. HTML programming shall not be required to display system graphics or data on a Web page. HTML editing of the Web page shall be allowed if the user desires a specific look or format.
 - d. Storage of the graphical screens shall be in the Network Area Controller (NAC), without requiring any graphics to be stored on the client machine. Systems that require graphics storage on each client are not acceptable.
 - e. Real-time values displayed on a Web page shall update automatically without requiring a manual "refresh" of the Web page.
 - f. Users shall have administrator-defined access privileges. Depending on the access privileges assigned, the user shall be able to perform the following:

- 1) Modify common application objects, such as schedules, calendars, and set points in a graphical manner.
 - a) Schedule times will be adjusted using a graphical slider, without requiring any keyboard entry from the operator.
 - b) Holidays shall be set by using a graphical calendar, without requiring any keyboard entry from the operator.
- 2) Commands to start and stop binary objects shall be done by rightclicking the selected object and selecting the appropriate command from the pop-up menu. No entry of text shall be required.
 - a) View logs and charts
 - b) View and acknowledge alarms
- 5. The system shall provide the capability to specify a user's (as determined by the log-on user identification) home page. Provide the ability to limit a specific user to just their defined home page. From the home page, links to other views, or pages in the system shall be possible, if allowed by the system administrator.
- 6. Graphic screens on the Web Browser client shall support hypertext links to other locations on the Internet or on Intranet sites, by specifying the Uniform Resource Locator (URL) for the desired link.

2.12 System Programming

- A. The Graphical User Interface Software (GUI) shall provide the ability to perform system programming control and graphic display engineering as part of a complete software package. Access to the programming functions and features of the GUI shall be through password access as assigned by the system.
- B. A library of control, application, and graphic objects shall be provided to enable the creation of all applications and user interface screens. Applications are to be created by selecting the desired control objects from the library, dragging or pasting them on the screen, and linking them together using a built in graphical connection tool. Completed applications may be stored in the library for future use. Graphical User Interface screens shall be created in the same fashion. Data for the user displays is obtained by graphically linking the user display objects to the application objects to provide "real-time" data updates. Any real-time data value or object property may be connected to display its current value on a user display. Systems requiring separate software tools or processes to create applications and user interface display shall not be acceptable.

C. Programming Methods

- 1. Provide the capability to copy objects from the supplied libraries, or from a user-defined library to the user's application. Objects shall be linked by a graphical linking scheme by dragging a link from one object to another. Object links will support one-to-one, many-to-one, or one-to-many relationships. Linked objects shall maintain their connections to other objects regardless of where they are positioned on the page and shall show link identification for links to objects on other pages for easy identification. Links will vary in color depending on the type of link; i.e., internal, external, hardware, etc.
- 2. Configuration of each object will be done through the object's property sheet using fill-in the blank fields, list boxes, and selection buttons. Use of custom

- programming, scripting language, or a manufacturer-specific procedural language for configuration will not be accepted.
- 3. The software shall provide the ability to view the logic in a monitor mode. When on-line, the monitor mode shall provide the ability to view the logic in real time for easy diagnosis of the logic execution. When off-line (debug), the monitor mode shall allow the user to set values to inputs and monitor the logic for diagnosing execution before it is applied to the system.
- 4. All programming shall be done in real-time. Systems requiring the uploading, editing, and downloading of database objects shall not be allowed.
- 5. The system shall support object duplication within a customer's database. An application, once configured, can be copied and pasted for easy re-use and duplication. All links, other than to the hardware, shall be maintained during duplication.

2.13 Object Libraries

- A. A standard library of objects shall be included for development and setup of application logic, user interface displays, system services, and communication networks.
- B. The objects in this library shall be capable of being copied and pasted into the user's database and shall be organized according to their function. In addition, the user shall have the capability to group objects created in their application and store the new instances of these objects in a user-defined library.
- C. In addition to the standard libraries specified here, the supplier of the system shall maintain an on-line accessible (over the Internet) library, available to all registered users to provide new or updated objects and applications as they are developed.
- D. All control objects shall conform to the control objects specified in the BACnet specification.
- E. The library shall include applications or objects for the following functions in the BACnet Specifications:
 - 1. Scheduling Object: The calendar must conform to the schedule object as defined in the BACnet specification, providing 7-day plus holiday & temporary scheduling features and a minimum of 10 on/off events per day. Data entry to be by graphical sliders to speed creation and selection of on-off events.
 - Calendar Object. The calendar must conform to the calendar object as defined in the BACnet specification, providing 12-month calendar features to allow for holiday or special event data entry. Data entry to be by graphical "point-and-click" selection. This object must be "linkable" to any or all scheduling objects for effective event control.
 - 3. Duty Cycling Object. Provide a universal duty cycle object to allow repetitive on/off time control of equipment as an energy conserving measure. Any number of these objects may be created to control equipment at varying intervals.
 - 4. Temperature Override Object. Provide a temperature override object that is capable of overriding equipment turned off by other energy saving programs (scheduling, duty cycling etc.) to maintain occupant comfort or for equipment freeze protection.

- 5. Start-Stop Time Optimization Object. Provide a start-stop time optimization object to provide the capability of starting equipment just early enough to bring space conditions to desired conditions by the scheduled occupancy time. Also, allow equipment to be stopped before the scheduled un-occupancy time just far enough ahead to take advantage of the building's "flywheel" effect for energy savings. Provide automatic tuning of all start / stop time object properties based on the previous day's performance.
- F. The library shall include control objects for the following functions. All control objects shall conform to the objects as specified in the BACnet specification.
 - 1. Analog Output Object Minimum requirement is to comply with the BACnet standard for data sharing.
 - 2. Binary Input Object Minimum requirement is to comply with the BACnet standard for data sharing. The user must be able to specify either input condition for alarming. This object must also include the capability to record equipment runtime by counting the amount of time the hardware input is in an "on" condition. The user must be able to specify either input condition as the "on" condition.
 - 3. Binary Output Object Minimum requirement is to comply with the BACnet standard for data sharing. Properties to enable minimum on and off times for equipment protection as well as interstart delay must be provided. The BACnet Command Prioritization priority scheme shall be incorporated to allow multiple control applications to execute commands on this object with the highest priority command being invoked. Provide sixteen levels of priority as a minimum. Systems not employing the BACnet method of contention resolution shall not be acceptable.
 - 4. PID Control Loop Object Minimum requirement is to comply with the BACnet standard for data sharing. Each individual property must be adjustable as well as to be disabled to allow proportional control only, or proportional with integral control, as well as proportional, integral and derivative control.
 - 5. Comparison Object Allow a minimum of two analog objects to be compared to select either the highest, lowest, or equality between the two linked inputs. Also, allow limits to be applied to the output value for alarm generation.
 - 6. Math Object Allow a minimum of four analog objects to be tested for the minimum or maximum, or the sum, difference, or average of linked objects. Also, allow limits to be applied to the output value for alarm generation.
 - 7. Custom Programming Objects Provide a blank object template for the creation of new custom objects to meet specific user application requirements. This object must provide a simple BASIC-like programming language that is used to define object behavior. Provide a library of functions including math and logic functions, string manipulation, and e-mail as a minimum. Also, provide a comprehensive online debug tool to allow complete testing of the new object. Allow new objects to be stored in the library for re-use.
 - 8. Interlock Object Provide an interlock object that provides a means of coordination of objects within a piece of equipment such as an Air Handler or other similar types of equipment. An example is to link the return fan to the supply fan such that when the supply fan is started, the return fan object is also started automatically without the user having to issue separate commands or to link each object to a schedule object. In addition, the control loops, damper objects, and alarm monitoring (such as return air, supply air, and mixed air temperature objects) will be inhibited from alarming during a user-defined period after startup to allow for stabilization. When the air handler is stopped, the interlocked return fan is also stopped, the outside

- air damper is closed, and other related objects within the air handler unit are inhibited from alarming thereby eliminating nuisance alarms during the off period.
- 9. Temperature Override Object Provide an object whose purpose is to provide the capability of overriding a binary output to an "On" state in the event a user specified high or low limit value is exceeded. This object is to be linked to the desired binary output object as well as to an analog object for temperature monitoring, to cause the override to be enabled. This object will execute a Start command at the Temperature Override level of start/stop command priority unless changed by the user.
- 10. Composite Object Provide a container object that allows a collection of objects representing an application to be encapsulated to protect the application from tampering, or to more easily represent large applications. This object must have the ability to allow the user to select the appropriate parameters of the "contained" application that are represented on the graphical shell of this container.
- G. The object library shall include objects to support the integration of devices connected to the Network Area Controller (NAC). At a minimum, provide the following as part of the standard library included with the programming software:
 - LonMark/LonWorks devices. These devices shall include, but not be limited to, devices for control of HVAC. Provide LonMark manufacturer-specific objects to facilitate simple integration of these devices. All network variables defined in the LonMark profile shall be supported. Information (type and function) regarding network variables not defined in the LonMark profile shall be provided by the device manufacturer.
 - 2. For devices not conforming to the LonMark standard, provide a dynamic object that can be assigned to the device based on network variable information provided by the device manufacturer. Device manufacturer shall provide an XIF file and documentation for the device to facilitate device integration.
 - 3. For BACnet devices, provide the following objects at a minimum:
 - a. BACnet AI
 - b. BACnet AO
 - c. BACnet BI
 - d. BACnet BO
 - 1) BACnet Device
 - 4. For each BACnet object, provide the ability to assign the object to a BACnet device and object's instance number.
 - 5. For each ASD object, provide the ability to assign the object to an ASD Device & Objects instance number.

2.14 Existing Lonworks Network Management

A. The software shall provide a complete set of integrated LonWorks network management tools for working with LonWorks networks. These tools shall manage a database for all LonWorks devices by type and revision, and shall provide a software mechanism for identifying each device on the network. These tools shall also be

capable of defining network data connections between LonWorks devices, known as "binding". Systems requiring the use of third party LonWorks network management tools shall not be accepted. All NEW system modifications, alterations and additions shall be BACnet IP based control devices.

- B. Network management shall include the following services: device identification, device installation, device configuration, device diagnostics, device maintenance and network variable binding.
- C. The Network configuration tool shall also provide diagnostics to identify devices on the network, to reset devices, and to view health and status counters within devices.
- D. These tools shall provide the ability to "learn" an existing LonWorks network, regardless of what network management tool(s) were used to install the existing network, so that existing LonWorks devices and newly added devices are part of a single network management database.
- E. The network management database shall be resident in the Network Area Controller (NAC), ensuring that anyone with proper authorization has access to the network management database at all times. Systems employing network management databases that are not resident, at all times, and within the control system shall not be accepted.

2.15 HVAC Panel Construction

- A. General HVAC Panel Construction Requirements:
 - 1. For the purpose of this Section, the term control panels shall include all enclosures housing any of the following: control equipment or devices, instruments, sensors, computer hardware, networking hardware, relays, controllers, patch bays, terminal strips, etc. All control panels shall be NEMA 12 construction at a minimum or better as determined by engineer. Control panels shall be assembled, wired, and tested in the Contractor's own or other Engineer approved facilities. All components and all necessary accessories such as power supplies, conditioning, equipment, mounting hardware, input and output signal terminal blocks, plug strips, relays, lighting, circuit breakers and fuses, which may be required to complete the system shall be provided.
 - 2. Control panels shall be formed or welded construction, reinforced with Unistrut, Powerstrut, or equal to facilitate mounting of internal components or equipment. Sufficient access plates and doors shall be provided to facilitate maintenance and testing of the supplier's equipment. Doors shall be removable. All floor standing units shall be provided with jackscrews for leveling. All doors shall be fitted with common-keyed locks. All interior wiring shall be color coded and tagged with machine printed plastic sleeves using wire and cable numbers matching those on the approved shop drawings.
 - Control panels shall be 14 USS gauge for units with dimension of 24 inches or less, 12USS gauge for units with any dimension greater than 24 inches and less than 36 inches. Panels with any dimension of 36 inches or more shall be 10 USS gauge.
 - 4. Control panels shall be fabricated from steel plate and shall be free of surface flaws. The surface shall have a brushed finish and be free from defects and blemishes. The panel face shall be true and level and all panel edges including instrument cut-outs shall be ground smooth. Continuously weld all exterior seams and grind smooth.

- 5. Steel members shall be provided in the back of the panel where necessary for rigidity and support of wiring, accessories, etc. Stiffeners shall be welded to the back face of the panel where required and shall not interfere with instrument installations. Sufficient stiffeners and/or supports shall be provided so that the panel face does not distort due to the weight of the instruments.
- 6. All equipment and devices shall be identified with engraved nameplates both inside and out. The equipment shall be mounted such that service can occur without removal of other equipment. Face mounted equipment shall be flush or semiflush mounted with flat escutcheons. All equipment shall be accessible such that adjustments and services can be performed while the equipment is in service and operating.
- 7. The contract drawings show preferred face of panel layout. The Contractor shall be responsible for detailed design of all control panels.
- 8. All control panels shall have a single power supply entry point. Control devices shall be mounted in functional groups in accordance with good panel design practice so as to so as to present a neat and functional appearance and so as to be readily accessible for adjustment and service. The panel arrangement shall be approved by the Engineer. All alarm contacts shall be normally closed, open to alarm.
- 9. The panel door shall be hinged swing type. Door swing shall be horizontal and have a minimum of 165 degrees unobstructed swing. Continuous hinges (piano type) welded in place shall be used. Sub-plates and sub-panels shall be provided for mounting of all internal equipment and shall be USS gauge #10 minimum and painted gloss white epoxy. Provide oil resistant gasket completely around each door opening.
- 10. All equipment shall be neatly laid out, leveled and securely fastened in place. Clearances, in addition to those required by the manufacturer, shall be provided around all equipment to enhance cooling, ease maintenance and provide adequate wiring space.
- 11. Cut-outs shall be made, without distorting the face of the control panel, to the dimensions and tolerances specified on the instrument manufacturer's certified drawings.
- 12. Panel cut-outs shall be smooth, straight and level, leaving no evidence of sharp or rough edges; flame cutting shall not be used. Cut-out edges shall be ground smooth and free from burrs. Both the front and back surfaces of the panel face near the cut-outs shall be level to permit proper instrument installation.
- 13. Panels shall be furnished with red laminated plastic warning signs. The sign shall sign shall be inscribed "WARNING THIS PANEL IS CONNECTED TO MULTIPLE SOURCES OF POWER". Letters shall be 1-inch high, white.
- 14. Control panels shall be completely factory assembled and wired, including cabinet, components, wiring, terminal strips to facilitate final connections and with nameplates. Contractor shall submit panel drawings, schematics and complete wiring diagrams to the Engineer for approval prior to fabrication. Panel drawings shall indicate conduit entry points all dimensions, internal and external layout, terminal strip layout, power requirements, etc.
- 15. All control logic/devices as well as all network components, shall be installed within the control panels, including all necessary interfacing devices for control of remote components. It shall be the responsibility of Contractor to fully coordinate each

- system requirements, including items furnished under Division 16, Electrical, to provide the proper sequence of operation and interconnection of all components as required.
- 16. Provide within the panel all auxiliaries including switches, controller, lights, timers, transmitters, as required for controls.
- 17. All indicators and control devices are to be flush mounted on door or face of cabinet and labeled with permanent nameplates.
- 18. Provide all electrical components and devices, support hardware, fasteners, interconnecting wiring required to make the control panels complete and operational.
- 19. Locate and install all devices and components so that connections can be easily made and that there is ample room for servicing each item.
- 20. Components for installation on panel exterior shall be located for easy operation.
- 21. Panels shall have full height front hinged access doors.
- 22. Adequately support and restrain all devices and components mounted on or within the panel to prevent any movement.
- 23. Provide sub-panels for installation of all relays and other internally mounted components.
- 24. All wiring to panel connections from field instruments, devices and other panels shall be terminated at master numbered terminal strips, unless otherwise specified.
- 25. Provide copper grounding studs for all panel equipment.
- 26. Provide additional modular panels as required.
- 27. Provide a folding door shelf for placement of portable computer during troubleshooting.
- B. Identification: Identify control panels as specified herein.
 - Provide laminated plastic nameplates for identification of panels and components mounted both inside and out.
 - 2. Nameplates shall be of 3/32-inch thick laminated phenolic type with white matte finish surface and black letter engraving.
 - 3. Panel identification nameplates to have ½ inch high letter engravings.
 - 4. Panel mounted component identification (e.g., control devices, indicating lights, selector switches, etc.) nameplates to have 1/4 –inch high letter engravings.
 - 5. Nameplates shall be attached to the panel face with two stainless steel self-tapping screws.
 - 6. Nameplates engravings shall include the instrument or equipment tag number and descriptive title as shown and specified.

- 7. Tag all electrical components and devices mounted within control panels and enclosures with engraved nameplates.
- 8. Numerically code terminals on terminal strips.
- 9. Color code and numerically code wiring as required by applicable standards. Wires shall be identified at each end with permanent number codes. Computer printed sleeve type wire markers shall be used.

C. Electrical Systems:

- 1. All electrical controls located within the panel shall have electrical characteristics of 120 volts, 1 phase, 60 hertz. Provide transformers with fused output in the control panel as required. Power supply to each panel shall be 120 volt, single phase, 60 Hz for panel operating controls provide panel power disconnect.
- 2. Internal wiring shall be Type MTW standard copper wire with thermoplastic insulation rated for 600 V at 85 C for single conductors, color coded and labeled with wire identification.
- Separate and shield low voltage signal wiring from power and control wiring by a minimum of 6-inches.
- 4. Group or bundle parallel runs of wire using covered troughs. Maximum bundle size to be 1-inch. Troughs shall have 60 percent spare capacity.
- 5. Install wire troughs along horizontal or vertical routes to present a neat appearance. Angled runs are not acceptable.
- Adequately support and restrain all wiring runs to prevent sagging or other movement.
- 7. Terminate all field wiring using forked, insulated, crimp-on connectors (soldered type not acceptable) at 600 V rated barrier type terminal strips with screwed connections and permanently affixed numeric identifiers beside each connection. Identifiers to be self-stick plastic tape strips with permanent type, machine printed numbers.
- 8. All wiring shall be installed such that if wires are removed from any one device, power will not be disrupted to any other advice.
- 9. For internal component to component wiring only, compression type terminal block are acceptable.
- 10. Provide spare terminals equal in number to 25 percent of the terminals used for each type of wiring.
- 11. Provide a separate terminal for grounding each shielded cable.
- 12. Use separate 5/16-inch diameter copper grounding studs for instrument signal cable shields and a-c power.
- 13. Where wires pass through panel walls, provide suitable bushings to prevent cutting or abrading of insulation.
- 14. When low voltage ac or dc power is required, provide and install the necessary power supplies and transformers with appropriate fusing in the panel.

- 15. Pushbuttons, selector switches and indicating lights are to be heavy duty, oil tight type as specified in Section 2.16 of this specification.
- 16. Provide complete wiring diagram showing "as built" circuitry. Diagram shall be enclosed in transparent plastic and placed in easily accessible pocket built into panel door.
- 17. Wires shall be color coded as follows:

Neutral - White
Ground - Green
Power -Red

Signal -Black (-) and White (+)

Control - Violet Special -Blue

18. Relays

Relays shall be plug in type tubular or spade terminal and shall be provided with sockets. They shall be Potter-Brumfield type KU or KR, Square D type KP or KA or equal. All relays shall incorporate push-to-test feature and energized pilot lights. Where controlling motor or resistive loads relays shall be horsepower rated.

19. Time Delay Relays

Time delay relays shall be one of the timing range, contact arrangement, voltage and accurate required. In general, the following type should be used: Allen Bradley, Bulletin 849, type AX or BX; or equal.

D. Testing and Adjustments

- Perform system testing and make any adjustments necessary. Each circuit and function shall be tested for proper connection, continuity and proper operation. Each I/O point shall be tested for availability throughout the system up to the Plant wide network level. All alarms shall be tested for display, logging and printing both locally and on the plant wide system.
- 2. Perform power supply, voltage adjustments to tolerances required by the appurtenant equipment.
- E. Interface with Motor Starters and Plant Control System
 - Coordinate and show interface with motor starters and control schematic diagrams on the Drawings.

2.16 Other Control System Hardware

A. General

 Provide all sensor power supplies and control devices required to provide the sequence of the operations, as determined by the Engineer, constructed and rated for the location in which they are installed. a. Each field device, (sensor, actuator, transmitter, thermostat, etc.,) shall have attached or mounted immediately adjacent to a laminated plastic engraved nameplate indicating tag number, function and equipment served.

B. Electric Actuators – Two Position Dampers

- 1. Two (2) position direct coupled (over the shaft) electric actuators sized to provide a minimum of 50% spare available continuous torque above and beyond that actually required to operate the driver equipment. Provide multiple damper actuators, if required to meet the torque rotating as listed above. Actuators shall include the following:
 - a. Coupling V-Bolt and V-Shaped, toothed cradle
 - b. Overload protection: Electronic overload or digital rotation Sensing circuitry
 - c. Fail safe operation: Mechanical spring return to close
 - d. Reversible rotation by changing mounting orientation
 - e. Power requirements: 24 VAC or as per manufacturer's recommendation
 - f. End switches as required by the sequence of operation to delay starting of fan until dampers are open
 - g. Accessories: angle or rotation limiter, position indicator, damper linkage kit, mounting bracket and adjustable auxiliary position switches
 - h. Proportional signal: 2 to 10 Vdc or 4 to 20 MA.
- 2. Actuators shall be manufactured by Belimo, or approved equal.
- C. Control valve shall be 2-way for tight shut off and shall operate satisfactorily against system pressure and differentials. Two-position valves shall be 'line size'. Proportional control valves shall be sized for a maximum pressure drop of 5.0 psi at rated flow and/or minimum torque based on manufacturer's calculations, required for flow control and rated valve close off. Valves with sizes up to and including 2 inches shall be "screwed" configuration and 2-1/2 inch and larger valves shall be "flanged" configuration. All control valves shall be electrically controlled and include spring return type actuators sized for tight shut off against system pressures and furnished with integral switches for indication of valve position (open closed).
- D. Wall Mount Thermostat: The thermostat shall provide temperature indication to the digital controller, provide the capability for a software limited set point adjustment and operation override capability. An integral LCD shall display current room temperature and set points as well as override status indication. In addition, the thermostat shall include a port for connection of the portable operator's terminal described elsewhere in this specification.
- E. Freezestats shall be complete with SPDT snap acting switch, automatic reset, 1/8" OD X 20' long capillary mounting clips. The freezestat shall have a range between 30°F and 60°F. Freezestat shall respond to lowest temperature sensed by any one foot portion of capillary. Where required for adequate protection, multiple freezestats shall be supplied and installed. The freezestats shall be located downstream of each heating coil.
- F. Sensors

- 1. Electronic Temperature Sensors: Vibration and corrosion resistant; for wall, immersion or duct mounting as required.
 - a. Resistant Temperature Detector: Platinum, thermistor, or Balco
 - Accuracy: Plus or minus 0.2 percent at calibration point; thermistors shall have a maximum 5 year drift of no more than .225°F maximum error of no more than .36°F.
 - 2) Wire: Twisted, shielded-pair cable.
 - 3) Insertion Elements in Ducts: Single point, minimum 6 inches long; use where not affected by temperature stratification or where ducts are smaller than 9.4 sq. ft.
 - 4) Averaging Elements in Ducts: 60 inches long, flexible for use where prone to temperature stratification or where ducts are larger than 4 sq. ft. length as required.
 - 5) Insertion Elements for Liquids: Brass socket with minimum insertion length of 2-1/2 inches.
 - 6) Outside-Air Sensors: Watertight inlet fitting, shielded from direct sunlight.
 - b. Humidity Sensors: Bulk polymer sensor element.
 - 1) Accuracy: 5 percent full range with linear output.
 - 2) Room Sensors: Range of 0 to 100 percent relative humidity.
 - 3) Duct and outside-Air Sensors: With element guard and mounting plate, range of 0 to 100 percent relative humidity.
- 2. Equipment Operation Sensors as follows:
 - a. Status inputs for filters: Differential pressure switch with adjustable range of 0 to 5 inches wg.
 - b. Status inputs for Electric Motors (current Sensors): Provide a loop powered Analog current sensors for 480v Motor. Current sensors shall have an output of 4ma to 20 ma and an adjustable span of 5 amp to 55 amp input at 600 Vac.
 - Status input for Air Flow: Static Pressure Transmitter: Nondirectional sensor with suitable range for expected input, and temperature compensated.
 - 1) Accuracy: 2 percent of full scale with repeatability of 0.5 percent.
 - 2) Output: 4 to 20 mA.
 - 3) Building Static-Pressure Range: -0.25 to 0.25 inch wg.
 - 4) Duct Static-Pressure Range: 0 to 5 inch wg.

- d. Pressure Transmitter: Direct acting for liquid, or steam service; range suitable for system; proportional output 4 to 20 mA.
- e. Flow Transducer/ Transmitter: Differential pressure transducers with a square root extractor, scaling multiplier and output filter in a single package to output volume (cfm).
 - 1) Accuracy: 1 percent full scale with repeatability of 0.1 percent.
 - 2) Output: 4 to 20 mA. Supply Power: 12 36 VDC.
 - 3) Process Input: Pneumatic 1/4" barb.
- f. Differential Pressure Transmitter: Differential pressure transducers with a scaling multiplier and output filter, and an independent front panel mounted magnehelic pressure gauge.
 - 1) Accuracy: 1 percent full scale with repeatability of 0.1 percent.
 - 2) Output: 4 to 20 mA. Supply Power: 18 28 VDC/AC
 - 3) Process Input: Pneumatic 1/4" barb.

G. Smoke Detectors

- 1. Duct Mounted:
 - a. Ionization type for 120 or 24 Vac operation
 - b. Cross Sectional sampling tube
 - c. Housing listed in accordance with UL268A.
 - d. Contacts: Minimum two (2) form "C" contacts as required to meet sequence of operation for indication and shutdown.
 - e. Accessories.
 - 1) Remote test and capability from external dry contacts.
 - 2) Mounting kits.
- 2. Smoke detectors shall be located as shown on the HVAC control schematics.
- 3. All smoke detectors shall be accessible. Provide access doors at all units and where required. Smoke detectors shall be located and mounted as shown and in accordance with the manufacturers recommend installation procedures.
- 4. Smoke detector installation shall conform to NFPA 90A and 72 requirements.
- All smoke detectors shall be hardwired by the Contractor to equipment starter for shutdown.

H. Selector Switches:

 Rugged, oil tight,, snap fit N.O. and N.C contacts, self-cleaning, durable nylon operator base, lever style complete with extra-large nameplates and electrically rated for service intended.

I. Pilot Lights:

1. Pilot lights shall be replaceable led lights rugged, oil tight construction, complete with extra-large nameplate for panel mounting rated for 24 VAC.

3.0 Execution

3.1 Installation

- A. All work described in this section shall be installed, wired, circuit tested and calibrated by factory technicians qualified for this work. The Contractor shall be responsible for the proper operation and installation of all control systems herein specified. Contractor shall be responsible for coordination of all interfaces with other equipment to achieve the required control operation.
- B. Install system and materials in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
- C. Any apparatus, such as relays, accessories, required to make the system operative in accordance with the sequence of operation to the satisfaction of the Engineer shall be furnished and installed.
- D. Line and low voltage electrical connections to control equipment shall be furnished and installed by the Temperature Control contractor in accordance with these specifications.
- E. All control devices mounted on the face of control panels shall be clearly identified as to function and system served with permanently engraved phenolic labels.

3.2 Wiring and Devices

- A. Items furnished under this Section:
 - 1. Power and Control Wiring and Conduit: Furnish and install electrical conduit and wiring systems as required to provide all necessary connections for the system equipment. The conduit and wiring to be provided under this section shall include all wiring, conduit, junction boxes, supports, etc. to each ATC panel and any other HVAC equipment and panels, to associated air handling unit, dampers, operators, sensors, temperature controllers, thermostat, HVAC smoke detectors, current switches, field mounted switches, etc. The Contractor shall determine the requirements based upon the arrangement of the components being furnished. All electric equipment, materials, and installation shall be in accordance with the latest National Electric Code (NEC). All conduits shall be rigid galvanized steel. All penetrations shall be sealed in accordance with the contract documents.
 - 2. Damper Operators Furnished and installed by the Contractor.
 - 3. Smoke Detectors Conduit and wiring to equipment starter. Include additional Contactors as required for Hardwiring to unit starter.
 - 4. All ancillary items and services indicated or necessary for complete installation of the DDC based automatic temperature control system.

3.3 Services of Manufacturer's Representative

- A. The Contractor shall provide the services of a qualified manufacturer's technical representative who shall adequately supervise the installation and testing of all equipment furnished under this Contract. The services of the manufacturer's representative shall be provided for a period of not less than four (4) days as follows:
 - 1. At least one (1) day during installation of the equipment.
 - 2. At least one (1) days during initial startup and testing of all systems, components and equipment.
 - 3. At least one (1) days during final testing, tuning and commissioning of the control systems in the presence of the Engineer.
 - 4. At least one (1) days while placing the system in fully automatic operation.

Any additional time required to achieve successful installation and operation shall be at the expense of the Contractor. The Manufacturer's representative shall sign in and out at the office of the Engineer on each day he is on the project.

3.4 Warranty

- A. Equipment, materials and workmanship incorporated into the work shall be warranted for a period of one (1) year in accordance with Division 1 and as specified herein.
- B. Within this period, upon notice by the PVSC, any defects in the Controls System due to faulty materials, methods of installation or workmanship shall be promptly (within 48 hours after receipt of notice) repaired or replaced by the Contractor at no expense to the PVSC.

3.5 Warranty Access

A. The Contractor shall request from PVSC access to the Controls System during the warranty period. The PVSC shall allow the contractor to access the Controls System from a remote location for the purpose of diagnostics and troubleshooting, via the Internet, during the warranty period.

3.6 Field Acceptance Testing

- A. Upon completion of the installation, the Contractor shall load all system software and start-up the system. The Contractor shall perform all necessary calibration, testing and de-bugging and perform all required operational checks to insure that the system is functioning in full accordance with these specifications. All testing shall be witnessed and signed off by the Engineer, unless waived in writing.
- B. The Contractor shall perform tests to verify proper performance of components, routines, and points. Repeat tests until proper performance results. This testing shall include a Point-by-Point validation log to validate 100% of the input and output points of the DDC system operation. DDC system shall be field tested both as individual controllers, able to operate their respective units as standalone controllers and as an integrated system network of controllers and workstations. Each input I/O point (analog and digital) shall be tested for response from field devices, correct function, proper scaling, correct addressing and engineering units and appearance on the appropriate displays, alarms, reports and graphs. Each output I/O point (analog and digital) shall be tested for proper response of the controlled device, correct power delivery, proper response to control logic, correct engineering units and addressing, proper scaling etc.

- C. Each control strategy shall be tested both through simulation and again using real world conditions and actual equipment. Control systems shall be fine-tuned for optimum efficiency and response prior to acceptance by the PVSC.
- D. As one condition of system acceptance, the Contractor shall perform a system availability test on the entire completed HVAC control system. The system shall be required to operate properly, automatically and with only minor operator intervention for 14 consecutive 24 hour periods with no major failures. Conditions such as controller, workstation or software failures, equipment inoperable for more than 4 hours, repeated equipment shutdowns, multiple failures of one piece or type of equipment, inability of the system to maintain control or set point shall constitute failure and the entire test shall start over. Testing shall be repeated until satisfactory completion. Items suffering multiple failures and items deemed undependable by the PVSC shall be replaced by the Contractor at no additional expense to PVSC. The test shall be performed with all HVAC equipment operating in full automatic mode. In addition, all preliminary and final field testing of all HVAC equipment shall have been successfully completed prior to availability testing.
- E. Upon completion of the performance tests described above, repeat these tests, point by point as described in the Point-by-Point validation log above in presence of PVSC's Representative, as required. Properly schedule these tests so testing is complete at a time directed by the PVSC's Representative. Do not delay tests.
- F. System Acceptance: Satisfactory completion is when the Contractor has performed successfully all the required testing to show performance compliance with the requirements of the Contract Documents to the satisfaction of the Engineer. System acceptance shall be contingent upon completion and review of all corrected deficiencies.

3.7 Training

A. General

- A proposed training agenda will be submitted to the engineer in writing, and approved by the engineer before training takes place. All materials shall be supplied for the trainees selected by the PVSC.
- B. On-Site Training Site personal and operators shall become familiar and proficient with:
 - Using As-Built documentation-Sequence of operation, control drawings, Input / Output summaries
 - 2. Field sensor and actuator location and maintenance
 - 3. Field controller location and maintenance
 - 4. System architecture and functions as they pertain to the site
 - 5. FUI and BUI hardware operation and maintenance
 - 6. FUI and BUI software site specific capabilities
 - 7. Monitoring and making changes to a preprogrammed Controls System
 - 8. Understanding the PC and windows environment
 - 9. Using the Browser tools to navigate BUI functions

- 10. Using graphic floor plans and equipment screens
- 11. Changing point values such as set points, schedules, and overrides
- 12. Retrieving trend reports and graphs
- 13. Acknowledging exceptions and alarms

3.8 Identification

A. All equipment shall be identified with appropriate labels.

3.9 Certifications

A. The Contractor shall provide certifications in accordance with the requirements of section 01710.

APPENDIXES

APPENDIX 1

Certification of Non-Involvement in Prohibited Activities In Russia Or Belarus

APPENDIX 2

American with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990

APPENDIX 3

Prevailing Wages:
oEssex County
oStatewide – NJ
oFederal – Essex County, NJ

APPENDIX 4

Notification Letter for Temporary Chemical or Fuel Storage Tanks, Equipment, & Reciprocation Internal Combustion Engines (RICE) Form. And the Contractor Equipment Visual Leak Inspection SOP and Weekly Visual Leak Detection Log

- 1.Temporary Equipment Notification Package
- 2. Attachment A (Temporary Equipment Notification Form)
- 3.Attachment B (Temporary Equipment Schedule)
- **4.Attachment C (Temporary Equipment Visual Inspection and Monitoring**

Checklist Procedure)

5.Attachment D (Temporary Equipment Visual Inspection and Monitoring Checklist)

CERTIFICATION OF NON-INVOLVEMENT IN PROHIBITED ACTIVITIES IN RUSSIA OR BELARUS

Pursuant to N.J.S.A. 52:32-60.1, et seq. and N.J.S.A.40A:11-2.2 (L. 2022, c. 3) any person or entity (hereinafter "Vendor") that seeks to enter into or renew a contract with a local contracting unit subject to the Local Public Contracts Law for the provision of goods or services, or the purchase of bonds or other obligations, must complete the certification below indicating whether or not the Vendor is identified on the Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons list, available here: https://sanctionssearch.ofac.treas.gov/. If the Department of the Treasury finds that a Vendor has made a certification in violation of the law, it shall take any action as may be appropriate and provided by law, rule or contract, including but not limited to, imposing sanctions, seeking compliance, recovering damages, declaring the party in default and seeking debarment or suspension of the party.

I, the undersigned, certify that I have read the definition of "Vendor" below, and have reviewed the Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons list, and having done so certify

| | | (Check the Appro | ppriate Box) | |
|--|--|--|--|--|
| 0 | A. | That the Vendor is not identified on the <u>OFAC Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons list on account of activity related to Russia and/or Belarus</u> . | | |
| | | OR | | |
| 0 | B. | That I am unable to certify as to "A" above, because the Vendor is identified on the OFAC Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons list on account of activity related to Russia and/or Belarus. | | |
| | | OR | | |
| 0 | That I am unable to certify as to "A" above, because the Vendor is identified on the OFAC Special Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons list. However, the Vendor is engaged in activity related to Russ and/or Belarus consistent with federal law, regulation, license or exemption. A detailed description of ho the Vendor's activity related to Russia and/or Belarus is consistent with federal law is set forth below. | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | (Attach Additional Sheets If Necessary.) | |
| Signature of Vendor's Authorized Representative | | | Date | |
| Print Name and Title of Vendor's Authorized Representative | | | Vendor's FEIN | |
| Vendor's Name | | | Vendor's Phone Number | |
| Vendo | or's Ad | dress (Street Address) | Vendor's Fax Number | |
| Vendor's Address (City/State/Zip Code) | | dress (Citv/State/Zip Code) | Vendor's Email Address | |

¹ Vendor means: (1) A natural person, corporation, company, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, limited liability company, business association, sole proprietorship, joint venture, partnership, society, trust, or any other nongovernmental entity, organization, or group; (2) Any governmental entity or instrumentality of a government, including a multilateral development institution, as defined in Section 1701(c)(3) of the International Financial Institutions Act, 22 U.S.C. 262r(c)(3); or (3) Any parent, successor, subunit, direct or indirect subsidiary, or any entity under common ownership or control with, any entity described in paragraph (1) or (2).

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT OF 1990, AS AMENDED

Following is the current text of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), including changes made by the ADA Amendments Act of 2008 (P.L. 110-325), which became effective on January 1, 2009. The ADA was originally enacted in public law format and later rearranged and published in the United States Code. The United States Code is divided into titles and chapters that classify laws according to their subject matter. Titles I, II, III, and V of the original law are codified in Title 42, chapter 126, of the United States Code beginning at section 12101. Title IV of the original law is codified in Title 47, chapter 5, of the United States Code. Since this codification resulted in changes in the numbering system, the Table of Contents provides the section numbers of the ADA as originally enacted in brackets after the codified section numbers and headings.

| | Page | |
|--|------|--|
| TITLE 42 - THE PUBLIC HEALTH AND WELFARE | _ | |
| CHAPTER 126 - EQUAL OPPORTUNITY FOR INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES | | |
| Sec. 12101. Findings and purpose. [Section 2] | | |
| (a) Findings. | | |
| (b) Purpose. | | |
| Sec. 12101 note: Findings and Purposes of the ADA Amendments Act of 2008 | | |
| Sec. 12102. Definition of disability. [Section 3] | | |
| Sec. 12103. Additional definitions. | 8 | |
| SUBCHAPTER I - EMPLOYMENT [Title I] Sec. 12111. Definitions. [Section 101] | 0 | |
| Sec. 12111. Definitions. [Section 101] Sec. 12112. Discrimination. [Section 102] | | |
| (a) General rule. | | |
| (b) Construction. | | |
| (c) Covered entities in foreign countries. | | |
| (d) Medical examinations and inquiries. | | |
| Sec. 12113. Defenses. [Section 103] | | |
| (a) In general. | | |
| (b) Qualification standards. | | |
| (c) Qualification standards and tests related to uncorrected vision. | | |
| (d)Religious entities. | | |
| (e) List of infectious and communicable diseases. | | |
| Sec. 12114. Illegal use of drugs and alcohol. [Section 104] | | |
| (a) Qualified individual with a disability. | | |
| (b) Rules of construction. | | |
| (c) Authority of covered entity. | | |
| (d) Drug testing. | | |
| (e) Transportation employees. | | |
| Sec. 12115. Posting notices. [Section 105] | | |
| Sec. 12116. Regulations. [Section 106] | | |
| Sec. 12117. Enforcement. [Section 107] | | |
| (a) Powers, remedies, and procedures. | | |
| (b) Coordination. | 4.0 | |
| SUBCHAPTER II - PUBLIC SERVICES [Title II] | 16 | |
| PART A - Prohibition Against Discrimination and Other Generally Applicable | | |
| Provisions [Subtitle A] | | |
| Sec. 12131. Definitions. [Section 201] | | |
| Sec. 12132. Discrimination. [Section 202] Sec. 12133. Enforcement. [Section 203] | | |
| | | |
| Sec. 12134. Regulations. [Section 204] (a) In general. | | |
| (b) Relationship to other regulations. | | |
| (c) Standards. | | |
| (o) Standardo: | | |

30

PART B - Actions Applicable to Public Transportation Provided by Public Entities Considered Discriminatory [Subtitle B]

SUBPART I - Public Transportation Other Than by Aircraft or Certain Rail Operations [Part I]

Sec. 12141. Definitions. [Section 221]

Sec. 12142. Public entities operating fixed route systems. [Section 222]

- (a) Purchase and lease of new vehicles.
- (b) Purchase and lease of used vehicles.
- (c) Remanufactured vehicles.

Sec. 12143. Paratransit as a complement to fixed route service. [Section 223]

- (a) General rule.
- (b) Issuance of regulations.
- (c) Required contents of regulations.
- (d) Review of plan.
- (e) "Discrimination" defined.
- (f) Statutory construction.

Sec. 12144. Public entity operating a demand responsive system. [Section 224]

Sec. 12145. Temporary relief where lifts are unavailable. [Section 225]

- (a) Granting.
- (b) Duration and notice to Congress.
- (c) Fraudulent application.

Sec. 12146. New facilities. [Section 226]

Sec. 12147. Alterations of existing facilities. [Section 227]

- (a) General rule.
- (b) Special rule for stations.

Sec. 12148. Public transportation programs and activities in existing facilities and one car per train rule. [Section 228]

- (a) Public transportation programs and activities in existing facilities.
- (b) One car per train rule.

Sec. 12149. Regulations. [Section 229]

- (a) In general.
- (b) Standards.

Sec. 12150. Interim accessibility requirements. [Section 230]

SUBPART II - Public Transportation by Intercity and Commuter Rail [Part II]

Sec. 12161. Definitions. [Section 241]

Sec. 12162. Intercity and commuter rail actions considered discriminatory. [Section 242]

- (a) Intercity rail transportation.
- (b) Commuter rail transportation.
- (c) Used rail cars.
- (d) Remanufactured rail cars.
- (e) Stations.

Sec. 12163. Conformance of accessibility standards. [Section 243]

Sec. 12164. Regulations. [Section 244]

Sec. 12165. Interim accessibility requirements. [Section 245]

- (a) Stations.
- (b) Rail passenger cars.

SUBCHAPTER III - PUBLIC ACCOMMODATIONS AND SERVICES OPERATED BY PRIVATE ENTITIES [Title III]

Sec. 12181. Definitions. [Section 301]

Sec. 12182. Prohibition of discrimination by public accommodations. [Section 302]

- (a) General rule.
- (b) Construction.

Sec. 12183. New construction and alterations in public accommodations and commercial facilities. [Section 303]

- (a) Application of term.
- (b) Elevator.

Page

41

Sec. 12184. Prohibition of discrimination in specified public transportation services provided by private entities. [Section 304]

- (a) General rule.
- (b) Construction.
- (c) Historical or antiquated cars.

Sec. 12185. Study. [Section 305]

- (a) Purposes.
- (b) Contents.
- (c) Advisory committee.
- (d) Deadline.
- (e) Review.

Sec. 12186. Regulations. [Section 306]

- (a) Transportation provisions.
- (b) Other provisions.
- (c) Consistency with ATBCB guidelines.
- (d) Interim accessibility standards.

Sec. 12187. Exemptions for private clubs and religious organizations. [Section 307]

Sec. 12188. Enforcement. [Section 308]

- (a) In general.
- (b) Enforcement by Attorney General.

Sec. 12189. Examinations and courses. [Section 309]

SUBCHAPTER IV MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS [Title V]

Sec. 12201. Construction. [Section 501]

- (a) In general.
- (b) Relationship to other laws.
- (c) Insurance.
- (d) Accommodations and services.
- (e) Benefits under State worker's compensation laws.
- (f) Fundamental alteration.
- (g) Claims of no disability.
- (h) Reasonable accommodation and modifications.

Sec. 12202. State immunity. [Section 502]

Sec. 12203. Prohibition against retaliation and coercion. [Section 503]

- (a) Retaliation.
- (b) Interference, coercion, or intimidation.
- (c) Remedies and procedures.

Sec. 12204. Regulations by the Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board. [Section 504]

- (a) Issuance of guidelines.
- (b) Contents of guidelines.
- (c) Qualified historic properties.

Sec. 12205. Attorney's fees. [Section 505]

Sec. 12205a. Rule of construction regarding regulatory authority.

Sec. 12206. Technical assistance. [Section 506]

- (a) Plan for assistance.
- (b) Agency and public assistance.
- (c) Implementation.
- (d) Grants and contracts.
- (e) Failure to receive assistance.

Sec. 12207. Federal wilderness areas. [Section 507]

- (a) Study.
- (b) Submission of report.
- (c) Specific wilderness access.

Sec. 12208. Transvestites. [Section 508]

Sec. 12209. Instrumentalities of Congress. [Section 509]

Page

47

50

Sec. 12210. Illegal use of drugs. [Section 510]

- (a) In general.
- (b) Rules of construction.
- (c) Health and other services.
- (d) "Illegal use of drugs" defined.

Sec. 12211. Definitions. [Section 511]

- (a) Homosexuality and bisexuality.
- (b) Certain conditions.

Sec. 12212. Alternative means of dispute resolution. [Section 512]

Sec. 12213. Severability. [Section 513]

TITLE 47 - TELEGRAPHS, TELEPHONES, AND RADIOTELEGRAPHS

CHAPTER 5 - WIRE OR RADIO COMMUNICATION

SUBCHAPTER II - COMMON CARRIERS

Part I - Common Carrier Regulation

Sec. 225. Telecommunications services for hearing-impaired and speech-impaired individuals. [Section 401]

- (a) Definitions.
- (b) Availability of telecommunications relay services.
- (c) Provision of services.
- (d) Regulations.
- (e) Enforcement.
- (f) Certification.
- (g) Complaint.

TITLE 47 - TELEGRAPHS, TELEPHONES, AND RADIOTELEGRAPHS CHAPTER 5 - WIRE OR RADIO COMMUNICATION SUBCHAPTER VI - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Sec. 611. Closed-captioning of public service announcements. [Section 402]

TITLE 42 - THE PUBLIC HEALTH AND WELFARE

CHAPTER 126 - EQUAL OPPORTUNITY FOR INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES

Sec. 12101. Findings and purpose

- (a) Findings. The Congress finds that
 - (1) physical or mental disabilities in no way diminish a person's right to fully participate in all aspects of society, yet many people with physical or mental disabilities have been precluded from doing so because of discrimination; others who have a record of a disability or are regarded as having a disability also have been subjected to discrimination;
 - (2) historically, society has tended to isolate and segregate individuals with disabilities, and, despite some improvements, such forms of discrimination against individuals with disabilities continue to be a serious and pervasive social problem;
 - (3) discrimination against individuals with disabilities persists in such critical areas as employment, housing, public accommodations, education, transportation, communication, recreation, institutionalization, health services, voting, and access to public services;
 - (4) unlike individuals who have experienced discrimination on the basis of race, color, sex, national origin, religion, or age, individuals who have experienced discrimination on the basis of disability have often had no legal recourse to redress such discrimination;

- (5) individuals with disabilities continually encounter various forms of discrimination, including outright intentional exclusion, the discriminatory effects of architectural, transportation, and communication barriers, overprotective rules and policies, failure to make modifications to existing facilities and practices, exclusionary qualification standards and criteria, segregation, and relegation to lesser services, programs, activities, benefits, jobs, or other opportunities;
- (6) census data, national polls, and other studies have documented that people with disabilities, as a group, occupy an inferior status in our society, and are severely disadvantaged socially, vocationally, economically, and educationally;
- (7) the Nation's proper goals regarding individuals with disabilities are to assure equality of opportunity, full participation, independent living, and economic self-sufficiency for such individuals; and
- (8) the continuing existence of unfair and unnecessary discrimination and prejudice denies people with disabilities the opportunity to compete on an equal basis and to pursue those opportunities for which our free society is justifiably famous, and costs the United States billions of dollars in unnecessary expenses resulting from dependency and nonproductivity.
- (b) Purpose. It is the purpose of this chapter
 - (1) to provide a clear and comprehensive national mandate for the elimination of discrimination against individuals with disabilities;
 - (2) to provide clear, strong, consistent, enforceable standards addressing discrimination against individuals with disabilities;
 - (3) to ensure that the Federal Government plays a central role in enforcing the standards established in this chapter on behalf of individuals with disabilities; and
 - (4) to invoke the sweep of congressional authority, including the power to enforce the fourteenth amendment and to regulate commerce, in order to address the major areas of discrimination faced day-to-day by people with disabilities.

Sec. 12101 note: Findings and Purposes of ADA Amendments Act of 2008, Pub. L. 110-325, § 2, Sept. 25, 2008, 122 Stat. 3553, provided that:

(a) Findings. Congress finds that

- (1) in enacting the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), Congress intended that the Act "provide a clear and comprehensive national mandate for the elimination of discrimination against individuals with disabilities" and provide broad coverage;
- (2) in enacting the ADA, Congress recognized that physical and mental disabilities in no way diminish a person's right to fully participate in all aspects of society, but that people with physical or mental disabilities are frequently precluded from doing so because of prejudice, antiquated attitudes, or the failure to remove societal and institutional barriers;
- (3) while Congress expected that the definition of disability under the ADA would be interpreted consistently with how courts had applied the definition of a handicapped individual under the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, that expectation has not been fulfilled;
- (4) the holdings of the Supreme Court in Sutton v. United Air Lines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471 (1999) and its companion cases have narrowed the broad scope of protection intended to be afforded by the ADA, thus eliminating protection for many individuals whom Congress intended to protect;

- (5) the holding of the Supreme Court in Toyota Motor Manufacturing, Kentucky, Inc. v. Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002) further narrowed the broad scope of protection intended to be afforded by the ADA;
- (6) as a result of these Supreme Court cases, lower courts have incorrectly found in individual cases that people with a range of substantially limiting impairments are not people with disabilities:
- (7) in particular, the Supreme Court, in the case of Toyota Motor Manufacturing, Kentucky, Inc. v. Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002), interpreted the term "substantially limits" to require a greater degree of limitation than was intended by Congress; and
- (8) Congress finds that the current Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ADA regulations defining the term "substantially limits" as "significantly restricted" are inconsistent with congressional intent, by expressing too high a standard.
- (b) Purposes. The purposes of this Act are
 - (1) to carry out the ADA's objectives of providing "a clear and comprehensive national mandate for the elimination of discrimination" and "clear, strong, consistent, enforceable standards addressing discrimination" by reinstating a broad scope of protection to be available under the ADA;
 - (2) to reject the requirement enunciated by the Supreme Court in Sutton v. United Air Lines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471 (1999) and its companion cases that whether an impairment substantially limits a major life activity is to be determined with reference to the ameliorative effects of mitigating measures;
 - (3) to reject the Supreme Court's reasoning in Sutton v. United Air Lines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471 (1999) with regard to coverage under the third prong of the definition of disability and to reinstate the reasoning of the Supreme Court in School Board of Nassau County v. Arline, 480 U.S. 273 (1987) which set forth a broad view of the third prong of the definition of handicap under the Rehabilitation Act of 1973;
 - (4) to reject the standards enunciated by the Supreme Court in Toyota Motor Manufacturing, Kentucky, Inc. v. Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002), that the terms "substantially" and "major" in the definition of disability under the ADA "need to be interpreted strictly to create a demanding standard for qualifying as disabled," and that to be substantially limited in performing a major life activity under the ADA "an individual must have an impairment that prevents or severely restricts the individual from doing activities that are of central importance to most people's daily lives";
 - (5) to convey congressional intent that the standard created by the Supreme Court in the case of Toyota Motor Manufacturing, Kentucky, Inc. v. Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002) for "substantially limits", and applied by lower courts in numerous decisions, has created an inappropriately high level of limitation necessary to obtain coverage under the ADA, to convey that it is the intent of Congress that the primary object of attention in cases brought under the ADA should be whether entities covered under the ADA have complied with their obligations, and to convey that the question of whether an individual's impairment is a disability under the ADA should not demand extensive analysis; and
 - (6) to express Congress' expectation that the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission will revise that portion of its current regulations that defines the term "substantially limits" as "significantly restricted" to be consistent with this Act, including the amendments made by this Act.

As used in this chapter:

- (1) Disability. The term "disability" means, with respect to an individual
 - (A) a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities of such individual;
 - (B) a record of such an impairment; or
 - (C) being regarded as having such an impairment (as described in paragraph (3)).
- (2) Major Life Activities
 - (A) In general. For purposes of paragraph (1), major life activities include, but are not limited to, caring for oneself, performing manual tasks, seeing, hearing, eating, sleeping, walking, standing, lifting, bending, speaking, breathing, learning, reading, concentrating, thinking, communicating, and working.
 - (B) Major bodily functions. For purposes of paragraph (1), a major life activity also includes the operation of a major bodily function, including but not limited to, functions of the immune system, normal cell growth, digestive, bowel, bladder, neurological, brain, respiratory, circulatory, endocrine, and reproductive functions.
- (3) Regarded as having such an impairment. For purposes of paragraph (1)(C):
 - (A) An individual meets the requirement of "being regarded as having such an impairment" if the individual establishes that he or she has been subjected to an action prohibited under this chapter because of an actual or perceived physical or mental impairment whether or not the impairment limits or is perceived to limit a major life activity.
 - (B) Paragraph (1)(C) shall not apply to impairments that are transitory and minor. A transitory impairment is an impairment with an actual or expected duration of 6 months or less.
- (4) Rules of construction regarding the definition of disability. The definition of "disability" in paragraph (1) shall be construed in accordance with the following:
 - (A) The definition of disability in this chapter shall be construed in favor of broad coverage of individuals under this chapter, to the maximum extent permitted by the terms of this chapter.
 - (B) The term "substantially limits" shall be interpreted consistently with the findings and purposes of the ADA Amendments Act of 2008.
 - (C) An impairment that substantially limits one major life activity need not limit other major life activities in order to be considered a disability.
 - (D) An impairment that is episodic or in remission is a disability if it would substantially limit a major life activity when active.
 - (E) (i) The determination of whether an impairment substantially limits a major life activity shall be made without regard to the ameliorative effects of mitigating measures such as

- (I) medication, medical supplies, equipment, or appliances, low-vision devices (which do not include ordinary eyeglasses or contact lenses), prosthetics including limbs and devices, hearing aids and cochlear implants or other implantable hearing devices, mobility devices, or oxygen therapy equipment and supplies;
- (II) use of assistive technology;
- (III) reasonable accommodations or auxiliary aids or services; or
- (IV) learned behavioral or adaptive neurological modifications.
- (ii) The ameliorative effects of the mitigating measures of ordinary eyeglasses or contact lenses shall be considered in determining whether an impairment substantially limits a major life activity.
- (iii) As used in this subparagraph
 - (I) the term "ordinary eyeglasses or contact lenses" means lenses that are intended to fully correct visual acuity or eliminate refractive error; and
 - (II) the term "low-vision devices" means devices that magnify, enhance, or otherwise augment a visual image.

Sec. 12103. Additional definitions. As used in this chapter

- (1) Auxiliary aids and services. The term "auxiliary aids and services" includes
 - (A) qualified interpreters or other effective methods of making aurally delivered materials available to individuals with hearing impairments;
 - (B) qualified readers, taped texts, or other effective methods of making visually delivered materials available to individuals with visual impairments;
 - (C) acquisition or modification of equipment or devices; and
 - (D) other similar services and actions.
- (2) State. The term "State" means each of the several States, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, Guam, American Samoa, the Virgin Islands of the United States, the Trust Territory of the Pacific Islands, and the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands.

SUBCHAPTER I - EMPLOYMENT

Sec. 12111. Definitions

As used in this subchapter:

- (1) Commission. The term "Commission" means the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission established by section 2000e-4 of this title.
- (2) Covered entity. The term "covered entity" means an employer, employment agency, labor organization, or joint labor-management committee.

- (3) Direct threat. The term "direct threat" means a significant risk to the health or safety of others that cannot be eliminated by reasonable accommodation.
- (4) Employee. The term "employee" means an individual employed by an employer. With respect to employment in a foreign country, such term includes an individual who is a citizen of the United States.

(5) Employer

- (A) In general. The term "employer" means a person engaged in an industry affecting commerce who has 15 or more employees for each working day in each of 20 or more calendar weeks in the current or preceding calendar year, and any agent of such person, except that, for two years following the effective date of this subchapter, an employer means a person engaged in an industry affecting commerce who has 25 or more employees for each working day in each of 20 or more calendar weeks in the current or preceding year, and any agent of such person.
- (B) Exceptions. The term "employer" does not include
 - (i) the United States, a corporation wholly owned by the government of the United States, or an Indian tribe; or
 - (ii) a bona fide private membership club (other than a labor organization) that is exempt from taxation under section 501(c) of title 26.

(6) Illegal use of drugs

- (A) In general. The term "illegal use of drugs" means the use of drugs, the possession or distribution of which is unlawful under the Controlled Substances Act [21 U.S.C. 801 et seq.]. Such term does not include the use of a drug taken under supervision by a licensed health care professional, or other uses authorized by the Controlled Substances Act or other provisions of Federal law.
- (B) Drugs. The term "drug" means a controlled substance, as defined in schedules I through V of section 202 of the Controlled Substances Act [21 U.S.C. 812].
- (7) Person, etc. The terms "person", "labor organization", "employment agency", "commerce", and "industry affecting commerce", shall have the same meaning given such terms in section 2000e of this title.
- (8) Qualified individual. The term "qualified individual" means an individual who, with or without reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential functions of the employment position that such individual holds or desires. For the purposes of this subchapter, consideration shall be given to the employer's judgment as to what functions of a job are essential, and if an employer has prepared a written description before advertising or interviewing applicants for the job, this description shall be considered evidence of the essential functions of the job.
- (9) Reasonable accommodation. The term "reasonable accommodation" may include
 - (A) making existing facilities used by employees readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities; and
 - (B) job restructuring, part-time or modified work schedules, reassignment to a vacant position, acquisition or modification of equipment or devices, appropriate adjustment or modifications of examinations, training materials or policies, the provision of qualified

readers or interpreters, and other similar accommodations for individuals with disabilities.

(10) Undue hardship

- (A) In general. The term "undue hardship" means an action requiring significant difficulty or expense, when considered in light of the factors set forth in subparagraph (B).
- (B) Factors to be considered. In determining whether an accommodation would impose an undue hardship on a covered entity, factors to be considered include
 - (i) the nature and cost of the accommodation needed under this chapter;
 - (ii) the overall financial resources of the facility or facilities involved in the provision of the reasonable accommodation; the number of persons employed at such facility; the effect on expenses and resources, or the impact otherwise of such accommodation upon the operation of the facility:
 - (iii) the overall financial resources of the covered entity; the overall size of the business of a covered entity with respect to the number of its employees; the number, type, and location of its facilities; and
 - (iv) the type of operation or operations of the covered entity, including the composition, structure, and functions of the workforce of such entity; the geographic separateness, administrative, or fiscal relationship of the facility or facilities in question to the covered entity.

Sec. 12112. Discrimination

- (a) General rule. No covered entity shall discriminate against a qualified individual on the basis of disability in regard to job application procedures, the hiring, advancement, or discharge of employees, employee compensation, job training, and other terms, conditions, and privileges of employment.
- (b) Construction. As used in subsection (a) of this section, the term "discriminate against a qualified individual on the basis of disability" includes
 - (1) limiting, segregating, or classifying a job applicant or employee in a way that adversely affects the opportunities or status of such applicant or employee because of the disability of such applicant or employee;
 - (2) participating in a contractual or other arrangement or relationship that has the effect of subjecting a covered entity's qualified applicant or employee with a disability to the discrimination prohibited by this subchapter (such relationship includes a relationship with an employment or referral agency, labor union, an organization providing fringe benefits to an employee of the covered entity, or an organization providing training and apprenticeship programs);
 - (3) utilizing standards, criteria, or methods of administration
 - (A) that have the effect of discrimination on the basis of disability;
 - (B) that perpetuates the discrimination of others who are subject to common administrative control;
 - (4) excluding or otherwise denying equal jobs or benefits to a qualified individual because of the known disability of an individual with whom the qualified individual is known to have a

relationship or association;

- (5) (A) not making reasonable accommodations to the known physical or mental limitations of an otherwise qualified individual with a disability who is an applicant or employee, unless such covered entity can demonstrate that the accommodation would impose an undue hardship on the operation of the business of such covered entity; or
 - (B) denying employment opportunities to a job applicant or employee who is an otherwise qualified individual with a disability, if such denial is based on the need of such covered entity to make reasonable accommodation to the physical or mental impairments of the employee or applicant;
- (6) using qualification standards, employment tests or other selection criteria that screen out or tend to screen out an individual with a disability or a class of individuals with disabilities unless the standard, test or other selection criteria, as used by the covered entity, is shown to be job-related for the position in question and is consistent with business necessity; and
- (7) failing to select and administer tests concerning employment in the most effective manner to ensure that, when such test is administered to a job applicant or employee who has a disability that impairs sensory, manual, or speaking skills, such test results accurately reflect the skills, aptitude, or whatever other factor of such applicant or employee that such test purports to measure, rather than reflecting the impaired sensory, manual, or speaking skills of such employee or applicant (except where such skills are the factors that the test purports to measure).
- (c) Covered entities in foreign countries
 - (1) In general. It shall not be unlawful under this section for a covered entity to take any action that constitute discrimination under this section with respect to an employee in a workplace in a foreign country if compliance with this section would cause such covered entity to violate the law of the foreign country in which such workplace is located.
 - (2) Control of corporation
 - (A) Presumption. If an employer controls a corporation whose place of incorporation is a foreign country, any practice that constitutes discrimination under this section and is engaged in by such corporation shall be presumed to be engaged in by such employer.
 - (B) Exception. This section shall not apply with respect to the foreign operations of an employer that is a foreign person not controlled by an American employer.
 - (C) Determination. For purposes of this paragraph, the determination of whether an employer controls a corporation shall be based on
 - (i) the interrelation of operations;
 - (ii) the common management;
 - (iii) the centralized control of labor relations; and
 - (iv) the common ownership or financial control of the employer and the corporation.
- (d) Medical examinations and inquiries
 - (1) In general. The prohibition against discrimination as referred to in subsection (a) of this section shall include medical examinations and inquiries.

(2) Preemployment

- (A) Prohibited examination or inquiry. Except as provided in paragraph (3), a covered entity shall not conduct a medical examination or make inquiries of a job applicant as to whether such applicant is an individual with a disability or as to the nature or severity of such disability.
- (B) Acceptable inquiry. A covered entity may make preemployment inquiries into the ability of an applicant to perform job-related functions.
- (3) Employment entrance examination. A covered entity may require a medical examination after an offer of employment has been made to a job applicant and prior to the commencement of the employment duties of such applicant, and may condition an offer of employment on the results of such examination, if
 - (A) all entering employees are subjected to such an examination regardless of disability;
 - (B) information obtained regarding the medical condition or history of the applicant is collected and maintained on separate forms and in separate medical files and is treated as a confidential medical record, except that
 - (i) supervisors and managers may be informed regarding necessary restrictions on the work or duties of the employee and necessary accommodations;
 - (ii) first aid and safety personnel may be informed, when appropriate, if the disability might require emergency treatment; and
 - (iii) government officials investigating compliance with this chapter shall be provided relevant information on request; and
 - (C) the results of such examination are used only in accordance with this subchapter.

(4) Examination and inquiry

- (A) Prohibited examinations and inquiries. A covered entity shall not require a medical examination and shall not make inquiries of an employee as to whether such employee is an individual with a disability or as to the nature or severity of the disability, unless such examination or inquiry is shown to be job-related and consistent with business necessity.
- (B) Acceptable examinations and inquiries. A covered entity may conduct voluntary medical examinations, including voluntary medical histories, which are part of an employee health program available to employees at that work site. A covered entity may make inquiries into the ability of an employee to perform job-related functions.
- (C) Requirement. Information obtained under subparagraph (B) regarding the medical condition or history of any employee are subject to the requirements of subparagraphs (B) and (C) of paragraph (3).

Sec. 12113. Defenses

(a) In general. It may be a defense to a charge of discrimination under this chapter that an alleged application of qualification standards, tests, or selection criteria that screen out or tend to screen out or otherwise deny a job or benefit to an individual with a disability has been shown to be job-related and consistent with business necessity, and such performance cannot be accomplished by reasonable accommodation, as required under this subchapter.

- (b) Qualification standards. The term "qualification standards" may include a requirement that an individual shall not pose a direct threat to the health or safety of other individuals in the workplace.
- (c) Qualification standards and tests related to uncorrected vision. Notwithstanding section 12102(4)(E)(ii), a covered entity shall not use qualification standards, employment tests, or other selection criteria based on an individual's uncorrected vision unless the standard, test, or other selection criteria, as used by the covered entity, is shown to be job-related for the position in question and consistent with business necessity.

(d) Religious entities

- (1) In general. This subchapter shall not prohibit a religious corporation, association, educational institution, or society from giving preference in employment to individuals of a particular religion to perform work connected with the carrying on by such corporation, association, educational institution, or society of its activities.
- (2) Religious tenets requirement. Under this subchapter, a religious organization may require that all applicants and employees conform to the religious tenets of such organization.
- (e) List of infectious and communicable diseases
 - (1) In general. The Secretary of Health and Human Services, not later than 6 months after July 26, 1990, shall
 - (A) review all infectious and communicable diseases which may be transmitted through handling the food supply;
 - (B) publish a list of infectious and communicable diseases which are transmitted through handling the food supply;
 - (C) publish the methods by which such diseases are transmitted; and
 - (D) widely disseminate such information regarding the list of diseases and their modes of transmissibility to the general public.

Such list shall be updated annually.

- (2) Applications. In any case in which an individual has an infectious or communicable disease that is transmitted to others through the handling of food, that is included on the list developed by the Secretary of Health and Human Services under paragraph (1), and which cannot be eliminated by reasonable accommodation, a covered entity may refuse to assign or continue to assign such individual to a job involving food handling.
- (3) Construction. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to preempt, modify, or amend any State, county, or local law, ordinance, or regulation applicable to food handling which is designed to protect the public health from individuals who pose a significant risk to the health or safety of others, which cannot be eliminated by reasonable accommodation, pursuant to the list of infectious or communicable diseases and the modes of transmissibility published by the Secretary of Health and Human Services.

Sec. 12114. Illegal use of drugs and alcohol

(a) Qualified individual with a disability. For purposes of this subchapter, a qualified individual with a disability shall not include any employee or applicant who is currently engaging in the illegal use of drugs, when the covered entity acts on the basis of such use.

- (b) Rules of construction. Nothing in subsection (a) of this section shall be construed to exclude as a qualified individual with a disability an individual who
 - (1) has successfully completed a supervised drug rehabilitation program and is no longer engaging in the illegal use of drugs, or has otherwise been rehabilitated successfully and is no longer engaging in such use;
 - (2) is participating in a supervised rehabilitation program and is no longer engaging in such use: or
 - (3) is erroneously regarded as engaging in such use, but is not engaging in such use;

except that it shall not be a violation of this chapter for a covered entity to adopt or administer reasonable policies or procedures, including but not limited to drug testing, designed to ensure that an individual described in paragraph (1) or (2) is no longer engaging in the illegal use of drugs.

- (c) Authority of covered entity. A covered entity
 - (1) may prohibit the illegal use of drugs and the use of alcohol at the workplace by all employees;
 - (2) may require that employees shall not be under the influence of alcohol or be engaging in the illegal use of drugs at the workplace;
 - (3) may require that employees behave in conformance with the requirements established under the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (41 U.S.C. 701 et seq.);
 - (4) may hold an employee who engages in the illegal use of drugs or who is an alcoholic to the same qualification standards for employment or job performance and behavior that such entity holds other employees, even if any unsatisfactory performance or behavior is related to the drug use or alcoholism of such employee; and
 - (5) may, with respect to Federal regulations regarding alcohol and the illegal use of drugs, require that
 - (A) employees comply with the standards established in such regulations of the Department of Defense, if the employees of the covered entity are employed in an industry subject to such regulations, including complying with regulations (if any) that apply to employment in sensitive positions in such an industry, in the case of employees of the covered entity who are employed in such positions (as defined in the regulations of the Department of Defense);
 - (B) employees comply with the standards established in such regulations of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission, if the employees of the covered entity are employed in an industry subject to such regulations, including complying with regulations (if any) that apply to employment in sensitive positions in such an industry, in the case of employees of the covered entity who are employed in such positions (as defined in the regulations of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission); and
 - (C) employees comply with the standards established in such regulations of the Department of Transportation, if the employees of the covered entity are employed in a transportation industry subject to such regulations, including complying with such regulations (if any) that apply to employment in sensitive positions in such an industry, in the case of employees of the covered entity who are employed in such positions (as defined in the regulations of the Department of Transportation).

(d) Drug testing

- (1) In general. For purposes of this subchapter, a test to determine the illegal use of drugs shall not be considered a medical examination.
- (2) Construction. Nothing in this subchapter shall be construed to encourage, prohibit, or authorize the conducting of drug testing for the illegal use of drugs by job applicants or employees or making employment decisions based on such test results.
- (e) Transportation employees. Nothing in this subchapter shall be construed to encourage, prohibit, restrict, or authorize the otherwise lawful exercise by entities subject to the jurisdiction of the Department of Transportation of authority to
 - (1) test employees of such entities in, and applicants for, positions involving safety-sensitive duties for the illegal use of drugs and for on-duty impairment by alcohol; and
 - (2) remove such persons who test positive for illegal use of drugs and on-duty impairment by alcohol pursuant to paragraph (1) from safety-sensitive duties in implementing subsection (c) of this section.

Sec. 12115. Posting notices

Every employer, employment agency, labor organization, or joint labor-management committee covered under this subchapter shall post notices in an accessible format to applicants, employees, and members describing the applicable provisions of this chapter, in the manner prescribed by section 2000e-10 of this title.

Sec. 12116. Regulations

Not later than 1 year after July 26, 1990, the Commission shall issue regulations in an accessible format to carry out this subchapter in accordance with subchapter II of chapter 5 of title 5.

Sec. 12117. Enforcement

- (a) Powers, remedies, and procedures. The powers, remedies, and procedures set forth in sections 2000e-4, 2000e-5, 2000e-6, 2000e-8, and 2000e-9 of this title shall be the powers, remedies, and procedures this subchapter provides to the Commission, to the Attorney General, or to any person alleging discrimination on the basis of disability in violation of any provision of this chapter, or regulations promulgated under section 12116 of this title, concerning employment.
- (b) Coordination. The agencies with enforcement authority for actions which allege employment discrimination under this subchapter and under the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 [29 U.S.C. 701 et seq.] shall develop procedures to ensure that administrative complaints filed under this subchapter and under the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 are dealt with in a manner that avoids duplication of effort and prevents imposition of inconsistent or conflicting standards for the same requirements under this subchapter and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. The Commission, the Attorney General, and the Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs shall establish such coordinating mechanisms (similar to provisions contained in the joint regulations promulgated by the Commission and the Attorney General at part 42 of title 28 and part 1691 of title 29, Code of Federal Regulations, and the Memorandum of Understanding between the Commission and the Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs dated January 16, 1981 (46 Fed. Reg. 7435, January 23, 1981)) in regulations implementing this subchapter and Rehabilitation Act of 1973 not later than 18 months after July 26, 1990.

SUBCHAPTER II - PUBLIC SERVICES

Part A - Prohibition Against Discrimination and Other Generally Applicable Provisions

Sec. 12131. Definitions

As used in this subchapter:

- (1) Public entity. The term "public entity" means
 - (A) any State or local government;
 - (B) any department, agency, special purpose district, or other instrumentality of a State or States or local government; and
 - (C) the National Railroad Passenger Corporation, and any commuter authority (as defined in section 24102(4) of title 49).
- (2) Qualified individual with a disability. The term "qualified individual with a disability" means an individual who, with or without reasonable modifications to rules, policies, or practices, the removal of architectural, communication, or transportation barriers, or the provision of auxiliary aids and services, meets the essential eligibility requirements for the receipt of services or the participation in programs or activities provided by a public entity.

Sec. 12132. Discrimination

Subject to the provisions of this subchapter, no qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by any such entity.

Sec. 12133. Enforcement

The remedies, procedures, and rights set forth in section 794a of title 29 shall be the remedies, procedures, and rights this subchapter provides to any person alleging discrimination on the basis of disability in violation of section 12132 of this title.

Sec. 12134. Regulations

- (a) In general. Not later than 1 year after July 26, 1990, the Attorney General shall promulgate regulations in an accessible format that implement this part. Such regulations shall not include any matter within the scope of the authority of the Secretary of Transportation under section 12143, 12149, or 12164 of this title.
- (b) Relationship to other regulations. Except for "program accessibility, existing facilities", and "communications", regulations under subsection (a) of this section shall be consistent with this chapter and with the coordination regulations under part 41 of title 28, Code of Federal Regulations (as promulgated by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare on January 13, 1978), applicable to recipients of Federal financial assistance under section 794 of title 29. With respect to "program accessibility, existing facilities", and "communications", such regulations shall be consistent with regulations and analysis as in part 39 of title 28 of the Code of Federal Regulations, applicable to federally conducted activities under section 794 of title 29.
- (c) Standards. Regulations under subsection (a) of this section shall include standards applicable to facilities and vehicles covered by this part, other than facilities, stations, rail passenger cars, and vehicles covered by part B of this subchapter. Such standards shall be consistent with the minimum guidelines and requirements issued by the Architectural and Transportation Barriers

Compliance Board in accordance with section 12204(a) of this title.

Part B - Actions Applicable to Public Transportation Provided by Public Entities Considered Discriminatory

Subpart I - Public Transportation Other than by Aircraft or Certain Rail Operations

Sec. 12141. Definitions

As used in this subpart:

- (1) Demand responsive system. The term "demand responsive system" means any system of providing designated public transportation which is not a fixed route system.
- (2) Designated public transportation. The term "designated public transportation" means transportation (other than public school transportation) by bus, rail, or any other conveyance (other than transportation by aircraft or intercity or commuter rail transportation (as defined in section 12161 of this title)) that provides the general public with general or special service (including charter service) on a regular and continuing basis.
- (3) Fixed route system. The term "fixed route system" means a system of providing designated public transportation on which a vehicle is operated along a prescribed route according to a fixed schedule.
- (4) Operates. The term "operates", as used with respect to a fixed route system or demand responsive system, includes operation of such system by a person under a contractual or other arrangement or relationship with a public entity.
- (5) Public school transportation. The term "public school transportation" means transportation by school bus vehicles of schoolchildren, personnel, and equipment to and from a public elementary or secondary school and school-related activities.
- (6) Secretary. The term "Secretary" means the Secretary of Transportation.

Sec. 12142. Public entities operating fixed route systems

- (a) Purchase and lease of new vehicles. It shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section which operates a fixed route system to purchase or lease a new bus, a new rapid rail vehicle, a new light rail vehicle, or any other new vehicle to be used on such system, if the solicitation for such purchase or lease is made after the 30th day following July 26, 1990, and if such bus, rail vehicle, or other vehicle is not readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs.
- (b) Purchase and lease of used vehicles. Subject to subsection (c)(1) of this section, it shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29 for a public entity which operates a fixed route system to purchase or lease, after the 30th day following July 26, 1990, a used vehicle for use on such system unless such entity makes demonstrated good faith efforts to purchase or lease a used vehicle for use on such system that is readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs.

(c) Remanufactured vehicles

(1) General rule. Except as provided in paragraph (2), it shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29 for a public entity which operates a fixed route system

- (A) to remanufacture a vehicle for use on such system so as to extend its usable life for 5 years or more, which remanufacture begins (or for which the solicitation is made) after the 30th day following July 26, 1990; or
- (B) to purchase or lease for use on such system a remanufactured vehicle which has been remanufactured so as to extend its usable life for 5 years or more, which purchase or lease occurs after such 30th day and during the period in which the usable life is extended; unless, after remanufacture, the vehicle is, to the maximum extent feasible, readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs.

(2) Exception for historic vehicles

- (A) General rule. If a public entity operates a fixed route system any segment of which is included on the National Register of Historic Places and if making a vehicle of historic character to be used solely on such segment readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities would significantly alter the historic character of such vehicle, the public entity only has to make (or to purchase or lease a remanufactured vehicle with) those modifications which are necessary to meet the requirements of paragraph (1) and which do not significantly alter the historic character of such vehicle.
- (B) Vehicles of historic character defined by regulations. For purposes of this paragraph and section 12148(a) of this title, a vehicle of historic character shall be defined by the regulations issued by the Secretary to carry out this subsection.

Sec. 12143. Paratransit as a complement to fixed route service

- (a) General rule. It shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29 for a public entity which operates a fixed route system (other than a system which provides solely commuter bus service) to fail to provide with respect to the operations of its fixed route system, in accordance with this section, paratransit and other special transportation services to individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs that are sufficient to provide to such individuals a level of service
 - (1) which is comparable to the level of designated public transportation services provided to individuals without disabilities using such system; or
 - (2) in the case of response time, which is comparable, to the extent practicable, to the level of designated public transportation services provided to individuals without disabilities using such system.
- (b) Issuance of regulations. Not later than 1 year after July 26, 1990, the Secretary shall issue final regulations to carry out this section.

(c) Required contents of regulations

- (1) Eligible recipients of service. The regulations issued under this section shall require each public entity which operates a fixed route system to provide the paratransit and other special transportation services required under this section
 - (A) (i) to any individual with a disability who is unable, as a result of a physical or mental impairment (including a vision impairment) and without the assistance of another individual (except an operator of a wheelchair lift or other boarding assistance device), to board, ride, or disembark from any vehicle on the system which is readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities;

- (ii) to any individual with a disability who needs the assistance of a wheelchair lift or other boarding assistance device (and is able with such assistance) to board, ride, and disembark from any vehicle which is readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities if the individual wants to travel on a route on the system during the hours of operation of the system at a time (or within a reasonable period of such time) when such a vehicle is not being used to provide designated public transportation on the route; and
- (iii) to any individual with a disability who has a specific impairment-related condition which prevents such individual from traveling to a boarding location or from a disembarking location on such system;
- (B) to one other individual accompanying the individual with the disability; and
- (C) to other individuals, in addition to the one individual described in subparagraph (a), accompanying the individual with a disability provided that space for these additional individuals are available on the paratransit vehicle carrying the individual with a disability and that the transportation of such additional individuals will not result in a denial of service to individuals with disabilities.

For purposes of clauses (i) and (ii) of subparagraph (A), boarding or disembarking from a vehicle does not include travel to the boarding location or from the disembarking location.

- (2) Service area. The regulations issued under this section shall require the provision of paratransit and special transportation services required under this section in the service area of each public entity which operates a fixed route system, other than any portion of the service area in which the public entity solely provides commuter bus service.
- (3) Service criteria. Subject to paragraphs (1) and (2), the regulations issued under this section shall establish minimum service criteria for determining the level of services to be required under this section.
- (4) Undue financial burden limitation. The regulations issued under this section shall provide that, if the public entity is able to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Secretary that the provision of paratransit and other special transportation services otherwise required under this section would impose an undue financial burden on the public entity, the public entity, notwithstanding any other provision of this section (other than paragraph (5)), shall only be required to provide such services to the extent that providing such services would not impose such a burden.
- (5) Additional services. The regulations issued under this section shall establish circumstances under which the Secretary may require a public entity to provide, notwithstanding paragraph (4), paratransit and other special transportation services under this section beyond the level of paratransit and other special transportation services which would otherwise be required under paragraph (4).
- (6) Public participation. The regulations issued under this section shall require that each public entity which operates a fixed route system hold a public hearing, provide an opportunity for public comment, and consult with individuals with disabilities in preparing its plan under paragraph (7).
- (7) Plans. The regulations issued under this section shall require that each public entity which operates a fixed route system
 - (A) within 18 months after July 26, 1990, submit to the Secretary, and commence implementation of, a plan for providing paratransit and other special transportation

services which meets the requirements of this section; and

- (B) on an annual basis thereafter, submit to the Secretary, and commence implementation of, a plan for providing such services.
- (8) Provision of services by others. The regulations issued under this section shall
 - (A) require that a public entity submitting a plan to the Secretary under this section identify in the plan any person or other public entity which is providing a paratransit or other special transportation service for individuals with disabilities in the service area to which the plan applies; and
 - (B) provide that the public entity submitting the plan does not have to provide under the plan such service for individuals with disabilities.
- (9) Other provisions. The regulations issued under this section shall include such other provisions and requirements as the Secretary determines are necessary to carry out the objectives of this section.

(d) Review of plan

- (1) General rule. The Secretary shall review a plan submitted under this section for the purpose of determining whether or not such plan meets the requirements of this section, including the regulations issued under this section.
- (2) Disapproval. If the Secretary determines that a plan reviewed under this subsection fails to meet the requirements of this section, the Secretary shall disapprove the plan and notify the public entity which submitted the plan of such disapproval and the reasons therefor.
- (3) Modification of disapproved plan. Not later than 90 days after the date of disapproval of a plan under this subsection, the public entity which submitted the plan shall modify the plan to meet the requirements of this section and shall submit to the Secretary, and commence implementation of, such modified plan.
- (e) "Discrimination" defined. As used in subsection (a) of this section, the term "discrimination" includes
 - (1) a failure of a public entity to which the regulations issued under this section apply to submit, or commence implementation of, a plan in accordance with subsections (c)(6) and (c)(7) of this section;
 - (2) a failure of such entity to submit, or commence implementation of, a modified plan in accordance with subsection (d) (3) of this section;
 - (3) submission to the Secretary of a modified plan under subsection (d)(3) of this section which does not meet the requirements of this section; or
 - (4) a failure of such entity to provide paratransit or other special transportation services in accordance with the plan or modified plan the public entity submitted to the Secretary under this section.
- (f) Statutory construction. Nothing in this section shall be construed as preventing a public entity
 - (1) from providing paratransit or other special transportation services at a level which is greater than the level of such services which are required by this section.

- (2) from providing paratransit or other special transportation services in addition to those paratransit and special transportation services required by this section, or
- (3) from providing such services to individuals in addition to those individuals to whom such services are required to be provided by this section.

Sec. 12144. Public entity operating a demand responsive system

If a public entity operates a demand responsive system, it shall be considered discrimination, for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29, for such entity to purchase or lease a new vehicle for use on such system, for which a solicitation is made after the 30th day following July 26, 1990, that is not readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, unless such system, when viewed in its entirety, provides a level of service to such individuals equivalent to the level of service such system provides to individuals without disabilities.

Sec. 12145. Temporary relief where lifts are unavailable

- (a) Granting. With respect to the purchase of new buses, a public entity may apply for, and the Secretary may temporarily relieve such public entity from the obligation under section 12142(a) or 12144 of this title to purchase new buses that are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities if such public entity demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Secretary
 - (1) that the initial solicitation for new buses made by the public entity specified that all new buses were to be lift-equipped and were to be otherwise accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities;
 - (2) the unavailability from any qualified manufacturer of hydraulic, electromechanical, or other lifts for such new buses;
 - (3) that the public entity seeking temporary relief has made good faith efforts to locate a qualified manufacturer to supply the lifts to the manufacturer of such buses in sufficient time to comply with such solicitation; and
 - (4) that any further delay in purchasing new buses necessary to obtain such lifts would significantly impair transportation services in the community served by the public entity.
- (b) Duration and notice to Congress. Any relief granted under subsection (a) of this section shall be limited in duration by a specified date, and the appropriate committees of Congress shall be notified of any such relief granted.
- (c) Fraudulent application. If, at any time, the Secretary has reasonable cause to believe that any relief granted under subsection (a) of this section was fraudulently applied for, the Secretary shall
 - (1) cancel such relief if such relief is still in effect; and
 - (2) take such other action as the Secretary considers appropriate.

Sec. 12146. New facilities

For purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29, it shall be considered discrimination for a public entity to construct a new facility to be used in the provision of designated public transportation services unless such facility is readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs.

Sec. 12147. Alterations of existing facilities

(a) General rule. With respect to alterations of an existing facility or part thereof used in the provision of designated public transportation services that affect or could affect the usability of the facility or part thereof, it shall be considered discrimination, for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29, for a public entity to fail to make such alterations (or to ensure that the alterations are made) in such a manner that, to the maximum extent feasible, the altered portions of the facility are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, upon the completion of such alterations. Where the public entity is undertaking an alteration that affects or could affect usability of or access to an area of the facility containing a primary function, the entity shall also make the alterations in such a manner that, to the maximum extent feasible, the path of travel to the altered area and the bathrooms, telephones, and drinking fountains serving the altered area, are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, upon completion of such alterations, where such alterations to the path of travel or the bathrooms, telephones, and drinking fountains serving the altered area are not disproportionate to the overall alterations in terms of cost and scope (as determined under criteria established by the Attorney General).

(b) Special rule for stations

- (1) General rule. For purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29, it shall be considered discrimination for a public entity that provides designated public transportation to fail, in accordance with the provisions of this subsection, to make key stations (as determined under criteria established by the Secretary by regulation) in rapid rail and light rail systems readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs.
- (2) Rapid rail and light rail key stations
 - (A) Accessibility. Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, all key stations (as determined under criteria established by the Secretary by regulation] in rapid rail and light rail systems shall be made readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, as soon as practicable but in no event later than the last day of the 3-year period beginning on July 26, 1990.
 - (B) Extension for extraordinarily expensive structural changes. The Secretary may extend the 3-year period under subparagraph (A) up to a 30-year period for key stations in a rapid rail or light rail system which stations need extraordinarily expensive structural changes to, or replacement of, existing facilities; except that by the last day of the 20th year following July 26, 1990, at least 2/3 of such key stations must be readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities.
- (3) Plans and milestones. The Secretary shall require the appropriate public entity to develop and submit to the Secretary a plan for compliance with this subsection
 - (A) that reflects consultation with individuals with disabilities affected by such plan and the results of a public hearing and public comments on such plan, and
 - (B) that establishes milestones for achievement of the requirements of this subsection.

Sec. 12148. Public transportation programs and activities in existing facilities and one car per train rule

- (a) Public transportation programs and activities in existing facilities
 - (1) In general. With respect to existing facilities used in the provision of designated public transportation services, it shall be considered discrimination, for purposes of section 12132 of

this title and section 794 of title 29, for a public entity to fail to operate a designated public transportation program or activity conducted in such facilities so that, when viewed in the entirety, the program or activity is readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities.

- (2) Exception. Paragraph (1) shall not require a public entity to make structural changes to existing facilities in order to make such facilities accessible to individuals who use wheelchairs, unless and to the extent required by section 12147(a) of this title (relating to alterations) or section 12147(a) of this title (relating to key stations).
- (3) Utilization. Paragraph (1) shall not require a public entity to which paragraph (2) applies, to provide to individuals who use wheelchairs services made available to the general public at such facilities when such individuals could not utilize or benefit from such services provided at such facilities.

(b) One car per train rule

- (1) General rule. Subject to paragraph (2), with respect to 2 or more vehicles operated as a train by a light or rapid rail system, for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29, it shall be considered discrimination for a public entity to fail to have at least 1 vehicle per train that is accessible to individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, as soon as practicable but in no event later than the last day of the 5-year period beginning on the effective date of this section.
- (2) Historic trains. In order to comply with paragraph (1) with respect to the remanufacture of a vehicle of historic character which is to be used on a segment of a light or rapid rail system which is included on the National Register of Historic Places, if making such vehicle readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities would significantly alter the historic character of such vehicle, the public entity which operates such system only has to make (or to purchase or lease a remanufactured vehicle with) those modifications which are necessary to meet the requirements of section 12142(c)(1) of this title and which do not significantly alter the historic character of such vehicle.

Sec. 12149. Regulations

- (a) In general. Not later than 1 year after July 26, 1990, the Secretary of Transportation shall issue regulations, in an accessible format, necessary for carrying out this subpart (other than section 12143 of this title).
- (b) Standards. The regulations issued under this section and section 12143 of this title shall include standards applicable to facilities and vehicles covered by this part. The standards shall be consistent with the minimum guidelines and requirements issued by the Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board in accordance with section 12204 of this title.

Sec. 12150. Interim accessibility requirements

If final regulations have not been issued pursuant to section 12149 of this title, for new construction or alterations for which a valid and appropriate State or local building permit is obtained prior to the issuance of final regulations under such section, and for which the construction or alteration authorized by such permit begins within one year of the receipt of such permit and is completed under the terms of such permit, compliance with the Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards in effect at the time the building permit is issued shall suffice to satisfy the requirement that facilities be readily accessible to and usable by persons with disabilities as required under sections 12146 and 12147 of this title, except that, if such final regulations have not been issued one year after the Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board has issued the supplemental minimum guidelines required under section 12204(a) of this title, compliance with such supplemental minimum guidelines shall be

necessary to satisfy the requirement that facilities be readily accessible to and usable by persons with disabilities prior to issuance of the final regulations.

Subpart II - Public Transportation by Intercity and Commuter Rail

Sec. 12161. Definitions

As used in this subpart:

- (1) Commuter authority. The term "commuter authority" has the meaning given such term in section 24102(4) of title 49.
- (2) Commuter rail transportation. The term "commuter rail transportation" has the meaning given the term "commuter rail passenger transportation" in section 24102(5) of title 49.
- (3) Intercity rail transportation. The term "intercity rail transportation" means transportation provided by the National Railroad Passenger Corporation.
- (4) Rail passenger car. The term "rail passenger car" means, with respect to intercity rail transportation, single-level and bi-level coach cars, single-level and bi-level dining cars, single-level and bi-level sleeping cars, single-level and bi-level lounge cars, and food service cars.
- (5) Responsible person. The term "responsible person" means
 - (A) in the case of a station more than 50 percent of which is owned by a public entity, such public entity;
 - (B) in the case of a station more than 50 percent of which is owned by a private party, the persons providing intercity or commuter rail transportation to such station, as allocated on an equitable basis by regulation by the Secretary of Transportation; and
 - (C) in a case where no party owns more than 50 percent of a station, the persons providing intercity or commuter rail transportation to such station and the owners of the station, other than private party owners, as allocated on an equitable basis by regulation by the Secretary of Transportation.
- (6) Station. The term "station" means the portion of a property located appurtenant to a right-of-way on which intercity or commuter rail transportation is operated, where such portion is used by the general public and is related to the provision of such transportation, including passenger platforms, designated waiting areas, ticketing areas, restrooms, and, where a public entity providing rail transportation owns the property, concession areas, to the extent that such public entity exercises control over the selection, design, construction, or alteration of the property, but such term does not include flag stops.

Sec. 12162. Intercity and commuter rail actions considered discriminatory

- (a) Intercity rail transportation
 - (1) One car per train rule. It shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29 for a person who provides intercity rail transportation to fail to have at least one passenger car per train that is readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, in accordance with regulations issued under section 12164 of this title, as soon as practicable, but in no event later than 5 years after July 26, 1990.

(2) New intercity cars

- (A) General rule. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection with respect to individuals who use wheelchairs, it shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29 for a person to purchase or lease any new rail passenger cars for use in intercity rail transportation, and for which a solicitation is made later than 30 days after July 26, 1990, unless all such rail cars are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, as prescribed by the Secretary of Transportation in regulations issued under section 12164 of this title.
- (B) Special rule for single-level passenger coaches for individuals who use wheelchairs. Single-level passenger coaches shall be required to
 - (i) be able to be entered by an individual who uses a wheelchair;
 - (ii) have space to park and secure a wheelchair;
 - (iii) have a seat to which a passenger in a wheelchair can transfer, and a space to fold and store such passenger's wheelchair; and
 - (iv) have a restroom usable by an individual who uses a wheelchair, only to the extent provided in paragraph (3).
- (C) Special rule for single-level dining cars for individuals who use wheelchairs. Single-level dining cars shall not be required to
 - (i) be able to be entered from the station platform by an individual who uses a wheelchair; or
 - (ii) have a restroom usable by an individual who uses a wheelchair if no restroom is provided in such car for any passenger.
- (D) Special rule for bi-level dining cars for individuals who use wheelchairs. Bi-level dining cars shall not be required to
 - (i) be able to be entered by an individual who uses a wheelchair;
 - (ii) have space to park and secure a wheelchair;
 - (iii) have a seat to which a passenger in a wheelchair can transfer, or a space to fold and store such passenger's wheelchair; or
 - (iv) have a restroom usable by an individual who uses a wheelchair.
- (3) Accessibility of single-level coaches
 - (A) General rule. It shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29 for a person who provides intercity rail transportation to fail to have on each train which includes one or more single-level rail passenger coaches
 - (i) a number of spaces
 - (I) to park and secure wheelchairs (to accommodate individuals who wish to remain in their wheelchairs) equal to not less than one-half of the number of single-level rail passenger coaches in such train; and

(II) to fold and store wheelchairs (to accommodate individuals who wish to transfer to coach seats) equal to not less than one-half of the number of single-level rail passenger coaches in such train, as soon as practicable, but in no event later than 5 years after July 26, 1990; and

(ii) a number of spaces

- (I) to park and secure wheelchairs (to accommodate individuals who wish to remain in their wheelchairs) equal to not less than the total number of single-level rail passenger coaches in such train; and
- (II) to fold and store wheelchairs (to accommodate individuals who wish to transfer to coach seats) equal to not less than the total number of single-level rail passenger coaches in such train, as soon as practicable, but in no event later than 10 years after July 26, 1990.
- (B) Location. Spaces required by subparagraph (A) shall be located in single-level rail passenger coaches or food service cars.
- (C) Limitation. Of the number of spaces required on a train by subparagraph (A), not more than two spaces to park and secure wheelchairs nor more than two spaces to fold and store wheelchairs shall be located in any one coach or food service car.
- (D) Other accessibility features. Single-level rail passenger coaches and food service cars on which the spaces required by subparagraph (a) are located shall have a restroom usable by an individual who uses a wheelchair and shall be able to be entered from the station platform by an individual who uses a wheelchair.

(4) Food service

- (A) Single-level dining cars. On any train in which a single-level dining car is used to provide food service
 - (i) if such single-level dining car was purchased after July 26, 1990, table service in such car shall be provided to a passenger who uses a wheelchair if
 - (I) the car adjacent to the end of the dining car through which a wheelchair may enter is itself accessible to a wheelchair:
 - (II) such passenger can exit to the platform from the car such passenger occupies, move down the platform, and enter the adjacent accessible car described in subclause (I) without the necessity of the train being moved within the station; and
 - (III) space to park and secure a wheelchair is available in the dining car at the time such passenger wishes to eat (if such passenger wishes to remain in a wheelchair), or space to store and fold a wheelchair is available in the dining car at the time such passenger wishes to eat (if such passenger wishes to transfer to a dining car seat); and
 - (ii) appropriate auxiliary aids and services, including a hard surface on which to eat, shall be provided to ensure that other equivalent food service is available to individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, and to passengers traveling with such individuals. Unless not practicable, a person providing intercity rail transportation shall place an accessible car adjacent to the end of a dining car described in clause (I) through which an individual who uses a wheelchair

may enter.

- (B) Bi-level dining cars. On any train in which a bi-level dining car is used to provide food service
 - (i) if such train includes a bi-level lounge car purchased after July 26, 1990, table service in such lounge car shall be provided to individuals who use wheelchairs and to other passengers; and
 - (ii) appropriate auxiliary aids and services, including a hard surface on which to eat, shall be provided to ensure that other equivalent food service is available to individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, and to passengers traveling with such individuals.

(b) Commuter rail transportation

(1) One car per train rule. It shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29 for a person who provides commuter rail transportation to fail to have at least one passenger car per train that is readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, in accordance with regulations issued under section 12164 of this title, as soon as practicable, but in no event later than 5 years after July 26, 1990.

(2) New commuter rail cars

- (A) General rule. It shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29 for a person to purchase or lease any new rail passenger cars for use in commuter rail transportation, and for which a solicitation is made later than 30 days after July 26, 1990, unless all such rail cars are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, as prescribed by the Secretary of Transportation in regulations issued under section 12164 of this title.
- (B) Accessibility. For purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29, a requirement that a rail passenger car used in commuter rail transportation be accessible to or readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, shall not be construed to require
 - (i) a restroom usable by an individual who uses a wheelchair if no restroom is provided in such car for any passenger;
 - (ii) space to fold and store a wheelchair; or
 - (iii) a seat to which a passenger who uses a wheelchair can transfer.
- (c) Used rail cars. It shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section 1132 of this title and section 794 of title 29 for a person to purchase or lease a used rail passenger car for use in intercity or commuter rail transportation, unless such person makes demonstrated good faith efforts to purchase or lease a used rail car that is readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, as prescribed by the Secretary of Transportation in regulations issued under section 12164 of this title.

(d) Remanufactured rail cars

(1) Remanufacturing. It shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29 for a person to remanufacture a rail passenger car for use

in intercity or commuter rail transportation so as to extend its usable life for 10 years or more, unless the rail car, to the maximum extent feasible, is made readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, as prescribed by the Secretary of Transportation in regulations issued under section 12164 of this title.

(2) Purchase or lease. It shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29 for a person to purchase or lease a remanufactured rail passenger car for use in intercity or commuter rail transportation unless such car was remanufactured in accordance with paragraph (1).

(e) Stations

(1) New stations. It shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29 for a person to build a new station for use in intercity or commuter rail transportation that is not readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, as prescribed by the Secretary of Transportation in regulations issued under section 12164 of this title.

(2) Existing stations

(A) Failure to make readily accessible

(i) General rule. It shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29 for a responsible person to fail to make existing stations in the intercity rail transportation system, and existing key stations in commuter rail transportation systems, readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, as prescribed by the Secretary of Transportation in regulations issued under section 12164 of this title.

(ii) Period for compliance

- (I) Intercity rail. All stations in the intercity rail transportation system shall be made readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, as soon as practicable, but in no event later than 20 years after July 26, 1990.
- (II) Commuter rail. Key stations in commuter rail transportation systems shall be made readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, as soon as practicable but in no event later than 3 years after July 26, 1990, except that the time limit may be extended by the Secretary of Transportation up to 20 years after July 26, 1990, in a case where the raising of the entire passenger platform is the only means available of attaining accessibility or where other extraordinarily expensive structural changes are necessary to attain accessibility.
- (iii) Designation of key stations. Each commuter authority shall designate the key stations in its commuter rail transportation system, in consultation with individuals with disabilities and organizations representing such individuals, taking into consideration such factors as high ridership and whether such station serves as a transfer or feeder station. Before the final designation of key stations under this clause, a commuter authority shall hold a public hearing.
- (iv) Plans and milestones. The Secretary of Transportation shall require the appropriate person to develop a plan for carrying out this subparagraph that reflects consultation with individuals with disabilities affected by such plan and that establishes milestones for achievement of the requirements of this subparagraph.

(B) Requirement when making alterations

- (i) General rule. It shall be considered discrimination, for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29, with respect to alterations of an existing station or part thereof in the intercity or commuter rail transportation systems that affect or could affect the usability of the station or part thereof, for the responsible person, owner, or person in control of the station to fail to make the alterations in such a manner that, to the maximum extent feasible, the altered portions of the station are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, upon completion of such alterations.
- (ii) Alterations to a primary function area. It shall be considered discrimination, for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29, with respect to alterations that affect or could affect the usability of or access to an area of the station containing a primary function, for the responsible person, owner, or person in control of the station to fail to make the alterations in such a manner that, to the maximum extent feasible, the path of travel to the altered area, and the bathrooms, telephones, and drinking fountains serving the altered area, are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, upon completion of such alterations, where such alterations to the path of travel or the bathrooms, telephones, and drinking fountains serving the altered area are not disproportionate to the overall alterations in terms of cost and scope (as determined under criteria established by the Attorney General).
- (C) Required cooperation. It shall be considered discrimination for purposes of section 12132 of this title and section 794 of title 29 for an owner, or person in control, of a station governed by subparagraph (a) or (b) to fail to provide reasonable cooperation to a responsible person with respect to such station in that responsible person's efforts to comply with such subparagraph. An owner, or person in control, of a station shall be liable to a responsible person for any failure to provide reasonable cooperation as required by this subparagraph. Failure to receive reasonable cooperation required by this subparagraph shall not be a defense to a claim of discrimination under this chapter.

Sec. 12163. Conformance of accessibility standards

Accessibility standards included in regulations issued under this subpart shall be consistent with the minimum guidelines issued by the Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board under section 504(a) of this title.

Sec. 12164. Regulations

Not later than 1 year after July 26, 1990, the Secretary of Transportation shall issue regulations, in an accessible format, necessary for carrying out this subpart.

Sec. 12165. Interim accessibility requirements

(a) Stations. If final regulations have not been issued pursuant to section 12164 of this title, for new construction or alterations for which a valid and appropriate State or local building permit is obtained prior to the issuance of final regulations under such section, and for which the construction or alteration authorized by such permit begins within one year of the receipt of such permit and is completed under the terms of such permit, compliance with the Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards in effect at the time the building permit is issued shall suffice to satisfy the requirement that stations be readily accessible to and usable by persons with disabilities as required under section 12162(e) of this title, except that, if such final regulations have not been issued one year after the Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board has issued the supplemental minimum guidelines required under section 12204(a) of this title, compliance

with such supplemental minimum guidelines shall be necessary to satisfy the requirement that stations be readily accessible to and usable by persons with disabilities prior to issuance of the final regulations.

(b) Rail passenger cars. If final regulations have not been issued pursuant to section 12164 of this title, a person shall be considered to have complied with the requirements of section 12162(a) through (d) of this title that a rail passenger car be readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, if the design for such car complies with the laws and regulations (including the Minimum Guidelines and Requirements for Accessible Design and such supplemental minimum guidelines as are issued under section 12204(a) of this title) governing accessibility of such cars, to the extent that such laws and regulations are not inconsistent with this subpart and are in effect at the time such design is substantially completed.

SUBCHAPTER III - PUBLIC ACCOMMODATIONS AND SERVICES OPERATED BY PRIVATE ENTITIES

Sec. 12181. Definitions

As used in this subchapter:

- (1) Commerce. The term "commerce" means travel, trade, traffic, commerce, transportation, or communications
 - (A) among the several States;
 - (B) between any foreign country or any territory or possession and any State; or
 - (C) between points in the same State but through another State or foreign country.
- (2) Commercial facilities. The term "commercial facilities" means facilities
 - (A) that are intended for nonresidential use; and
 - (B) whose operations will affect commerce.

Such term shall not include railroad locomotives, railroad freight cars, railroad cabooses, railroad cars described in section 12162 of this title or covered under this subchapter, railroad rights-of-way, or facilities that are covered or expressly exempted from coverage under the Fair Housing Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. 3601 et seq.).

- (3) Demand responsive system. The term "demand responsive system" means any system of providing transportation of individuals by a vehicle, other than a system which is a fixed route system.
- (4) Fixed route system. The term "fixed route system" means a system of providing transportation of individuals (other than by aircraft) on which a vehicle is operated along a prescribed route according to a fixed schedule.
- (5) Over-the-road bus. The term "over-the-road bus" means a bus characterized by an elevated passenger deck located over a baggage compartment.
- (6) Private entity. The term "private entity" means any entity other than a public entity (as defined in section 12131(1) of this title).
- (7) Public accommodation. The following private entities are considered public accommodations for purposes of this subchapter, if the operations of such entities affect

commerce

- (A) an inn, hotel, motel, or other place of lodging, except for an establishment located within a building that contains not more than five rooms for rent or hire and that is actually occupied by the proprietor of such establishment as the residence of such proprietor;
- (B) a restaurant, bar, or other establishment serving food or drink;
- (C) a motion picture house, theater, concert hall, stadium, or other place of exhibition entertainment;
- (D) an auditorium, convention center, lecture hall, or other place of public gathering;
- (E) a bakery, grocery store, clothing store, hardware store, shopping center, or other sales or rental establishment:
- (F) a laundromat, dry-cleaner, bank, barber shop, beauty shop, travel service, shoe repair service, funeral parlor, gas station, office of an accountant or lawyer, pharmacy, insurance office, professional office of a health care provider, hospital, or other service establishment;
- (G) a terminal, depot, or other station used for specified public transportation;
- (H) a museum, library, gallery, or other place of public display or collection;
- (I) a park, zoo, amusement park, or other place of recreation;
- (J) a nursery, elementary, secondary, undergraduate, or postgraduate private school, or other place of education;
- (K) a day care center, senior citizen center, homeless shelter, food bank, adoption agency, or other social service center establishment; and
- (L) a gymnasium, health spa, bowling alley, golf course, or other place of exercise or recreation.
- (8) Rail and railroad. The terms "rail" and "railroad" have the meaning given the term "railroad" in section 20102[1] of title 49.
- (9) Readily achievable. The term "readily achievable" means easily accomplishable and able to be carried out without much difficulty or expense. In determining whether an action is readily achievable, factors to be considered include
 - (A) the nature and cost of the action needed under this chapter;
 - (B) the overall financial resources of the facility or facilities involved in the action; the number of persons employed at such facility; the effect on expenses and resources, or the impact otherwise of such action upon the operation of the facility;
 - (C) the overall financial resources of the covered entity; the overall size of the business of a covered entity with respect to the number of its employees; the number, type, and location of its facilities; and
 - (D) the type of operation or operations of the covered entity, including the composition, structure, and functions of the workforce of such entity; the geographic separateness, administrative or fiscal relationship of the facility or facilities in question to the covered

entity.

- (10) Specified public transportation. The term "specified public transportation" means transportation by bus, rail, or any other conveyance (other than by aircraft) that provides the general public with general or special service (including charter service) on a regular and continuing basis.
- (11) Vehicle. The term "vehicle" does not include a rail passenger car, railroad locomotive, railroad freight car, railroad caboose, or a railroad car described in section 12162 of this title or covered under this subchapter.

Sec. 12182. Prohibition of discrimination by public accommodations

(a) General rule. No individual shall be discriminated against on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place of public accommodation by any person who owns, leases (or leases to), or operates a place of public accommodation.

(b) Construction

(1) General prohibition

(A) Activities

- (i) Denial of participation. It shall be discriminatory to subject an individual or class of individuals on the basis of a disability or disabilities of such individual or class, directly, or through contractual, licensing, or other arrangements, to a denial of the opportunity of the individual or class to participate in or benefit from the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations of an entity.
- (ii) Participation in unequal benefit. It shall be discriminatory to afford an individual or class of individuals, on the basis of a disability or disabilities of such individual or class, directly, or through contractual, licensing, or other arrangements with the opportunity to participate in or benefit from a good, service, facility, privilege, advantage, or accommodation that is not equal to that afforded to other individuals.
- (iii) Separate benefit. It shall be discriminatory to provide an individual or class of individuals, on the basis of a disability or disabilities of such individual or class, directly, or through contractual, licensing, or other arrangements with a good, service, facility, privilege, advantage, or accommodation that is different or separate from that provided to other individuals, unless such action is necessary to provide the individual or class of individuals with a good, service, facility, privilege, advantage, or accommodation, or other opportunity that is as effective as that provided to others.
- (iv) Individual or class of individuals. For purposes of clauses (i) through (iii) of this subparagraph, the term "individual or class of individuals" refers to the clients or customers of the covered public accommodation that enters into the contractual, licensing or other arrangement.
- (B) Integrated settings. Goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, and accommodations shall be afforded to an individual with a disability in the most integrated setting appropriate to the needs of the individual.
- (C) Opportunity to participate. Notwithstanding the existence of separate or different programs or activities provided in accordance with this section, an individual with a disability shall not be denied the opportunity to participate in such programs or activities

that are not separate or different.

- (D) Administrative methods. An individual or entity shall not, directly or through contractual or other arrangements, utilize standards or criteria or methods of administration
 - (i) that have the effect of discriminating on the basis of disability; or
 - (ii) that perpetuate the discrimination of others who are subject to common administrative control.
- (E) Association. It shall be discriminatory to exclude or otherwise deny equal goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, accommodations, or other opportunities to an individual or entity because of the known disability of an individual with whom the individual or entity is known to have a relationship or association.

(2) Specific prohibitions

- (A) Discrimination. For purposes of subsection (a) of this section, discrimination includes
 - (i) the imposition or application of eligibility criteria that screen out or tend to screen out an individual with a disability or any class of individuals with disabilities from fully and equally enjoying any goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations, unless such criteria can be shown to be necessary for the provision of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations being offered:
 - (ii) a failure to make reasonable modifications in policies, practices, or procedures, when such modifications are necessary to afford such goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations to individuals with disabilities, unless the entity can demonstrate that making such modifications would fundamentally alter the nature of such goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations;
 - (iii) a failure to take such steps as may be necessary to ensure that no individual with a disability is excluded, denied services, segregated or otherwise treated differently than other individuals because of the absence of auxiliary aids and services, unless the entity can demonstrate that taking such steps would fundamentally alter the nature of the good, service, facility, privilege, advantage, or accommodation being offered or would result in an undue burden;
 - (iv) a failure to remove architectural barriers, and communication barriers that are structural in nature, in existing facilities, and transportation barriers in existing vehicles and rail passenger cars used by an establishment for transporting individuals (not including barriers that can only be removed through the retrofitting of vehicles or rail passenger cars by the installation of a hydraulic or other lift), where such removal is readily achievable; and
 - (v) where an entity can demonstrate that the removal of a barrier under clause (iv) is not readily achievable, a failure to make such goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations available through alternative methods if such methods are readily achievable.

(B) Fixed route system

(i) Accessibility. It shall be considered discrimination for a private entity which operates a fixed route system and which is not subject to section 12184 of this title to

purchase or lease a vehicle with a seating capacity in excess of 16 passengers (including the driver) for use on such system, for which a solicitation is made after the 30th day following the effective date of this subparagraph, that is not readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs.

- (ii) Equivalent service. If a private entity which operates a fixed route system and which is not subject to section 12184 of this title purchases or leases a vehicle with a seating capacity of 16 passengers or less (including the driver) for use on such system after the effective date of this subparagraph that is not readily accessible to or usable by individuals with disabilities, it shall be considered discrimination for such entity to fail to operate such system so that, when viewed in its entirety, such system ensures a level of service to individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, equivalent to the level of service provided to individuals without disabilities.
- (C) Demand responsive system. For purposes of subsection (a) of this section, discrimination includes
 - (i) a failure of a private entity which operates a demand responsive system and which
 is not subject to section 12184 of this title to operate such system so that, when
 viewed in its entirety, such system ensures a level of service to individuals with
 disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs, equivalent to the level of
 service provided to individuals without disabilities; and
 - (ii) the purchase or lease by such entity for use on such system of a vehicle with a seating capacity in excess of 16 passengers (including the driver), for which solicitations are made after the 30th day following the effective date of this subparagraph, that is not readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities (including individuals who use wheelchairs) unless such entity can demonstrate that such system, when viewed in its entirety, provides a level of service to individuals with disabilities equivalent to that provided to individuals without disabilities.

(D) Over-the-road buses

- (i) Limitation on applicability. Subparagraphs (B) and (C) do not apply to over-the-road buses.
- (ii) Accessibility requirements. For purposes of subsection (a) of this section, discrimination includes
 - (I) the purchase or lease of an over-the-road bus which does not comply with the regulations issued under section 12186(a)(2) of this title by a private entity which provides transportation of individuals and which is not primarily engaged in the business of transporting people, and
 - (II) any other failure of such entity to comply with such regulations.
- (3) Specific construction. Nothing in this subchapter shall require an entity to permit an individual to participate in or benefit from the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages and accommodations of such entity where such individual poses a direct threat to the health or safety of others. The term "direct threat" means a significant risk to the health or safety of others that cannot be eliminated by a modification of policies, practices, or procedures or by the provision of auxiliary aids or services.

Sec. 12183. New construction and alterations in public accommodations and commercial facilities

- (a) Application of term. Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, as applied to public accommodations and commercial facilities, discrimination for purposes of section 12182(a) of this title includes
 - (1) a failure to design and construct facilities for first occupancy later than 30 months after July 26, 1990, that are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, except where an entity can demonstrate that it is structurally impracticable to meet the requirements of such subsection in accordance with standards set forth or incorporated by reference in regulations issued under this subchapter; and
 - (2) with respect to a facility or part thereof that is altered by, on behalf of, or for the use of an establishment in a manner that affects or could affect the usability of the facility or part thereof, a failure to make alterations in such a manner that, to the maximum extent feasible, the altered portions of the facility are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs. Where the entity is undertaking an alteration that affects or could affect usability of or access to an area of the facility containing a primary function, the entity shall also make the alterations in such a manner that, to the maximum extent feasible, the path of travel to the altered area and the bathrooms, telephones, and drinking fountains serving the altered area, are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities where such alterations to the path of travel or the bathrooms, telephones, and drinking fountains serving the altered area are not disproportionate to the overall alterations in terms of cost and scope (as determined under criteria established by the Attorney General).
- (b) Elevator. Subsection (a) of this section shall not be construed to require the installation of an elevator for facilities that are less than three stories or have less than 3,000 square feet per story unless the building is a shopping center, a shopping mall, or the professional office of a health care provider or unless the Attorney General determines that a particular category of such facilities requires the installation of elevators based on the usage of such facilities.

Sec. 12184. Prohibition of discrimination in specified public transportation services provided by private entities

- (a) General rule. No individual shall be discriminated against on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of specified public transportation services provided by a private entity that is primarily engaged in the business of transporting people and whose operations affect commerce.
- (b) Construction. For purposes of subsection (a) of this section, discrimination includes
 - (1) the imposition or application by an entity described in subsection (a) of eligibility criteria that screen out or tend to screen out an individual with a disability or any class of individuals with disabilities from fully enjoying the specified public transportation services provided by the entity, unless such criteria can be shown to be necessary for the provision of the services being offered;
 - (2) the failure of such entity to
 - (A) make reasonable modifications consistent with those required under section 12182(b)(2)(A)(ii) of this title;
 - (B) provide auxiliary aids and services consistent with the requirements of section 12182(b)(2)(A)(iii) of this title; and
 - (C) remove barriers consistent with the requirements of section 12182(b)(2)(A) of this title

and with the requirements of section 12183(a)(2) of this title;

- (3) the purchase or lease by such entity of a new vehicle (other than an automobile, a van with a seating capacity of less than 8 passengers, including the driver, or an over- the-road bus) which is to be used to provide specified public transportation and for which a solicitation is made after the 30th day following the effective date of this section, that is not readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs; except that the new vehicle need not be readily accessible to and usable by such individuals if the new vehicle is to be used solely in a demand responsive system and if the entity can demonstrate that such system, when viewed in its entirety, provides a level of service to such individuals equivalent to the level of service provided to the general public;
- (4) (A) the purchase or lease by such entity of an over-the-road bus which does not comply with the regulations issued under section 12186(a)(2) of this title; and
 - (B) any other failure of such entity to comply with such regulations; and
- (5) the purchase or lease by such entity of a new van with a seating capacity of less than 8 passengers, including the driver, which is to be used to provide specified public transportation and for which a solicitation is made after the 30th day following the effective date of this section that is not readily accessible to or usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs; except that the new van need not be readily accessible to and usable by such individuals if the entity can demonstrate that the system for which the van is being purchased or leased, when viewed in its entirety, provides a level of service to such individuals equivalent to the level of service provided to the general public;
- (6) the purchase or lease by such entity of a new rail passenger car that is to be used to provide specified public transportation, and for which a solicitation is made later than 30 days after the effective date of this paragraph, that is not readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs; and
- (7) the remanufacture by such entity of a rail passenger car that is to be used to provide specified public transportation so as to extend its usable life for 10 years or more, or the purchase or lease by such entity of such a rail car, unless the rail car, to the maximum extent feasible, is made readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs.
- (c) Historical or antiquated cars
 - (1) Exception. To the extent that compliance with subsection (a)(2)© or (a)(7)of this section would significantly alter the historic or antiquated character of a historical or antiquated rail passenger car, or a rail station served exclusively by such cars, or would result in violation of any rule, regulation, standard, or order issued by the Secretary of Transportation under the Federal Railroad Safety Act of 1970, such compliance shall not be required.
 - (2) Definition. As used in this subsection, the term "historical or antiquated rail passenger car" means a rail passenger car
 - (A) which is not less than 30 years old at the time of its use for transporting individuals;
 - (B) the manufacturer of which is no longer in the business of manufacturing rail passenger cars; and
 - (C) which
 - (i) has a consequential association with events or persons significant to the past; or

(ii) embodies, or is being restored to embody, the distinctive characteristics of a type of rail passenger car used in the past, or to represent a time period which has passed.

Sec. 12185. Study

- (a) Purposes. The Office of Technology Assessment shall undertake a study to determine
 - (1) the access needs of individuals with disabilities to over-the-road buses and over-the- road bus service; and
 - (2) the most cost-effective methods for providing access to over-the-road buses and over-the-road bus service to individuals with disabilities, particularly individuals who use wheelchairs, through all forms of boarding options.
- (b) Contents. The study shall include, at a minimum, an analysis of the following:
 - (1) The anticipated demand by individuals with disabilities for accessible over-the-road buses and over-the-road bus service.
 - (2) The degree to which such buses and service, including any service required under sections 12184(a)(4) and 12186(a)(2) of this title, are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities.
 - (3) The effectiveness of various methods of providing accessibility to such buses and service to individuals with disabilities.
 - (4) The cost of providing accessible over-the-road buses and bus service to individuals with disabilities, including consideration of recent technological and cost saving developments in equipment and devices.
 - (5) Possible design changes in over-the-road buses that could enhance accessibility, including the installation of accessible restrooms which do not result in a loss of seating capacity.
 - (6) The impact of accessibility requirements on the continuation of over-the-road bus service, with particular consideration of the impact of such requirements on such service to rural communities.
- (c) Advisory committee. In conducting the study required by subsection (a) of this section, the Office of Technology Assessment shall establish an advisory committee, which shall consist of
 - (1) members selected from among private operators and manufacturers of over-the-road buses;
 - (2) members selected from among individuals with disabilities, particularly individuals who use wheelchairs, who are potential riders of such buses; and
 - (3) members selected for their technical expertise on issues included in the study, including manufacturers of boarding assistance equipment and devices.

The number of members selected under each of paragraphs (1) and (2) shall be equal, and the total number of members selected under paragraphs (1) and (2) shall exceed the number of members selected under paragraph (3).

(d) Deadline. The study required by subsection (a) of this section, along with recommendations by the Office of Technology Assessment, including any policy options for legislative action, shall

be submitted to the President and Congress within 36 months after July 26, 1990. If the President determines that compliance with the regulations issued pursuant to section 12186(a)(2)(B) of this title on or before the applicable deadlines specified in section 12186(a)(2)(B) of this title will result in a significant reduction in intercity over-the-road bus service, the President shall extend each such deadline by 1 year.

(e) Review. In developing the study required by subsection (a) of this section, the Office of Technology Assessment shall provide a preliminary draft of such study to the Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board established under section 792 of title 29. The Board shall have an opportunity to comment on such draft study, and any such comments by the Board made in writing within 120 days after the Board's receipt of the draft study shall be incorporated as part of the final study required to be submitted under subsection (d) of this section.

Sec. 12186. Regulations

(a) Transportation provisions

- (1) General rule. Not later than 1 year after July 26, 1990, the Secretary of Transportation shall issue regulations in an accessible format to carry out sections12182 (b)(2)(B) and (C) of this title and to carry out section 12184 of this title (other than subsection (a)(4)).
- (2) Special rules for providing access to over-the-road buses

(A) Interim requirements

- (i) Issuance. Not later than 1 year after July 26, 1990, the Secretary of Transportation shall issue regulations in an accessible format to carry out sections 12184(b)(4) and 12182(b)(2)(D)(ii) of this title that require each private entity which uses an over-the-road bus to provide transportation of individuals to provide accessibility to such bus; except that such regulations shall not require any structural changes in over-the-road buses in order to provide access to individuals who use wheelchairs during the effective period of such regulations and shall not require the purchase of boarding assistance devices to provide access to such individuals.
- (ii) Effective period. The regulations issued pursuant to this subparagraph shall be effective until the effective date of the regulations issued under subparagraph (a).

(B) Final requirement

- (i) Review of study and interim requirements. The Secretary shall review the study submitted under section 12185 of this title and the regulations issued pursuant to subparagraph (A).
- (ii) Issuance. Not later than 1 year after the date of the submission of the study under section 12185 of this title, the Secretary shall issue in an accessible format new regulations to carry out sections 12184(b)(4) and 12182(b)(2)(D)(ii) of this title that require, taking into account the purposes of the study under section 12185 of this title and any recommendations resulting from such study, each private entity which uses an over-the-road bus to provide transportation to individuals to provide accessibility to such bus to individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs.
- (iii) Effective period. Subject to section 12185(d) of this title, the regulations issued pursuant to this subparagraph shall take effect
 - (I) with respect to small providers of transportation (as defined by the Secretary), 3 years after the date of issuance of final regulations under clause (ii); and

- (II) with respect to other providers of transportation, 2 years after the date of issuance of such final regulations.
- (C) Limitation on requiring installation of accessible restrooms. The regulations issued pursuant to this paragraph shall not require the installation of accessible restrooms in over-the-road buses if such installation would result in a loss of seating capacity.
- (3) Standards. The regulations issued pursuant to this subsection shall include standards applicable to facilities and vehicles covered by sections 12182(b) (2) and 12184 of this title.
- (b) Other provisions. Not later than 1 year after July 26, 1990, the Attorney General shall issue regulations in an accessible format to carry out the provisions of this subchapter not referred to in subsection (a) of this section that include standards applicable to facilities and vehicles covered under section 12182 of this title.
- (c) Consistency with ATBCB guidelines. Standards included in regulations issued under subsections (a) and (b) of this section shall be consistent with the minimum guidelines and requirements issued by the Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board in accordance with section 12204 of this title.

(d) Interim accessibility standards

- (1) Facilities. If final regulations have not been issued pursuant to this section, for new construction or alterations for which a valid and appropriate State or local building permit is obtained prior to the issuance of final regulations under this section, and for which the construction or alteration authorized by such permit begins within one year of the receipt of such permit and is completed under the terms of such permit, compliance with the Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards in effect at the time the building permit is issued shall suffice to satisfy the requirement that facilities be readily accessible to and usable by persons with disabilities as required under section 12183 of this title, except that, if such final regulations have not been issued one year after the Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board has issued the supplemental minimum guidelines required under section 12204(a) of this title, compliance with such supplemental minimum guidelines shall be necessary to satisfy the requirement that facilities be readily accessible to and usable by persons with disabilities prior to issuance of the final regulations.
- (2) Vehicles and rail passenger cars. If final regulations have not been issued pursuant to this section, a private entity shall be considered to have complied with the requirements of this subchapter, if any, that a vehicle or rail passenger car be readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, if the design for such vehicle or car complies with the laws and regulations (including the Minimum Guidelines and Requirements for Accessible Design and such supplemental minimum guidelines as are issued under section 12204(a) of this title) governing accessibility of such vehicles or cars, to the extent that such laws and regulations are not inconsistent with this subchapter and are in effect at the time such design is substantially completed.

Sec. 12187. Exemptions for private clubs and religious organizations

The provisions of this subchapter shall not apply to private clubs or establishments exempted from coverage under title II of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 2000-a(e)) or to religious organizations or entities controlled by religious organizations, including places of worship.

Sec. 12188. Enforcement

(a) In general

- (1) Availability of remedies and procedures. The remedies and procedures set forth in section 2000a-3(a) of this title are the remedies and procedures this subchapter provides to any person who is being subjected to discrimination on the basis of disability in violation of this subchapter or who has reasonable grounds for believing that such person is about to be subjected to discrimination in violation of section 12183 of this title. Nothing in this section shall require a person with a disability to engage in a futile gesture if such person has actual notice that a person or organization covered by this subchapter does not intend to comply with its provisions.
- (2) Injunctive relief. In the case of violations of sections 12182(b)(2)(A)(iv) and Section 12183(a) of this title, injunctive relief shall include an order to alter facilities to make such facilities readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities to the extent required by this subchapter. Where appropriate, injunctive relief shall also include requiring the provision of an auxiliary aid or service, modification of a policy, or provision of alternative methods, to the extent required by this subchapter.
- (b) Enforcement by Attorney General
 - (1) Denial of rights
 - (A) Duty to investigate
 - (i) In general. The Attorney General shall investigate alleged violations of this subchapter, and shall undertake periodic reviews of compliance of covered entities under this subchapter.
 - (ii) Attorney General certification. On the application of a State or local government, the Attorney General may, in consultation with the Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board, and after prior notice and a public hearing at which persons, including individuals with disabilities, are provided an opportunity to testify against such certification, certify that a State law or local building code or similar ordinance that establishes accessibility requirements meets or exceeds the minimum requirements of this chapter for the accessibility and usability of covered facilities under this subchapter. At any enforcement proceeding under this section, such certification by the Attorney General shall be rebuttable evidence that such State law or local ordinance does meet or exceed the minimum requirements of this chapter.
 - (B) Potential violation. If the Attorney General has reasonable cause to believe that
 - (i) any person or group of persons is engaged in a pattern or practice of discrimination under this subchapter; or
 - (ii) any person or group of persons has been discriminated against under this subchapter and such discrimination raises an issue of general public importance,

the Attorney General may commence a civil action in any appropriate United States district court.

- (2) Authority of court. In a civil action under paragraph (1) (B), the court
 - (A) may grant any equitable relief that such court considers to be appropriate, including, to the extent required by this subchapter
 - (i) granting temporary, preliminary, or permanent relief;
 - (ii) providing an auxiliary aid or service, modification of policy, practice, or procedure,

or alternative method; and

- (iii) making facilities readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities;
- (B) may award such other relief as the court considers to be appropriate, including monetary damages to persons aggrieved when requested by the Attorney General; and
- (C) may, to vindicate the public interest, assess a civil penalty against the entity in an amount
 - (i) not exceeding \$50,000 for a first violation; and
 - (ii) not exceeding \$100,000 for any subsequent violation.
- (3) Single violation. For purposes of paragraph (2) (C), in determining whether a first or subsequent violation has occurred, a determination in a single action, by judgment or settlement, that the covered entity has engaged in more than one discriminatory act shall be counted as a single violation.
- (4) Punitive damages. For purposes of subsection (b) (2) (B) of this section, the term "monetary damages" and "such other relief" does not include punitive damages.
- (5) Judicial consideration. In a civil action under paragraph (1)(B), the court, when considering what amount of civil penalty, if any, is appropriate, shall give consideration to any good faith effort or attempt to comply with this chapter by the entity. In evaluating good faith, the court shall consider, among other factors it deems relevant, whether the entity could have reasonably anticipated the need for an appropriate type of auxiliary aid needed to accommodate the unique needs of a particular individual with a disability.

Sec. 12189. Examinations and courses

Any person that offers examinations or courses related to applications, licensing, certification, or credentialing for secondary or postsecondary education, professional, or trade purposes shall offer such examinations or courses in a place and manner accessible to persons with disabilities or offer alternative accessible arrangements for such individuals.

SUBCHAPTER IV - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Sec. 12201. Construction

- (a) In general. Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, nothing in this chapter shall be construed to apply a lesser standard than the standards applied under title V of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 790 et seq.) or the regulations issued by Federal agencies pursuant to such title.
- (b) Relationship to other laws. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to invalidate or limit the remedies, rights, and procedures of any Federal law or law of any State or political subdivision of any State or jurisdiction that provides greater or equal protection for the rights of individuals with disabilities than are afforded by this chapter. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to preclude the prohibition of, or the imposition of restrictions on, smoking in places of employment covered by subchapter I of this chapter, in transportation covered by subchapter III of this chapter.
- (c) Insurance. Subchapters I through III of this chapter and title IV of this Act shall not be construed to prohibit or restrict

- (1) an insurer, hospital or medical service company, health maintenance organization, or any agent, or entity that administers benefit plans, or similar organizations from underwriting risks, classifying risks, or administering such risks that are based on or not inconsistent with State law: or
- (2) a person or organization covered by this chapter from establishing, sponsoring, observing or administering the terms of a bona fide benefit plan that are based on underwriting risks, classifying risks, or administering such risks that are based on or not inconsistent with State law; or
- (3) a person or organization covered by this chapter from establishing, sponsoring, observing or administering the terms of a bona fide benefit plan that is not subject to State laws that regulate insurance.

Paragraphs (1), (2), and (3) shall not be used as a subterfuge to evade the purposes of subchapter I and III of this chapter.

- (d) Accommodations and services. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to require an individual with a disability to accept an accommodation, aid, service, opportunity, or benefit which such individual chooses not to accept.
- (e) Benefits under State worker's compensation laws. Nothing in this chapter alters the standards for determining eligibility for benefits under State worker's compensation laws or under State and Federal disability benefit programs.
- (f) Fundamental alteration. Nothing in this chapter alters the provision of section 12182(b)(2)(A)(ii), specifying that reasonable modifications in policies, practices, or procedures shall be required, unless an entity can demonstrate that making such modifications in policies, practices, or procedures, including academic requirements in postsecondary education, would fundamentally alter the nature of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations involved.
- (g) Claims of no disability. Nothing in this chapter shall provide the basis for a claim by an individual without a disability that the individual was subject to discrimination because of the individual's lack of disability.
- (h) Reasonable accommodations and modifications. A covered entity under subchapter I, a public entity under subchapter II, and any person who owns, leases (or leases to), or operates a place of public accommodation under subchapter III, need not provide a reasonable accommodation or a reasonable modification to policies, practices, or procedures to an individual who meets the definition of disability in section 12102(1) solely under subparagraph (C) of such section.

Sec. 12202. State immunity

A State shall not be immune under the eleventh amendment to the Constitution of the United States from an action in Federal or State court of competent jurisdiction for a violation of this chapter. In any action against a State for a violation of the requirements of this chapter, remedies (including remedies both at law and in equity) are available for such a violation to the same extent as such remedies are available for such a violation in an action against any public or private entity other than a State.

Sec. 12203. Prohibition against retaliation and coercion

(a) Retaliation. No person shall discriminate against any individual because such individual has opposed any act or practice made unlawful by this chapter or because such individual made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under this chapter.

- (b) Interference, coercion, or intimidation. It shall be unlawful to coerce, intimidate, threaten, or interfere with any individual in the exercise or enjoyment of, or on account of his or her having exercised or enjoyed, or on account of his or her having aided or encouraged any other individual in the exercise or enjoyment of, any right granted or protected by this chapter.
- (c) Remedies and procedures. The remedies and procedures available under sections 12117, 12133, and 12188 of this title shall be available to aggrieved persons for violations of subsections (a) and (b) of this section, with respect to subchapter I, subchapter II and subchapter III of this chapter, respectively.

Sec. 12204. Regulations by Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board

- (a) Issuance of guidelines. Not later than 9 months after July 26, 1990, the Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board shall issue minimum guidelines that shall supplement the existing Minimum Guidelines and Requirements for Accessible Design for purposes of subchapters II and III of this chapter.
- (b) Contents of guidelines. The supplemental guidelines issued under subsection (a) of this section shall establish additional requirements, consistent with this chapter, to ensure that buildings, facilities, rail passenger cars, and vehicles are accessible, in terms of architecture and design, transportation, and communication, to individuals with disabilities.

(c) Qualified historic properties

- (1) In general. The supplemental guidelines issued under subsection (a) of this section shall include procedures and requirements for alterations that will threaten or destroy the historic significance of qualified historic buildings and facilities as defined in 4.1.7(1)(a) of the Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards.
- (2) Sites eligible for listing in National Register. With respect to alterations of buildings or facilities that are eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places under the National Historic Preservation Act (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.), the guidelines described in paragraph (1) shall, at a minimum, maintain the procedures and requirements established in 4.1.7(1) and (2) of the Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards.
- (3) Other sites. With respect to alterations of buildings or facilities designated as historic under State or local law, the guidelines described in paragraph (1) shall establish procedures equivalent to those established by 4.1.7(1)(b) and (c) of the Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards, and shall require, at a minimum, compliance with the requirements established in 4.1.7(2) of such standards.

Sec. 12205. Attorney's fees

In any action or administrative proceeding commenced pursuant to this chapter, the court or agency, in its discretion, may allow the prevailing party, other than the United States, a reasonable attorney's fee, including litigation expenses, and costs, and the United States shall be liable for the foregoing the same as a private individual.

Sec. 12205a. Rule of Construction Regarding Regulatory Authority

The authority to issue regulations granted to the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Attorney General, and the Secretary of Transportation under this chapter includes the authority to issue regulations implementing the definitions of disability in section 12102 (including rules of construction) and the definitions in section 12103, consistent with the ADA Amendments Act of 2008.

Sec. 12206. Technical assistance

(a) Plan for assistance

- (1) In general. Not later than 180 days after July 26, 1990, the Attorney General, in consultation with the Chair of the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Secretary of Transportation, the Chair of the Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board, and the Chairman of the Federal Communications Commission, shall develop a plan to assist entities covered under this chapter, and other Federal agencies, in understanding the responsibility of such entities and agencies under this chapter.
- (2) Publication of plan. The Attorney General shall publish the plan referred to in paragraph (1) for public comment in accordance with subchapter II of chapter 5 of title 5 (commonly known as the Administrative Procedure Act).
- (b) Agency and public assistance. The Attorney General may obtain the assistance of other Federal agencies in carrying out subsection (a) of this section, including the National Council on Disability, the President's Committee on Employment of People with Disabilities, the Small Business Administration, and the Department of Commerce.

(c) Implementation

- (1) Rendering assistance. Each Federal agency that has responsibility under paragraph (2) for implementing this chapter may render technical assistance to individuals and institutions that have rights or duties under the respective subchapter or subchapters of this chapter for which such agency has responsibility.
- (2) Implementation of subchapters
 - (A) Subchapter I. The Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and the Attorney General shall implement the plan for assistance developed under subsection (a) of this section, for subchapter I of this chapter.
 - (B) Subchapter II
 - (i) Part A. The Attorney General shall implement such plan for assistance for part A of subchapter II of this chapter.
 - (ii) Part B. The Secretary of Transportation shall implement such plan for assistance for part B of subchapter II of this chapter.
 - (C) Subchapter III. The Attorney General, in coordination with the Secretary of Transportation and the Chair of the Architectural Transportation Barriers Compliance Board, shall implement such plan for assistance for subchapter III of this chapter, except for section 12184 of this title, the plan for assistance for which shall be implemented by the Secretary of Transportation.
 - (D) Title IV. The Chairman of the Federal Communications Commission, in coordination with the Attorney General, shall implement such plan for assistance for title IV.
- (3) Technical assistance manuals. Each Federal agency that has responsibility under paragraph (2) for implementing this chapter shall, as part of its implementation responsibilities, ensure the availability and provision of appropriate technical assistance manuals to individuals or entities with rights or duties under this chapter no later than six months after applicable final regulations are published under subchapters I, II, and III of this chapter and title IV.

(d) Grants and contracts

- (1) In general. Each Federal agency that has responsibility under subsection (2) of this section for implementing this chapter may make grants or award contracts to effectuate the purposes of this section, subject to the availability of appropriations. Such grants and contracts may be awarded to individuals, institutions not organized for profit and no part of the net earnings of which inures to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual (including educational institutions), and associations representing individuals who have rights or duties under this chapter. Contracts may be awarded to entities organized for profit, but such entities may not be the recipients or grants described in this paragraph.
- (2) Dissemination of information. Such grants and contracts, among other uses, may be designed to ensure wide dissemination of information about the rights and duties established by this chapter and to provide information and technical assistance about techniques for effective compliance with this chapter.
- (e) Failure to receive assistance. An employer, public accommodation, or other entity covered under this chapter shall not be excused from compliance with the requirements of this chapter because of any failure to receive technical assistance under this section, including any failure in the development or dissemination of any technical assistance manual authorized by this section.

Sec. 12207. Federal wilderness areas

- (a) Study. The National Council on Disability shall conduct a study and report on the effect that wilderness designations and wilderness land management practices have on the ability of individuals with disabilities to use and enjoy the National Wilderness Preservation System as established under the Wilderness Act (16 U.S.C. 1131 et seq.).
- (b) Submission of report. Not later than 1 year after July 26, 1990, the National Council on Disability shall submit the report required under subsection (a) of this section to Congress.
- (c) Specific wilderness access
 - (1) In general. Congress reaffirms that nothing in the Wilderness Act (16 U.S.C. 1131 et seq.) is to be construed as prohibiting the use of a wheelchair in a wilderness area by an individual whose disability requires use of a wheelchair, and consistent with the Wilderness Act no agency is required to provide any form of special treatment or accommodation, or to construct any facilities or modify any conditions of lands within a wilderness area in order to facilitate such use.
 - (2) "Wheelchair" defined. For purposes of paragraph (1), the term "wheelchair" means a device designed solely for use by a mobility-impaired person for locomotion, that is suitable for use in an indoor pedestrian area.

Sec. 12208. Transvestites

For the purposes of this chapter, the term "disabled" or "disability" shall not apply to an individual solely because that individual is a transvestite.

Sec. 12209. Instrumentalities of Congress

The General Accounting Office, the Government Printing Office, and the Library of Congress shall be covered as follows:

- (1) In general. The rights and protections under this chapter shall, subject to paragraph (2), apply with respect to the conduct of each instrumentality of the Congress.
- (2) Establishment of remedies and procedures by instrumentalities. The chief official of each

instrumentality of the Congress shall establish remedies and procedures to be utilized with respect to the rights and protections provided pursuant to paragraph (1).

- (3) Report to Congress. The chief official of each instrumentality of the Congress shall, after establishing remedies and procedures for purposes of paragraph (2), submit to the Congress a report describing the remedies and procedures.
- (4) Definition of instrumentalities. For purposes of this section, the term "instrumentality of the Congress" means the following: the General Accounting Office, the Government Printing Office, and the Library of Congress.
- (5) Enforcement of employment rights. The remedies and procedures set forth in section 2000e -16 of this title shall be available to any employee of an instrumentality of the Congress who alleges a violation of the rights and protections under sections 12112 through 12114 of this title that are made applicable by this section, except that the authorities of the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission shall be exercised by the chief official of the instrumentality of the Congress.
- (6) Enforcement of rights to public services and accommodations. The remedies and procedures set forth in section 2000e -16 of this title shall be available to any qualified person with a disability who is a visitor, guest, or patron of an instrumentality of Congress and who alleges a violation of the rights and protections under sections 12131 through 12150 of this title or section 12182 or 12183 of this title that are made applicable by this section, except that the authorities of the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission shall be exercised by the chief official of the instrumentality of the Congress.
- (7) Construction. Nothing in this section shall alter the enforcement procedures for individuals with disabilities provided in the General Accounting Office Personnel Act of 1980 and regulations promulgated pursuant to that Act.

Sec. 12210. Illegal use of drugs

- (a) In general. For purposes of this chapter, the term "individual with a disability" does not include an individual who is currently engaging in the illegal use of drugs, when the covered entity acts on the basis of such use.
- (b) Rules of construction. Nothing in subsection (a) of this section shall be construed to exclude as an individual with a disability an individual who
 - (1) has successfully completed a supervised drug rehabilitation program and is no longer engaging in the illegal use of drugs, or has otherwise been rehabilitated successfully and is no longer engaging in such use;
 - (2) is participating in a supervised rehabilitation program and is no longer engaging in such use: or
 - (3) is erroneously regarded as engaging in such use, but is not engaging in such use;
 - except that it shall not be a violation of this chapter for a covered entity to adopt or administer reasonable policies or procedures, including but not limited to drug testing, designed to ensure that an individual described in paragraph (1) or (2) is no longer engaging in the illegal use of drugs; however, nothing in this section shall be construed to encourage, prohibit, restrict, or authorize the conducting of testing for the illegal use of drugs.
- (c) Health and other services. Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section and section 12211(b)(3) of this subchapter, an individual shall not be denied health services, or services

provided in connection with drug rehabilitation, on the basis of the current illegal use of drugs if the individual is otherwise entitled to such services.

- (d) "Illegal use of drugs" defined
 - (1) In general. The term "illegal use of drugs" means the use of drugs, the possession or distribution of which is unlawful under the Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. 801 et seq.). Such term does not include the use of a drug taken under supervision by a licensed health care professional, or other uses authorized by the Controlled Substances Act or other provisions of Federal law.
 - (2) Drugs. The term "drug" means a controlled substance, as defined in schedules I through V of section 202 of the Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. 812).

Sec. 12211. Definitions

- (a) Homosexuality and bisexuality. For purposes of the definition of "disability" in section 12102(2) of this title, homosexuality and bisexuality are not impairments and as such are not disabilities under this chapter.
- (b) Certain conditions. Under this chapter, the term "disability" shall not include
 - (1) transvestism, transsexualism, pedophilia, exhibitionism, voyeurism, gender identity disorders not resulting from physical impairments, or other sexual behavior disorders;
 - (2) compulsive gambling, kleptomania, or pyromania; or
 - (3) psychoactive substance use disorders resulting from current illegal use of drugs.

Sec. 12212. Alternative means of dispute resolution

Where appropriate and to the extent authorized by law, the use of alternative means of dispute resolution, including settlement negotiations, conciliation, facilitation, mediation, fact-finding, minitrials, and arbitration, is encouraged to resolve disputes arising under this chapter.

Sec. 12213. Severability

Should any provision in this chapter be found to be unconstitutional by a court of law, such provision shall be severed from the remainder of the chapter, and such action shall not affect the enforceability of the remaining provisions of the chapter.

TITLE 47 - TELEGRAPHS, TELEPHONES, AND RADIOTELEGRAPHS

CHAPTER 5 - WIRE OR RADIO COMMUNICATION

SUBCHAPTER II - COMMON CARRIERS

Part I - Common Carrier Regulation

Sec. 225. Telecommunications services for hearing-impaired and speech-impaired individuals

- (a) Definitions. As used in this section
 - (1) Common carrier or carrier. The term "common carrier" or "carrier" includes any common carrier engaged in interstate communication by wire or radio as defined in section 153 of this

title and any common carrier engaged in intrastate communication by wire or radio, notwithstanding sections 152(a) and 221(a) of this title.

- (2) TDD. The term "TDD" means a Telecommunications Device for the Deaf which is a machine that employs graphic communication in the transmission of coded signals through a wire or radio communication system.
- (3) Telecommunications relay services. The term "telecommunications relay services" means telephone transmission services that provide the ability for an individual who has a hearing impairment or speech impairment to engage in communication by wire or radio with a hearing individual in a manner that is functionally equivalent to the ability of an individual who does not have a hearing impairment or speech impairment to communicate using voice communication services by wire or radio. Such term includes services that enable two-way communication between an individual who uses a TDD or other nonvoice terminal device and an individual who does not use such a device.
- (b) Availability of telecommunications relay services
 - (1) In general. In order to carry out the purposes established under section 151 of this title, to make available to all individuals in the United States a rapid, efficient nationwide communication service, and to increase the utility of the telephone system of the Nation, the Commission shall ensure that interstate and intrastate telecommunications relay services are available, to the extent possible and in the most efficient manner, to hearing-impaired and speech-impaired individuals in the United States.
 - (2) Use of general authority and remedies. For the purposes of administering and enforcing the provisions of this section and the regulations prescribed thereunder, the Commission shall have the same authority, power, and functions with respect to common carriers engaged in intrastate communication as the Commission has in administering and enforcing the provisions of this subchapter with respect to any common carrier engaged in interstate communication. Any violation of this section by any common carrier engaged in intrastate communication shall be subject to the same remedies, penalties, and procedures as are applicable to a violation of this chapter by a common carrier engaged in interstate communication.
- (c) Provision of services. Each common carrier providing telephone voice transmission services shall, not later than 3 years after July 26, 1990, provide in compliance with the regulations prescribed under this section, throughout the area in which it offers service, telecommunications relay services, individually, through designees, through a competitively selected vendor, or in concert with other carriers. A common carrier shall be considered to be in compliance with such regulations
 - (1) with respect to intrastate telecommunications relay services in any State that does not have a certified program under subsection (f) of this section and with respect to interstate telecommunications relay services, if such common carrier (or other entity through which the carrier is providing such relay services) is in compliance with the Commission's regulations under subsection (d) of this section; or
 - (2) with respect to intrastate telecommunications relay services in any State that has a certified program under subsection (f) of this section for such State, if such common carrier (or other entity through which the carrier is providing such relay services) is in compliance with the program certified under subsection (f) of this section for such State.

(d) Regulations

(1) In general. The Commission shall, not later than 1 year after July 26, 1990, prescribe

regulations to implement this section, including regulations that

- (A) establish functional requirements, guidelines, and operations procedures for telecommunications relay services;
- (B) establish minimum standards that shall be met in carrying out subsection (c) of this section;
- (C) require that telecommunications relay services operate every day for 24 hours per day;
- (D) require that users of telecommunications relay services pay rates no greater than the rates paid for functionally equivalent voice communication services with respect to such factors as the duration of the call, the time of day, and the distance from point of origination to point of termination;
- (E) prohibit relay operators from failing to fulfill the obligations of common carriers by refusing calls or limiting the length of calls that use telecommunications relay services;
- (F) prohibit relay operators from disclosing the content of any relayed conversation and from keeping records of the content of any such conversation beyond the duration of the call; and
- (G) prohibit relay operators from intentionally altering a relayed conversation.
- (2) Technology. The Commission shall ensure that regulations prescribed to implement this section encourage, consistent with section 157(a) of this title, the use of existing technology and do not discourage or impair the development of improved technology.
- (3) Jurisdictional separation of costs
 - (A) In general. Consistent with the provisions of section 410 of this title, the Commission shall prescribe regulations governing the jurisdictional separation of costs for the services provided pursuant to this section.
 - (B) Recovering costs. Such regulations shall generally provide that costs caused by interstate telecommunications relay services shall be recovered from all subscribers for every interstate service and costs caused by intrastate telecommunications relay services shall be recovered from the intrastate jurisdiction. In a State that has a certified program under subsection (f) of this section, a State commission shall permit a common carrier to recover the costs incurred in providing intrastate telecommunications relay services by a method consistent with the requirements of this section.

(e) Enforcement

- (1) In general. Subject to subsections (f) and (g) of this section, the Commission shall enforce this section.
- (2) Complaint. The Commission shall resolve, by final order, a complaint alleging a violation of this section within 180 days after the date such complaint is filed.

(f) Certification

(1) State documentation. Any State desiring to establish a State program under this section shall submit documentation to the Commission that describes the program of such State for implementing intrastate telecommunications relay services and the procedures and remedies

available for enforcing any requirements imposed by the State program.

- (2) Requirements for certification. After review of such documentation, the Commission shall certify the State program if the Commission determines that
 - (A) the program makes available to hearing-impaired and speech-impaired individuals, either directly, through designees, through a competitively selected vendor, or through regulation of intrastate common carriers, intrastate telecommunications relay services in such State in a manner that meets or exceeds the requirements of regulations prescribed by the Commission under subsection (d) of this section; and
 - (B) the program makes available adequate procedures and remedies for enforcing the requirements of the State program.
- (3) Method of funding. Except as provided in subsection (d) of this section, the Commission shall not refuse to certify a State program based solely on the method such State will implement for funding intrastate telecommunication relay services.
- (4) Suspension or revocation of certification. The Commission may suspend or revoke such certification if, after notice and opportunity for hearing, the Commission determines that such certification is no longer warranted. In a State whose program has been suspended or revoked, the Commission shall take such steps as may be necessary, consistent with this section, to ensure continuity of telecommunications relay services.

(g) Complaint

- (1) Referral of complaint. If a complaint to the Commission alleges a violation of this section with respect to intrastate telecommunications relay services within a State and certification of the program of such State under subsection (f) of this section is in effect, the Commission shall refer such complaint to such State.
- (2) Jurisdiction of Commission. After referring a complaint to a State under paragraph (1), the Commission shall exercise jurisdiction over such complaint only if
 - (A) final action under such State program has not been taken on such complaint by such State
 - (i) within 180 days after the complaint is filed with such State; or
 - (ii) within a shorter period as prescribed by the regulations of such State; or
 - (B) the Commission determines that such State program is no longer qualified for certification under subsection (f) of this section.

TITLE 47 - TELEGRAPHS, TELEPHONES, AND RADIOTELEGRAPHS

CHAPTER 5 - WIRE OR RADIO COMMUNICATION

SUBCHAPTER VI - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Sec. 611. Closed-captioning of public service announcements

Any television public service announcement that is produced or funded in whole or in part by any agency or instrumentality of Federal Government shall include closed captioning of the verbal content of such announcement. A television broadcast station licensee

- (1) shall not be required to supply closed captioning for any such announcement that fails to include it; and
- (2) shall not be liable for broadcasting any such announcement without transmitting a closed caption unless the licensee intentionally fails to transmit the closed caption that was included with the announcement.



STATE OF NEW JERSEY

Department of Labor and Workforce Development
Division of Wage and Hour Compliance - Public Contracts Section
PO Box 389
Trenton, NJ 08625-0389

PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

The New Jersey Prevailing Wage Act (N.J.S.A. 34:11-56.25 et seq.) requires that the Department of Labor and Workforce Development establish and enforce a prevailing wage level for workers engaged in public works in order to safeguard their efficiency and general well being and to protect them as well as their employers from the effects of serious and unfair competition.

Prevailing wage rates are wage and fringe benefit rates based on the collective bargaining agreements established for a particular craft or trade in the locality in which the public work is performed. In New Jersey, these rates vary by county and by the type of work performed.

Applicable prevailing wage rates are those wages and fringe benefits in effect on the date the contract is awarded. All pre-determined rate increases listed at the time the contract is awarded must also be paid, beginning on the dates specified. Rates that have expired will remain in effect until new rates are posted.

Prevailing Wage Rate

The prevailing wage rate for each craft will list the effective date of the rate and the following information:

W = Wage Rate per Hour

B = Fringe Benefit Rate per Hour*

T = Total Rate per Hour

* Fringe benefits are an integral part of the prevailing wage rate. Employers not providing such benefits must pay the fringe benefit amount directly to the employee each payday. Employers providing benefits worth less than the fringe benefit amount must pay the balance directly to the employee each payday.

Unless otherwise stated in the Prevailing Wage Rate Determination, the fringe benefit rate for overtime hours remains at the straight time rate.

When the Overtime Notes in the Prevailing Wage Rate Determination state that the overtime rates are "inclusive of benefits," the benefit rate is increased by the same factor as the wage rate (i.e. multiplied by 1.5 for time and one-half, multiplied by 2 for double time, etc.).

Apprentice Rate Schedule

An "apprentice" is an individual who is registered with the United States Department of Labor - Office of Apprenticeship and enrolled in a certified apprenticeship program during the period in which they are working on the public works project.

The apprentice <u>wage</u> rate is a percentage of the journeyman wage rate, unless otherwise indicated. The apprentice <u>benefit</u> rate is the full journeyman benefit rate, unless otherwise indicated.

If there is no apprentice rate schedule listed, the individual must be paid at least the journeyman rate even if that individual is in a certified apprentice program for that trade.

If there is no ratio of apprentices to journeymen listed for a particular craft, then the ratio shall be one (1) apprentice to every four (4) journeymen.

12/18/2025 Page 1 of 71

Comments/Notes

For each craft listed there will be comments/notes that cover the definition of the regular workday, shift differentials, overtime, recognized holidays, and any other relevant information.

Public Works Contractor Registration

The Public Works Contractor Registration Act (N.J.S.A. 34:11-56.48, et seq.) requires that **all** contractors, subcontractors, or lower tier subcontractors who are working on or who bid on public works projects register with the Department of Labor and Workforce Development. Applications are available at www.nj.gov/labor (click on Wage & Hour and then go to Registration & Permits).

Pursuant to N.J.S.A. 34:11-56.51:

No contractor shall bid on any contract for public work as defined in section 2 of P.L.1963, c. 150 (C.34:11-56.26) unless the contractor is registered pursuant to this act. No contractor shall list a subcontractor in a bid proposal for the contract unless the subcontractor is registered pursuant to P.L.1999, c.238 (C.34:11-56.48 et seq.) at the time the bid is made. No contractor or subcontractor, including a subcontractor not listed in the bid proposal, shall engage in the performance of any public work subject to the contract, unless the contractor or subcontractor is registered pursuant to that act.

Snow Plowing

Snow plowing contracts are <u>not</u> subject to the New Jersey Prevailing Wage Act or the Public Works Contractor Registration Act.

12/18/2025 Page 2 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Air Conditioning & Refrigeration - Service and Repair

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 03/07/25 |
|-----------------------|----------------------------|
| Journeyman (Mechanic) | W46.23 B31.42 T77.65 |

Craft: Air Conditioning & Refrigeration - Service and Repair

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|---------------|----------|------------------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|------|--|--|
| As Shown | 1st Year | 2nd Year | 3rd Year | 4th Year | 5th Year | Wage = % | of Jnymn | Wage | | |
| Wage and Bene | 40% | 50% | 60% | 70% | 80% | Bene = % | of Jnymn | Bene | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:4

Craft: Air Conditioning & Refrigeration - Service and Repair

COMMENTS/NOTES

THESE RATES MAY BE USED FOR THE FOLLOWING:

- Service/Repair/Maintenance Work to EXISTING facilities.
- Replacement or Installation of air conditioning and refrigeration equipment when the combined tonnage does not exceed 15 tons for refrigeration, or 25 tons for air conditioning.
- Replacement or Installation of "packaged" or "unitary" rooftop-type units when the combined tonnage of the units does not exceed 75 tons.

NOTE: These rates may NOT be used for any work in new construction (including work on new additions).

The regular workday shall consist of 8 hours, starting between 6:00 AM and 10:00 AM, Monday through Friday.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- The second and third shifts shall be paid an additional 15% of the hourly rate.
- All shifts must run for a minimum of 5 consecutive days.

OVERTIME:

Hours worked in excess of 8 per day or before or after the regular workday, that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day.

12/18/2025 Page 3 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Boilermaker PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 01/12/24 |
|-----------------|----------|
| Foreman | W54.11 |
| | B47.08 |
| | T101.19 |
| General Foreman | W56.11 |
| | B48.14 |
| | T104.25 |
| Journeyman | W49.11 |
| | B45.31 |
| | T94.42 |

Craft: Boilermaker APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|------------|-------|------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--|--|--|
| 1000 Hours | 65% | 70% | 75% | 80% | 85% | 90% | 95% | | | |
| Benefit = | 38.33 | 39.30 | 40.32 | 41.31 | 42.32 | 43.32 | 44.30 | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - *

* 1 apprentice will be allowed for the first 5 journeymen, 1 apprentice for the next 10 journeymen and 1 apprentice for each succeeding 20 journeymen up to a maximum of 5 apprentices per contractor on any one job.

Craft: Boilermaker COMMENTS/NOTES

HIGH WORK: All apprentices working on the erection, repair, or dismantling of smoke stacks, standpipes, or water towers shall be paid the Journeyman rate.

The regular workday shall consist of 8 hours, between 8:00 AM and 4:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- The second shift shall work 7.5 hours and receive 8 hours pay, at a rate equal to the regular hourly rate plus 10%.
- The third shift shall work 7 hours and receive 8 hours pay, at a rate equal to the regular hourly rate plus 20%.
- For "Municipal Water Works" projects only, the following shall apply: Two, four day, 10 hour shifts may be worked at straight time Monday through Thursday. The day shift shall work four days, at 10 hours, for 10 hours pay. The second shift shall work four days, at nine and a half hours, for 10 hours pay, plus 10% the hourly rate for new work and .25 cents on repair work. Friday may be used as a make-up day at straight time, due to weather conditions, hoilday or any other circumstances beyond the employer's control.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays (except Labor Day) shall be paid at double the hourly rate. All hours on Labor Day shall be paid at four times the hourly rate.
- If any other craft employed by the same contractor, or a subcontractor thereof, receives double time in lieu of time and one-half, then the Boilermaker shall receive double time in lieu of time and one-half.
- For "Municipal Water Works" projects only, the following shall apply: Four 10 hour days may be worked Monday through Thursday at straight time. Friday may be used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather, holiday or other conditions beyond the control of the employer. Overtime shall be paid for any hours that exceed 10 hours per day or 40 hours per week.

12/18/2025 Page 4 of 71

County - ESSEX

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Washington's Birthday, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 5 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Boilermaker - Minor Repairs

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 01/12/24 |
|-----------------|----------|
| Foreman | W35.88 |
| | B17.89 |
| | T53.77 |
| General Foreman | W36.38 |
| | B17.89 |
| | T54.27 |
| Mechanic | W34.38 |
| | B17.89 |
| | T52.27 |
| I . | I |

Craft: Boilermaker - Minor Repairs

COMMENTS/NOTES

NOTE: These rates apply to MINOR REPAIR WORK ONLY (repair work in the field for which the contract amount does not exceed \$125,000.00), for boilers that do not produce electric or are not used in the heating of petroleum products.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays (except Labor Day) shall be paid at double the hourly rate. All hours on Labor Day shall be paid at four times the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Washington's Birthday, Good Friday, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Thanksgiving Day, day after Thanksgiving, Christmas Day. Saturday holidays observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 6 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Bricklayer, Stone Mason

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 05/13/25 |
|----------------|----------|
| Deputy Foreman | W52.60 |
| | B38.68 |
| | T91.28 |
| Foreman | W57.35 |
| | B38.68 |
| | T96.03 |
| Journeyman | W49.60 |
| | B38.68 |
| | T88.28 |
| | |

Craft: Bricklayer, Stone Mason

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|----------|------|------------------|------|------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--|--|
| 6 Months | 40% | 50% | 55% | 60% | 65% | 70% | 75% | 80% | | |
| Benefits | 4.66 | 5.83 | 6.41 | 6.99 | 25.90 | 27.73 | 29.57 | 31.38 | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:5

Craft: Bricklayer, Stone Mason

COMMENTS/NOTES

The regular workday shall consist of 8 hours, between 6:00 AM and 4:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- When a 2 shift schedule (including a day shift) is established, the first, or day shift, shall be established on an 8 hour basis. The second shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis, and receive the regular rate plus 10%, inclusive of benefits
- When a three shift schedule is established, the first shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis, the second shift on a 7.5 hour basis, and the third shift on a 7 hour basis. The first shift shall receive the regular hourly rate, the second shift shall receive the regular rate plus 10%, inclusive of benefits, and the third shift shall receive the regular rate plus 15%, inclusive of benefits.
- When there is no day shift, and a second or third shift is established, it shall be established on an 8 hour basis. The second shift shall receive the regular rate plus 10%, inclusive of benefits, and the third shift shall receive the regular rate plus 15%, inclusive of benefits.
- When an irregular shift must be established, this shift shall receive the regular rate plus 10%, inclusive of benefits.

OVERTIME:

- The first 2 hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after the regular workday that are not shift work, Monday through Friday, shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. Any additional overtime shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. The first 10 hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. Any additional overtime shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.
- Saturday may be used as a make-up day for hours lost to inclement weather.
- When Bricklayers/Stone Masons work on Saturday with Laborers, and no other crafts are working on the project for the day, benefits may be paid at straight time. If other crafts are present, the applicable overtime rate for benefits shall be paid.

12/18/2025 Page 7 of 71

County - ESSEX

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, President's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays will be observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 8 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Carpenter PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 06/03/25 |
|-----------------|----------|
| Foreman | W66.03 |
| | B39.70 |
| | T105.73 |
| General Foreman | W74.65 |
| | B44.81 |
| | T119.46 |
| Journeyman | W57.42 |
| | B34.60 |
| | T92.02 |
| | |

Craft: Carpenter APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|----------|-----------|------------------|------|--------------|---------|-----------|----------|--|--|--|
| Yearly | 40% | 55% | 65% | 80% | 90% | | | | | |
| Benefit | 59.25% of | Appren | tice | Wage Rate | for all | intervals | + \$0.58 | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:3

For Solar installation- all work on solar projects that fall under the jurisdiction of the carpenters, and does not require an electrician, the ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen shall be 1:1.

Craft: Carpenter COMMENTS/NOTES

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE FOR THOSE APPRENTICES REGISTERED AS OF 5-1-19:

INTERVAL PERIOD AND RATES Yearly 40% 55% 65% 80%

Benefits 59.25% of apprentice wage rate for all intervals + \$0.58

FOREMAN REQUIREMENTS:

- When there are 2 or more Carpenters on a job, 1 shall be designated as a Foreman.
- When there are 21 or more Carpenters on a job, 2 shall be designated as Foremen.
- When there are 36 or more Carpenters on a job, there shall be 1 General Foreman and 2 Foremen. Thereafter, an additional Foreman shall be required for each additional 10 Carpenters on a job.

The regular workday shall consist of 8 hours, starting between 6:00 AM and 9:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- When a 2 shift schedule (including a day shift) is established, the day shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis. The second shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis, and receive the regular rate plus 10%, inclusive of benefits.
- When a three shift schedule is established, the first shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis, the second shift on a 7.5 hour basis, and the third shift on a 7 hour basis. The first shift shall receive the regular hourly rate, the second shift shall receive the regular rate plus 10% and the third shift shall receive the regular rate plus 15%, inclusive of benefits.
- When there is no day shift, and a second or third shift is established, it shall be established on an 8 hour basis. The second shift shall receive the regular rate plus 10% and the third shift shall receive the regular rate plus 15%, inclusive of benefits.
- When an irregular shift must be established, this shift shall receive the regular rate plus 15%, inclusive of benefits.
- All time worked before and after a regularly established shift shall be paid at the applicable overtime rate. When a portion

12/18/2025 Page 9 of 71

County - ESSEX

of the regularly established shift works into Saturday, Sunday or a holiday, that time worked shall be paid at the established shift rate.

OVERTIME:

- All hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after an established shift that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday to Thursday, at straight time. Friday may be used as a make-up day for a day lost due to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. Veterans' Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving.

12/18/2025 Page 10 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Carpenter - Resilient Flooring PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 05/01/25 |
|------------|-----------------------------|
| Foreman | W66.03 B39.62 T105.65 |
| Journeyman | W57.42 B34.52 T91.94 |

Craft: Carpenter - Resilient Flooring APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|----------|--------|------------------|--------|------|--------------|---------|-----------|----------|--|--|
| Yearly | 40% | 55% | 65% | 80% | 90% | | | | | |
| Benefit | 59.25% | of | Appren | tice | Wage Rate | for all | intervals | + \$0.50 | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - *

Craft: Carpenter - Resilient Flooring

COMMENTS/NOTES

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE FOR THOSE APPRENTICES REGISTERED AS OF 5-1-19:

INTERVAL PERIOD AND RATES Yearly 40% 55% 65% 80%

Benefits 59.25% of apprentice wage rate for all intervals + \$0.50.

FOREMAN REQUIREMENTS:

- On any job where there are 4 or more Carpenters of Resilient Flooring, 1 must be designated a Foreman.

FOR SYNTHETIC TURF INSTALLATION ONLY:

- The rate shall be 90% of the wage and benefit rate.

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, starting between 6:00 AM and 9:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- When a 2 shift schedule (including a day shift) is established, the day shift, shall be established on an 8 hour basis. The second shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis, and receive the regular wage rate plus 10%.
- When a three shift schedule is established, the first shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis, the second shift on a 7.5 hour basis, and the third shift on a 7 hour basis. The first shift shall receive the regular wage rate, the second shift shall receive the regular wage rate plus 10% and the third shift shall receive the regular wage rate plus 15%.
- When there is no day shift, and a second or third shift is established, it shall be established on an 8 hour basis. The second shift shall receive the regular wage rate plus 10% and the third shift shall receive the regular wage rate plus 15%.
- When an irregular shift must be established, this shift shall receive the regular rate plus 15%, inclusive of benefits.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day or 40 per week, or before or after the regular workday, Monday through Friday, shall be paid at time and one-half the wage rate. Saturday may be used as a make-up day, at straight time, up to 8 hours, for hours lost to reasons beyond the control of the employer, up to a total of 40 hours per week; hours in excess of 8 on Saturday shall

12/18/2025 Page 11 of 71

^{* 1} apprentice shall be allowed to every 2 journeymen or major fraction thereof. No more than 3 apprentices on any one job or project.

County - ESSEX

then be paid at time and one-half the wage rate. If Saturday is not a make-up day, all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the wage rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the wage rate.

- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday to Thursday, at straight time. Friday may be used as a make-up day for hours lost to reasons beyond the control of the employer. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the wage rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays will be observed the following Monday. Veterans' Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving.

12/18/2025 Page 12 of 71

County - ESSEX

| Craft: | Cement Mason | PREVAILING WAGE RATE |
|--------|--------------|----------------------|
| | | |

See "Bricklayer, Stone Mason" Rates

Craft: Cement Mason COMMENTS/NOTES

See "Bricklayer, Stone Mason" Rates

12/18/2025 Page 13 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Commercial Painter PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 05/01/25 |
|-----------------|----------|
| Foreman | W50.11 |
| | B31.61 |
| | T81.72 |
| General Foreman | W54.66 |
| | B31.61 |
| | T86.27 |
| Journeyman | W45.55 |
| | B31.61 |
| | T77.16 |

Craft: Commercial Painter APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|----------|------|------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--|--|
| 6 months | 40% | 45% | 55% | 65% | 70% | 75% | 80% | 80% | | |
| Benefits | 9.84 | 9.84 | 12.55 | 12.55 | 13.65 | 13.65 | 16.55 | 16.55 | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:4

Craft: Commercial Painter COMMENTS/NOTES

* Commercial Painters perform work on all commercial structures such as offices, schools, hotels, shopping malls, restaurants, condominiums, etc.

Spraying, sandblasting, lead abatement work on commercial buildings, work performed above 3 stories or 30 feet in height, or using swing scaffolds requires an additional 10% of the wage rate.

FOREMEN REQUIREMENTS:

- When there are 4 or more Painters on a job, 1 shall be designated a Foreman.
- When there are 15 or more Painters on a job, 1 shall be designated a General Foreman.

The regular workday shall consist of 8 hours between 7:00 AM and 5:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- The second shift shall receive an additional 10% of the hourly rate, per hour, and the third shift shall receive an additional 15% of the hourly rate, per hour.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after the regular workday, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate.
- Saturday or Sunday may be used to make up a day lost to inclement weather, at straight time.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, at straight time, Monday through Friday.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, President's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, General Election Day,

12/18/2025 Page 14 of 71

County - ESSEX

Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day.

12/18/2025 Page 15 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Diver PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 05/01/25 |
|--------|----------|
| Diver | W65.97 |
| | B53.74 |
| | T119.71 |
| Tender | W54.23 |
| | B53.74 |
| | T107.97 |

Craft: Diver COMMENTS/NOTES

NOTE: All dive crews must consist of a Tender, a Diver, and a standby Diver (standby Diver is the same rate as a Diver).

DEPTH & PENETRATION RATES: Divers shall be paid the following depth and penetration rates, in addition to the regular hourly rate, when applicable:

AIR DIVES: MIXED GAS DIVES:

0-59 feet: No additional wage 60-74 feet: + \$0.25 per foot 75-125 feet: + \$1.00 per foot 75-125 feet: + \$2.00 per foot

PENETRATION DIVES:

126-200 feet: + \$1.50 per foot 201-275 feet: + \$1.75 per foot 276-350 feet: + \$2.00 per foot 351-425 feet: + \$2.50 per foot

SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL:

- When a 2 shift schedule (including a day shift) is established, the day shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis. The second shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis and receive an additional 113% of the wage rate.
- When a three shift schedule is established, all three shifts shall be established on an 8 hour basis, but the second and third shifts shall receive an additional 113% of the wage rate.
- Benefits on shift work shall be paid at the straight-time rate.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Presidential Election Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Veterans' Day may be switched with the day after Thanksgiving.

12/18/2025 Page 16 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Dockbuilder/Pile Driver

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 05/01/25 |
|------------------------|----------|
| Foreman | W62.36 |
| | B53.74 |
| | T116.10 |
| Foreman (Concrete Form | W61.26 |
| Work) | B40.39 |
| | T101.65 |
| Journeyman | W54.23 |
| | B53.74 |
| | T107.97 |
| Journeyman (Concrete | W53.27 |
| Form Work) | B40.39 |
| | T93.66 |
| | |

Craft: Dockbuilder/Pile Driver APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|----------|-------|------------------|-----------|-------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Yearly | 21.69 | 27.12 | 35.25 | 43.38 | | | | | | |
| Benefits | 35.34 | for all | intervals | | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - *

* When there are 4 or fewer Dockbuilders/Pile Drivers on a job, no more than 1 may be an apprentice. When there are 5 or more Dockbuilders/Pile Drivers, there may be 1 apprentice for every 5 Dockbuilders/Pile Drivers.

Craft: Dockbuilder/Pile Driver COMMENTS/NOTES

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE FOR CONCRETE FORM WORK ONLY:

INTERVAL PERIOD AND RATES
Yearly 21.31 26.64 34.63 42.62

Benefits 27.41 for all intervals

NOTE: The following shall be required for type of work indicated-

- There shall be one foreman and four journeymen on all land pile driving rigs. As part of the crew, one may be an apprentice.
- There shall be one foreman and two journeymen on self-contained hydraulic driving rigs. As part of the crew, one may be an apprentice.
- There shall be one foreman and two journeymen when driving sheeting with an excavator. As part of the crew, one may be an appprentice.
- When utilizing a drill rig to install Auger cast piles there shall be one foreman and two journeymen. As part of the crew, one may be an apprentice.
- There shall be one foreman and one journeyman on drilled or bored soldier piles.
- There shall be one foreman and not less than one journeyman per rig on all drilled shaft and caissons.
- There shall be one foreman and not less than one journeyman per rig on all earth retention tie-back and anchors.
- There shall be one foreman and three joruneymen for driving of piles 60 feet or less. As part of the crew, one may be an apprentice.

12/18/2025 Page 17 of 71

County - ESSEX

CREOSOTE HANDLING:

When handling creosote products on land piledriving, floating marine construction, and construction of wharves, the worker shall receive an additional \$0.25 per hour.

HAZARDOUS WASTE WORK:

- Hazardous waste removal work on a state or federally designated hazardous waste site where Level A, B, or C personal protection is required: an additional 20% of the hourly rate, per hour.
- Hazardous waste removal work in Level D, or where personal protection is not required: an additional \$1.00 per hour.

CERTIFIED WELDER: When required on the job by the project owner, a Certified Welder shall receive an additional \$1.00 per hour.

FOREMAN REQUIREMENTS:

The first Dockbuilder/Pile Driver on the job shall be designated a Foreman.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL:

- When a 2 shift schedule (including a day shift) is established, the day shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis. The second shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis and receive an additional 113% of the wage rate.
- When a three shift schedule is established, all three shifts shall be established on an 8 hour basis, but the second and third shifts shall receive an additional 113% of the wage rate.
- Benefits on shift work shall be paid at the straight-time rate.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Presidential Election Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Veterans' Day may be switched with the day after Thanksgiving.

12/18/2025 Page 18 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Drywall Finisher PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 05/13/25 |
|-----------------|----------|
| Foreman | W49.36 |
| | B31.65 |
| | T81.01 |
| General Foreman | W51.60 |
| | B31.65 |
| | T83.25 |
| Journeyman | W44.87 |
| | B31.65 |
| | T76.52 |

Craft: Drywall Finisher APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIC | D AND RAT | ES | | | |
|----------|-------|-------|-----------|-------|--|--|--|
| Yearly | 22.44 | 29.17 | 35.90 | 40.38 | | | |
| Benefits | 17.98 | 17.98 | 17.98 | 17.98 | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:4

Craft: Drywall Finisher COMMENTS/NOTES

The regular workday shall consist of 8 hours between 7:00 AM and 5:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- The second shift shall receive an additional 10% of the hourly rate, per hour, and the third shift shall receive an additional 15% of the hourly rate, per hour.
- When 3 shifts are worked, the second shift shall receive 8 hours pay for 7.5 hours of work, and the third shift shall receive 8 hours pay for 7 hours of work.
- Shift work must run for a minimum of 5 consecutive workdays.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.
- Saturday or Sunday may be used to make up a day lost to inclement weather, at straight time.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Saturday holiday observed the preceding Friday. Sunday holiday observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 19 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Electrician PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 06/18/25 | 06/02/26 | 06/02/27 | 06/02/28 |
|---------------------------|----------|----------|----------|----------|
| Assistant General | W79.25 | W82.24 | W85.22 | W88.21 |
| Foreman | B50.32 | B52.22 | B54.11 | B56.01 |
| | T129.57 | T134.46 | T139.33 | T144.22 |
| Foreman | W76.00 | W78.87 | W81.72 | W84.59 |
| | B48.26 | B50.08 | B51.89 | B53.71 |
| | T124.26 | T128.95 | T133.61 | T138.30 |
| General Foreman (150 + | W87.70 | W91.00 | W94.30 | W97.61 |
| Journeyman workers on | B55.69 | B57.79 | B59.88 | B61.98 |
| job site) | T143.39 | T148.79 | T154.18 | T159.59 |
| General Foreman (23-149 | W81.85 | W84.94 | W88.01 | W91.10 |
| Journeyman workers on | B51.97 | B53.94 | B55.89 | B57.85 |
| job site) | T133.82 | T138.88 | T143.90 | T148.95 |
| Journeyman as a Crane | W76.00 | W78.87 | W81.72 | W84.59 |
| Operator, as a Welder, as | B48.26 | B50.08 | B51.89 | B53.71 |
| a Cable Splicer | T124.26 | T128.95 | T133.61 | T138.30 |
| Journeyman on Radio | W79.25 | W82.24 | W85.22 | W88.21 |
| Tower Work | B50.32 | B52.22 | B54.11 | B56.01 |
| | T129.57 | T134.46 | T139.33 | T144.22 |
| Journeyman Wireman | W64.96 | W67.41 | W69.85 | W72.30 |
| | B41.25 | B42.81 | B44.35 | B45.91 |
| | T106.21 | T110.22 | T114.20 | T118.21 |
| Layout Man | W70.81 | W73.48 | W76.14 | W78.81 |
| | B44.96 | B46.66 | B48.35 | B50.04 |
| | T115.77 | T120.14 | T124.49 | T128.85 |

Craft: Electrician APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|-----------|-------|------------------|-------|-------|-------|---|--|--|---|---|
| Yearly | 20.79 | 27.28 | 33.78 | 40.28 | 46.77 | | | | | |
| Benefit = | 13.20 | 17.32 | 21.45 | 25.58 | 29.70 | _ | | | - | - |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 2:3

Craft: Electrician COMMENTS/NOTES

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE AS OF 6-2-26:

INTERVAL PERIOD AND RATES

Yearly 21.57 28.31 35.05 41.79 48.54 Benefits 13.70 17.98 22.26 26.54 30.82

12/18/2025 Page 20 of 71

County - ESSEX

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE AS OF 6-2-27:

INTERVAL PERIOD AND RATES

Yearly 23.05 30.04 37.02 44.01 50.99 Benefits 14.87 19.38 23.88 28.39 32.89

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE AS OF 6-2-28:

INTERVAL PERIOD AND RATES

Yearly 23.86 31.09 38.32 45.55 52.78 Benefits 15.39 20.05 24.72 29.38 34.04

THESE RATES ALSO APPLY TO THE FOLLOWING TYPES OF WORK:

- All fire and burglar alarm work.
- All fiber optic work.
- Teledata work in new construction or involving 16 instruments or more.
- All residential construction (single family homes and apartments) of 5 units or more. Note: fire walls alone are not a determining criteria.

HIGH WORK:

- 40 feet above ground/floor: +22% of the Total Rate
- Transmission towers, and Smokestacks: +22% of the Total Rate

FOREMAN REQUIREMENTS:

- On any job where there is only 1 Journeyman electrician, who lays out his or her own job from plans, that electrician shall receive the Foreman rate.
- On any job where there are 2 or more electricians, 1 shall be a Foreman.
- On all jobs, every 10 electricians shall have 1 designated a Foreman.
- On any job where there are 23 or more electricians, 1 shall be a General Foreman.
- On any job where there are 50 or more electricians, 1 shall be an Assistant General Foreman, and 1 shall be a General Foreman.

The regular workday is 8 hours, between 8:00 AM and 4:30 PM. In addition, a "flex start time" can begin at 7:00 AM or 7:30 AM for 8 hours, just as long as the "flex start time" is for a minimum of 5 days.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL:

- Shift work must run for a minimum of 5 consecutive workdays.
- 1st Shift (between 8:00 AM and 4:30 PM)
- 2nd Shift (between 4:30 PM and 12:30 AM) shall receive 8 hours pay for 7.5 hours of work, plus an additional 10% of the hourly rate, per hour, inclusive of benefits.
- 3rd Shift: (between 12:30 AM and 8:00 AM) shall receive 8 hours pay for 7 hours of work, plus an additional 15% of the hourly rate, per hour, inclusive of benefits.

OVERTIME:

- Hours before or after the regular workday, Monday through Friday, that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, between 7:00 AM and 6:30 PM, at straight time.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays will be observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 21 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Electrician - Teledata (15 Instruments and Less)

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 12/11/25 |
|--------------------------|----------|
| Journeyman Technician | W49.48 |
| (1-2 workers on job) | B30.93 |
| | T80.41 |
| Master Tech./Gen. | W64.82 |
| Foreman | B40.51 |
| (over 25 workers on job) | T105.33 |
| Senior Tech./Asst. Gen. | W59.38 |
| Foreman | B37.11 |
| (16-25 workers on job) | T96.49 |
| Technician A/Foreman | W56.90 |
| (9-15 workers on job) | B35.56 |
| | T92.46 |
| Technician B/Foreman | W54.43 |
| (4-8 workers on job) | B34.02 |
| | T88.45 |
| Technician C/Foreman | W51.95 |
| (3 workers on job) | B32.47 |
| | T84.42 |

Craft: Electrician - Teledata (15 Instruments and Less)

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|----------|-----|------------------|----------|----------------|-------|------|------|-----|-----|-----|
| 6 Months | 37% | 38% | 41% | 44% | 48% | 54% | 61% | 67% | 74% | 81% |
| Benefit | | | 62.5% of | Journeym an | Tech. | wage | rate | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 2:3

Craft: Electrician - Teledata (15 Instruments and Less)

COMMENTS/NOTES

NOTES:

- 1) These rates are for service, maintenance, moves and/or changes affecting 15 instruments or less. These rates may NOT be used for any new construction or any fiber optic work.
- 2) The number of workers on the jobsite is the determining factor for which Foreman category applies.

The regular workday is 8 hours, between 8:00 AM and 5:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL:

- Shift work must run for a minimum of 5 consecutive workdays.
- 1st Shift (between 8:00 AM and 4:30 PM)
- 2nd Shift (between 4:30 PM and 12:30 AM) shall receive 8 hours pay for 7.5 hours of work, plus an additional 10% of the regular rate, per hour, inclusive of benefits.
- 3rd Shift: (between 12:30 AM and 8:00 AM) shall receive 8 hours pay for 7 hours of work, plus an additional 15% of the

12/18/2025 Page 22 of 71

County - ESSEX

regular rate, per hour, inclusive of benefits.

OVERTIME:

Hours before or outside the regular workday, Monday through Friday, that are not shift work, and the first 10 hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. Hours in excess of 10 on Saturday and all hours worked on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

- Four 10-hour days may be worked between Monday and Friday, between the hours of 7:00 AM and 5:30 PM. A make-up day may be used for the day not being worked during the four 10-hour day schedule if a holiday occurs during the week or for any other conditions that prevent an employee from working during the four 10-hour day schedule.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays will be observed the following Monday. Saturday holidays will be observed the preceding Friday.

12/18/2025 Page 23 of 71

County - ESSEX

| Craft: | Electrician - Teledata (16 Instruments & More) | PREVAILING WAGE RATE |
|--------|--|----------------------|
| | See "Electrician" Rates | |
| Craft: | Electrician - Teledata (16 Instruments & More) | COMMENTS/NOTES |
| ***See | ELECTRICIAN Rates*** | |

12/18/2025 Page 24 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Electrician- Outside Commercial

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| 07/02/25 | 06/01/26 | 05/31/27 | 05/29/28 |
|----------|--|---|--|
| W79.62 | W82.62 | W85.62 | W88.61 |
| B49.96 | B51.84 | B53.73 | B55.60 |
| T129.58 | T134.46 | T139.35 | T144.21 |
| W76.35 | W79.23 | W82.11 | W84.98 |
| B47.92 | B49.72 | B51.52 | B53.32 |
| T124.27 | T128.95 | T133.63 | T138.30 |
| W88.10 | W91.42 | W94.74 | W98.05 |
| B55.28 | B57.37 | B59.45 | B61.53 |
| T143.38 | T148.79 | T154.19 | T159.58 |
| W82.23 | W85.33 | W88.43 | W91.51 |
| B51.60 | B53.54 | B55.49 | B57.42 |
| T133.83 | T138.87 | T143.92 | T148.93 |
| W43.72 | W45.37 | W47.02 | W48.66 |
| B27.44 | B28.47 | B29.51 | B30.54 |
| T71.16 | T73.84 | T76.53 | T79.20 |
| W71.13 | W73.81 | W76.50 | W79.17 |
| B44.63 | B46.32 | B48.00 | B49.68 |
| T115.76 | T120.13 | T124.50 | T128.85 |
| W65.26 | W67.72 | W70.18 | W72.63 |
| B40.95 | B42.49 | B44.04 | B45.58 |
| T106.21 | T110.21 | T114.22 | T118.21 |
| | W79.62 B49.96 T129.58 W76.35 B47.92 T124.27 W88.10 B55.28 T143.38 W82.23 B51.60 T133.83 W43.72 B27.44 T71.16 W71.13 B44.63 T115.76 W65.26 B40.95 | W79.62 W82.62 B49.96 B51.84 T129.58 T134.46 W76.35 W79.23 B47.92 B49.72 T124.27 T128.95 W88.10 W91.42 B55.28 B57.37 T143.38 T148.79 W82.23 W85.33 B51.60 B53.54 T133.83 T138.87 W43.72 W45.37 B27.44 B28.47 T71.16 T73.84 W71.13 W73.81 B44.63 B46.32 T115.76 T120.13 W65.26 W67.72 B40.95 B42.49 | W79.62 W82.62 W85.62 B49.96 B51.84 B53.73 T129.58 T134.46 T139.35 W76.35 W79.23 W82.11 B47.92 B49.72 B51.52 T124.27 T128.95 T133.63 W88.10 W91.42 W94.74 B55.28 B57.37 B59.45 T143.38 T148.79 T154.19 W82.23 W85.33 W88.43 B51.60 B53.54 B55.49 T133.83 T138.87 T143.92 W43.72 W45.37 W47.02 B27.44 B28.47 B29.51 T71.16 T73.84 T76.53 W71.13 W73.81 W76.50 B44.63 B46.32 B48.00 T115.76 T120.13 T124.50 W65.26 W67.72 W70.18 B40.95 B42.49 B44.04 |

Craft: Electrician- Outside Commercial

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIC | D AND RAT | ES | | | | | |
|----------|--------|-------|-----------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--|--|
| Yearly | 39.81 | 43.07 | 46.33 | 49.60 | 52.86 | 56.12 | 59.39 | | |
| Benefits | 62.75% | of | Appren | tice | Wage | Rate | | | |

Craft: Electrician- Outside Commercial

COMMENTS/NOTES

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE AS OF 6-1-26:

Interval Period and Rates

Yearly \$41.31 \$44.70 \$48.08 \$51.47 \$54.85 \$58.24 \$61.63

Benefits 62.75% of apprentice wage rate

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE AS OF 5-31-27:

Interval Period and Rates

Yearly \$43.51 \$47.02 \$50.53 \$54.04 \$57.55 \$61.06 \$64.57

12/18/2025 Page 25 of 71

^{*} FOR UTILITY WORK PLEASE SEE STATEWIDE RATES

County - ESSEX

Benefits 63.75% of apprentice wage rate

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE AS OF 5-29-28:

Interval Period and Rates

Yearly \$45.03 \$48.66 \$52.29 \$55.93 \$59.56 \$63.19 \$66.82

Benefits 63.75% of apprentice wage rate

The regular workday is 8 hours, between 8:00 AM and 4:30 PM. In addition, a "flex start time" can begin at 7:00 AM or 7:30 AM for 8 hours, just as long as the "flex start time" is for a minimum of 5 days.

HIGH WORK:

40 FEET ABOVE GROUND/FLOOR: +21% OF THE Total Rate.

Radio towers, Transmission towers and Smokestacks: +21% of the Total Rate.

FOREMAN REQUIREMENTS:

On any job where there is only 1 Journeyman electrician, who lays out his or her own job from plans, that electrician shall receive the Foreman rate.

On any job where there are 2 or more electricians, 1 shall be a Foreman.

On all jobs, every 11 electricians shall have 1 designated a Foreman.

On any job where there are 23 or more electricians, 1 shall be a General Foreman.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

2nd Shift (4:30 PM to 12:30 AM): 8 hrs. pay for 7.5 hrs. work + an additional 10% of the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

3rd Shift (12:30 AM to 8:00 AM): 8 hrs. pay for 7 hrs. work + an additional 15% of the regular rate per hour, inclusive benefits.

OVERTIME:

Hours before or after the regular workday, Monday through Friday, that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sundays and Holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS:

New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. Sunday holidays will be observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 26 of 71

County - ESSEX

| Craft: | Electrician-Utility Work (North) | PREVAILING WAGE RATE |
|--------|----------------------------------|----------------------|
|--------|----------------------------------|----------------------|

Rates are located in the "Statewide" rate package

Craft: Electrician-Utility Work (North) APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|------------|--------|------------------|------|------|------|---------|-----------|--|--|--|
| * 6 Months | 60% | 65% | 70% | 75% | 80% | 85% | 90% | | | |
| Benefits | 70% of | Appren | tice | Wage | Rate | for all | intervals | | | |

Craft: Electrician-Utility Work (North) COMMENTS/NOTES

Electrician-Utility Work (North) rates are located in the "Statewide" rate package.

12/18/2025 Page 27 of 71

^{*} The apprentice wage rate is paid at the percentage of the Journeyman Lineman wage rate located in the "Statewide" rate package.

County - ESSEX

Craft: Electrician-Utility Work (South) PREVAILING WAGE RATE

Rates are located in the "Statewide" rate package

Craft: Electrician-Utility Work (South) APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--|--|--|
| 6 Months | 34.59 | 37.47 | 40.36 | 43.24 | 46.12 | 49.00 | 51.89 | | | |
| Benefits | 31.56 | 33.45 | 35.32 | 37.21 | 39.08 | 40.98 | 42.85 | | | |

Craft: Electrician-Utility Work (South) COMMENTS/NOTES

Electrician-Utility Work (South) rates are located in the "Statewide" rate package.

12/18/2025 Page 28 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Elevator Constructor PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 08/26/25 | 03/17/26 | 03/17/27 | 03/17/28 |
|------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
| Journeyman | W83.27 B47.65 | W86.43 B48.96 | W89.76 B50.27 | W92.93 B51.92 |
| | T130.92 | T135.39 | T140.03 | T144.85 |

Craft: Elevator Constructor APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIC | D AND RAT | ES | | | |
|----------|-------|-------|-----------|-------|--|--|--|
| Yearly | 35.73 | 45.80 | 54.13 | 62.45 | | | |
| Benefits | 36.90 | 37.99 | 39.70 | 41.40 | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:1

Craft: Elevator Constructor COMMENTS/NOTES

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE AS OF 3-17-26:

 INTERVAL
 PERIOD AND RATES

 Yearly
 37.10
 47.54
 56.18
 64.82

 Benefits
 37.66
 38.80
 40.60
 42.39

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE AS OF 3-17-27:

 INTERVAL
 PERIOD AND RATES

 Yearly
 38.54
 49.37
 58.34
 67.32

 Benefits
 38.42
 39.62
 41.50
 43.39

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE AS OF 3-17-28:

 INTERVAL
 PERIOD AND RATES

 Yearly
 39.90
 51.11
 60.41
 69.70

 Benefits
 39.67
 40.91
 42.86
 44.81

The regular workday shall consist of either 7 or 8 hours to be established at the beginning of the project, between 7:00 AM and 4:30 PM.

OVERTIME:

For all hours worked before or after the regular workday, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturday and Sunday, shall be paid at double the hourly rate. Holiday pay is one days wages (8 hours) plus double the hourly rate for all hours worked.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day and the day after, Christmas Day. Saturday holidays shall be observed on the previous Friday and Sunday holidays shall be observed on the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 29 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Elevator Modernization & Service

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 08/26/25 | 03/17/26 | 03/17/27 | 03/17/28 |
|------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
| Journeyman | W65.54 B46.47 | W68.06 B47.73 | W70.72 B49.00 | W73.20 B50.61 |
| | T112.01 | T115.79 | T119.72 | T123.81 |

Craft: Elevator Modernization & Service

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|------------------|-------|-------|-------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Yearly | 35.73 | 36.05 | 42.60 | 49.16 | | | | | | |
| Benefits | 36.88 | 37.58 | 39.20 | 40.83 | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:1

Craft: Elevator Modernization & Service

COMMENTS/NOTES

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE AS OF 3-17-26:

 INTERVAL
 PERIOD AND RATES

 Yearly
 37.10
 37.43
 44.24
 51.05

 Benefits
 37.63
 38.37
 40.09
 41.81

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE AS OF 3-17-27:

 INTERVAL
 PERIOD AND RATES

 Yearly
 38.54
 38.90
 45.97
 53.04

 Benefits
 38.39
 39.17
 40.98
 42.79

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE AS OF 3-17-28:

 INTERVAL
 PERIOD AND RATES

 Yearly
 39.90
 40.26
 47.58
 54.90

 Benefits
 39.65
 40.45
 42.32
 44.18

MODERNIZATION (addition, replacement, refurbishing, relocation, or changes in design or appearance, of elevator equipment in existing buildings):

- The regular workday consists of 8 hours, between 7:00 AM and 4:30 PM.

- Overtime

Hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after the regular workday, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturday and Sunday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. Holiday pay is one days wages (8 hours) plus time and one-half the hourly rate for all hours worked.

12/18/2025 Page 30 of 71

County - ESSEX

SERVICE (repair or replacement of parts for the purpose of maintaining elevator equipment in good operating condition):

- The regular workday consists of 8 hours, between 6:00 AM and 6:00 PM.

- Overtime:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after the regular workday, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS (Modernization and Service): New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day and the day after, Christmas Day. Saturday holidays shall be observed on the previous Friday and Sunday holidays shall be observed on the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 31 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Glazier PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 05/01/25 |
|-----------------|----------|
| * Leadman | W54.68 |
| | B33.23 |
| | T87.91 |
| Foreman | W56.68 |
| | B33.47 |
| | T90.15 |
| General Foreman | W58.68 |
| | B33.71 |
| | T92.39 |
| Journeyman | W52.68 |
| | B32.99 |
| | T85.67 |

Craft: Glazier APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|----------|-------|------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--|--|
| 6 Months | 46% | 46% | 55% | 55% | 61% | 61% | 70% | 70% | | |
| Benefits | 13.67 | 13.67 | 15.45 | 15.45 | 18.92 | 18.92 | 20.65 | 20.65 | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:4

Craft: Glazier COMMENTS/NOTES

Hazard/Height Pay: +\$1.00 per hour

* When there are three (3) men working on a jobsite for three (3) days or longer, 1 Journeyman may be designated as a Leadman for the duration of the job, provided he has his OSHA certification.

FOREMAN REQUIREMENTS:

- When there are 4 or more Glaziers on a job, 1 must be designated a Foreman.
- When there are 15 or more Glaziers on a job, 1 must be designated a General Foreman.

The regular workday shall consist of 8 hours, between 7:00 AM and 5:30 PM, Monday to Friday.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- The second shift shall receive an additional 10% of the hourly rate, per hour, and the third shift shall receive an additional 15% of the hourly rate, per hour.
- When 3 shifts are worked, the second shift shall receive 8 hours pay for 7.5 hours of work, and the third shift shall receive 8 hours pay for 7 hours of work.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after the regular workday Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the regular

12/18/2025 Page 32 of 71

County - ESSEX

rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, General Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Saturday holiday observed the preceding Friday. Sunday holiday observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 33 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Heat & Frost Insulator PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 12/18/25 |
|-----------------|-----------------------------|
| Foreman | W63.27 B41.92 T105.19 |
| General Foreman | W65.61 B43.03 T108.64 |
| Journeyman | W60.74 B41.36 T102.10 |

Craft: Heat & Frost Insulator APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|------------------|-------|-------|-------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Yearly | 28.43 | 33.79 | 40.70 | 47.51 | | | | | | |
| Benefits | 25.32 | 28.78 | 31.53 | 34.39 | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:3

Craft: Heat & Frost Insulator COMMENTS/NOTES

NOTE: These rates apply to the installing of insulation on hot and cold mechanical systems.

The regular workday shall be 8 hours between 7:00 AM and 3:30 PM. In addition, the regular workday may also be 8 hours between 6:00 AM and 2:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL:

- Shift work must run for a minimum of 5 consecutive workdays.
- Second Shift shall work 7.5 hours and receive 8 hours pay, at the regular rate, plus 25% per hour.
- Third Shift shall work 7 hours and receive 8 hours pay, at the regular rate, plus 30% per hour.

OVERTIME:

The first 2 hours in excess of 8 per day, hours outside of the regular workday Monday through Friday that are not shift work, and the first 10 hours on Saturday, shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours in excess of 10 per day, and all hours on Sunday and holidays (except Labor Day) shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Labor Day shall be paid at triple the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, President's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Presidential Election Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 34 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Heat & Frost Insulator - Asbestos Worker PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| 25 |
|-------|
| 36.89 |
| 24.92 |
| 31.81 |
| |

Craft: Heat & Frost Insulator - Asbestos Worker APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|------------------|--------|-------|---------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | SEE | HEAT & | FROST | INSULAT | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:3

Craft: Heat & Frost Insulator - Asbestos Worker COMMENTS/NOTES

NOTE: These rates apply only to the removal of insulation materials/asbestos from mechanical systems, including containment erection and demolition, and placing material in appropriate containers.

The regular workday shall be 8 hours between 7:00 AM and 3:30 PM. In addition, the regular workday may also be 8 hours between 6:00 AM and 2:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shift work must run for a minimum of 5 consecutive workdays.
- The second shift shall work 7.5 hours and receive 8 hours pay at the regular rate, plus 25% per hour.
- The third shift shall work 7 hours and receive 8 hours pay at the regular rate, plus 30% per hour.

OVERTIME: The first 2 hours in excess of 8 per day, hours outside of the regular workday Monday through Friday that are not shift work, and the first 10 hours on Saturdays, shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours in excess of 10 per day, and all hours on Sunday and holidays (except Labor Day) shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Labor Day shall be paid at triple the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Presidential Election Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 35 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Industrial Painter- Bridges

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 02/07/25 | 02/01/26 |
|-----------------|----------|----------|
| Foreman | W64.80 | W0.00 |
| | B37.40 | B0.00 |
| | T102.20 | T104.20 |
| General Foreman | W67.30 | W0.00 |
| | B37.40 | B0.00 |
| | T104.70 | T106.70 |
| Journeyman | W59.80 | W0.00 |
| | B37.40 | B0.00 |
| | T97.20 | T99.20 |

Craft: Industrial Painter- Bridges

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|------------------|-------|-------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 6 Months | 50% | 70% | 90% | | | | | | | |
| Benefits | 14.62 | 21.61 | 28.11 | | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:3

Craft: Industrial Painter- Bridges

COMMENTS/NOTES

These rates apply to: All bridges that span waterways, roadways, railways and canyons. All tunnels, overpasses, viaducts and all appurtenances.

FOREMEN REQUIREMENTS:

- When there are 4 or more Painters on a job, 1 shall be designated a Foreman.
- When there are 15 or more Painters on a job, 1 shall be designated a General Foreman.

The regular workday shall consist of 8 hours between 7:00 AM and 5:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- The second shift shall receive an additional 10% of the hourly rate, per hour, and the third shift shall receive an additional 15% of the hourly rate, per hour.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturdays and Sundays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate. All hours on holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, except Veterans Day, which shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate.
- During a regular work week schedule, Saturday may be used as a make-up day lost to inclement weather, paid at the regular rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, at the regular rate, Monday through Thursday. When the four 10-hour day schedule is used, the 11th and 12th hours shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate. After the 12th hour, a worker shall be paid at double the regular rate. Friday may be used as a make-up day lost to inclement weather, paid at the regular rate.

12/18/2025 Page 36 of 71

^{*} Industrial Painters perform work on all industrial structures, such as bridges.

County - ESSEX

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, President's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Saturday holiday observed the preceding Friday. Sunday holiday observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 37 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Industrial Painter- Structural Steel

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 02/07/25 | 02/01/26 | | | |
|-----------------|----------|----------|--|--|--|
| Foreman | W53.54 | W0.00 | | | |
| | B35.05 | B0.00 | | | |
| | T88.59 | T90.59 | | | |
| General Foreman | W56.04 | W0.00 | | | |
| | B35.05 | B0.00 | | | |
| | T91.09 | T93.09 | | | |
| Journeyman | W48.54 | W0.00 | | | |
| | B35.05 | B0.00 | | | |
| | T83.59 | T85.59 | | | |
| | I | I | | | |

Craft: Industrial Painter- Structural Steel

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|-----|--------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | SEE | EE INDUST RIAL PAINTER BRIDGES | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:3

Craft: Industrial Painter- Structural Steel

COMMENTS/NOTES

* Industrial Painters perform work on all industrial structures, such as water tanks, waste water facilitites, refineries, any structural steel work, etc.

These rates apply to: All work in power plants (any aspect). On steeples, on dams, on hangers, transformers, substations, on all open steel, in refineries, tank farms, water/sewerage treatment facilities and on pipelines.

FOREMEN REQUIREMENTS:

- When there are 4 or more Painters on a job, 1 shall be designated a Foreman.
- When there are 15 or more Painters on a job, 1 shall be designated a General Foreman.

The regular workday shall consist of 8 hours between 7:00 AM and 5:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- The second shift shall receive an additional 10% of the hourly rate, per hour, and the third shift shall receive an additional 15% of the hourly rate, per hour.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturdays and Sundays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate. All hours on holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, except for Veterans Day, which shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate.
- During the regular work week schedule, Saturday may be used to make-up a day lost to inclement weather, paid at the regular rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, at the regular rate, Monday through Thursday. When the four 10-hour day schedule is used, the 11th and 12th hours shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate. After the 12th hour, a worker shall be paid at double the regular rate. Friday may be used as a make-up day lost to inclement weather, paid at the regular rate.

12/18/2025 Page 38 of 71

County - ESSEX

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, President's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Saturday holiday observed the preceding Friday. Sunday holiday observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 39 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Industrial Painter- Water Tanks

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 02/07/25 | 02/01/26 |
|-----------------|----------|----------|
| Foreman | W54.59 | W0.00 |
| | B34.70 | B0.00 |
| | T89.29 | T91.29 |
| General Foreman | W57.09 | W0.00 |
| | B34.70 | B0.00 |
| | T91.79 | T93.79 |
| Journeyman | W49.59 | W0.00 |
| | B34.70 | B0.00 |
| | T84.29 | T86.29 |

Craft: Industrial Painter- Water Tanks

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|----------|-------|------------------|-------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 6 Months | 50% | 70% | 90% | | | | | | | |
| Benefits | 14.62 | 21.61 | 28.11 | | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:3

Craft: Industrial Painter- Water Tanks

COMMENTS/NOTES

* Industrial Painters perform work on all industrial structures, such as water tanks, waste water facilitites, refineries, any structural steel work, etc.

These rates apply to: All new and repaint water tanks (interior and exterior).

FOREMEN REQUIREMENTS:

- When there are 4 or more Painters on a job, 1 shall be designated a Foreman.
- When there are 15 or more Painters on a job, 1 shall be designated a General Foreman.

The regular workday shall consist of 8 hours between 7:00 AM and 5:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- The second shift shall receive an additional 10% of the hourly rate, per hour, and the third shift shall receive an additional 15% of the hourly rate, per hour.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturdays and Sundays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate. All hours on holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, except Veterans Day, which shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate.
- During a regular work week schedule, Saturday may be used to make-up a day lost to inclement weather, paid at the regular rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, at the regular rate, Monday through Thursday. When the four 10-hour day schedule is used, the 11th and 12th hours shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate. After the 12th hour, a worker shall be paid at double the regular rate. Friday may be used as a make-up day lost to inclement weather, paid at the regular rate.

12/18/2025 Page 40 of 71

County - ESSEX

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, President's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Saturday holiday observed the preceding Friday. Sunday holiday observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 41 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Ironworker PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 07/01/25 |
|-----------------------|----------|
| Rod/Fence Foreman | W54.94 |
| | B51.87 |
| | T106.81 |
| Rod/Fence Journeyman | W49.94 |
| | B51.87 |
| | T101.81 |
| Structural Foreman | W57.47 |
| | B51.87 |
| | T109.34 |
| Structural Journeyman | W52.24 |
| | B51.87 |
| | T104.11 |
| | |

Craft: Ironworker APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|----------|---------|---------------------------|--------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 6 Months | 50% | 0% 60% Yearly 70% 80% 90% | | | | | | | | |
| Benefits | same as | journeyma | amount | | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:4

Craft: Ironworker COMMENTS/NOTES

HAZARDOUS WASTE WORK: On hazardous waste removal work on a state or federally designated hazardous waste site where the Ironworker is required to wear Level A,B, or C personal protection: + \$3.00 per hour

The regular workday consists of 8 hours between 6:00 AM and 4:30 PM.

FOREMAN REQUIREMENTS:

When there are 2 or more Ironworkers on a job, 1 shall be designated a Foreman.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- When a 2 shift schedule is established, the first, or day shift, shall be established on an 8 hour basis. The second shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis, and receive the regular rate plus 15%.
- When a three shift schedule is established, the first shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis, the second shift on a 7.5 hour basis, and the third shift on a 7 hour basis. The first shift shall receive the regular hourly rate, the second shift shall receive the regular rate plus 15%, and the third shift shall receive the regular rate plus 20%.
- When there is no day shift, and a second or third shift is established, it shall be established on an 8 hour basis.
- When an irregular shift is established for four days or less (unless working a four 10-day day shift) on all projects bid after July 1, 2024, that shift shall be paid time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. However, when an irregular shift is established at five 8-hour days or more the shift premium shall be 15% above the regular rate. When an irregular shift is established at four 10-hour days or more the shift premium shall be 15% above the regular rate. When an irregular shift extends into Saturday, time and one-half shall be paid on the regular rate, inclusive of benefits, beginning at

12/18/2025 Page 42 of 71

County - ESSEX

midnight (12:00 am) for the duration of the shift. A Sunday shift that extends into Monday shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits, until 12:00 am on Monday, at which time the 15% shift differential will apply to the regular rate.

OVERTIME:

- All hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after an established shift that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturday, shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits. Saturday may be used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Saturday is not a make-up day, all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday to Thursday, at straight time. Friday may be used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day.

12/18/2025 Page 43 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Laborer - Asbestos & Hazardous Waste Removal

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 08/01/25 |
|----------------------|----------------------------|
| Foreman | W46.44 B26.21 T72.65 |
| Journeyman (Handler) | W41.28 B26.21 T67.49 |

Craft: Laborer - Asbestos & Hazardous Waste Removal

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|----------|-------|------------------|-------|-----------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Yearly | 24.47 | 28.55 | 32.62 | 36.70 | | | | | | |
| Benefits | 22.31 | for | all | intervals | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - *

Craft: Laborer - Asbestos & Hazardous Waste Removal

COMMENTS/NOTES

NOTE: These rates apply to work in connection with Asbestos, Radiation, Hazardous Waste, Lead, Chemical, Biological, Mold Remediation and Abatement.

The regular workday shall be 8 hours.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Saturday, and all hours on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate.
- Benefits on ALL overtime hours shall be paid at straight time.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, President's Day, Easter, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. (Holidays start at 12:00 am).

12/18/2025 Page 44 of 71

^{*} Ratio of apprentices to journeymen shall not be more than one apprentice for the first journeyman and no more than one (1) apprentice for each additional three (3) journeymen.

County - ESSEX

Craft: Laborer - Building PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 06/18/25 |
|--------------------|----------|
| Class A Journeyman | W40.25 |
| | B33.87 |
| | T74.12 |
| Class B Journeyman | W39.25 |
| | B33.87 |
| | T73.12 |
| Class C Journeyman | W33.36 |
| | B33.87 |
| | T67.23 |
| Foreman | W45.28 |
| | B33.87 |
| | T79.15 |
| General Foreman | W50.31 |
| | B33.87 |
| | T84.18 |
| | |

Craft: Laborer - Building APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|----------|-------|------------------|-------|-------|------------|-----------|--|--|--|--|
| 6 Months | 60% | 70% | 80% | 90% | of Class B | wage rate | | | | |
| Benefit | 30.62 | 30.62 | 30.62 | 30.62 | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - *

* Ratio of apprentices to journeymen shall not be more than one apprentice for the first journeyman and no more than one (1) apprentice for each additional three (3) journeymen.

Craft: Laborer - Building

COMMENTS/NOTES

CLASS A: Specialist laborer including mason tender or concrete pour crew; scaffold builder (scaffolds up to 14 feet in height); operator of forklifts, Bobcats (or equivalent machinery), jack hammers, tampers, motorized tampers and compactors, vibrators, street cleaning machines, hydro demolition equipment, riding motor buggies, conveyors, burners; and nozzlemen on gunite work.

CLASS B: Basic laborer - includes all laborer work not listed in Class A or Class C.

CLASS C: Janitorial-type light clean-up work associated with the TURNOVER of a project, or part of a project, to the owner. All other clean-up work is Class B.

The regular workday shall be 8 hours between 6:00 AM and 6:00 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

12/18/2025

- Shift work must run for a minimum of 5 consecutive workdays.
- When a 2-shift schedule is worked, including a day shift, both shifts shall be established on the basis of 8 hours pay for 8 hours worked. The second shift shall receive the regular rate plus an additional 10%.
- When a 3-shift schedule is worked, the day shift shall be established on the basis of 8 hours pay for 8 hours worked, the second shift shall be established on the basis of 8 hours pay for 7.5 hours worked, and the third shift shall be established

Page 45 of 71

County - ESSEX

on the basis of 8 hours pay for 7 hours worked. The day shift shall receive the regular rate, the second shift shall receive the regular rate plus an additional 10%, and the third shift shall receive the regular rate plus an additional 15%.

- When a second or third shift is worked with no day shift, the second or third shift shall be established on the basis of 8 hours pay for 8 hours worked. The second shift shall receive the regular rate plus an additional 10%, and the third shift shall receive the regular rate plus an additional 15%.
- When an irregular shift must be established this shift shall receive the regular rate plus an additional 10%.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, or outside the regular workday that are not shift work, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate. Saturday may be used as a make-up day (paid at straight time) for a day lost to inclement weather, or for a holiday that is observed during the work week, Monday through Friday. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked Monday to Thursday, at straight time, with Friday used a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate.
- Benefits on ALL overtime hours shall be paid at time and one-half.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 46 of 71

County - ESSEX

| Craft: La | borer - Heavy 8 | & General | PREVAILING WAGE RATE |
|-----------|-----------------|-----------|----------------------|
| | | | |

Rates are located in the "Statewide" rate package

Craft: Laborer - Heavy & General APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|------------|-------|------------------|-----|-----------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 1000 Hours | 60% | 70% | 80% | 90% | | | | | | |
| Benefit | 25.08 | for | all | intervals | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - *

As of 3-1-25, benefits shall be 26.13.

As of 3-1-26, benefits shall be 27.13.

Craft: Laborer - Heavy & General COMMENTS/NOTES

Heavy & General Laborer rates are located in the "Statewide" rate package.

12/18/2025 Page 47 of 71

^{*} No more than 1 apprentice for the first journeyman and no more than 1 apprentice for each additional 3 journeymen.

County - ESSEX

Craft: Laborer-Residential and Modular Construction

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 04/01/25 | 04/01/26 | 04/01/27 |
|---|---------------------------|---------------------------|---------------------------|
| * Skilled Tradesman (only applies to Modular Construction) | W36.00 | W36.50 | W37.00 |
| | B5.45 | B5.45 | B5.45 |
| | T41.45 | T41.95 | T42.45 |
| Foreman (person directing crew, regardless of his skill classification) | W38.00 | W38.50 | W39.00 |
| | B5.45 | B5.45 | B5.45 |
| | T43.45 | T43.95 | T44.45 |
| Residential and Modular Construction Laborer | W32.00 B5.45 T37.45 | W32.50 B5.45 T37.95 | W33.00 B5.45 T38.45 |

Craft: Laborer-Residential and Modular Construction

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | | |
|----------------|-----------|------------------|-----------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| As shown | 800 hours | 600 hours | 600 hours | | | | | | | | |
| wage & benefit | 70% | 80% | 90% | | | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen-

One (1) apprentice shall be allowed for the first journeyman on site and no more than one (1) additional apprentice for each additional three (3) journeymen on site.

Craft: Laborer-Residential and Modular Construction

COMMENTS/NOTES

* SKILLED TRADESMAN-

any worker doing work not typically done by a Building Laborer. Some examples are installing interior doors, sheet rock, hooking up appliances, installing light fixtures, installing railing systems, etc. Please note where local building codes require that certain work be performed under the supervision of a licensed tradesman (i.e. Plumber, Electrician, etc.) Laborers shall work under such supervision.

RESIDENTIAL CONSTRUCTION- All residential construction (not commercial), single-family, stand-alone duplex houses, townhouses and multi-family buildings of not more than four (4) floors. Each housing unit must be fully and independently functional; each housing unit must have its own kitchen and bathroom. The definition includes all incidental items such as site work, parking areas, utilities, streets and sidewalks. Please note the construction must be Residential in nature. A First Floor at or below grade may contain commercial space not to exceed 50% square footage of the floor; at least 50% of the First Floor must contain living accommodations or related nonresidential uses (e.g. laundry space, recreation/hobby rooms, and/or corridor space). Basement stories below grade used for storage, parking, mechanical systems/equipment, etc., are considered basement stories which are not used in determining the building's height even if used for storage purposes. In addition, barracks and dormitories are not considered residential projects.

MODULAR RESIDENTIAL CONSTRUCTION- all aspects of modular residential construction (not commercial) at the site of installation of structures of no more than four (4) stories, including all excavation and site preparation, footings and foundation systems whether poured on-site or prefabricated, all underground waterproofing, underground utilities, concrete slabs, sidewalks, driveways, paving, hardscape and landscaping. Please note the construction must be Residential as defined above. All work performed by the Set Crew (the crew of workers who set the modular boxes on the foundation), including the rigging, setting, attaching and assembly of all modules and structural members, preparation of the foundation

12/18/2025 Page 48 of 71

County - ESSEX

to accept modules, such as sill plates, connection of all in-module and under-module connections including, but not limited to, plumbing, electrical, HVAC, fire suppression, CAT5, telephone, television/internet, and fiber optic, the building or installation of any porches or decks regardless of material or method of construction, the on-site installation of, or completion of any roof system, doors, windows and fenestrations, including flashing, gutter and soffit systems, waterproofing, insulation and interior and exterior trim work, and painting. Please note that modular construction does not include on-site stick built construction, tip up construction or panel built construction.

The regular workday shall be 8 hours between 6:00 AM and 6:00 PM.

OVERTIME:

Hours worked in excess of 8 per day/40 per week, Monday through Saturday, and all hours worked on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOILDAYS:

New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day.

12/18/2025 Page 49 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Millwright PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 05/01/25 |
|------------|-----------------------------|
| Foreman | W67.67 B40.72 T108.39 |
| Journeyman | W58.84 B35.49 T94.33 |

Craft: Millwright APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|-----------|------------------|------|------|------|---------|-----------|----------|--|--|--|
| 6 Months | 40% | 55% | 65% | 80% | 90% | | | | | | |
| Benefits | 59.25% of | Appren | tice | Wage | Rate | for all | intervals | + \$0.63 | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:3

Craft: Millwright COMMENTS/NOTES

FOREMAN REQUIREMENTS:

- When there are 2 or more Millwrights on a job, 1 shall be designated as a Foreman.

The regular workday shall consist of 8 hours, starting between 6:00 AM and 9:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- When a 2 shift schedule (including a day shift) is established, the day shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis. The second shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis, and receive the regular rate plus 15%, inclusive of benefits.
- When a three shift schedule is established, the first shift shall be established on an 8 hour basis, the second shift on a 7.5 hour basis, and the third shift on a 7 hour basis. The first shift shall receive the regular hourly rate, the second shift shall receive the regular rate plus 15% and the third shift shall receive the regular rate plus 20%, inclusive of benefits.
- When there is no day shift, and a second or third shift is established, it shall be established on an 8 hour basis. The second shift shall receive the regular rate plus 15% and the third shift shall receive the regular rate plus 20%, inclusive of benefits.
- When an irregular shift must be established, this shift shall receive the regular rate plus 15%, inclusive of benefits.

OVERTIME:

- All hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after an established shift that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday to Thursday, at straight time. Friday may be used as a make-up day for a day lost due to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays will be observed the following Monday. Veterans' Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving.

12/18/2025 Page 50 of 71

County - ESSEX

| Craft: Operating Engineer | PREVAILING WAGE RATE |
|---------------------------|----------------------|
|---------------------------|----------------------|

Rates are located in the "Statewide" rate package

Craft: Operating Engineer APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|-----|------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Yearly | 60% | % 70% 80% 90% | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - *

Craft: Operating Engineer COMMENTS/NOTES

Operating Engineer rates are located in the "Statewide" rate package.

12/18/2025 Page 51 of 71

^{* 1} apprentice for each piece of heavy equipment. At least 10 pieces of heavy equipment or a minimum of 5 Operating Engineers must be on site.

County - ESSEX

| Craft: | Operating Engineer - Field Engineer | PREVAILING WAGE RATE |
|--------|-------------------------------------|----------------------|
|--------|-------------------------------------|----------------------|

Rates are located in the "Statewide" rate package

Craft: Operating Engineer - Field Engineer

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|-----|------------------------------|-----|-----|----------|------------|-----|------|--|--|--|
| Yearly | 70% | 0% 75% of Rod/ Chainman Wage | | | | | | | | | |
| Yearly | | | 80% | 90% | Transit/ | Instrument | man | Wage | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - *

Craft: Operating Engineer - Field Engineer

COMMENTS/NOTES

Operating Engineer - Field Engineer rates are located in the "Statewide" rate package.

12/18/2025 Page 52 of 71

^{*} No more than 1 Field Engineer Apprentice per Survey Crew.

County - ESSEX

Craft: Painter - Line Striping PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 12/01/25 |
|---|----------------------------|
| Apprentice (1st year) | W32.04 B17.68 |
| | T49.72 |
| Apprentice (2nd year) | W36.55 B28.63 T65.18 |
| Foreman (Charge Person) | W46.12 B29.41 T75.53 |
| Journeyman 1 (at least 1 year of working exp. as a journeyman) | W41.35 B29.41 T70.76 |
| Journeyman 2 (at least 2 years of working exp. as a journeyman) | W45.12 B29.41 T74.53 |

Craft: Painter - Line Striping APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:1

Craft: Painter - Line Striping COMMENTS/NOTES

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Saturday, and all hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. Veterans Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving .

12/18/2025 Page 53 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Paperhanger PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 05/01/25 |
|------------|----------------------------|
| Foreman | W55.12 B31.61 T86.73 |
| Journeyman | W50.11 B31.61 T81.72 |

Craft: Paperhanger APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|-----|-----------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | SEE | E COMMER CIAL PAINTER | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Craft: Paperhanger COMMENTS/NOTES

FOREMEN REQUIREMENTS:

- When there are 4 or more Paperhangers on a job, 1 shall be designated a Foreman.

The regular workday shall consist of 8 hours between 7:00 AM and 5:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- The second shift shall receive an additional 10% of the hourly rate, per hour, and the third shift shall receive an additional 15% of the hourly rate, per hour.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate.
- Saturday or Sunday may be used to make up a day lost to inclement weather, at straight time.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, at straight time, Monday through Friday.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, President's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, General Election Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day

12/18/2025 Page 54 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Pipefitter PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 05/06/25 |
|------------|-----------------------------|
| Foreman | W60.59 B54.63 T115.22 |
| Journeyman | W56.34 B50.80 T107.14 |

Craft: Pipefitter APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|----------|-------|------------------|-------|-------|-------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Yearly | 35% | 45% | 55% | 65% | 75% | | | | | |
| Benefit | 28.73 | 32.11 | 35.49 | 38.87 | 42.25 | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:5

Craft: Pipefitter COMMENTS/NOTES

FOREMAN REQUIREMENTS:

- When there are 2 or more Journeyman Pipefitters on a job, 1 shall be designated a Foreman.
- There shall be a Foreman for every 8 Journeyman Pipefitters on a job.

The regular workday shall be 8 hours between 7:00 AM and 3:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL:

- 2nd Shift (3:30 PM-11:30 PM) shall work 7.5 hours and receive 8 hours pay at the regular rate, plus 10% per hour on the total rate.
- 3rd Shift (11:30 PM-7:00 AM) shall work 7 hours and receive 8 hours pay at the regular rate, plus 15% per hour on the total rate.

OVERTIME:

- All hours worked in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, and all hours worked on Saturday, shall be paid at time and one-half, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at double time, inclusive of benefits.
- By mutual agreement, employees may work four 10-hour days, Monday to Thursday, at straight time rate. Friday may be used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather, and may be paid at straight time. If Friday is not a make-up day, the first 8 hours shall be paid at time and one-half, inclusive of benefits; hours in excess of 8 shall be paid at double time, inclusive of benefits.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL (Maintenance Work Only):

- 2nd Shift (3:30 PM-11:30 PM) shall work 7.5 hours and receive 8 hours pay at the regular rate, plus 10% per hour on the total rate.
- 3rd Shift (11:30 PM-7:00 AM) shall work 7 hours and receive 8 hours pay at the regular rate, plus 15% per hour on the total rate.

OVERTIME (Maintenance Work Only):

- All hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Saturday, shall be paid at time and one-half, inclusive of benefits. All

12/18/2025 Page 55 of 71

County - ESSEX

hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double time, inclusive of benefits.

NOTE: Maintenance work is work to repair, restore, or improve the efficiency of existing facilities. This does NOT apply to ANY new construction.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays are observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 56 of 71

County - ESSEX

| Craft: Plasterer F | PREVAILING WAGE RATE |
|--------------------|----------------------|
|--------------------|----------------------|

See Bricklayer, Stone Mason Rates

Craft: Plasterer COMMENTS/NOTES

See BRICKLAYER, STONE MASON Rates

12/18/2025 Page 57 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Plumber PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 05/01/25 |
|-----------------|----------|
| Foreman | W67.06 |
| | B45.40 |
| | T112.46 |
| General Foreman | W71.40 |
| | B45.40 |
| | T116.80 |
| Journeyman | W62.09 |
| | B45.40 |
| | T107.49 |
| | I |

Craft: Plumber APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIC | D AND RAT | ES | | | | |
|----------|-------|-------|-----------|-------|-------|--|--|--|
| Yearly | 35% | 45% | 55% | 65% | 75% | | | |
| Benefits | 19.23 | 25.20 | 27.57 | 29.95 | 32.32 | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - *

Craft: Plumber COMMENTS/NOTES

FOREMAN REQUIREMENTS:

- On any job having 2 or more Plumbers, 1 shall be designated as a Foreman.
- On any job having 9 or more Plumbers, 2 shall be designated as Foremen.

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, between 7:00 AM and 4:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shift work must continue for a minimum of 5 consecutive workdays.
- When two shifts are worked, the second shift shall work 7.5 hours and receive 8 hours pay, at a rate equal to the regular rate plus 10%, inclusive of benefits.
- When a third shift is worked, the third shift shall work 7 hours and receive 8 hours pay, at a rate equal to the regular rate plus 15%, inclusive of benefits.

OVERTIME:

- All hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after the regular workday that are not shift work, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturday, shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday to Thursday, at straight time. Friday may be used as a make-up day for a lost day. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 58 of 71

^{*} Employers may employ 1 apprentice on any job where 1 or 2 journeymen are employed. Thereafter, 1 apprentice may be employed for every 4 journeymen.

County - ESSEX

Craft: Roofer PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 06/01/25 |
|------------|----------|
| Foreman | W48.77 |
| | B33.34 |
| | T82.11 |
| Journeyman | W45.77 |
| | B33.34 |
| | T79.11 |
| | |

Craft: Roofer APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--|--|
| 6 Months | 17.80 | 22.26 | 26.71 | 28.94 | 31.16 | 33.39 | 35.62 | 40.07 | | |
| Benefits | 2.19 | 2.19 | 28.34 | 28.34 | 28.34 | 28.34 | 28.34 | 28.34 | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - *

- * [A] For roofing jobs that are of the 1 or single ply nature: 1:2 or fraction thereof
- [B] For roofing jobs on new built up roofs: 1:3 or fraction thereof
- [C] For roofing jobs that are of a tear-off nature: 1:2 or fraction thereof
- [D] For re-roofing jobs {not requiring complete removal of existing systems; installation done over existing roof}: 1:3 or fraction thereof

Craft: Roofer COMMENTS/NOTES

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE AS OF 6-1-25:

INTERVAL PERIOD AND RATES

6 Months 18.30 22.88 27.46 29.75 32.03 34.33 36.62 41.19 Benefits 2.44 2.44 29.09 29.09 29.09 29.09 29.09 29.09

Pitch: +.50 per hour

Mop Man: +.30 per hour

The regular workday consists of 8 hours between 8:00 AM and 4:30 PM.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after the regular workday, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day.

12/18/2025 Page 59 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Sheet Metal Sign Installation

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 04/03/25 |
|------------|----------------------------|
| Foreman | W46.50 B46.30 T92.80 |
| Journeyman | W43.50 B46.30 T89.80 |

Craft: Sheet Metal Sign Installation

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|------------|-------|------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| 1000 hours | 35% | 40% | 45% | 50% | 55% | 60% | 65% | 70% | 75% | 80% |
| Benefits | 15.35 | 17.52 | 19.67 | 21.83 | 24.51 | 26.71 | 28.93 | 31.12 | 33.34 | 35.53 |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:3

Craft: Sheet Metal Sign Installation

COMMENTS/NOTES

FOREMAN REQUIREMENT:

When there are 6 or more Sheet Metal Sign Installers on a job, 1 shall be designated a Foreman.

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, between 7:00 AM and 3:30 PM.

OVERTIME:

Hours before or after the regular workday, Monday though Friday, and all hours worked on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

Four (4) 10 hour days may be worked, Monday through Friday, at straight time, for projects lasting at least one week in duration. The fifth day may be used as a make-up day at straight time for a day lost due to inclement weather. However, if the fifth day is not a make-up day, all hours worked will be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day and the day after, Christmas Day. Saturday holidays observed the preceding Friday, Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 60 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Sheet Metal Worker PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 07/02/25 |
|-----------------|----------|
| Foreman | W63.84 |
| | B51.93 |
| | T115.77 |
| General Foreman | W64.84 |
| | B51.93 |
| | T116.77 |
| Journeyman | W59.84 |
| | B51.93 |
| | T111.77 |

Craft: Sheet Metal Worker APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|----------|-----|------------------|-----|-----|----|---------|-----|---------|------|--|
| Yearly | 45% | 48% | 52% | 65% | of | Journey | man | Wage | Rate | |
| Benefit | 45% | 48% | 52% | 65% | of | Journey | man | Benefit | Rate | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:4

Craft: Sheet Metal Worker COMMENTS/NOTES

FOREMAN REQUIREMENTS:

- When there are 2 or more Sheet Metal Workers on a project, 1 must be designated a Foreman.
- When there are 17 or more Sheet Metal Workers on a project, 1 must be designated a General Foreman.
- When there is only 1 Sheet Metal Worker (1 Journeyman) on a project, he/she shall receive \$1.00 more than the regular Journeyman's rate.

The regular workday is 8 hours between 7:00 AM and 4:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL:

- 2nd Shift (3:30 PM 12:00 AM): +17% of regular hourly rate
- Shift work must run for a minimum of 5 consecutive workdays.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after the regular workday, that are not shift work, and the first 10 hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half of the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. Hours in excess of 10 per day on Saturday, and all hours on Sundays and holidays shall be at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Friday, at straight time, with hours in excess of 10 per day, and hours in excess of 40 per week paid at the overtime rates listed above.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays will be observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 61 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Sprinkler Fitter PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 07/01/25 |
|-----------------|----------|
| Foreman | W74.77 |
| | B42.30 |
| | T117.07 |
| General Foreman | W78.36 |
| | B42.30 |
| | T120.66 |
| Journeyman | W69.97 |
| | B42.30 |
| | T112.27 |

Craft: Sprinkler Fitter APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|------------|------------------|--|--|--|--|-----------|---------|---------|------|
| 1000 hours | | | | | | | | 80% | 85% |
| Benefits | | | | | | Intervals | 9 to 10 | Jourymn | Ben. |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:3

Craft: Sprinkler Fitter COMMENTS/NOTES

Apprentice rate schedule for those apprentices registered as of 7-1-13:

Interval Period and Rates

1000 Hrs. 25% 30% 40% 45% 55% 60% 70% 75% 85% 90% Ben. 14.90 14.90 32.30 32.30 32.30 Intervals 7-10 Journy. Ben.

Apprentice rate schedule for those apprentices registered as of 7-1-22:

Interval Period and Rates

The regular workday consists of 8 consecutive hours between 6:00 AM and 4:30 PM.

FOREMAN REQUIREMENTS:

- The first Sprinkler Fitter on the job must be designated a Foreman.
- On any job having 12 or more Sprinkler Fitters, one must be designated a General Foreman.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shift work must run for a minimum of 2 consecutive workdays.
- 2nd and 3rd shift shall receive an additional 15% of the regular rate, per hour.
- Any "off hours" shift starting at 8:00 PM or later shall receive an additional 25% of the regular rate, per hour.

OVERTIME:

The first 2 hours in excess of 8 per day, after the regular workday that are not shift work, Monday through Friday, shall be

12/18/2025 Page 62 of 71

County - ESSEX

paid at time and one-half the regular rate. Hours worked in excess of 10 per day, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturday, Sunday and holidays, shall be paid double the regular rate.

Four 10 hour days may be worked, Monday through Friday, at straight-time.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day.

12/18/2025 Page 63 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Tile Finisher-Marble PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 07/08/25 |
|----------|----------|
| Finisher | W50.44 |
| | B38.15 |
| | T88.59 |

Craft: Tile Finisher-Marble APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | |
|-----------|-------|------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--|--|
| 750 Hours | 27.60 | 41.50 | 44.98 | 48.45 | 51.94 | 54.81 | 64.66 | | |
| Benefits | 27.01 | 30.11 | 30.88 | 31.66 | 32.43 | 38.66 | 40.97 | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:4

Craft: Tile Finisher-Marble COMMENTS/NOTES

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 7 per day, Monday through Friday, and the first 7 hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. Hours in excess of 7 on Saturdays and all hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day and the day after, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 64 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Tile Setter - Ceramic PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 06/19/25 |
|----------|-----------------------------|
| Finisher | W50.05 B33.90 T83.95 |
| Setter | W64.90 B37.28 T102.18 |

Craft: Tile Setter - Ceramic APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|-----------|-----|------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| 750 hours | 35% | 40% | 50% | 55% | 60% | 65% | 70% | 75% | 80% | 90% |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:4

Craft: Tile Setter - Ceramic COMMENTS/NOTES

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 7 per day, and the first 10 hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Saturdays after 10 hours shall be paid double the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day.

12/18/2025 Page 65 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Tile Setter - Marble PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 07/08/25 |
|-------------|----------|
| Tile Setter | W64.66 |
| | B40.97 |
| | T105.63 |

Craft: Tile Setter - Marble APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | | |
|-----------|------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--|--|
| 750 Hours | 27.60 | 41.50 | 44.98 | 48.45 | 51.94 | 54.81 | 64.66 | | |
| Benefits | 27.01 | 30.11 | 30.88 | 31.66 | 32.43 | 38.66 | 40.97 | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:4

Craft: Tile Setter - Marble COMMENTS/NOTES

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 7 per day, Monday through Friday, and the first 7 hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. Hours in excess of 7 on Saturdays, and all hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day and the day after, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 66 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Tile Setter - Mosaic & Terrazzo

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 07/01/25 |
|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Grinder or Assistant | W60.17 B42.80 T102.97 |
| Mechanic | W61.77 B42.82 T104.59 |
| Terrazzo Resinous Worker | W51.28 B35.12 T86.40 |

Craft: Tile Setter - Mosaic & Terrazzo

APPRENTICE RATE SCHEDULE

| INTERVAL | | PERIOD AND RATES | | | | | | | |
|------------|-----|------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|--|--|--|
| 1500 Hours | 35% | 45% | 60% | 70% | 80% | 90% | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |

Ratio of Apprentices to Journeymen - 1:5

Craft: Tile Setter - Mosaic & Terrazzo COMMENTS/NOTES

The regular workday consists of 7 hours, between 8:00 AM and 3:30 PM.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 7 per day, or before or after the regular workday, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Good Friday, Monday after Easter, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day and the day after, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

12/18/2025 Page 67 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Truck Driver PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 05/16/25 | 05/01/26 | 05/01/27 |
|-----------------------|----------|----------|----------|
| Bucket, Utility, | W46.41 | W47.41 | W48.41 |
| Pick-up, Fuel | B45.28 | B47.28 | B49.03 |
| Delivery trucks | T91.69 | T94.69 | T97.44 |
| Dump truck, Asphalt | W46.41 | W47.41 | W48.41 |
| Distributor, Tack | B45.28 | B47.28 | B49.03 |
| Spreader | T91.69 | T94.69 | T97.44 |
| Euclid-type vehicles | W46.51 | W47.51 | W48.51 |
| (large, off-road | B45.28 | B47.28 | B49.03 |
| equipment) | T91.79 | T94.79 | T97.54 |
| Helper on Asphalt | W46.41 | W47.41 | W48.41 |
| Distributor truck | B45.28 | B47.28 | B49.03 |
| | T91.69 | T94.69 | T97.44 |
| Low Boy Driver | W48.51 | W49.51 | W50.51 |
| | B45.28 | B47.28 | B49.03 |
| | T93.79 | T96.79 | T99.54 |
| Slurry Seal, | W46.41 | W47.41 | W48.41 |
| Seeding/Fertilizing/ | B45.28 | B47.28 | B49.03 |
| Mulching truck | T91.69 | T94.69 | T97.44 |
| Straight 3-axle truck | W46.41 | W47.41 | W48.41 |
| | B45.28 | B47.28 | B49.03 |
| | T91.69 | T94.69 | T97.44 |
| Tractor Trailer | W46.51 | W47.51 | W48.51 |
| (all types) | B45.28 | B47.28 | B49.03 |
| | T91.79 | T94.79 | T97.54 |
| Vacuum or Vac-All | W46.41 | W47.41 | W48.41 |
| truck (entire unit) | B45.28 | B47.28 | B49.03 |
| | T91.69 | T94.69 | T97.44 |
| Winch Trailer | W46.61 | W47.61 | W48.61 |
| | B45.28 | B47.28 | B49.03 |
| | T91.89 | T94.89 | T97.64 |

Craft: Truck Driver COMMENTS/NOTES

BLENDED RATE:

When a truck driver is performing work on the site and also serving as a material delivery driver, the driver shall be paid a "blended rate" which shall be 80% of the above-listed wage rates, plus the full benefit rate. This rate shall be used when the driver "round robins" for a minimum of 6 hours during the work day.

HAZARDOUS WASTE REMOVAL:

- On hazardous waste removal work on a State designated hazardous waste site where the driver is in direct contact with hazardous materials and when personal protective equipment is required for respiratory, skin, and eye protection, the driver shall receive an additional \$3.00 per hour (with or without protective gear).
- A hazardous waste related certified worker at a designated hazardous waste site who is not working in a zone requiring level A, B or C personal protection shall receive an additional \$1.00 per hour.

Page 68 of 71

County - ESSEX

TRUCK FOREMAN: \$1.00 per hour above regular rate. Overtime shall be increased accordingly.

The regular workday shall be 8 hours, starting between 6:00 AM and 8:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL:

- Shifts starting at 4:00 PM (2nd Shift): + \$5.00 per hour.
- Shifts starting at 12:00 AM (midnight/3rd Shift): time and one-half the hourly rate.
- Shifts starting at a time other than from 6:00 AM to 8:00 AM, when such hours are mandated by the project owner: + \$5.00 per hour.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after the regular workday, Monday through Friday, that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.
- Employees may work four 10-hour days at straight time, Monday through Thursday, with Friday used as a make-up day for a lost day. If Friday is not a make-up day, then all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.
- -Benefits on overtime shall be \$45.03.
- -Benefits on overtime on 5-1-26 shall be \$47.03.
- -Benefits on overtime on 5-1-27 shall be \$48.78.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, President's Day, Memorial Day (Decoration Day), July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays will be observed the following Monday. The day after Thanksgiving may be substituted for Veterans Day.

12/18/2025 Page 69 of 71

County - ESSEX

Craft: Truck Driver-Material Delivery Driver

PREVAILING WAGE RATE

| | 05/16/25 | 05/01/26 | 05/01/27 |
|--------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
| Driver | W37.12 B45.28 | W37.82 B47.28 | W38.72 B49.03 |
| | T82.40 | T85.10 | T87.75 |

Craft: Truck Driver-Material Delivery Driver COMMENTS/NOTES

BLENDED RATE:

When a truck driver is performing work on the site and also serving as a material delivery driver, the driver shall be paid a "blended rate". See the "Truck Driver" craft for the blended rates.

Truck Foreman/Shop Steward: +\$0.25 per hour

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- 2nd Shift shall receive an additional \$0.50 per hour
- 3rd Shift shall receive time and one-half the hourly rate.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after the regular workday that are not shift work, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, President's Day, Memorial Day (Decoration Day), July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays will be observed the following Monday. The day after Thanksgiving may be substituted for Veterans Day.

12/18/2025 Page 70 of 71

County - ESSEX

| Craft: | Welder | PREVAILING WAGE RATE |
|--------|--------|----------------------|
| | | |

Welder

Craft: Welder COMMENTS/NOTES

Welders rate is the same as the craft to which the welding is incidental $\!.$

12/18/2025 Page 71 of 71

STATEWIDE RATES

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

{For apprentice rates refer to "Operating Engineers" apprentice rates in any county rate package}

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, Monday to Friday, between 6:00 AM and 5:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shift work must be established for 5 consecutive workdays.
- Any work started outside of the allowed start time, 6:00 AM to 9:00 AM, except for * tidal work, shall be considered an irregular shift and paid at straight time, plus 15% for the first eight hours, inclusive of benefits.
- * FOR TIDAL WORK- a contractor can start their job according to tide schedules (tide schedules are the various high and low tides related to this work), providing the eight hour shift is completed between the hours of 5:00 AM and 6:30 PM.
- All time worked in excess of an established shift (an established shift is a shift that is determined at the time of the bid) shall be paid at the applicable overtime rate. When a portion of an established shift works into Saturday, Sunday or a holiday, that time worked shall be paid at the established shift rate.
- When working with other trades who receive a higher irregular shift differential, these employees shall also receive the higher differential rate.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, or outside of the regular workday, Monday through Friday, that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with all hours on Friday paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. When all trades on a particular job site agree, the day after Thanksgiving may be substituted for Veterans Day.

For projects bid after April 1, 2020, on hazardous waste removal work of any kind, including a state or federally designated site, where the operating engineer is required to wear level A, B, or C personal protection, the operating engineer shall receive an hourly wage rate of his regular hourly wage plus \$5.00 per hour.

- An operating engineer working at a hazardous waste removal project or site at a task requiring hazardous waste related certification, but who is not working in a zone requiring level A, B, or C personal protection, shall receive an hourly wage rate of his regular rate plus \$1.00 per hour.

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

| Effoc | tivo | Date | ٠. |
|-------|------|------|----|

Hydro-Blaster

| Effective Da | ites: | | | | | |
|--------------------------|-----------------------------------|---|--|--------------------------|---------------------------|---|
| | 07/01/20 | 25 | | | | |
| Rate 60.13 | Fringe 40.40 | Total 100.53 | | | | |
| CLASSIFIC | | 100.55 | | | | |
| A-Frame | Anono. | | | | | |
| | ombination) | | | | | |
| Boom Attac | chment on load | ders (Except pipehoo | ok) | | | |
| Boring & Dr | rilling Machine | | | | | |
| Brush Chop | oper, Brush Sh | redder, Tree Shredd | er, Tree Shearer | | | |
| Bulldozer, f | inish grade | | | | | |
| Cableway | | | | | | |
| Carryall | | | | | | |
| Concrete P | ump | | | | | |
| Concrete P | umping Syster | m (Pumpcrete & simi | ilar types) | | | |
| Conveyor, | 125 feet or lon | ger | | | | |
| Drill Doctor | (Duties includ | le dust collector and | maintenance) | | | |
| Front End L | ₋oader (2 cu. y | ds. but less than 5 c | :u. yds.) | | | |
| Grader, finis | sh | | | | | |
| Groove Cut | tting Machine (| (ride-on type) | | | | |
| Heater Plar | ner | | | | | |
| hydraulic, snorkle ro | single and dou of, and other s | ower Hoist (all types uble drum, concrete, similar types, Except ditional \$2.00 per hou | brick shaft caisson Chicago-boom type | n, e) * receives an a | hour on 100 ft. up to 199 |) |
| Hydraulic C | crane (10 tons | & under) | | | | |
| Hydraulic D |)redge | | | | | |
| Hydro-Axe | | | | | | |

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 60.13 40.40 100.53

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Jack (screw, air hydraulic, power-operated unit, or console type, Except hand jack or pile load test type)

Log Skidder

Pan

Paver, concrete

Plate & Frame Filter Press

Pumpcrete (unit type)

Pumpcrete, Squeezecrete, or Concrete Pumping machine (regardless of size)

Scraper

Side Boom

Straddle Carrier (Ross and similar types)

Whiphammer

Winch Truck (hoisting)

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 58.22 40.40 98.62

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Asphalt Curbing Machine

Asphalt Plant Engineer

Asphalt Spreader

Autograde Curb Trimmer & Sidewalk Shoulder Slipform (CMI & similar types)

Autograde Curecrete Machine (CMI & similar types)

Autograde Tube Finisher & Texturing Machine (CMI & similar types)

Bar Bending Machines (Power)

Batcher, Batching Plant, & Crusher [On Site]

Belt Conveyor System

Boom-Type Skimmer Machine

Bridge Deck Finisher

Bulldozer (all sizes)

Captain (Power Boats)

Car Dumper (railroad)

Compressor & Blower unit for loading/unloading of concrete, cement, fly ash, or similar type materials (used independently or truck-mounted)

Compressor (2 or 3 battery)

Concrete Breaking Machine

Concrete Cleaning/Decontamination Machine

Concrete Finishing Machine

Concrete Saw or Cutter (ride-on type)

Concrete Spreader (Hetzel, Rexomatic & similar types)

Concrete Vibrator

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

Ladder (motorized)

| Lifective Da | 163. | |
|---------------|------------------|--|
| | 07/01/202 | 25 |
| Rate | J | Total |
| 58.22 | | 98.62 |
| CLASSIFICA | | |
| Conveyors - | - under 125 fee | et . |
| Crane Signa | alman | |
| Crushing M | achine | |
| Directional I | Boring Machin | е |
| Ditching Ma | ichine - Small | (Ditchwitch, Vermeer or similar types) |
| Dope Pot - I | Mechanical (w | ith or without pump) |
| Dumpster | | |
| Elevator | | |
| Fireman | | |
| Fork Lift (Ed | conomobile, Lu | ıll & similar types) |
| Front End L | oader (1 cu. y | d. and over but less than 2 cu. yds.) |
| Generator (| 2 or 3 battery) | |
| Giraffe Grin | der | |
| Goldhofer/H | lydraulic Jacki | ng Trailer |
| Grader & M | otor Patrols | |
| Grout Pump |) | |
| Gunnite Ma | chine (Excludi | ng nozzle) |
| Hammer - V | /ibratory (in co | njunction with generator) |
| Heavy Equi | pment Robotic | s - Operator/Technician |
| Hoist (roof, | tugger, aerial բ | platform hoist, house car) |
| Hopper | | |
| Hopper Doo | ors (power ope | rated) |

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

Tractor

Transfer Machines

| Effective Dates: | |
|---|---------------------------|
| 07/01/2025 | |
| Rate Fringe Total | |
| 58.22 40.40 98.62 | |
| CLASSIFICATIONS: | |
| Laddervator | |
| Locomotive (Dinky-type) | |
| Maintenance Utility Man | |
| Master Environmental Maintenance Tech | nician |
| Mechanic | |
| Mixer (Except paving mixers) | |
| Pavement Breaker (truck-mounted or sm ride-on type) | all self-propelled |
| Pavement Breaker - maintenance of com | pressor or hydraulic unit |
| Pipe Bending Machine (power) | |
| Pitch Pump | |
| Plaster Pump (regardless of size) | |
| Post Hole Digger (post pounder, auger) | |
| Rod Bending Machines | |
| Roller (black top) | |
| Scale (power) | |
| Seamen Pulverizing Mixer | |
| Shoulder Widener | |
| Silo | |
| Skimmmer Machine (boom type) | |
| Steel Cutting Machine (service & mainter | nance) |
| Tamrock Drill | |

12/04/2025

Page 6 of 52

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 58.22 40.40 98.62

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Tug Captains

Tug Master (Power Boats)

Ultra High Pressure Waterjet Cutting Tool System - Operator/Maintenance Technician

Vacuum Blasting Machine - Operator/Maintenance Technician

Vibrating Plant (used with unloading)

Welder & Repair Mechanic

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 52.88 40.40 93.28

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Assistant Engineer/Oiler

Driller's Helper

Field Engineer - Transit man or Instrument man

Maintenance Apprentice (Deckhand)

Maintenance Apprentice (Oiler)

Mechanic's Helper

Off Road Back Dump

Tire Repair & Maintenance

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 50.30 40.40 90.70

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Field Engineer - Rodman or Chainman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 60.46 40.40 100.86

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Lead Engineer, Foreman Engineer, Safety Engineer (minimum)

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 07/01/2025 | |
|------------|--|
| | |

Rate Fringe Total 61.72 40.40 102.12

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Autograde Pavement Profiler (CMI & similar types)

Autograde Pavement Profiler - Recycle Type (CMI & similar types)

Autograde Placer/Trimmer/Spreader Combination (CMI & similar types)

Autograde Slipform Paver (CMI & similar types)

Backhoe (Excavator)

Central Power Plant

Concrete Paving Machine

Cranes, Derricks, Pile Drivers (all types), under 100 tons with a boom (including jib and/or leads) under 100 ft.

Draglines

Drill, Bauer, AMI and similar types

Drillmaster, Quarrymaster

Drillmaster/Quarrymaster (down-the-hole drill), rotary drill, self-propelled hydraulic drill, self-powered drill

Elevator Grader

Field Engineer-Chief of Party

Front End Loader (5 cu. yards or larger)

Gradall

Grader, Rago

Helicoptor Co-Pilot

Helicoptor Communications Engineer

Juntann Pile Driver

Locomotive (large)

Mucking Machine

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 61.72 40.40 102.12

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Pavement & Concrete Breaker (Superhammer & Hoe Ram)

Pile Driver

Prentice Truck

Roadway Surface Grinder

Scooper (loader & shovel)

Shovel (Excavator)

Trackhoe (Excavator)

Tree Chopper with boom

Trenching Machine (cable plow)

Tunnel Boring Machine

Vacuum Truck

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 56.59 40.40 96.99

| CI | ΔS | SI | F | ICA | rin | NS. |
|---------------|----|----|---|--------|-----|-----|
| \sim \sim | ~~ | • | | \sim | ıv | 140 |

Chipper

Compressor (single)

Concrete Spreader (small type)

Conveyor Loader (Except elevator graders)

Engines, Large Diesel (1620 HP) & Staging Pump

Farm Tractor

Fertilizing Equipment (operation & maintenance)

Fine Grade Machine (small type)

Form Line Grader (small type)

Front End Loader (under 1 cubic yard)

Generator (single)

Grease, Gas, Fuel, & Oil Supply Trucks

Heaters (Nelson or other type)

Lights - portable generating light plant

Mixer, Concrete (small)

Mulching Equipment (operation & maintenance)

Power Broom or Sweeper

Pump (diesel engine & hydraulic - regardless of power)

Pump (larger than 2 inch suction, including submersible pumps)

Road Finishing Machine (small type)

Roller - grade, fill, or stone base

Seeding Equipment (operation & maintenance)

Sprinkler & Water Pump Trucks

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 56.59 40.40 96.99

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Steam Generator or Boiler

Stone Spreader

Tamping Machine (vibrating ride-on type)

Temporary Heating Plant (Nelson or other type, including proprane, natural gas, and flow-type units)

Water or Sprinkler Truck

Welding Machine (gas, diesel, or electric convertor, of any type)

Welding System - Multiple (rectifier transformer type)

Wellpoint Systems (including installation by bull gang and maintenance)

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 63.54 40.40 103.94

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Helicoptor Pilot/Engineer

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 68.22 40.40 108.62

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes, Derricks, Pile Driver (all types), 100 tons and over and TOWER CRANE with boom (including jib and/or leads) 140 ft. and over

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 67.22 40.40 107.62

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes, Derricks, Pile Driver (all types), 100 tons and over and TOWER CRANE with boom (including jib and/or leads) from 100 ft. to 139 ft.

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 63.72 40.40 104.12

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes, Derricks, Pile Driver (all types), under 100 tons with a boom (including jib and/or leads) 140 ft. and over

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 66.22 40.40 106.62

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes, Derricks, Pile Driver (all types), 100 tons and over and TOWER CRANE with a boom (including jib and/or leads) under 100 ft.

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 62.72 40.40 103.12

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes, Derricks, Pile Driver (all types), under 100 tons with a boom (including jib and/or leads) from 100 ft. to 139 ft.

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

STRUCTURAL STEEL ERECTION Rates Expiration Date :

{For apprentice rates refer to "Operating Engineers" apprentice rates in any county rate package}

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, Monday to Friday, between 6:00 AM and 5:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shift work must be established for 5 consecutive workdays.
- Any work started outside of the allowed start time, 6:00 AM to 9:00 AM, except for * tidal work, shall be considered an irregular shift and paid at straight time, plus 15% for the first eight hours, inclusive of benefits.
- * FOR TIDAL WORK- a contractor can start their job according to tide schedules (tide schedules are the various high and low tides related to this work), providing the eight hour shift is completed between the hours of 5:00 AM and 6:30 PM.
- All time worked in excess of an established shift (an established shift is a shift that is determined at the time of the bid) shall be paid at the applicable overtime rate. When a portion of an established shift works into Saturday, Sunday or a holiday, that time worked shall be paid at the established shift rate.
- When working with other trades who receive a higher irregular shift differential, these employees shall also receive the higher differential rate.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, or outside of the regular workday, Monday through Friday, that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with all hours on Friday paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. When all trades on a particular job site agree, the day after Thanksgiving may be substituted for Veterans Day.

For projects bid after April 1, 2020, on hazardous waste removal work of any kind, including a state or federally designated site, where the operating engineer is required to wear level A, B, or C personal protection, the operating engineer shall receive an hourly wage rate of his regular hourly wage plus \$5.00 per hour.

- An operating engineer working at a hazardous waste removal project or site at a task requiring hazardous waste related certification, but who is not working in a zone requiring level A, B, or C personal protection, shall receive an hourly wage rate of his regular rate plus \$1.00 per hour.

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 65.35 40.40 105.75

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Helicopter Co-Pilot & Communications Engineer

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

STRUCTURAL STEEL ERECTION Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 61.29 40.40 101.69

CLASSIFICATIONS:

A-Frame

Cherry Picker -10 tons or less (Over 10 tons use crane rate)

Hoist (all types Except Chicago-boom)

Jack (screw, air hydraulic, power-operated unit or console type, Except hand jack or pile load test type)

Side Boom

Straddle Carrier

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

STRUCTURAL STEEL ERECTION Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 58.63 40.40 99.03

| CI | AS | SIF | ICA' | TIO | NC. |
|----|----|-----|------|-----|------|
| ᆫ | ~ | JII | - | 110 | 110. |

Aerial Platform Used On Hoists

Apprentice Engineer/Oiler with Compressor or Welding Machine

Captain (Power Boats)

Compressor (2 or 3 in battery)

Concrete Cleaning/Decontamination Machine Operator

Conveyor or Tugger Hoist

Directional Boring Machine

Elevator or House Car

Fireman

Forklift

Generator (2 or 3)

Heavy Equipment Robotics, Operator/Technician

Maintenance Utility Man

Master Environmental Maintenance Technician

Tug Master (Power Boats)

Ultra High Pressure Waterjet Cutting Tool System Operator/Maintenance Technician

Vacuum Blasting Machine Operator/Maintenance Technician

Welding Machines, Gas or Electric Converters on any type-2 or 3 in battery including diesels

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

STRUCTURAL STEEL ERECTION Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 57.10 40.40 97.50

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Compressor (Single)

Generators

Welding Machines, Gas, Diesel, Or Electric Converters of any type-single

Welding System, Multiple (Rectifier Transformer Type)

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 53.34 40.40 93.74

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Assistant Engineer/Oiler

Drillers Helper

Field Engineer - Transit/Instrument Man

Maintenance Apprentice (Deckhand)

Maintenance Apprentice (Oiler)

Off Road Back Dump

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 60.91 40.40 101.31

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Lead Engineer, Foreman Engineer, Safety Engineer (Minimum)

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 50.30 40.40 90.70

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Field Engineer - Rodman or Chainman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

STRUCTURAL STEEL ERECTION Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 62.05 40.40 102.45

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Field Engineer-Chief of Party

Vacuum Truck

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 70.24 40.40 110.64

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes (all cranes, land or floating with booms, including jib, 140 ft. and over, above ground). Derricks (all derricks, land, floating or Chicago Boom type with booms including jib, 140 ft. and over, above ground), and Pile Drivers (all types) 100 tons and over and Tower Cranes.

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|--------|
| 68.58 | 40.40 | 108.98 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes (all cranes, land or floating with booms including jib, less than 140 ft. above ground), Derricks (all derricks. land, floating or Chicago Boom type with booms including jib, less than 140 ft. above ground), Pile Drivers (all types), 100 tons and over and Tower Crane.

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|--------|
| 65.74 | 40.40 | 106.14 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes (all cranes, land or floating with booms including jib, 140 ft. and over, above ground), Derricks (all derricks, land, floating or Chicago Boom type with booms including jib, 140 ft. and over, above ground), Pile Drivers (all types), under 100 tons.

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|--------|
| 64.08 | 40.40 | 104.48 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes (all cranes, land or floating with booms including jib, less than 140 ft. above ground), Derricks (all derricks, land, floating or Chicago Boom type with booms including jib, less than 140 ft. above ground), Pile Drivers (all types), under 100 tons.

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

STRUCTURAL STEEL ERECTION Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 65.74 40.40 106.14

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Helicopter Pilot & Engineer

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

TEST BORING PRELIMINARY TO CONSTRUCTION-SOUTH/WEST Rates Expiration Date:

THESE RATES APPLY IN THE FOLLOWING COUNTIES ONLY:

Atlantic, Burlington, Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Hunterdon, Mercer, Monmouth, Ocean, Salem, Sussex, Warren

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, Monday to Friday, between 6:00 AM and 5:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shift work must be established for 5 consecutive workdays.
- Any work started outside of the allowed start time, 6:00 AM to 9:00 AM, except for * tidal work, shall be considered an irregular shift and paid at straight time, plus 15% for the first eight hours, inclusive of benefits.
- * FOR TIDAL WORK- a contractor can start their job according to tide schedules (tide schedules are the various high and low tides related to this work), providing the eight hour shift is completed between the hours of 5:00 AM and 6:30 PM.
- All time worked in excess of an established shift (an established shift is a shift that is determined at the time of the bid) shall be paid at the applicable overtime rate. When a portion of an established shift works into Saturday, Sunday or a holiday, that time worked shall be paid at the established shift rate.
- When working with other trades who receive a higher irregular shift differential, these employees shall also receive the higher differential rate.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, or outside of the regular workday, Monday through Friday, that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with all hours on Friday paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. When all trades on a particular job site agree, the day after Thanksgiving may be substituted for Veterans Day.

For projects bid after April 1, 2020, on hazardous waste removal work of any kind, including a state or federally designated site, where the operating engineer is required to wear level A, B, or C personal protection, the operating engineer shall receive an hourly wage rate of his regular hourly wage plus \$5.00 per hour.

- An operating engineer working at a hazardous waste removal project or site at a task requiring hazardous waste related certification, but who is not working in a zone requiring level A, B, or C personal protection, shall receive an hourly wage rate of his regular rate plus \$1.00 per hour.

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 61.72 40.40 102.12

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Driller

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 54.88 40.40 95.28

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Driller's Helper

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

FREE AIR TUNNEL JOBS Rates Expiration Date :

{For apprentice rates refer to "Heavy & General" apprentice rates in any county rate package}

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, starting at 7:00 AM or 8:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shifts must start at 3:00 PM, 4:00 PM, 12:00 AM, or 1:00 AM, to be considered shift work, except when the project owner mandates special hours of work in the job specifications, in which case those hours may be considered shift work.
- When such hours are mandated by the project owner, a shift that begins before midnight on Friday and ends on Saturday morning, or that begins at or after 8:00 PM on Sunday and ends on Monday morning may be paid at the shift differential rate.
- Shifts shall receive an additional \$3.00 per hour.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, or outside of the regular workday that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays, shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with Friday used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. Veterans Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving. However, in the trading of Veterans Day for the day after Thanksgiving, if overtime is worked on Veterans Day, it shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

Hazardous Waste Work:

- -where Level A, B, or C protection is required: + \$5.00/hr
- -other Hazardous Waste site: + \$1.00/hr

Traffic Control Coordinator: When either of the work classifications found below are working as a Traffic Control Coordinator they are to receive \$.75 above their current rate of pay.

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 67.13 | 39.13 | 106.26 | 109.94 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Walking Boss & Superintendent

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 66.75 | 39.13 | 105.88 | 109.57 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Heading Foreman, Shaft Foreman, Rod Foreman, Electrician Foreman, Rigging Foreman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

FREE AIR TUNNEL JOBS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 66.13 | 39.13 | 105.26 | 108.94 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Iron Foreman, Caulking Foreman, Form Foreman, Cement Finishing Foreman, Concrete Foreman, Track Foreman, Cleanup Foreman, Grout Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 69.25 | 39.13 | 108.38 | 112.07 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Blaster

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 65.44 | 39.13 | 104.57 | 108.26 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Top Labor Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 65.00 | 39.13 | 104.13 | 107.82 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Skilled Men (including Caulker, Powder Carrier, all other skilled men)

Skilled Men (including Miner, Drill Runner, Iron Man, Conveyor Man, Manitenance Man, Safety Miner, Rigger, Block Layer, Cement Finisher, Tod Man)

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 64.81 | 39.13 | 103.94 | 107.63 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Semi-Skilled Men (including Bell or Signal Man Top or Bottom, Form Worker & Mover, Concrete Worker, Shaft Man, Tunnel Laborer, Caulker's Helper, all other semi-skilled)

Semi-Skilled Men (including Miner's Helper, Chuck Tender, Track Man, Nipper, Brake Man, Derail Man, Cable Man, Hose Man, Gravel Man, Form Man)

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

FREE AIR TUNNEL JOBS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 64.31 | 39.13 | 103.44 | 107.13 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

All Others (including Powder Watchman, Change House Attendant, Top Laborer)

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

DRILL FOR GROUND WATER SUPPLY Rates Expiration Date :

The well driller and/or helper may perform all work relative to the construction, finishing, and servicing of wells, pumps and borings for ground water supply. The present methods of well drilling entailing as they do, many diverse job operations calling for drilling, pump discharge, piping, and the operation of various types of related power equipment, shall all be within the job duties and functions of the well driller and/or helper. In the event that an extension of work should occur beyond water well drilling functions, into the field of general construction work, such extension of work would come under the appropriate rates listed elsewhere in this wage determination.

- For Work Hours, Shift Differentials, Overtime Rates, and Recognized Holidays see the "Operating Engineers" section of this wage determination.

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 60.47 40.40 100.87

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Driller

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 53.63 40.40 94.03

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Driller's Helper

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS MARINE-DREDGING Rates Expiration Date:

NOTE: These wage rates only apply to dredging and other marine construction activities occurring in navigable waters and their tributaries.

Boat crews carrying explosive material (dynamite, pourfex, and other similar materials) shall be paid at 120% of the hourly wage rate for hours engaged in handling of said materials. Employees required to possess a Hazardous Material Certification as a condition of employment shall be compensated at 120% of the hourly wage rate.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 40 per week, and all hours on Saturdays and Sundays, shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

Effective Dates:

| 10/01/2025 | | | 10/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 48.48 | 15.44 | 63.92 | 65.74 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Lead Dredgerman, Operator, Leverman

Licensed Tug Operator with MOTV, Deck Captain

Effective Dates:

| 10/01/2025 | | | 10/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 41.93 | 14.99 | 56.92 | 58.47 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Derrick Operator, Spider/Spill Barge Operator

Engineer, Electrician, Chief Welder, Chief Mate

Fill Placer, Operator II

Licensed Boat Operator

Maintenance Engineer

Effective Dates:

| 10/01/2025 | | | 10/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 39.46 | 14.81 | 54.27 | 55.75 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Certified Welder

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

OPERATING ENGINEERS MARINE-DREDGING Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

10/01/2025 10/01/2026

Rate Fringe Total Total 38.38 14.74 53.12 54.54

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Mate, Drag Barge Operator, Steward, Assistant Fill Placer

Welder

Effective Dates:

 10/01/2025

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 37.15
 14.65
 51.80
 53.18

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Boat Operator

Effective Dates:

Rate

10/01/2025 10/01/2026 Fringe Total Total

46.22

30.86 14.21

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Shoreman, Deckhand, Rodman, Scowman

Effective Dates:

 10/01/2025
 10/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

45.07

43.20 15.07 58.27 59.89

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Crane Operator

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

MICROSURFACING/SLURRY SEAL Rates Expiration Date :

THESE RATES APPLY IN THE FOLLOWING COUNTIES ONLY:

Atlantic, Burlington, Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Mercer, Ocean, Salem

IN ALL OTHER COUNTIES use the Heavy and General Laborers - North "Slurry Seal Laborer" rates.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

Any shift starting at 3:30 PM or later shall receive an additional \$0.35/hr

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day or 40 per week shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Washington's Birthday, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day.

Effective Dates:

| 08/26/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 52.05 | 28.95 | 81.00 | 83.75 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 08/26/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 50.10 | 28.95 | 79.05 | 81.80 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Box man, Hopper, CM Controller

Effective Dates:

| 08/26/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 48 40 | 28 95 | 77 35 | 80 10 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Microsurface/Slurry Preparation

Effective Dates:

| 08/26/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 49.05 | 28.95 | 78.00 | 80.75 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Squeegee man

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

MICROSURFACING/SLURRY SEAL Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

 08/26/2025
 03/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 46.95
 28.95
 75.90
 78.65

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cleaner, Taper

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

ASPHALT LABORERS - SOUTH Rates Expiration Date :

"THESE RATES APPLY IN THE FOLLOWING COUNTIES ONLY: Atlantic, Burlington, Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Mercer, Ocean, Salem

{For apprentice rates refer to "Laborer - Heavy & General" apprentice rates in any county rate package}

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, starting at 7:00 AM or 8:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shifts must start at 3:00 PM, 4:00 PM, 12:00 AM, or 1:00 AM, to be considered shift work, except when the project owner mandates special hours of work in the job specifications, in which case those hours may be considered shift work.
- When such hours are mandated by the project owner, a shift that begins before midnight on Friday and ends on Saturday morning, or that begins at or after 8:00 PM on Sunday and ends on Monday morning may be paid at the shift differential rate.
- Shifts shall receive an additional \$3.00 per hour.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, or outside of the regular workday that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays, shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with Friday used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. Veterans Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving. However, in the trading of Veterans Day for the day after Thanksgiving, if overtime is worked on Veterans Day, it shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

Hazardous Waste Work:

- -where Level A, B, or C protection is required: + \$5.00/hr
- -other Hazardous Waste site: + \$1.00/hr

FOR TIDE WORK (pertains to tidal water): A contractor can start their job according to tide schedules (tide schedules are the various high and low tides related to this work) providing the eight (8) hour shift is completed between the hours of 5:00 AM and 6:30 PM.

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 55.20 | 39.13 | 94.33 | 97.58 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Paving Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.75 | 39.13 | 90.88 | 94.13 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Head Raker

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.90 | 39.13 | 91.03 | 94.28 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Screedman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

ASPHALT LABORERS - SOUTH Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

03/01/2025 03/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 51.35
 39.13
 90.48
 93.73

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Tampers, Smoothers, Kettlemen, Painters, Shovelers, Roller Boys

Effective Dates:

03/01/2025 03/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 51.45
 39.13
 90.58
 93.83

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Milling Controller

Effective Dates:

03/01/2025 03/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 51.65
 39.13
 90.78
 94.03

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Traffic Control Coordinator

Effective Dates:

03/01/2025 03/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 51.60
 39.13
 90.73
 93.98

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Raker, Luteman

Effective Dates:

Rate Fringe Total

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Certified Paving Foreman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

TEST BORING PRELIMINARY TO CONSTRUCTION-NORTH Rates Expiration Date:

THESE RATES APPLY IN THE FOLLOWING COUNTIES ONLY:

Bergen, Essex, Hudson, Middlesex, Morris, Passaic, Somerset, Union

SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL:

Employees on a shift other than between the hours of 8:00 AM and 5:00 PM shall receive an additional \$2.00 per hour.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

Hazardous Waste Pay (for Levels A, B, and C): an additional 15% of the hourly rate, per hour.

A newly hired Helper with no experience in the industry shall be paid as follows:

1st year on the job - 70% of Helper wage rate 2nd year on the job - 80% of Helper wage rate 3rd year on the job - 90% of Helper wage rate All helpers receive full fringe benefit rate.

Effective Dates:

10/21/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|-------|
| 38.15 | 36.22 | 74.37 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Helper (4th year helper)

Effective Dates:

10/21/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|-------|
| 48 78 | 36.22 | 85 00 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Driller

Effective Dates:

10/21/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|-------|
| 55.61 | 36.22 | 91.83 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Foreman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS - NORTH Rates Expiration Date :

THESE RATES APPLY IN THE FOLLOWING COUNTIES ONLY:

Bergen, Essex, Hudson, Hunterdon, Middlesex, Monmouth, Morris, Passaic, Somerset, Sussex, Union, Warren

{For apprentice rates refer to "Laborer - Heavy & General" apprentice rates in any county rate package}

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, starting at 7:00 AM or 8:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shifts must start at 3:00 PM, 4:00 PM, 12:00 AM, or 1:00 AM, to be considered shift work, except when the project owner mandates special hours of work in the job specifications, in which case those hours may be considered shift work.
- When such hours are mandated by the project owner, a shift that begins before midnight on Friday and ends on Saturday morning, or that begins at or after 8:00 PM on Sunday and ends on Monday morning may be paid at the shift differential rate.
- Shifts shall receive an additional \$3.00 per hour.

FOR TIDE WORK (pertains to tidal water): A contractor can start their job according to tide schedules (tide schedules are the various high and low tides related to this work) providing the eight (8) hour shift is completed between the hours of 5:00 AM and 6:30 PM.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, or outside of the regular workday that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays, shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with Friday used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. Veterans Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving. However, in the trading of Veterans Day for the day after Thanksgiving, if overtime is worked on Veterans Day, it shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

Hazardous Waste Work:

- -where Level A, B, or C protection is required: + \$5.00/hr
- -other Hazardous Waste site: + \$1.00/hr

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | Total | |
| 50.95 | 39.13 | 90.08 | 93.33 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"D" Rate:

basic, landscape, asphalt, slurry seal, or railroad track laborer; utility meter installer; flagman; salamander tender; pitman; dumpman; rakers or tampers on cold patch work; wrappers or coaters of pipe; waterproofer; timberman; wagon drill or drill master helper; powder carrier; magazine tender; signal man; power buggy operator; tree cutter; operator of basic power tools

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.65 | 39.13 | 90.78 | 94.03 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"C" Rate

pipe layer; laser man; conduit or duct line layer; operator of jack hammer, chipping hammer, pavement breaker, concrete cutter, asphalt cutter, sheet hammer, or walk-behind saw cutter; sandblaster; acetylene cutting or burning; wagon drill, directional drill, or hydraulic drill operator; drill master; core driller; asphalt raker or lute man

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS - NORTH Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.90 | 39.13 | 91.03 | 94.28 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"B" Rate:

concrete finisher; setter of brick or stone pavers; stone cutter; form setter; manhole, catch basin, or inlet builder; asphalt screedman; rammer; hardscaping; gunite nozzle man

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 55.45 | 39.13 | 94.58 | 97.83 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"A" Rate: blaster

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 55.20 | 39.13 | 94.33 | 97.58 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"FOREMAN" Rate:

labor foreman, asphalt foreman, drill foreman, pipe foreman, grade foreman, finisher foreman, concrete foreman **Effective Dates:**

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 56.20 | 39.13 | 95.33 | 98.58 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"GENERAL FOREMAN" Rate

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 52.40 | 39.13 | 91.53 | 94.78 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

TRAFFIC CONTROL COORDINATOR Rate

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

 03/01/2025

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 56.70
 39.13
 95.83
 100.08

CLASSIFICATIONS:

" CERTIFIED FOREMAN Rate":

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS - NORTH

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 57.70 | 39.13 | 96.83 | 101.08 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

[&]quot; CERTIFIED GENERAL FOREMAN Rate":

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS - SOUTH Rates Expiration Date :

THESE RATES APPLY IN THE FOLLOWING COUNTIES ONLY:

Atlantic, Burlington, Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Mercer, Ocean, Salem

{For apprentice rates refer to "Laborer - Heavy & General" apprentice rates in any county rate package}

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, starting at 7:00 AM or 8:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shifts must start at 3:00 PM, 4:00 PM, 12:00 AM, or 1:00 AM, to be considered shift work, except when the project owner mandates special hours of work in the job specifications, in which case those hours may be considered shift work.
- When such hours are mandated by the project owner, a shift that begins before midnight on Friday and ends on Saturday morning, or that begins at or after 8:00 PM on Sunday and ends on Monday morning may be paid at the shift differential rate.
- Shifts shall receive an additional \$3.00 per hour.

FOR TIDE WORK (pertains to tidal water): A contractor can start their job according to tide schedules (tide schedules are the various high and low tides related to this work) providing the eight (8) hour shift is completed between the hours of 5:00 AM and 6:30 PM.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, or outside of the regular workday that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays, shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with Friday used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. Veterans Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving. However, in the trading of Veterans Day for the day after Thanksgiving, if overtime is worked on Veterans Day, it shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

Hazardous Waste Work:

- -where Level A, B, or C protection is required: + \$5.00/hr
- -other Hazardous Waste site: + \$1.00/hr

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 50.95 | 39.13 | 90.08 | 93.33 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"D" Rate:

basic, landscape, asphalt, slurry seal, or railroad track laborer; utility meter installer; flagman; salamander tender; pitman; dumpman; rakers or tampers on cold patch work; wrappers or coaters of pipe; waterproofer; timberman; wagon drill or drill master helper; powder carrier; magazine tender; signal man; power buggy operator; tree cutter; operator of basic power tools

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.65 | 39.13 | 90.78 | 94.03 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"C" Rate:

pipe layer; laser man; conduit or duct line layer; operator of jack hammer, chipping hammer, pavement breaker, concrete cutter, asphalt cutter, sheet hammer, or walk-behind saw cutter; sandblaster; acetylene cutting or burning; wagon drill, directional drill, or hydraulic drill operator; drill master; core driller; asphalt raker or lute man

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS - SOUTH Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 55.45 | 39.13 | 94.58 | 97.83 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"A" Rate: blaster

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 55.20 | 39.13 | 94.33 | 97.58 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"FOREMAN" Rate:

labor foreman, asphalt foreman, drill foreman, pipe foreman, grade foreman, finisher foreman, concrete foreman **Effective Dates:**

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 56.20 | 39.13 | 95.33 | 98.58 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"GENERAL FOREMAN" Rate

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 52.40 | 39.13 | 91.53 | 94.78 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

TRAFFIC CONTROL COORDINATOR Rate

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 57.70 | 39.13 | 96.83 | 101.08 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

[&]quot; CERTIFIED GENERAL FOREMAN Rate":

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS - SOUTH Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/03/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 56.70 | 39.13 | 95.83 | 100.08 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

" CERTIFIED FOREMAN Rate":

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/2026 | | |
|-------|------------|-------|-------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.90 | 39.13 | 91.03 | 94.28 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"B" Rate:

concrete finisher; setter of brick or stone pavers; stone cutter; form setter; manhole, catch basin, or inlet builder; asphalt screedman; rammer; hardscaping; gunite nozzle man

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

PIPELINE - MAINLINE TRANSMISSION Rates Expiration Date :

These rates apply to the following: welding on Transportation Mainline pipe lines (cross-country pipe lines, or any segments thereof, transporting coal, gas, oil, water or other transportable materials, vapors or liquids, including portions of such pipe lines within private property boundaries up to the final metering station or connection - the point where a valve, consumer connection, or town border station divides mainline transmission lines or higher pressure lateral and branch lines from lower pressure distribution systems).

PER DIEM PAYMENT:

In addition to the total wage rate paid for each craft, the following per diem (per day) amounts must also be paid - Pipeline Journeyman: \$80.50; Pipeline Journeyman Welder: \$140.50; and Pipeline Helper: \$64.50. Note: in order to receive the per diem payment an employee must work a minimum of 8 hours in a 24 hour period.

NOTES:

- Journeymen employed as "stringer bead" welders and journeymen who are regularly employed as "hot-pass" welders shall receive \$1.00 per hour more than other journeymen.
- Welders running "stringer bead" or "hot-pass" on "cutouts" or "tie-ins" on a production basis shall be paid \$1.00 per hour above the journeymen rate.
- Whenever a welder helper is employed using a power buffer or power grinder immediately behind the stringer bead and /or hot-pass welders, and the pipe gang is set on a production basis, the helper shall be paid \$2.00 per hour above the helper rate.
- If back welding is performed inside a pipe under either or both of the following conditions, the welder engaged in the welding will receive \$3.00 per hour above the regular rate for the job only for the days on which such back welding is performed:
 - The employer elects, as a regular procedure, to back weld each line-up. This condition is not intended to apply to occasional back welding performed by the pipe gang to repair a bead, to rectify a "high-lo" condition or wall thickness, etc.
 - A welder is required to back weld a completed weld behind the firing line .
- If the welder helper is required to go inside the pipe for the purpose of brushing, buffing and grinding the weld, they shall receive a wage rate \$1.00 per hour above the regular

helper rate for the days involved.

- Welders working on "hot work" shall be paid \$2.00 per hour above the regular rate for each day engaged in such work. "Hot work' is defined as work on lines in service where there is the danger of fire or explosion.

The regular workday shall be 8 hours, between 8:00 AM and 4:30 PM.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, and all hours on Sundays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

Effective Dates:

06/18/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total | |
|-------|--------|-------|--|
| 58 89 | 36.35 | 95 24 | |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Pipeline Journeyman Welder

Effective Dates:

06/18/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|-------|
| 58.89 | 36.35 | 95.24 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Pipeline Journeyman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

PIPELINE - MAINLINE TRANSMISSION Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

06/18/2025

Rate Fringe Total 33.84 25.47 59.31

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Pipeline Helper

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

PIPELINE - GAS DISTRIBUTION Rates Expiration Date :

These rates apply to the following: welding on gas line distribution systems (that portion of the gas distribution system placed in streets, roads, subways, tunnels, viaducts, highways and easements which serves the users of gas).

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

An "irregular" shift may start any time from 5:00 PM to 12:00 AM, Monday through Friday, and shall receive an additional 15% of the regular rate per hour, inclusive of benefits.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of forty per week, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

Effective Dates:

11/05/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total | |
|-------|--------|--------|--|
| 66.32 | 36.10 | 102.42 | |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Pipeline Journeyman Welder

Effective Dates:

11/05/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|--------|
| 66.32 | 36.10 | 102.42 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Pipeline Journeyman

Effective Dates:

11/05/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|-------|
| 43 28 | 25 22 | 68 50 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Pipeline Helper

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

ASPHALT LABORERS- NORTH Rates Expiration Date :

THESE RATES APPLY IN THE FOLLOWING COUNTIES ONLY:

Bergen, Essex, Hudson, Hunterdon, Middlesex, Monmouth, Morris, Passaic, Somerset, Sussex, Union, Warren {For apprentice rates refer to "Laborer - Heavy & General" apprentice rates in any county rate package} The regular workday consists of 8 hours, starting at 7:00 AM or 8:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shifts must start at 3:00 PM, 4:00 PM, 12:00 AM, or 1:00 AM, to be considered shift work, except when the project owner mandates special hours of work in the job specifications, in which case those hours may be considered shift work.
- When such hours are mandated by the project owner, a shift that begins before midnight on Friday and ends on Saturday morning, or that begins at or after 8:00 PM on Sunday and ends on Monday morning may be paid at the shift differential rate
- Shifts shall receive an additional \$3.00 per hour.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, or outside of the regular workday that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays, shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with Friday used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. Veterans Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving. However, in the trading of Veterans Day for the day after Thanksgiving, if overtime is worked on Veterans Day, it shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

Hazardous Waste Work:

- -where Level A, B, or C protection is required: + \$5.00/hr
- -other Hazardous Waste site: + \$1.00/hr

FOR TIDE WORK (pertains to tidal water): A contractor can start their job according to tide schedules (tide schedules are the various high and low tides related to this work) providing the eight (8) hour shift is completed between the hours of 5:00 AM and 6:30 PM.

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/2020 | | |
|-------|------------|-------|-------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 55.20 | 39.13 | 94.33 | 97.58 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Asphalt Foreman

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/2026 | | |
|-------|------------|-------|-------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.90 | 39.13 | 91.03 | 94.28 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Asphalt Screedman

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/2026 | | |
|-------|------------|-------|-------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.65 | 39.13 | 90.78 | 94.03 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Asphalt Raker or Lute Man

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

ASPHALT LABORERS- NORTH Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

03/01/2025 03/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 50.95
 39.13
 90.08
 93.33

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Asphalt Laborer

Effective Dates:

03/01/2025 03/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 56.70
 39.13
 95.83
 100.08

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Certified Asphalt Foreman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ELECTRICIAN- UTILITY WORK (NORTH) Rates Expiration Date:

Electrician-Utility Work (North)

(For apprentice rates refer to Electrician-Utility Work (North) in any county rate package).

These rates apply to work contracted for by the following utility companies:

Public Service Electric & Gas Co. of NJ, GPU Energy, Borough of Madison Electric Department, Sussex Rural

Electric Cooperative, Rockland Utilities, and Butler Municipal Electric Co.

These rates do not apply to work on substations or switching stations.

For Utility work contracted for by a utility company other than those listed above or those listed under "Electrician-

Utility Work (South), see the "Outside Commercial Rates" for the county in which the jobsite is located.

* FOR OUTSIDE COMMERCIAL RATES PLEASE SEE COUNTY RATES

The regular workday is 8 hours, between 6:00 AM and 6:00 PM.

FOR EMERGENCY WORK ONLY: (emergency work is defined as work caused by storm, catastrophe, act of god, and circumstances beyond the control of the employer)-all hours of work shall be paid at double the hourly rate. SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

Shift work must run for a minimum of 5 consecutive workdays.

2nd shift (between the hours of 4:30 PM and 1:00 AM): 8 hours of work + 17.3% of the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. 3rd shift (between the hours of 12:30 AM and 9:00 AM): 8 hours of work + 31.4% of the regular rate per hour, inclusive of benefits.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after the regular wokday Monday through Friday, that is not shift work, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits.

Four 10-hour days may worked, at straight time, between 6:00 AM and 6:00 PM, Monday through Thursday.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS:

New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, or day on which they are legally observed.

Effective Dates:

| | 12/04/20 | 25 | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|-------|----------|--------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 69.55 | 48.68 | 118.23 | 122.97 | 127.89 | 132.99 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Chief Lineman

Effective Dates:

| | 12/04/20 | 25 | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|-------|----------|--------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 63.23 | 44.26 | 107.49 | 111.79 | 116.26 | 120.90 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Journeyman Lineman

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 63.23 | 44.26 | 107.49 | 111.79 | 116.26 | 120.90 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Special License Operator

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ELECTRICIAN- UTILITY WORK (NORTH) Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 66.39 | 46.47 | 112.86 | 117.38 | 122.07 | 126.95 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Journeyman Lineman when welding, splicing, hot stick, barehand and helicopter work

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 60.70 | 42.49 | 103.19 | 107.32 | 111.60 | 116.07 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Line Equipment Operator

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 47.42 | 33.19 | 80.61 | 83.84 | 87.19 | 90.67 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Groundman

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 | |
|------------|--------|------------|------------|------------|--------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 80.93 | 56.65 | 137.58 | 143.08 | 148.81 | 154.75 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

General Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 74.61 | 52.22 | 126.83 | 131.92 | 137.19 | 142.66 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Assistant General Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 | |
|------------|--------|------------|------------|------------|--------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 72.71 | 50.89 | 123.60 | 128.55 | 133.70 | 139.04 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Line Foreman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ELECTRICIAN- UTILITY WORK (NORTH) Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 | |
|------------|--------|------------|------------|------------|-------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 50.58 | 35.40 | 85.98 | 89.43 | 93.00 | 96.73 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

GTO (Groundman Truck Operator) with CDL A

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 47.42 | 33.19 | 80.61 | 83.84 | 87.19 | 90.67 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

First Responder

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 50.58 | 35.40 | 85.98 | 89.43 | 93.00 | 96.73 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Line Equipment Mechanic

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

ELECTRICIAN- UTILITY WORK (SOUTH) Rates Expiration Date:

Electrician-Utility Work (South)

(For apprentice rates refer to Electrician-Utility Work (South) in any county rate package).

These rates apply to work contracted for by the following utility company:

Atlantic City Electric.

These rates do not apply to work on substations or switching stations.

For utility work contracted for by a utility company other than the one listed above or those listed under "Electrician-

Utility Work (North), see the "Outside Commercial Rates" for the county in which the jobsite is located.

* FOR OUTSIDE COMMERCIAL RATES PLEASE SEE COUNTY RATES

The regular workday is 8 hours, between 7:00 AM and 4:30 PM.

FOR EMERGENCY WORK ONLY: (emergency work is defined as work caused by storm, catastrophe, act of god, and circumstances beyond the control of the employer)- all hours of work shall be paid at double the hourly rate. SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

Shift work must run for a minimum of 5 consecutive workdays.

When two (2) or three (3) shifts are worked the following shall apply:

1st shift (between the hours of 8:00 AM and 4:30 PM)

2nd shift (between the hours of 4:30 PM and 12:30 AM): 8 hours of work + 10% of the regular rate of pay for 7.5 hours worked.

3rd shift (between the hours of 12:30 AM and 8:00 AM): 8 hours of work + 15% of the regular rate of pay for 7 hours worked.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after the regular wokday Monday through Friday, that is not shift work, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate. All hours on Sundays and Holidays shall be paid double the hourly rate.

Four 10-hour days may be worked, at straight time, between 6:00 AM and 6:00 PM, Monday through Thursday with Friday used as a make-up day.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS:

New Year's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day or on days celebrated

WORKING RULES:

There shall be a Foreman in charge of each work crew. No crews are to exceed twelve (12) men, including Foremen.

There shall be a General Foreman designated for transmission work when three (3) or more crews are on the same job and for distribution work where there are more than twenty (20) employees on site.

A small job crew shall consist of five (5) or less employees, one (1) of the Journeyman Linemen in the crew shall be designated as a Small Job Foreman.

Work performed from ladders and/or mechanical lift equipment shall be the work of Linemen and/or Apprentices.

On new construction, fitting and framing poles, towers or structures may be done by Journeymen and/or Apprentices.

Groundmen may assist, but may not perform any work which would be performed by Linemen if assembled in the air.

There shall be a Journeyman Lineman in each pole setting, erection, grounding, wire and cable-pulling crew of more than three (3) men.

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 73.79 62.52 136.31

CLASSIFICATIONS:

General Foreman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

ELECTRICIAN- UTILITY WORK (SOUTH) Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 65.72 57.24 122.96

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Foreman

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 62.26 55.01 117.27

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Small Job Foreman

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 57.65 51.98 109.63

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Heavy Equipment Operator

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 60.53 53.85 114.38

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cable Splicer

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 57.65 51.98 109.63

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Journeyman Lineman

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 60.53 53.85 114.38

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Journeyman Welder

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

ELECTRICIAN- UTILITY WORK (SOUTH) Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 57.65 51.98 109.63

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Journeyman Painter

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 46.12 44.49 90.61

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Light Equipment Operator

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 40.36 40.72 81.08

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Groundman Truck Driver

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 37.47 38.85 76.32

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Groundman 3rd Year

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 34.59 36.96 71.55

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Groundman 2nd Year

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 31.71 35.09 66.80

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Groundman 1st Year

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ELECTRICIAN- UTILITY WORK (SOUTH) Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 25.37 30.96 56.33

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Flagman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS- NEW TRANS HUDSON TUNNELS Rates Expiration Date:

THESE RATES APPLY TO CONSTRUCTION ON NEW TRANS HUDSON TUNNELS ONLY

{For apprentice rates refer to "Laborer - Heavy & General" apprentice rates in any county rate package}

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, starting at 7:00 AM or 8:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shifts must start at 3:00 PM, 4:00 PM, 12:00 AM, or 1:00 AM, to be considered shift work, except when the project owner mandates special hours of work in the job specifications, in which case those hours may be considered shift work.
- When such hours are mandated by the project owner, a shift that begins before midnight on Friday and ends on Saturday morning, or that begins at or after 8:00 PM on Sunday and ends on Monday morning may be paid at the shift differential rate
- Shifts shall receive an additional \$3.00 per hour.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, or outside of the regular workday that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays, shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with Friday used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. Veterans Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving. However, in the trading of Veterans Day for the day after Thanksgiving, if overtime is worked on Veterans Day, it shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

Hazardous Waste Work:

- -where Level A, B, or C protection is required: + \$5.00/hr
- -other Hazardous Waste site: + \$1.00/hr

Traffic Control Coordinator: When either of the work classifications found below are working as a Traffic Control Coordinator they are to receive \$.75 above their current rate of pay.

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/2026 | | |
|-------|------------|--------|--------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 80.55 | 39.13 | 119.68 | 123.81 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Walking Boss & Superintendent

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/20 | 03/01/2026 | |
|-------|----------|------------|--------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 80.10 | 39.13 | 119.23 | 123.36 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Heading Foreman, Shaft Foreman, Rod Foreman, Electrical Foreman, Rigging Foreman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS- NEW TRANS HUDSON TUNNELS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/2026 | | |
|-------|------------|--------|--------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 79.35 | 39.13 | 118.48 | 122.61 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Iron Foreman, Caulking Foreman, Form Foreman, Cement Finishing Foreman, Concrete Foreman, Track Foreman, Clean-up Foreman, Grout Foreman

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/20 | 03/01/2026 | |
|-------|----------|------------|--------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 83.10 | 39.13 | 122.23 | 126.36 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Blaster

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/2026 | | |
|-------|------------|--------|--------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 78.53 | 39.13 | 117.66 | 121.78 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Top Labor Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 | |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|--|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | |
| 78.00 | 39.13 | 117.13 | 121.26 | |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Skilled Men (including Caulker, Powder Carrier, all other skilled men)

Skilled Men (including Miner, Drill Runner, Iron Man, Conveyor Man, Maintenance Man, Safety Miner, Rigger, Block Layer, Cement Finisher, Rod Man)

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/2026 | | |
|-------|------------|--------|--------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 77.78 | 39.13 | 116.91 | 121.03 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Semi-Skilled Men (including Bell or Signal Man top or bottom, Form Worker & Mover, Concrete Worker, Shaft Man, Tunnel Laborer, Caulker's Helper, all other semi-skilled)

Semi-Skilled Men (including Miner's Helper, Chuck Tender, Track Man, Nipper, Brake Man, Derail Man, Cable Man, Hose Man.

Gravel Man, Form Man)

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS- NEW TRANS HUDSON TUNNELS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/20 | 03/01/2026 | |
|-------|----------|------------|--------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 77.18 | 39.13 | 116.31 | 120.43 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

All others (including Powder Watchman, Change House Attendant, Top Laborer, Job Steward)

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

{For apprentice rates refer to "Operating Engineers" apprentice rates in any county rate package}

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, Monday to Friday, between 6:00 AM and 5:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shift work must be established for 5 consecutive workdays.
- Any work started outside of the allowed start time, 6:00 AM to 9:00 AM, except for * tidal work, shall be considered an irregular shift and paid at straight time, plus 15% for the first eight hours, inclusive of benefits.
- * FOR TIDAL WORK- a contractor can start their job according to tide schedules (tide schedules are the various high and low tides related to this work), providing the eight hour shift is completed between the hours of 5:00 AM and 6:30 PM.
- All time worked in excess of an established shift (an established shift is a shift that is determined at the time of the bid) shall be paid at the applicable overtime rate. When a portion of an established shift works into Saturday, Sunday or a holiday, that time worked shall be paid at the established shift rate.
- When working with other trades who receive a higher irregular shift differential, these employees shall also receive the higher differential rate.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, or outside of the regular workday, Monday through Friday, that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with all hours on Friday paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. When all trades on a particular job site agree, the day after Thanksgiving may be substituted for Veterans Day.

For projects bid after April 1, 2020, on hazardous waste removal work of any kind, including a state or federally designated site, where the operating engineer is required to wear level A, B, or C personal protection, the operating engineer shall receive an hourly wage rate of his regular hourly wage plus \$5.00 per hour.

- An operating engineer working at a hazardous waste removal project or site at a task requiring hazardous waste related certification, but who is not working in a zone requiring level A, B, or C personal protection, shall receive an hourly wage rate of his regular rate plus \$1.00 per hour.

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

| Effoc | tivo | Date | ٠. |
|-------|------|------|----|

Hydro-Blaster

| Effective Da | ites: | | | | | |
|--------------------------|-----------------------------------|---|--|--------------------------|---------------------------|---|
| | 07/01/20 | 25 | | | | |
| Rate 60.13 | Fringe 40.40 | Total 100.53 | | | | |
| CLASSIFIC | | 100.55 | | | | |
| A-Frame | Anono. | | | | | |
| | ombination) | | | | | |
| Boom Attac | chment on load | ders (Except pipehoo | ok) | | | |
| Boring & Dr | rilling Machine | | | | | |
| Brush Chop | oper, Brush Sh | redder, Tree Shredd | er, Tree Shearer | | | |
| Bulldozer, f | inish grade | | | | | |
| Cableway | | | | | | |
| Carryall | | | | | | |
| Concrete P | ump | | | | | |
| Concrete P | umping Syster | m (Pumpcrete & simi | ilar types) | | | |
| Conveyor, | 125 feet or lon | ger | | | | |
| Drill Doctor | (Duties includ | le dust collector and | maintenance) | | | |
| Front End L | ₋oader (2 cu. y | ds. but less than 5 c | :u. yds.) | | | |
| Grader, finis | sh | | | | | |
| Groove Cut | tting Machine (| (ride-on type) | | | | |
| Heater Plar | ner | | | | | |
| hydraulic, snorkle ro | single and dou of, and other s | ower Hoist (all types uble drum, concrete, similar types, Except ditional \$2.00 per hou | brick shaft caisson Chicago-boom type | n, e) * receives an a | hour on 100 ft. up to 199 |) |
| Hydraulic C | crane (10 tons | & under) | | | | |
| Hydraulic D |)redge | | | | | |
| Hydro-Axe | | | | | | |

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 60.13 40.40 100.53

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Jack (screw, air hydraulic, power-operated unit, or console type, Except hand jack or pile load test type)

Log Skidder

Pan

Paver, concrete

Plate & Frame Filter Press

Pumpcrete (unit type)

Pumpcrete, Squeezecrete, or Concrete Pumping machine (regardless of size)

Scraper

Side Boom

Straddle Carrier (Ross and similar types)

Whiphammer

Winch Truck (hoisting)

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 58.22 40.40 98.62

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Asphalt Curbing Machine

Asphalt Plant Engineer

Asphalt Spreader

Autograde Curb Trimmer & Sidewalk Shoulder Slipform (CMI & similar types)

Autograde Curecrete Machine (CMI & similar types)

Autograde Tube Finisher & Texturing Machine (CMI & similar types)

Bar Bending Machines (Power)

Batcher, Batching Plant, & Crusher [On Site]

Belt Conveyor System

Boom-Type Skimmer Machine

Bridge Deck Finisher

Bulldozer (all sizes)

Captain (Power Boats)

Car Dumper (railroad)

Compressor & Blower unit for loading/unloading of concrete, cement, fly ash, or similar type materials (used independently or truck-mounted)

Compressor (2 or 3 battery)

Concrete Breaking Machine

Concrete Cleaning/Decontamination Machine

Concrete Finishing Machine

Concrete Saw or Cutter (ride-on type)

Concrete Spreader (Hetzel, Rexomatic & similar types)

Concrete Vibrator

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

Ladder (motorized)

| Lifective Da | 163. | |
|---------------|------------------|--|
| | 07/01/202 | 25 |
| Rate | J | Total |
| 58.22 | | 98.62 |
| CLASSIFICA | | |
| Conveyors - | - under 125 fee | et . |
| Crane Signa | alman | |
| Crushing M | achine | |
| Directional I | Boring Machin | е |
| Ditching Ma | ichine - Small | (Ditchwitch, Vermeer or similar types) |
| Dope Pot - I | Mechanical (w | ith or without pump) |
| Dumpster | | |
| Elevator | | |
| Fireman | | |
| Fork Lift (Ed | conomobile, Lu | ıll & similar types) |
| Front End L | oader (1 cu. y | d. and over but less than 2 cu. yds.) |
| Generator (| 2 or 3 battery) | |
| Giraffe Grin | der | |
| Goldhofer/H | lydraulic Jacki | ng Trailer |
| Grader & M | otor Patrols | |
| Grout Pump |) | |
| Gunnite Ma | chine (Excludi | ng nozzle) |
| Hammer - V | /ibratory (in co | njunction with generator) |
| Heavy Equi | pment Robotic | s - Operator/Technician |
| Hoist (roof, | tugger, aerial բ | platform hoist, house car) |
| Hopper | | |
| Hopper Doo | ors (power ope | rated) |

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

Tractor

Transfer Machines

| Effective Dates: | |
|---|---------------------------|
| 07/01/2025 | |
| Rate Fringe Total | |
| 58.22 40.40 98.62 | |
| CLASSIFICATIONS: | |
| Laddervator | |
| Locomotive (Dinky-type) | |
| Maintenance Utility Man | |
| Master Environmental Maintenance Tech | nician |
| Mechanic | |
| Mixer (Except paving mixers) | |
| Pavement Breaker (truck-mounted or sm ride-on type) | all self-propelled |
| Pavement Breaker - maintenance of com | pressor or hydraulic unit |
| Pipe Bending Machine (power) | |
| Pitch Pump | |
| Plaster Pump (regardless of size) | |
| Post Hole Digger (post pounder, auger) | |
| Rod Bending Machines | |
| Roller (black top) | |
| Scale (power) | |
| Seamen Pulverizing Mixer | |
| Shoulder Widener | |
| Silo | |
| Skimmmer Machine (boom type) | |
| Steel Cutting Machine (service & mainter | nance) |
| Tamrock Drill | |

12/04/2025

Page 6 of 52

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 58.22 40.40 98.62

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Tug Captains

Tug Master (Power Boats)

Ultra High Pressure Waterjet Cutting Tool System - Operator/Maintenance Technician

Vacuum Blasting Machine - Operator/Maintenance Technician

Vibrating Plant (used with unloading)

Welder & Repair Mechanic

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 52.88 40.40 93.28

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Assistant Engineer/Oiler

Driller's Helper

Field Engineer - Transit man or Instrument man

Maintenance Apprentice (Deckhand)

Maintenance Apprentice (Oiler)

Mechanic's Helper

Off Road Back Dump

Tire Repair & Maintenance

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 50.30 40.40 90.70

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Field Engineer - Rodman or Chainman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 60.46 40.40 100.86

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Lead Engineer, Foreman Engineer, Safety Engineer (minimum)

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 07/01/2025 | |
|------------|----|
| - | т. |

Rate Fringe Total 61.72 40.40 102.12

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Autograde Pavement Profiler (CMI & similar types)

Autograde Pavement Profiler - Recycle Type (CMI & similar types)

Autograde Placer/Trimmer/Spreader Combination (CMI & similar types)

Autograde Slipform Paver (CMI & similar types)

Backhoe (Excavator)

Central Power Plant

Concrete Paving Machine

Cranes, Derricks, Pile Drivers (all types), under 100 tons with a boom (including jib and/or leads) under 100 ft.

Draglines

Drill, Bauer, AMI and similar types

Drillmaster, Quarrymaster

Drillmaster/Quarrymaster (down-the-hole drill), rotary drill, self-propelled hydraulic drill, self-powered drill

Elevator Grader

Field Engineer-Chief of Party

Front End Loader (5 cu. yards or larger)

Gradall

Grader, Rago

Helicoptor Co-Pilot

Helicoptor Communications Engineer

Juntann Pile Driver

Locomotive (large)

Mucking Machine

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 61.72 40.40 102.12

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Pavement & Concrete Breaker (Superhammer & Hoe Ram)

Pile Driver

Prentice Truck

Roadway Surface Grinder

Scooper (loader & shovel)

Shovel (Excavator)

Trackhoe (Excavator)

Tree Chopper with boom

Trenching Machine (cable plow)

Tunnel Boring Machine

Vacuum Truck

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 56.59 40.40 96.99

| CI | ΔS | SI | F | ICA | rin | NS. |
|---------------|----|----|---|--------|-----|-----|
| \sim \sim | ~~ | • | | \sim | ıv | 140 |

Chipper

Compressor (single)

Concrete Spreader (small type)

Conveyor Loader (Except elevator graders)

Engines, Large Diesel (1620 HP) & Staging Pump

Farm Tractor

Fertilizing Equipment (operation & maintenance)

Fine Grade Machine (small type)

Form Line Grader (small type)

Front End Loader (under 1 cubic yard)

Generator (single)

Grease, Gas, Fuel, & Oil Supply Trucks

Heaters (Nelson or other type)

Lights - portable generating light plant

Mixer, Concrete (small)

Mulching Equipment (operation & maintenance)

Power Broom or Sweeper

Pump (diesel engine & hydraulic - regardless of power)

Pump (larger than 2 inch suction, including submersible pumps)

Road Finishing Machine (small type)

Roller - grade, fill, or stone base

Seeding Equipment (operation & maintenance)

Sprinkler & Water Pump Trucks

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 56.59 40.40 96.99

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Steam Generator or Boiler

Stone Spreader

Tamping Machine (vibrating ride-on type)

Temporary Heating Plant (Nelson or other type, including proprane, natural gas, and flow-type units)

Water or Sprinkler Truck

Welding Machine (gas, diesel, or electric convertor, of any type)

Welding System - Multiple (rectifier transformer type)

Wellpoint Systems (including installation by bull gang and maintenance)

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 63.54 40.40 103.94

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Helicoptor Pilot/Engineer

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 68.22 40.40 108.62

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes, Derricks, Pile Driver (all types), 100 tons and over and TOWER CRANE with boom (including jib and/or leads) 140 ft. and over

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 67.22 40.40 107.62

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes, Derricks, Pile Driver (all types), 100 tons and over and TOWER CRANE with boom (including jib and/or leads) from 100 ft. to 139 ft.

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

OPERATING ENGINEERS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 63.72 40.40 104.12

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes, Derricks, Pile Driver (all types), under 100 tons with a boom (including jib and/or leads) 140 ft. and over

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 66.22 40.40 106.62

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes, Derricks, Pile Driver (all types), 100 tons and over and TOWER CRANE with a boom (including jib and/or leads) under 100 ft.

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 62.72 40.40 103.12

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes, Derricks, Pile Driver (all types), under 100 tons with a boom (including jib and/or leads) from 100 ft. to 139 ft.

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

STRUCTURAL STEEL ERECTION Rates Expiration Date :

{For apprentice rates refer to "Operating Engineers" apprentice rates in any county rate package}

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, Monday to Friday, between 6:00 AM and 5:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shift work must be established for 5 consecutive workdays.
- Any work started outside of the allowed start time, 6:00 AM to 9:00 AM, except for * tidal work, shall be considered an irregular shift and paid at straight time, plus 15% for the first eight hours, inclusive of benefits.
- * FOR TIDAL WORK- a contractor can start their job according to tide schedules (tide schedules are the various high and low tides related to this work), providing the eight hour shift is completed between the hours of 5:00 AM and 6:30 PM.
- All time worked in excess of an established shift (an established shift is a shift that is determined at the time of the bid) shall be paid at the applicable overtime rate. When a portion of an established shift works into Saturday, Sunday or a holiday, that time worked shall be paid at the established shift rate.
- When working with other trades who receive a higher irregular shift differential, these employees shall also receive the higher differential rate.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, or outside of the regular workday, Monday through Friday, that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with all hours on Friday paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. When all trades on a particular job site agree, the day after Thanksgiving may be substituted for Veterans Day.

For projects bid after April 1, 2020, on hazardous waste removal work of any kind, including a state or federally designated site, where the operating engineer is required to wear level A, B, or C personal protection, the operating engineer shall receive an hourly wage rate of his regular hourly wage plus \$5.00 per hour.

- An operating engineer working at a hazardous waste removal project or site at a task requiring hazardous waste related certification, but who is not working in a zone requiring level A, B, or C personal protection, shall receive an hourly wage rate of his regular rate plus \$1.00 per hour.

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 65.35 40.40 105.75

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Helicopter Co-Pilot & Communications Engineer

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

STRUCTURAL STEEL ERECTION Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 61.29 40.40 101.69

CLASSIFICATIONS:

A-Frame

Cherry Picker -10 tons or less (Over 10 tons use crane rate)

Hoist (all types Except Chicago-boom)

Jack (screw, air hydraulic, power-operated unit or console type, Except hand jack or pile load test type)

Side Boom

Straddle Carrier

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

STRUCTURAL STEEL ERECTION Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 58.63 40.40 99.03

| CI | AS | SIF | IC A | TIO | NS: |
|----|----|-----|------|-----|------|
| ᆫ | ~ | JII | - | 110 | 110. |

Aerial Platform Used On Hoists

Apprentice Engineer/Oiler with Compressor or Welding Machine

Captain (Power Boats)

Compressor (2 or 3 in battery)

Concrete Cleaning/Decontamination Machine Operator

Conveyor or Tugger Hoist

Directional Boring Machine

Elevator or House Car

Fireman

Forklift

Generator (2 or 3)

Heavy Equipment Robotics, Operator/Technician

Maintenance Utility Man

Master Environmental Maintenance Technician

Tug Master (Power Boats)

Ultra High Pressure Waterjet Cutting Tool System Operator/Maintenance Technician

Vacuum Blasting Machine Operator/Maintenance Technician

Welding Machines, Gas or Electric Converters on any type-2 or 3 in battery including diesels

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

STRUCTURAL STEEL ERECTION Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 57.10 40.40 97.50

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Compressor (Single)

Generators

Welding Machines, Gas, Diesel, Or Electric Converters of any type-single

Welding System, Multiple (Rectifier Transformer Type)

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 53.34 40.40 93.74

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Assistant Engineer/Oiler

Drillers Helper

Field Engineer - Transit/Instrument Man

Maintenance Apprentice (Deckhand)

Maintenance Apprentice (Oiler)

Off Road Back Dump

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 60.91 40.40 101.31

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Lead Engineer, Foreman Engineer, Safety Engineer (Minimum)

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 50.30 40.40 90.70

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Field Engineer - Rodman or Chainman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

STRUCTURAL STEEL ERECTION Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 62.05 40.40 102.45

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Field Engineer-Chief of Party

Vacuum Truck

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 70.24 40.40 110.64

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes (all cranes, land or floating with booms, including jib, 140 ft. and over, above ground). Derricks (all derricks, land, floating or Chicago Boom type with booms including jib, 140 ft. and over, above ground), and Pile Drivers (all types) 100 tons and over and Tower Cranes.

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|--------|
| 68.58 | 40.40 | 108.98 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes (all cranes, land or floating with booms including jib, less than 140 ft. above ground), Derricks (all derricks. land, floating or Chicago Boom type with booms including jib, less than 140 ft. above ground), Pile Drivers (all types), 100 tons and over and Tower Crane.

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|--------|
| 65.74 | 40.40 | 106.14 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes (all cranes, land or floating with booms including jib, 140 ft. and over, above ground), Derricks (all derricks, land, floating or Chicago Boom type with booms including jib, 140 ft. and over, above ground), Pile Drivers (all types), under 100 tons.

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total | |
|-------|--------|--------|--|
| 64.08 | 40.40 | 104.48 | |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cranes (all cranes, land or floating with booms including jib, less than 140 ft. above ground), Derricks (all derricks, land, floating or Chicago Boom type with booms including jib, less than 140 ft. above ground), Pile Drivers (all types), under 100 tons.

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

STRUCTURAL STEEL ERECTION Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 65.74 40.40 106.14

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Helicopter Pilot & Engineer

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

TEST BORING PRELIMINARY TO CONSTRUCTION-SOUTH/WEST Rates Expiration Date:

THESE RATES APPLY IN THE FOLLOWING COUNTIES ONLY:

Atlantic, Burlington, Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Hunterdon, Mercer, Monmouth, Ocean, Salem, Sussex, Warren

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, Monday to Friday, between 6:00 AM and 5:30 PM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shift work must be established for 5 consecutive workdays.
- Any work started outside of the allowed start time, 6:00 AM to 9:00 AM, except for * tidal work, shall be considered an irregular shift and paid at straight time, plus 15% for the first eight hours, inclusive of benefits.
- * FOR TIDAL WORK- a contractor can start their job according to tide schedules (tide schedules are the various high and low tides related to this work), providing the eight hour shift is completed between the hours of 5:00 AM and 6:30 PM.
- All time worked in excess of an established shift (an established shift is a shift that is determined at the time of the bid) shall be paid at the applicable overtime rate. When a portion of an established shift works into Saturday, Sunday or a holiday, that time worked shall be paid at the established shift rate.
- When working with other trades who receive a higher irregular shift differential, these employees shall also receive the higher differential rate.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, or outside of the regular workday, Monday through Friday, that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sunday and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with all hours on Friday paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. When all trades on a particular job site agree, the day after Thanksgiving may be substituted for Veterans Day.

For projects bid after April 1, 2020, on hazardous waste removal work of any kind, including a state or federally designated site, where the operating engineer is required to wear level A, B, or C personal protection, the operating engineer shall receive an hourly wage rate of his regular hourly wage plus \$5.00 per hour.

- An operating engineer working at a hazardous waste removal project or site at a task requiring hazardous waste related certification, but who is not working in a zone requiring level A, B, or C personal protection, shall receive an hourly wage rate of his regular rate plus \$1.00 per hour.

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 61.72 40.40 102.12

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Driller

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 54.88 40.40 95.28

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Driller's Helper

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

FREE AIR TUNNEL JOBS Rates Expiration Date :

{For apprentice rates refer to "Heavy & General" apprentice rates in any county rate package}

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, starting at 7:00 AM or 8:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shifts must start at 3:00 PM, 4:00 PM, 12:00 AM, or 1:00 AM, to be considered shift work, except when the project owner mandates special hours of work in the job specifications, in which case those hours may be considered shift work.
- When such hours are mandated by the project owner, a shift that begins before midnight on Friday and ends on Saturday morning, or that begins at or after 8:00 PM on Sunday and ends on Monday morning may be paid at the shift differential rate.
- Shifts shall receive an additional \$3.00 per hour.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, or outside of the regular workday that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays, shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with Friday used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. Veterans Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving. However, in the trading of Veterans Day for the day after Thanksgiving, if overtime is worked on Veterans Day, it shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

Hazardous Waste Work:

- -where Level A, B, or C protection is required: + \$5.00/hr
- -other Hazardous Waste site: + \$1.00/hr

Traffic Control Coordinator: When either of the work classifications found below are working as a Traffic Control Coordinator they are to receive \$.75 above their current rate of pay.

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 67.13 | 39.13 | 106.26 | 109.94 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Walking Boss & Superintendent

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 66.75 | 39.13 | 105.88 | 109.57 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Heading Foreman, Shaft Foreman, Rod Foreman, Electrician Foreman, Rigging Foreman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

FREE AIR TUNNEL JOBS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 66.13 | 39.13 | 105.26 | 108.94 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Iron Foreman, Caulking Foreman, Form Foreman, Cement Finishing Foreman, Concrete Foreman, Track Foreman, Cleanup Foreman, Grout Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 69.25 | 39.13 | 108.38 | 112.07 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Blaster

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|--------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 65.44 | 39.13 | 104.57 | 108.26 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Top Labor Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 65.00 | 39.13 | 104.13 | 107.82 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Skilled Men (including Caulker, Powder Carrier, all other skilled men)

Skilled Men (including Miner, Drill Runner, Iron Man, Conveyor Man, Manitenance Man, Safety Miner, Rigger, Block Layer, Cement Finisher, Tod Man)

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|--------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 64.81 | 39.13 | 103.94 | 107.63 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Semi-Skilled Men (including Bell or Signal Man Top or Bottom, Form Worker & Mover, Concrete Worker, Shaft Man, Tunnel Laborer, Caulker's Helper, all other semi-skilled)

Semi-Skilled Men (including Miner's Helper, Chuck Tender, Track Man, Nipper, Brake Man, Derail Man, Cable Man, Hose Man, Gravel Man, Form Man)

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

FREE AIR TUNNEL JOBS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 64.31 | 39.13 | 103.44 | 107.13 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

All Others (including Powder Watchman, Change House Attendant, Top Laborer)

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

DRILL FOR GROUND WATER SUPPLY Rates Expiration Date :

The well driller and/or helper may perform all work relative to the construction, finishing, and servicing of wells, pumps and borings for ground water supply. The present methods of well drilling entailing as they do, many diverse job operations calling for drilling, pump discharge, piping, and the operation of various types of related power equipment, shall all be within the job duties and functions of the well driller and/or helper. In the event that an extension of work should occur beyond water well drilling functions, into the field of general construction work, such extension of work would come under the appropriate rates listed elsewhere in this wage determination.

- For Work Hours, Shift Differentials, Overtime Rates, and Recognized Holidays see the "Operating Engineers" section of this wage determination.

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 60.47 40.40 100.87

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Driller

Effective Dates:

07/01/2025

Rate Fringe Total 53.63 40.40 94.03

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Driller's Helper

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

OPERATING ENGINEERS MARINE-DREDGING Rates Expiration Date:

NOTE: These wage rates only apply to dredging and other marine construction activities occurring in navigable waters and their tributaries.

Boat crews carrying explosive material (dynamite, pourfex, and other similar materials) shall be paid at 120% of the hourly wage rate for hours engaged in handling of said materials. Employees required to possess a Hazardous Material Certification as a condition of employment shall be compensated at 120% of the hourly wage rate.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 40 per week, and all hours on Saturdays and Sundays, shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

Effective Dates:

| 10/01/2025 | | | 10/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 48.48 | 15.44 | 63.92 | 65.74 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Lead Dredgerman, Operator, Leverman

Licensed Tug Operator with MOTV, Deck Captain

Effective Dates:

| 10/01/2025 | | | 10/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 41.93 | 14.99 | 56.92 | 58.47 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Derrick Operator, Spider/Spill Barge Operator

Engineer, Electrician, Chief Welder, Chief Mate

Fill Placer, Operator II

Licensed Boat Operator

Maintenance Engineer

Effective Dates:

| 10/01/2025 | | | 10/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 39.46 | 14.81 | 54.27 | 55.75 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Certified Welder

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

OPERATING ENGINEERS MARINE-DREDGING Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

10/01/2025 10/01/2026

Rate Fringe Total Total 38.38 14.74 53.12 54.54

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Mate, Drag Barge Operator, Steward, Assistant Fill Placer

Welder

Effective Dates:

 10/01/2025

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 37.15
 14.65
 51.80
 53.18

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Boat Operator

Effective Dates:

Rate

10/01/2025 10/01/2026 Fringe Total Total

46.22

30.86 14.21

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Shoreman, Deckhand, Rodman, Scowman

Effective Dates:

 10/01/2025
 10/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

45.07

43.20 15.07 58.27 59.89

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Crane Operator

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

MICROSURFACING/SLURRY SEAL Rates Expiration Date :

THESE RATES APPLY IN THE FOLLOWING COUNTIES ONLY:

Atlantic, Burlington, Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Mercer, Ocean, Salem

IN ALL OTHER COUNTIES use the Heavy and General Laborers - North "Slurry Seal Laborer" rates.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

Any shift starting at 3:30 PM or later shall receive an additional \$0.35/hr

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day or 40 per week shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Washington's Birthday, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day.

Effective Dates:

| 08/26/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 52.05 | 28.95 | 81.00 | 83.75 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 08/26/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 50.10 | 28.95 | 79.05 | 81.80 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Box man, Hopper, CM Controller

Effective Dates:

| 08/26/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 48 40 | 28 95 | 77 35 | 80 10 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Microsurface/Slurry Preparation

Effective Dates:

| 08/26/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 49.05 | 28.95 | 78.00 | 80.75 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Squeegee man

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

MICROSURFACING/SLURRY SEAL Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

 08/26/2025
 03/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 46.95
 28.95
 75.90
 78.65

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cleaner, Taper

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

ASPHALT LABORERS - SOUTH Rates Expiration Date :

"THESE RATES APPLY IN THE FOLLOWING COUNTIES ONLY: Atlantic, Burlington, Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Mercer, Ocean, Salem

{For apprentice rates refer to "Laborer - Heavy & General" apprentice rates in any county rate package}

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, starting at 7:00 AM or 8:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shifts must start at 3:00 PM, 4:00 PM, 12:00 AM, or 1:00 AM, to be considered shift work, except when the project owner mandates special hours of work in the job specifications, in which case those hours may be considered shift work.
- When such hours are mandated by the project owner, a shift that begins before midnight on Friday and ends on Saturday morning, or that begins at or after 8:00 PM on Sunday and ends on Monday morning may be paid at the shift differential rate.
- Shifts shall receive an additional \$3.00 per hour.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, or outside of the regular workday that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays, shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with Friday used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. Veterans Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving. However, in the trading of Veterans Day for the day after Thanksgiving, if overtime is worked on Veterans Day, it shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

Hazardous Waste Work:

- -where Level A, B, or C protection is required: + \$5.00/hr
- -other Hazardous Waste site: + \$1.00/hr

FOR TIDE WORK (pertains to tidal water): A contractor can start their job according to tide schedules (tide schedules are the various high and low tides related to this work) providing the eight (8) hour shift is completed between the hours of 5:00 AM and 6:30 PM.

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 55.20 | 39.13 | 94.33 | 97.58 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Paving Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.75 | 39.13 | 90.88 | 94.13 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Head Raker

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.90 | 39.13 | 91.03 | 94.28 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Screedman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

ASPHALT LABORERS - SOUTH Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

03/01/2025 03/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 51.35
 39.13
 90.48
 93.73

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Tampers, Smoothers, Kettlemen, Painters, Shovelers, Roller Boys

Effective Dates:

03/01/2025 03/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 51.45
 39.13
 90.58
 93.83

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Milling Controller

Effective Dates:

03/01/2025 03/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 51.65
 39.13
 90.78
 94.03

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Traffic Control Coordinator

Effective Dates:

03/01/2025 03/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 51.60
 39.13
 90.73
 93.98

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Raker, Luteman

Effective Dates:

Rate Fringe Total

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Certified Paving Foreman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

TEST BORING PRELIMINARY TO CONSTRUCTION-NORTH Rates Expiration Date:

THESE RATES APPLY IN THE FOLLOWING COUNTIES ONLY:

Bergen, Essex, Hudson, Middlesex, Morris, Passaic, Somerset, Union

SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL:

Employees on a shift other than between the hours of 8:00 AM and 5:00 PM shall receive an additional \$2.00 per hour.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

Hazardous Waste Pay (for Levels A, B, and C): an additional 15% of the hourly rate, per hour.

A newly hired Helper with no experience in the industry shall be paid as follows:

1st year on the job - 70% of Helper wage rate 2nd year on the job - 80% of Helper wage rate 3rd year on the job - 90% of Helper wage rate All helpers receive full fringe benefit rate.

Effective Dates:

10/21/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|-------|
| 38.15 | 36.22 | 74.37 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Helper (4th year helper)

Effective Dates:

10/21/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|-------|
| 48 78 | 36.22 | 85 00 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Driller

Effective Dates:

10/21/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|-------|
| 55.61 | 36.22 | 91.83 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Foreman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS - NORTH Rates Expiration Date :

THESE RATES APPLY IN THE FOLLOWING COUNTIES ONLY:

Bergen, Essex, Hudson, Hunterdon, Middlesex, Monmouth, Morris, Passaic, Somerset, Sussex, Union, Warren

{For apprentice rates refer to "Laborer - Heavy & General" apprentice rates in any county rate package}

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, starting at 7:00 AM or 8:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shifts must start at 3:00 PM, 4:00 PM, 12:00 AM, or 1:00 AM, to be considered shift work, except when the project owner mandates special hours of work in the job specifications, in which case those hours may be considered shift work.
- When such hours are mandated by the project owner, a shift that begins before midnight on Friday and ends on Saturday morning, or that begins at or after 8:00 PM on Sunday and ends on Monday morning may be paid at the shift differential rate.
- Shifts shall receive an additional \$3.00 per hour.

FOR TIDE WORK (pertains to tidal water): A contractor can start their job according to tide schedules (tide schedules are the various high and low tides related to this work) providing the eight (8) hour shift is completed between the hours of 5:00 AM and 6:30 PM.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, or outside of the regular workday that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays, shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with Friday used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. Veterans Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving. However, in the trading of Veterans Day for the day after Thanksgiving, if overtime is worked on Veterans Day, it shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

Hazardous Waste Work:

- -where Level A, B, or C protection is required: + \$5.00/hr
- -other Hazardous Waste site: + \$1.00/hr

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 50.95 | 39.13 | 90.08 | 93.33 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"D" Rate:

basic, landscape, asphalt, slurry seal, or railroad track laborer; utility meter installer; flagman; salamander tender; pitman; dumpman; rakers or tampers on cold patch work; wrappers or coaters of pipe; waterproofer; timberman; wagon drill or drill master helper; powder carrier; magazine tender; signal man; power buggy operator; tree cutter; operator of basic power tools

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.65 39.13 90.78 | | | 94.03 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"C" Rate

pipe layer; laser man; conduit or duct line layer; operator of jack hammer, chipping hammer, pavement breaker, concrete cutter, asphalt cutter, sheet hammer, or walk-behind saw cutter; sandblaster; acetylene cutting or burning; wagon drill, directional drill, or hydraulic drill operator; drill master; core driller; asphalt raker or lute man

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS - NORTH Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.90 | 39.13 | 91.03 | 94.28 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"B" Rate:

concrete finisher; setter of brick or stone pavers; stone cutter; form setter; manhole, catch basin, or inlet builder; asphalt screedman; rammer; hardscaping; gunite nozzle man

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 55.45 | 39.13 | 94.58 | 97.83 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"A" Rate: blaster

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 55.20 | 39.13 | 94.33 | 97.58 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"FOREMAN" Rate:

labor foreman, asphalt foreman, drill foreman, pipe foreman, grade foreman, finisher foreman, concrete foreman **Effective Dates:**

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 56.20 | 39.13 | 95.33 | 98.58 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"GENERAL FOREMAN" Rate

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 52.40 | 39.13 | 91.53 | 94.78 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

TRAFFIC CONTROL COORDINATOR Rate

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

 03/01/2025

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 56.70
 39.13
 95.83
 100.08

CLASSIFICATIONS:

" CERTIFIED FOREMAN Rate":

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS - NORTH

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 57.70 | 39.13 | 96.83 | 101.08 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

[&]quot; CERTIFIED GENERAL FOREMAN Rate":

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS - SOUTH Rates Expiration Date :

THESE RATES APPLY IN THE FOLLOWING COUNTIES ONLY:

Atlantic, Burlington, Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Mercer, Ocean, Salem

{For apprentice rates refer to "Laborer - Heavy & General" apprentice rates in any county rate package}

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, starting at 7:00 AM or 8:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shifts must start at 3:00 PM, 4:00 PM, 12:00 AM, or 1:00 AM, to be considered shift work, except when the project owner mandates special hours of work in the job specifications, in which case those hours may be considered shift work.
- When such hours are mandated by the project owner, a shift that begins before midnight on Friday and ends on Saturday morning, or that begins at or after 8:00 PM on Sunday and ends on Monday morning may be paid at the shift differential rate.
- Shifts shall receive an additional \$3.00 per hour.

FOR TIDE WORK (pertains to tidal water): A contractor can start their job according to tide schedules (tide schedules are the various high and low tides related to this work) providing the eight (8) hour shift is completed between the hours of 5:00 AM and 6:30 PM.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, or outside of the regular workday that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays, shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with Friday used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. Veterans Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving. However, in the trading of Veterans Day for the day after Thanksgiving, if overtime is worked on Veterans Day, it shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

Hazardous Waste Work:

- -where Level A, B, or C protection is required: + \$5.00/hr
- -other Hazardous Waste site: + \$1.00/hr

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 50.95 | 39.13 | 90.08 | 93.33 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"D" Rate:

basic, landscape, asphalt, slurry seal, or railroad track laborer; utility meter installer; flagman; salamander tender; pitman; dumpman; rakers or tampers on cold patch work; wrappers or coaters of pipe; waterproofer; timberman; wagon drill or drill master helper; powder carrier; magazine tender; signal man; power buggy operator; tree cutter; operator of basic power tools

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.65 | 39.13 | 90.78 | 94.03 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"C" Rate:

pipe layer; laser man; conduit or duct line layer; operator of jack hammer, chipping hammer, pavement breaker, concrete cutter, asphalt cutter, sheet hammer, or walk-behind saw cutter; sandblaster; acetylene cutting or burning; wagon drill, directional drill, or hydraulic drill operator; drill master; core driller; asphalt raker or lute man

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS - SOUTH Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 55.45 | 39.13 | 94.58 | 97.83 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"A" Rate: blaster

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 55.20 | 39.13 | 94.33 | 97.58 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"FOREMAN" Rate:

labor foreman, asphalt foreman, drill foreman, pipe foreman, grade foreman, finisher foreman, concrete foreman **Effective Dates:**

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 56.20 | 39.13 | 95.33 | 98.58 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"GENERAL FOREMAN" Rate

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 52.40 | 39.13 | 91.53 | 94.78 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

TRAFFIC CONTROL COORDINATOR Rate

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|-------------------|-------|-------|------------|
| Rate Fringe Total | | | Total |
| 57.70 | 39.13 | 96.83 | 101.08 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

[&]quot; CERTIFIED GENERAL FOREMAN Rate":

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERM

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/20 | 03/03/2026 | |
|-------|----------|------------|--------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 56.70 | 39.13 | 95.83 | 100.08 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

" CERTIFIED FOREMAN Rate":

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS - SOUTH

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/2026 | | |
|-------|------------|-------|-------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.90 | 39.13 | 91.03 | 94.28 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

"B" Rate:

concrete finisher; setter of brick or stone pavers; stone cutter; form setter; manhole, catch basin, or inlet builder; asphalt screedman; rammer; hardscaping; gunite nozzle man

Rates Expiration Date :

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

PIPELINE - MAINLINE TRANSMISSION Rates Expiration Date :

These rates apply to the following: welding on Transportation Mainline pipe lines (cross-country pipe lines, or any segments thereof, transporting coal, gas, oil, water or other transportable materials, vapors or liquids, including portions of such pipe lines within private property boundaries up to the final metering station or connection - the point where a valve, consumer connection, or town border station divides mainline transmission lines or higher pressure lateral and branch lines from lower pressure distribution systems).

PER DIEM PAYMENT:

In addition to the total wage rate paid for each craft, the following per diem (per day) amounts must also be paid - Pipeline Journeyman: \$80.50; Pipeline Journeyman Welder: \$140.50; and Pipeline Helper: \$64.50. Note: in order to receive the per diem payment an employee must work a minimum of 8 hours in a 24 hour period.

NOTES:

- Journeymen employed as "stringer bead" welders and journeymen who are regularly employed as "hot-pass" welders shall receive \$1.00 per hour more than other journeymen.
- Welders running "stringer bead" or "hot-pass" on "cutouts" or "tie-ins" on a production basis shall be paid \$1.00 per hour above the journeymen rate.
- Whenever a welder helper is employed using a power buffer or power grinder immediately behind the stringer bead and /or hot-pass welders, and the pipe gang is set on a production basis, the helper shall be paid \$2.00 per hour above the helper rate.
- If back welding is performed inside a pipe under either or both of the following conditions, the welder engaged in the welding will receive \$3.00 per hour above the regular rate for the job only for the days on which such back welding is performed:
 - The employer elects, as a regular procedure, to back weld each line-up. This condition is not intended to apply to occasional back welding performed by the pipe gang to repair a bead, to rectify a "high-lo" condition or wall thickness, etc.
 - A welder is required to back weld a completed weld behind the firing line .
- If the welder helper is required to go inside the pipe for the purpose of brushing, buffing and grinding the weld, they shall receive a wage rate \$1.00 per hour above the regular

helper rate for the days involved.

- Welders working on "hot work" shall be paid \$2.00 per hour above the regular rate for each day engaged in such work. "Hot work' is defined as work on lines in service where there is the danger of fire or explosion.

The regular workday shall be 8 hours, between 8:00 AM and 4:30 PM.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, and all hours on Sundays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

Effective Dates:

06/18/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total | |
|-------|--------|-------|--|
| 58 89 | 36.35 | 95 24 | |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Pipeline Journeyman Welder

Effective Dates:

06/18/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total |
|-------|--------|-------|
| 58.89 | 36.35 | 95.24 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Pipeline Journeyman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

PIPELINE - MAINLINE TRANSMISSION Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

06/18/2025

Rate Fringe Total 33.84 25.47 59.31

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Pipeline Helper

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

PIPELINE - GAS DISTRIBUTION Rates Expiration Date :

These rates apply to the following: welding on gas line distribution systems (that portion of the gas distribution system placed in streets, roads, subways, tunnels, viaducts, highways and easements which serves the users of gas).

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

An "irregular" shift may start any time from 5:00 PM to 12:00 AM, Monday through Friday, and shall receive an additional 15% of the regular rate per hour, inclusive of benefits.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of forty per week, and all hours on Saturdays shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the regular rate, inclusive of benefits.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday.

Effective Dates:

11/05/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total | |
|-------|--------|--------|--|
| 66.32 | 36.10 | 102.42 | |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Pipeline Journeyman Welder

Effective Dates:

11/05/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total | |
|-------|--------|--------|--|
| 66.32 | 36.10 | 102.42 | |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Pipeline Journeyman

Effective Dates:

11/05/2025

| Rate | Fringe | Total | |
|-------|--------|-------|--|
| 43 28 | 25 22 | 68 50 | |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Pipeline Helper

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

ASPHALT LABORERS- NORTH Rates Expiration Date :

THESE RATES APPLY IN THE FOLLOWING COUNTIES ONLY:

Bergen, Essex, Hudson, Hunterdon, Middlesex, Monmouth, Morris, Passaic, Somerset, Sussex, Union, Warren {For apprentice rates refer to "Laborer - Heavy & General" apprentice rates in any county rate package} The regular workday consists of 8 hours, starting at 7:00 AM or 8:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shifts must start at 3:00 PM, 4:00 PM, 12:00 AM, or 1:00 AM, to be considered shift work, except when the project owner mandates special hours of work in the job specifications, in which case those hours may be considered shift work.
- When such hours are mandated by the project owner, a shift that begins before midnight on Friday and ends on Saturday morning, or that begins at or after 8:00 PM on Sunday and ends on Monday morning may be paid at the shift differential rate
- Shifts shall receive an additional \$3.00 per hour.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, or outside of the regular workday that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays, shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with Friday used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. Veterans Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving. However, in the trading of Veterans Day for the day after Thanksgiving, if overtime is worked on Veterans Day, it shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

Hazardous Waste Work:

- -where Level A, B, or C protection is required: + \$5.00/hr
- -other Hazardous Waste site: + \$1.00/hr

FOR TIDE WORK (pertains to tidal water): A contractor can start their job according to tide schedules (tide schedules are the various high and low tides related to this work) providing the eight (8) hour shift is completed between the hours of 5:00 AM and 6:30 PM.

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 55.20 | 39.13 | 94.33 | 97.58 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Asphalt Foreman

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/202 | | |
|-------|-----------|-------|-------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.90 | 39.13 | 91.03 | 94.28 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Asphalt Screedman

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/2026 | | |
|-------|------------|-------|-------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 51.65 | 39.13 | 90.78 | 94.03 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Asphalt Raker or Lute Man

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

ASPHALT LABORERS- NORTH Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

03/01/2025 03/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 50.95
 39.13
 90.08
 93.33

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Asphalt Laborer

Effective Dates:

03/01/2025 03/01/2026

 Rate
 Fringe
 Total
 Total

 56.70
 39.13
 95.83
 100.08

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Certified Asphalt Foreman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ELECTRICIAN- UTILITY WORK (NORTH) Rates Expiration Date:

Electrician-Utility Work (North)

(For apprentice rates refer to Electrician-Utility Work (North) in any county rate package).

These rates apply to work contracted for by the following utility companies:

Public Service Electric & Gas Co. of NJ, GPU Energy, Borough of Madison Electric Department, Sussex Rural

Electric Cooperative, Rockland Utilities, and Butler Municipal Electric Co.

These rates do not apply to work on substations or switching stations.

For Utility work contracted for by a utility company other than those listed above or those listed under "Electrician-

Utility Work (South), see the "Outside Commercial Rates" for the county in which the jobsite is located.

* FOR OUTSIDE COMMERCIAL RATES PLEASE SEE COUNTY RATES

The regular workday is 8 hours, between 6:00 AM and 6:00 PM.

FOR EMERGENCY WORK ONLY: (emergency work is defined as work caused by storm, catastrophe, act of god, and circumstances beyond the control of the employer)-all hours of work shall be paid at double the hourly rate. SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

Shift work must run for a minimum of 5 consecutive workdays.

2nd shift (between the hours of 4:30 PM and 1:00 AM): 8 hours of work + 17.3% of the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. 3rd shift (between the hours of 12:30 AM and 9:00 AM): 8 hours of work + 31.4% of the regular rate per hour, inclusive of benefits.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after the regular wokday Monday through Friday, that is not shift work, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate, inclusive of benefits. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate, inclusive of benefits.

Four 10-hour days may worked, at straight time, between 6:00 AM and 6:00 PM, Monday through Thursday.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS:

New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, or day on which they are legally observed.

Effective Dates:

| | 12/04/20 | 25 | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|-------|----------|--------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 69.55 | 48.68 | 118.23 | 122.97 | 127.89 | 132.99 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Chief Lineman

Effective Dates:

| | 12/04/20 | 25 | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|-------|----------|--------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 63.23 | 44.26 | 107.49 | 111.79 | 116.26 | 120.90 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Journeyman Lineman

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 63.23 | 44.26 | 107.49 | 111.79 | 116.26 | 120.90 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Special License Operator

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ELECTRICIAN- UTILITY WORK (NORTH) Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 66.39 | 46.47 | 112.86 | 117.38 | 122.07 | 126.95 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Journeyman Lineman when welding, splicing, hot stick, barehand and helicopter work

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 60.70 | 42.49 | 103.19 | 107.32 | 111.60 | 116.07 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Line Equipment Operator

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 47.42 | 33.19 | 80.61 | 83.84 | 87.19 | 90.67 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Groundman

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 | |
|------------|--------|------------|------------|------------|--------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 80.93 | 56.65 | 137.58 | 143.08 | 148.81 | 154.75 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

General Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 74.61 | 52.22 | 126.83 | 131.92 | 137.19 | 142.66 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Assistant General Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 72.71 | 50.89 | 123.60 | 128.55 | 133.70 | 139.04 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Line Foreman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ELECTRICIAN- UTILITY WORK (NORTH) Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 | |
|------------|--------|------------|------------|------------|-------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 50.58 | 35.40 | 85.98 | 89.43 | 93.00 | 96.73 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

GTO (Groundman Truck Operator) with CDL A

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 47.42 | 33.19 | 80.61 | 83.84 | 87.19 | 90.67 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

First Responder

Effective Dates:

| 12/04/2025 | | | 11/29/2026 | 11/28/2027 | 12/03/2028 |
|------------|--------|-------|------------|------------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total | Total | Total |
| 50.58 | 35.40 | 85.98 | 89.43 | 93.00 | 96.73 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Line Equipment Mechanic

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

ELECTRICIAN- UTILITY WORK (SOUTH) Rates Expiration Date:

Electrician-Utility Work (South)

(For apprentice rates refer to Electrician-Utility Work (South) in any county rate package).

These rates apply to work contracted for by the following utility company:

Atlantic City Electric.

These rates do not apply to work on substations or switching stations.

For utility work contracted for by a utility company other than the one listed above or those listed under "Electrician-

Utility Work (North), see the "Outside Commercial Rates" for the county in which the jobsite is located.

* FOR OUTSIDE COMMERCIAL RATES PLEASE SEE COUNTY RATES

The regular workday is 8 hours, between 7:00 AM and 4:30 PM.

FOR EMERGENCY WORK ONLY: (emergency work is defined as work caused by storm, catastrophe, act of god, and circumstances beyond the control of the employer)- all hours of work shall be paid at double the hourly rate. SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

Shift work must run for a minimum of 5 consecutive workdays.

When two (2) or three (3) shifts are worked the following shall apply:

1st shift (between the hours of 8:00 AM and 4:30 PM)

2nd shift (between the hours of 4:30 PM and 12:30 AM): 8 hours of work + 10% of the regular rate of pay for 7.5 hours worked.

3rd shift (between the hours of 12:30 AM and 8:00 AM): 8 hours of work + 15% of the regular rate of pay for 7 hours worked.

OVERTIME:

Hours in excess of 8 per day, or before or after the regular wokday Monday through Friday, that is not shift work, and all hours on Saturday shall be paid at time and one-half the regular rate. All hours on Sundays and Holidays shall be paid double the hourly rate.

Four 10-hour days may be worked, at straight time, between 6:00 AM and 6:00 PM, Monday through Thursday with Friday used as a make-up day.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS:

New Year's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day or on days celebrated

WORKING RULES:

There shall be a Foreman in charge of each work crew. No crews are to exceed twelve (12) men, including Foremen.

There shall be a General Foreman designated for transmission work when three (3) or more crews are on the same job and for distribution work where there are more than twenty (20) employees on site.

A small job crew shall consist of five (5) or less employees, one (1) of the Journeyman Linemen in the crew shall be designated as a Small Job Foreman.

Work performed from ladders and/or mechanical lift equipment shall be the work of Linemen and/or Apprentices.

On new construction, fitting and framing poles, towers or structures may be done by Journeymen and/or Apprentices.

Groundmen may assist, but may not perform any work which would be performed by Linemen if assembled in the air.

There shall be a Journeyman Lineman in each pole setting, erection, grounding, wire and cable-pulling crew of more than three (3) men.

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 73.79 62.52 136.31

CLASSIFICATIONS:

General Foreman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

ELECTRICIAN- UTILITY WORK (SOUTH) Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 65.72 57.24 122.96

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Foreman

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 62.26 55.01 117.27

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Small Job Foreman

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 57.65 51.98 109.63

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Heavy Equipment Operator

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 60.53 53.85 114.38

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Cable Splicer

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 57.65 51.98 109.63

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Journeyman Lineman

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 60.53 53.85 114.38

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Journeyman Welder

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ENTIRE STATE

ELECTRICIAN- UTILITY WORK (SOUTH) Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 57.65 51.98 109.63

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Journeyman Painter

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 46.12 44.49 90.61

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Light Equipment Operator

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 40.36 40.72 81.08

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Groundman Truck Driver

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 37.47 38.85 76.32

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Groundman 3rd Year

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 34.59 36.96 71.55

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Groundman 2nd Year

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 31.71 35.09 66.80

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Groundman 1st Year

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

ELECTRICIAN- UTILITY WORK (SOUTH) Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

12/02/2025

Rate Fringe Total 25.37 30.96 56.33

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Flagman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS- NEW TRANS HUDSON TUNNELS Rates Expiration Date:

THESE RATES APPLY TO CONSTRUCTION ON NEW TRANS HUDSON TUNNELS ONLY

{For apprentice rates refer to "Laborer - Heavy & General" apprentice rates in any county rate package}

The regular workday consists of 8 hours, starting at 7:00 AM or 8:00 AM.

SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS:

- Shifts must start at 3:00 PM, 4:00 PM, 12:00 AM, or 1:00 AM, to be considered shift work, except when the project owner mandates special hours of work in the job specifications, in which case those hours may be considered shift work.
- When such hours are mandated by the project owner, a shift that begins before midnight on Friday and ends on Saturday morning, or that begins at or after 8:00 PM on Sunday and ends on Monday morning may be paid at the shift differential rate
- Shifts shall receive an additional \$3.00 per hour.

OVERTIME:

- Hours in excess of 8 per day, Monday through Friday, or outside of the regular workday that are not shift work, and all hours on Saturdays, shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate. All hours on Sundays and holidays shall be paid at double the hourly rate.
- Four 10-hour days may be worked, Monday through Thursday, at straight time, with Friday used as a make-up day for a day lost to inclement weather. If Friday is not a make-up day, all hours on Friday shall be paid at time and one-half the hourly rate.

RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Presidential Election Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day. Sunday holidays observed the following Monday. Veterans Day may be substituted for the day after Thanksgiving. However, in the trading of Veterans Day for the day after Thanksgiving, if overtime is worked on Veterans Day, it shall be paid at double the hourly rate.

Hazardous Waste Work:

- -where Level A, B, or C protection is required: + \$5.00/hr
- -other Hazardous Waste site: + \$1.00/hr

Traffic Control Coordinator: When either of the work classifications found below are working as a Traffic Control Coordinator they are to receive \$.75 above their current rate of pay.

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/2026 | | |
|-------|------------|--------|--------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 80.55 | 39.13 | 119.68 | 123.81 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Walking Boss & Superintendent

Effective Dates:

| | 03/01/20 | 03/01/2026 | |
|-------|----------|------------|--------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 80.10 | 39.13 | 119.23 | 123.36 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Heading Foreman, Shaft Foreman, Rod Foreman, Electrical Foreman, Rigging Foreman

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS- NEW TRANS HUDSON TUNNELS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 79.35 | 39.13 | 118.48 | 122.61 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Iron Foreman, Caulking Foreman, Form Foreman, Cement Finishing Foreman, Concrete Foreman, Track Foreman, Clean-up Foreman, Grout Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 83.10 | 39.13 | 122.23 | 126.36 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Blaster

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 78.53 | 39.13 | 117.66 | 121.78 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Top Labor Foreman

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 78.00 | 39.13 | 117.13 | 121.26 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Skilled Men (including Caulker, Powder Carrier, all other skilled men)

Skilled Men (including Miner, Drill Runner, Iron Man, Conveyor Man, Maintenance Man, Safety Miner, Rigger, Block Layer, Cement Finisher, Rod Man)

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 77.78 | 39.13 | 116.91 | 121.03 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

Semi-Skilled Men (including Bell or Signal Man top or bottom, Form Worker & Mover, Concrete Worker, Shaft Man, Tunnel Laborer, Caulker's Helper, all other semi-skilled)

Semi-Skilled Men (including Miner's Helper, Chuck Tender, Track Man, Nipper, Brake Man, Derail Man, Cable Man, Hose Man,

Gravel Man, Form Man)

NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT PREVAILING WAGE RATE DETERMINATION

HEAVY & GENERAL LABORERS- NEW TRANS HUDSON TUNNELS Rates Expiration Date :

Effective Dates:

| 03/01/2025 | | | 03/01/2026 |
|------------|--------|--------|------------|
| Rate | Fringe | Total | Total |
| 77.18 | 39.13 | 116.31 | 120.43 |

CLASSIFICATIONS:

All others (including Powder Watchman, Change House Attendant, Top Laborer, Job Steward)

TEMPORARY EQUIPMENT NOTIFICATION PACKAGE

INTRODUCTION

The Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission (PVSC) is required by the regulations of State and Federal regulatory agencies to monitor and maintain records for certain temporary pieces of equipment utilized on the PVSC plant property. This Notification Package details the information that is required for the Contractor to determine if the regulations apply to the equipment proposed to be used, and to provide the information needed for PVSC to comply with the monitoring and recordkeeping requirements.

If after receiving training from the PVSC staff and reviewing of the following guidelines, the Contractor determines that temporary equipment that will be brought to the site meets any of the criteria, the following Attachments must be completed by the Contractor (or Resident Project Representative) where indicated.

ATTACHMENTS

The Temporary Equipment Notification Package contains the following documents:

- Attachment A –Temporary Equipment Notification Form: This form must be completed after the Contractor has determined that the equipment meets any of the criteria listed. Applicable sections shall be completed.
- Attachment B -Temporary Equipment Schedule: This form tracks the arrival, departure, and several other key regulatory dates for each piece of temporary equipment.
- Attachment C Temporary Equipment Visual Inspection and Monitoring Checklist Procedure: This procedure provides instructions to conduct, document, and complete Attachment D Temporary Equipment Visual Inspection and Monitoring Checklist.
- Attachment D Temporary Equipment Visual Inspection and Monitoring Checklist: This checklist must be completed weekly and during transfers of hazardous substances.

NOTIFICATIONS

The notification shall be submitted for Resident Project Representative (if an outside consultant is providing these services) or the PVSC Project Manager review and approval at least fourteen (14) days prior to the delivery of such equipment onsite.

To meet the notification requirements, the Contractor must complete and deliver (through PMWeb) "Attachment A – Temporary Equipment Notification Form" for each piece of applicable equipment that will be brought onsite, <u>prior</u> to equipment arrival, to the PVSC personnel listed below.

PVSC must have periodic schedule updates, included in "Attachment B – Temporary Equipment Schedule", which include forecasted durations onsite for regulated equipment and regulatory notification deadlines. This form must be provided at construction progress meetings or monthly if meetings are not held, at a frequency that is most stringent.

For each piece of equipment listed in **Attachment A**, once weekly and during the transfer of hazardous substances, visual inspection and monitoring must be completed and documented using the "**Attachment D** – **Temporary Equipment Visual Inspection and Monitoring Checklist**,".

If the project is not using PMWeb, the package must be submitted via mail/email. The Resident Project Representative or PVSC Project Manager will review the provided information, and if acceptable, approve the equipment, as well as provide any additional inspection requirements, record keeping requirements, and onsite time limitations.

The following shall be notified by the Contractor of any temporary equipment to be brought onsite. Notifications shall be sent via PMWeb, or via mail/email for projects that do not utilize PMWeb:

- Beth Engelbert, P.E., Senior Engineer: <u>EEngelbert@pvsc.com</u>
- Resident Project Representative
- PVSC Project Manager
- PVSC Process Control Project Representative

<u>Please note, no regulated equipment shall be brought onsite without prior approval by PVSC.</u> Any violations, fines or fees resulting from failure to meet the notification requirements will be the responsibility of the Contractor.

BACKGROUND

PVSC maintains several State and Federally mandated environmental control plans and permits which describe and govern the operation of equipment, tanks, and the overall wastewater treatment plant facility and pump stations. These include, but are not limited to, the Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SPPP), Discharge Prevention Containment and Countermeasure Plan (DPCC), Spill Prevention Control and Countermeasure Plan (SPCC), Discharge Cleanup and Removal Plan (DCR), Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) and Title V Air Permit.

PVSC is required by these plans and permits to keep a record of all equipment and storage tanks on its property to ensure PVSC adheres to spill prevention measures and prevent permit violations. As a result, PVSC requires all outside contractors to provide advanced written notification of their intent to bring temporary equipment on the property.

It is important to note that PVSC does not distinguish between equipment that is inactive from those in active service. If the equipment can hold a hazardous substance and is on PVSC property, it is considered active and the Temporary Equipment Notification Package must be completed.

GENERAL APPLICABILITY

NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO THE FOLLOWING TYPES EQUIPMENT: (including, but not limited to) Emergency Generators Chemical Storage Tanks Pumps Welding Equipment (fossil fuel burning and non-acetylene)

Fuel/Chemical Tanker
 Trucks
 Blowers
 Reciprocating Internal (RICE)
 Concrete Mixers
 Oil Filled
 Transformers
 Any petroleum powered equipment with onboard storage of 5 gallons or more onsite for a minimum of 24 hours (e.g. piles drivers, hydraulic power packs)
 Surface Coating Equipment, such as sprayers or blasting equipment.

DPCC Information:

The DPCC plan governs the storage of hazardous chemicals, oils, and petroleum products. As part of this Plan, PVSC must be notified of any temporary equipment which can store or hold five (5) gallons or more of hazardous substances or petroleum product.

Temporary, according to the DPCC, is defined as being onsite for one (1) night and less than 180 consecutive calendar days. Also, should a piece of equipment or storage tank be onsite for more than 180 days it is considered a permanent installation; and PVSC must submit notifications and amendments to its plan to the NJDEP for Agency review and approval. The NJDEP requires PVSC provide a written 60-day notice for permanently installed equipment/storage tanks on its property. To allow time to prepare the notice, PVSC requires the submittal of all documentation necessary for the submittal to NJDEP 74 days prior to the end of the 180-day period.

Equipment that is used for transport, such as forklifts, excavators, backhoes, cars, trucks, self-propelled pile drivers, etc. are **excluded** from the notification requirements for the DPCC and the Title V Air Permit. However, they are not necessarily excluded from other environmental regulations, such as "no idling".

RCRA Information:

RCRA governs how PVSC will properly dispose of hazardous wastes. PVSC must be notified of any temporary equipment or construction activity which may potentially generate 10+ kg of RCRA Hazardous Waste (as defined in federal regulations 40 CFR Part 261). The Contractor must contact the Resident Project Representative or PVSC Project Manager if the equipment or construction activity has the potential to generate RCRA Hazardous Wastes.

Per RCRA, PVSC is a small quantity generator and is <u>limited to the generation of 1,000 kg of hazardous waste per month and no more than 6,000 kg per calendar year</u>. Episodic events which may result in exceeding that limit, which PVSC planned and prepared for (e.g. regular maintenance, tank cleanouts, short-term projects, and removal of excess chemical inventory) are defined as <u>planned episodic events</u>. PVSC is limited to one planned episodic event per calendar year and must notify the EPA prior to initiating a planned episodic event using EPA Form 8700-12. Federal regulations require that PVSC provide a written 30-day notice for planned events.

A Waste Classification sampling protocol must be submitted and approved by PVSC before any samples of potentially hazardous wastes are collected. Potentially hazardous materials must be properly labeled and stored while lab results are pending. All sample results must be provided to

the Resident Project Representative or PVSC Project Manager for review and approval, and they must approve of any hazardous waste disposal location.

SPPP Information:

The SPPP governs how PVSC will eliminate the contact between source materials and stormwater through the implementation of specific Best Management Practices.

- Materials storage equipment, such as roll-off containers, must be covered by a tarp when not in use.
- Stormwater accumulated within portable secondary containment may be discharged to the wastewater treatment process, surface and/or groundwater as long the Contractor can document that the stormwater has not been exposed to the materials stored or by the activities conducted within the containment area. If the contractor believes the accumulated stormwater may have been exposed, contact the Resident Project Representative or the PVSC Project Manager.

Discharges of Wastewater or Groundwater from Dewatering Operations Information:

Any discharge of Wastewater or Groundwater from Dewatering Operations into PVSC sanitary sewers or treatment plant must be approved by PVSC's Chief Operating Officer. The request for approval must be submitted using PVSC Application for Letter of Authorization ("Application") and/or Contractual Discharge Agreement. The application document can be found at: https://www.nj.gov/pvsc/home/forms/pdf/Application_GROUNDWATER_2019.pdf.

All requested information must be provided for the application to be complete. No discharges to PVSC sanitary sewers or treatment plant are permitted without submittal of an application and approval in writing. Direct discharge to storm sewers is prohibited.

Title V Air Permit Information:

PVSC's Title V Air Permit regulates the site-wide air pollution emissions. Its regulations are applicable to stationary RICE containing equipment, particularly, but not limited to, engines, pumps, compressors, generators (both emergency¹ and non-emergency use) etc., as well as other equipment such as package boilers, surface coating equipment, chemical storage tanks, etc. The PVSC facility may have the occasion to bring such equipment onsite on a short term or temporary basis. PVSC's Title V permit defines "temporary equipment" as portable equipment used to conduct Construction, Repair, or Maintenance (CRM), that may emit air pollutants above certain thresholds and/or is capable of burning fuel with a maximum heat input equal to or greater than 1 million BTU per hour (1 MMBTU/hr), which is brought and used onsite for 24 hours and up to one (1) year. This temporary equipment may be owned, rented, leased, and/or operated by PVSC or outside contractors contracted to preform work on PVSC facilities and may be separate from or integral to the equipment.

¹ In order for an event to be classified as an actual emergency (see definition of "emergency generator" at N.J.A.C. 7:27-19.1), there must be a voltage reduction issued by PJM and posted on the PJM internet website (www.pjm.com) under the "emergency procedures" menu.

Note:

- Portable CRM equipment that may emit air pollutants below certain thresholds and/or can burn fuel with a maximum heat input <u>less</u> than 1 million BTU per hour (1 MMBTU/hr) **equipment can be on site indefinitely**
- Portable CRM equipment that may emit air pollutants above certain thresholds and/or can burn fuel with a maximum heat input equal to or greater than 1 million BTU per hour (1 MMBTU/hr) may be on site for up to one year. The equipment can be on site longer than one year only after PVSC's Title V operating permit has been modified and approved by NJDEP.

If the temporary equipment will be used on site for <u>longer than one (1) year</u>, it is considered a **permanent installation** and requires PVSC to submit an application to the NJDEP to modify its Title V Operating Permit. This process can take several months and NJDEP approval must be received <u>before the one-year period expires</u>. Based on the forecasted project schedule, PVSC will determine if permit modification is likely to be required for a specific piece of equipment. If requested, the Contractor must provide all the information needed to submit a permit modification at least 90 days before the one-year period is complete.

Emergency Generators¹

Per PVSC's Title V Permit, generators that classified as "emergency generators¹," and are used to supply electricity during an event classified as an actual emergency, do not have any limitations regarding hours of operation. PVSC's recordkeeping requirements still apply. Generators that are permitted strictly as emergency generators¹ (e.g. GOP-005A/B) have 100 hours of non-emergency use per year, such as for normal testing and maintenance. **Note:** Generators that supply electricity outside of an emergency are considered normal RICE equipment, not emergency generators.

¹ In order for an event to be classified as an actual emergency (see definition of "emergency generator" at N.J.A.C. 7:27-19.1), there must be a voltage reduction issued by PJM and posted on the PJM internet website (www.pjm.com) under the "emergency procedures" menu.

ATTACHMENT A TEMPORARY EQUIPMENT NOTIFICATION FORM

| DATE: PROJECT NAME: <u>564564</u> | CONTRACT #: |
|--|---|
| INSTRUCTIONS ARE ON PAGE 5. | |
| Resident Engineer or PVSC Project Mana failure to meet the notification requirement wou, have any questions or require addit | be brought onsite without prior approval by the ager. Any violations, fines or fees resulting from nts will be the responsibility of the Contractor. If tional information on the Temporary Equipment ent Project Representative or PVSC Project Manager. |
| PROJECT | INFORMATION |
| PROJECT NAME: | |
| CONTRACTOR COMPANY NAME: | |
| PROJECT FACILITY LOCATION: | |
| CONTRACTOR NAME: | |
| CONTRACTOR CONTACT PERSON: | |
| RESIDENT PROJECT REPRESENTATIVE: | |
| PVSC ENGINEERING PROJECT MANAGER | R: |
| PVSC PROCESS CONTROL ENGINEER: | |
| SECTION A: GENERAL EQUIPM EQUIPMENT: | IENT DESCRIPTION |
| ARRIVAL DATE: ESTI | IMATED DEPARTURE DATE: |
| DURATION ONSITE: Calendar | Days DATE OF MANUFACTURE: |
| EQUIPMENT SERIAL NUMBER: EQUIPMENT SIZE, MAKE, MODEL, AND I | MATERIAL OF CONSTRUCTION: |

| DATE: | | _ PROJECT NA | AME: | | | | CONTRACT #: |
|--|-------------|------------------|---------------------|----------|--------------------------|-----------|------------------------------|
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | Equipm | ent Ty | pe (check t | ype belov | v) |
| □ Ch | emical Dru | m | ☐ Chen | nical St | orage Tank | | ☐ Chemical Tanker Truck |
| □Со | mpressor (l | oelly tank) | □ Com | pressor | (separate ta | ank) | ☐ Concrete Mixer |
| □ Fu | el Drum | ☐ Fuel Storag | ge Tank (| single v | walled) | □ Fuel | Storage Tank (double walled) |
| □ Fu | el Storage | Γank (dispenser |) | □ Fu | el Tanker T | ruck | ☐ Generator (belly tank) |
| l . | | | 1 | | | | |
| SECONDARY CONTAINMENT TO BE PROVIDED FOR TANK, EQUIPMENT, AND/OR PIPIN | | | | | EQUIPMENT, AND/OR PIPING | | |
| (Atta | ch sketch o | or specification | ıs): | YES; | Capacity | | gallons NO N/A |
| DOE | S EQUIPM | ENT FIT WITI | HIN THE | SECO | NDARY C | ONTAIN | MENT? □ YES □ NO |
| ALARM DESCRIPTION FOR LEAKS, SPILLS, OR MAJOR MALFUNCTIONS: | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| ALARM TYPE: ☐ Audible ☐ Visual ☐ Local ☐ Remote ☐ None | | | | None | | | |
| ATTACHED SKETCH OF PVSC FACILITY LOCATION OF EQ | | | JIPMENT? □ Yes □ No | | | | |
| FILL/EMPTYING METHODOLOGY: | | | | | | | |
| EME | RGENCY | CONTACT: | | | 24 HR. PH | ONE NU | MBER: |
| | | | | | (| _) | |
| | | | | | | | |
| SEC | TION B | : CHEMIC | AL OR | SUB | STANC | E STO | RAGE □ Not Applicable |
| TA | СНЕМІС | AL NAME: | | | | | SDS ATTACHED? |
| TANK 1 | STORAG | E VOLUME: _ | | | (G. | AL) | □ Yes □ No |
| TAI | СНЕМІС | AL NAME: | | | | | SDS ATTACHED? |
| TANK 2 | STORAG | E VOLUME: _ | | | (G | AL) | □ Yes □ No |
| TA] | СНЕМІС | AL NAME: | | | | | SDS ATTACHED? |
| TANK 3 | STORAG | E VOLUME: _ | | | (G | AL) | □ Yes □ No |

| DATE: PROJECT NA | AME: | | | CONTRACT #: |
|--|----------------------|--------------|---|----------------------------|
| DESCRIPTION THE USE OF T | CHE TEMBOR | ADV CTC | DDAGE TANK & | STORED SUBSTANCE: |
| DESCRIPTION THE USE OF | THE TEMPOR | CART SIC | JRAGE TAINE & | STORED SUBSTRICES. |
| The Control of the Co | OVEDEN I E | OD TANIZ | C DI EVCESS OF | 2 000 GALLONS: |
| ALARM DESCRIPTION FOR | OVERFILL FO | OK TANK | S IN EXCESS OF | 2,000 GALLONS. |
| | | | | |
| ALARM TYPE: ☐ Audible [| □ Visual □ 1 | Local | Remote | |
| SECTION C: GENERA | L EQUIPN | MENT E | EMISSIONS | ☐ Not Applicable |
| TYPE OF FUEL: | | VOLUN | ME OF FUEL TA | NK:(GAL) |
| MAXIMUM FUEL CONSUMI | PTION: | | — ☐ Gal/Hr (li — ☐ CFM (gas | quid fuels) eous fuels) |
| MAXIMUM HEAT INPUT: | N | MMBTU/F | HR (million BTU/h | r) |
| For reference: 1 million BTU/h: | | | o. 2 diesel fuel (UL leaded gasoline, or | |
| | 10.8 | gal/hr of li | iquefied propane, o | |
| | 980 s | scf/hr of na | iturai gas | |
| SECTION D: EMERGE | ENCY GEN | NERAT | OR EMISSIO | NS □ Not Applicable |
| KILOWATT RATING: | KW | EPA TII | ER RATING: | |
| ATTACHED COPY OF CUT | SHEETS WIT | H EPA TII | ER CERTIFICATI | ON? □ Yes □ No |
| CTCTYON T CUREAC | | IC FOI | HDMENT EM | USSIONS |
| SECTION E: SURFAC | E COATIN | IG EQU | IFIVIENT EIV | цээгонэ |
| ☐ Not Applicable | | | | DIAL COMPLY WITH |
| COATING MATERIAL: | | | DOES THE MATERIAL COMPLY WITH N.J.A.C. 7:27-23.3?? ☐ Yes ☐ No | |
| COATING MATERIAL SDS | ATTACHED? | [| □ YES □ NO | |
| | 1 | | RAL COATING | |
| SELECT COATING TYPE: | ☐ PAINT☐ SEAL.☐ OTHE | ANT | |) |
| NO G GONETTO VI | | % WEIGI | НТ | |
| VOC CONTENT: | 🗆 | % VOLU | ME | |

| DATE: | PROJECT NAME: | CONTRACT #: |
|------------------------------|---|---|
| | | |
| SECTIO | N F: RCRA INFORMATION | ☐ Not Applicable |
| CONTACT EQUIPME WASTE? | TED RESIDENT PROJECT REPRESENTATIVENT OR ACTIVITY MAY POTENTIALLY GEN | E OR PVSC PROJECT MANAGER IF NERATE > 10 KG OF HAZARDOUS |
| □ YES [| □NO | |
| SECTIO | N G: DISCHARGE OF WASTE | WATER OR GROUNDWATER |
| | DEWATERING OPERATIONS | □ Not Applicable |
| PRIOR T | O DISCHARGE, HAS CONTRACTOR SUBM | ITTED APPLICATION? ☐ YES ☐ NO |
| https://wv | ww.nj.gov/pvsc/home/forms/pdf/Application | GROUNDWATER 2019.pdf |
| CONTAC | TED RESIDENT PROJECT REPRESENTATIV | E OR PVSC PROJECT MANAGER? |
| ☐ YES | □NO | |

¹ In order for an event to be classified as an actual emergency (see definition of "emergency generator" at N.J.A.C. 7:27-19.1), there must be a voltage reduction issued by PJM and posted on the PJM internet website (www.pjm.com) under the "emergency procedures" menu.

| DATE: I | PROJECT NAME: | CONTRACT #: |
|---------|---------------|-----------------|
| | | |

INSTRUCTIONS:

Please complete the following checklist for each piece of temporary equipment. Provide, at minimum, the information requested, and transmit to the listed addressees using PMWeb. Provide a separate form for each item.

- 1. Complete **Section A** for each piece of equipment that can potentially store 5 gallons or more of a hazardous substance, fuel, or is equipped with a combustion source (e.g. RICE, boiler). **This section is to be completed for all equipment.**
- 2. Complete **Section B** if the equipment is meant to provide storage for hazardous substances, or fuel storage to be dispensed into other equipment. **This section is to be completed for all storage tanks.**
- 3. Complete Section C for all equipment with a Reciprocating Internal Combustion Engine (RICE), such as non-emergency generators, trailer-mounted pumps, and other combustion sources. This section is to be completed for all Reciprocating Internal Combustion Engines (RICE) and other combustion sources.
- 4. Complete **Section D** only if the equipment is an emergency generator¹ used to provide power during power outages.
- 5. Complete **Section E** only for surface coating equipment.
- 6. Complete **Section F** only if the temporary equipment or process will potentially generate 10+ kg of RCRA Hazardous Waste (as defined in federal regulations 40 CFR Part 261).
- 7. Complete **Section G** only if there will be discharge of wastewater or groundwater from dewatering operations into PVSC sanitary sewers or treatment plant.
- 8. Attach all additional data, cut sheets, or shop drawings as needed. All equipment which stores hazardous substances or fuel must be protected by secondary containment, and secondary containment must have overfill protection such as high-level alarms, visual inspections, spill alarms, leak detection, etc.

NOTIFICATION INFORMATION

The following shall be notified by the Contractor of any temporary equipment. Notifications shall be sent via PMWeb, or via mail/email for projects that do not utilize PMWeb.

- Beth Engelbert, P.E., Senior Engineer: <u>EEngelbert@pvsc.com</u>
- Resident Project Representative
- PVSC Project Manager
- PVSC Process Control Project Representative

TEMPORARY EQUIPMENT SCHEDULE ATTACHMENT B

| | | | DATE: | | |
|----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------|------------------|----------------------------|--|
| Resident Project Representative: | PVSC Engineering Project Manager: | PV3C Floress Colling Engineer. | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Project Name: | Contractor Number: | Project Facility Location: | Contractor Name: | Contractor Contact Person: | |

Instructions:

- Complete the "Temporary Equipment Schedule" once monthly and for every project meeting.
 Enter information in the "General Equipment Description", "Equipment Arrival Date" and "Equipment Departure Date" columns. The other dates are calculated automatically.
 Return completed schedule to Resident Project Representative via PMWeb, or via mail/email if the project does not use PMWeb. The PVSC Project Manager is responsible for maintaining all records.
 - 4. Schedule shall be attached to the construction meeting agenda for all project meetings.

| General Equipment | Equipment Arrival Date | DPCC Submit request to PVSC if >180 Days Date | DPCC NIDEP 60 Day Notification Date | DPCC 180 Day Max Date | PVSC if > 1 year Date | Equipment Limit Date | Departure Date |
|----------------------|------------------------------|---|-------------------------------------|-------------------------|------------------------|----------------------|-------------------|
| Describing | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | - |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 23-Apr-00 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-Jun-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |
| | | 00 ray 60 | 29-Apr-00 | 27-lin-00 | 2-Oct-00 | 30-Dec-00 | |

| | i |
|--|----|
| Equipment Arrival Date: | Ξ |
| DPCC Submit request to PVSC if >180 Days Date: | 두 |
| DPCC NJDEP 60 Day Notification Date: | As |
| DPCC 180 Day Max Date: | As |
| Title V Submit Request to PVSC if > 1 year Date: | As |
| Title V Equipment Equipment Limit Date: | As |
| | F |

his is the date the equipment will arrive at the PVSC facility; this date is independent of the date of initial use.

his is the deadline for PVSC to receive contractor DPCC submittals for equipment that will be onsite for more than 180 days.

sper NJAC, 7:1E-4.8(a) NIDEP requires that PVSC provide a written 60 day notice for permanently installed equipment/storage tanks on its property.

sper NJAC, 7:1E-4.8(a), temporary equipment is defined as being onsite for one (1) night and up to 180 consecutive calendar days; more than 180 days it is considered a permanent installation.

sper NJAC, 7:27-8.2(a), Sac 27-22.1, NDEP requires that PVSC submit a request to modify its air permit for permanently installed equipment/storage tanks on its property.

sper NJAC, 7:27-8.2(d), Sac 27-22.1, temporary equipment is defined as being onsite for one (1) night and up to one (1) year; more than one year it is considered a permanent installation.

nis is the date the equipment left the PVSC facility. Equipment Departure Date: Revision Date: June 2020

ATTACHMENT C

TEMPORARY EQUIPMENT VISUAL INSPECTION AND MONITORING CHECKLIST PROCEDURE

SCOPE AND APPLICATION:

The scope of this procedure is to provide instructions to conduct and document the visual inspection and monitoring of Temporary Equipment brought to the facility by contractors and PVSC personnel.

PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT:

All personnel conducting inspections are required to use personal protective equipment (PPE) and follow PVSC's Safety Policies and Procedures.

INSPECTION PROCEDURES:

Conduct and document Temporary Equipment General Information, Integrity and Leak Inspection, Alarm System Inspection, Stormwater Containment Inspection, Hazardous Substance Transfer Inspection, Emergency Generator Information and complete the "Attachment D - Temporary Equipment Visual Inspection and Monitoring Checklist" once weekly and during the transfer of substances.

Temporary Equipment General Information

Record the temporary equipment details in the Temporary Equipment General Information section of the "Attachment D - Temporary Equipment Visual Inspection and Monitoring Checklist".

- Record the temporary equipment size/type.
- Record the temporary equipment Make.
- Record the temporary equipment Model and/or Serial Number.
- Record the PVSC facility location of the temporary equipment.

Integrity and Leak Inspection

Inspect all items and areas listed in the Integrity and Leak Inspection section of the "Attachment D - Temporary Equipment Visual Inspection and Monitoring Checklist".

- A checked box indicates an item was inspected.
- Checking "OK" indicates no problems were found.
- Check for cracks, broken connections or joints, chipping, corrosion, drips, puddles, staining, sheens, wet areas that should be dry, discoloration, peeling paint, damaged coatings, concrete spalls, potholes, holes, debris, dents, etc.
- In the Notes section, document damages, leaks, repairs, and corrective actions recommended and notify the Resident Project Representative immediately. Record corrective action completion date and name in the appropriate section of the checklist.

Alarm System Inspection

Inspect for any temporary equipment alarms.

- Checking "NO" indicates no alarm was observed.
- Checking "YES" indicates alarm activation. Contractor must notify Resident Project Representative or PVSC Project Manager.

Stormwater Containment Inspection

Inspect all secondary containment areas for accumulated stormwater and check appropriate box.

- Check "no containment area" if there is no secondary containment area present.
- Stormwater accumulated within secondary containment may be discharged to the wastewater treatment process, surface and/or groundwater if the Contractor can document the stormwater has not been exposed to the materials stored or by the activities conducted within the containment area.
- If the containment area has accumulated stormwater, check the stormwater for discoloration, turbidity, sheens and odors.
- If the accumulated stormwater does not appear contaminated, discharge to nearby grassy area.
- If the accumulated stormwater appears unusual, DO NOT DISCHARGE.
- In the Notes section, document corrective actions recommended and notify the Resident Project Representative or PVSC Project Manager immediately. Record corrective action completion date and name in the appropriate section of the checklist.

Hazardous Substance Transfer Inspection

- If no material is transferred (delivered or removed), check the "N/A No hazardous substance transferred" box and skip this section.
- If material is transferred (delivered or removed) check "Delivery" or "Removal" boxes and complete this section. Confirm each item is complete by checking the respective box.
- Record: Hazardous Substance Name and Volume Transferred.
- Inspect Transfer Area and make a note of any problems.
- In the Notes section, document corrective actions recommended and notify the Resident Project Representative immediately. Record corrective action completion date and name in the appropriate section of the checklist.

Emergency Generator¹ Information

- If no emergency generator is present, check the "N/A No emergency generator present" box and skip this section.
- If an emergency generator is operated record the "Run Hours" for each emergency generator.

Notes

¹ In order for an event to be classified as an actual emergency (see definition of "emergency generator" at N.J.A.C. 7:27-19.1), there must be a voltage reduction issued by PJM and posted on the PJM internet website (www.pjm.com) under the "emergency procedures" menu.

- Record comments, damages, leaks, repairs, missing items, alarms and corrective actions recommended in appropriate sections and notify the Resident Project Representative immediately.
- Record corrective action completion date and name in the appropriate section of the checklist.

REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS & RECORDKEEPING:

- Complete inspection as per the "Attachment D Temporary Equipment Visual Inspection and Monitoring Checklist" once weekly and during the transfer of material.
- Records shall be maintained by the PVSC Project Project Representative in an accessible and organized fashion and available for review at any time.

CONTACT INFORMATION:

- Beth Engelbert, P.E., Senior Engineer: <u>EEngelbert@pvsc.com</u>
- Resident Project Representative
- PVSC Project Manager
- PVSC Process Control Project Representative

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE CONTRACTOR

ATTACHMENT D TEMPORARY EQUIPMENT VISUAL INSPECTION AND MONITORING CHECKLIST

| CONTRACTOR: | PROJECT NAME: | | CONTRACT #: |
|--|---|---|---|
| DATE:TIN | ME:INSPECTOR'S NA | AME (Print): | |
| Monitoring Chrsubstances. 2. Checking "OK" 3. Record all commended, required, check 4. Return complete if the project demaintaining all | | and during the ssing items, alarm Representative imports PN | transfer of hazardous as and corrective actions mediately. If none are MWeb, or via mail/email |
| | ment General Information t being inspected: (size/type) | | |
| Temporary Equipmen | t MAKE: | | |
| Temporary Equipmen | t MODEL/SERIAL NUMBER: | | |
| Temporary Equipmen | t Location: | | |
| Integrity and Leak | Inspection | | |
| Inspect tank piping ar | | | ☐ Leaks ☐ OK |
| Inspect temporary equ | nipment | | □ Leaks □ OK |
| Inspect surface below | and around temporary equipment | | □ Leaks □ OK |
| Alarm System Ins | pection | • | |
| | arms observed? (if Yes, notify | Resident Project | □ YES □ NO |

| DATE: | TIME: | LOCATION: | NAM | E (Print): | |
|----------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------|--|---|-----------------------------------|
| Stormwa | ter Containn | nent Inspectio | n | | |
| | | in containment | ☐ No containment area for ☐ No accumulated storms ☐ Stormwater appears con Representative contacted ☐ Stormwater appears un with approval from Resident Estimated Discharge Vo | water ntaminated and Resident (DO NOT DISCHARGE contaminated and it was ent Project Representativ | t Project E) drained ve. |
| Hazardou ☐ Delivery | | Transfer Insp □ Removal | | ardous substance transfe | arred |
| Hazardous | Substance Na | me: | Volume Tr | ansferred: | _ Gallons |
| Inspect Tr | ansfer Area: | □ No Problems F | ound □ Problems No | oted | |
| Emergen | cy Generato | r Information | □ N/A – No emer | gency generator present | |
| Emergenc | y Generator RU | JN HOURS: | | | Hours |
| | ll comments ing damage. | , including all | damage items, leaks, | repairs, alarm failt □ Not Applicable | ures |
| Record a | ny correctiv | e action recom | nmended. | □Not Applicable | |
| Corrective | Action Comple | etion Date: | Name: | | _ |

APPENDIX Page 1 of 3

EXECUTIVE ORDER 189

State of New Jersey Executive Order #189

Governor Thomas H. Kean Return to EO Index

WHEREAS, it is essential that all persons supplying goods or services to the State of New Jersey, or performing contracts or otherwise executing public works with the assistance of and subject to the approval of the State, must meet a standard of responsibility which assures the State and its citizens that such persons will both compete and perform honestly in their dealings with the State and avoid conflicts of interest; and

WHEREAS, the New Jersey Conflicts of Interest Law prohibits State officers or employees and special State officers or employees from having any interest or engaging in any activity that is in substantial conflict with the proper discharge of their duties in the public interest or from undertaking any employment or service which might reasonably be expected to impair their objectivity or independence of judgment; and

WHEREAS, the New Jersey Conflicts of Interest Law prohibits State officers or employees and special State officers or employees from acting in their official capacity in any matter wherein they have a direct or indirect personal financial interest which might reasonably be expected to impair their objectivity or independence of judgment; and

WHEREAS, N.J.S.A. 52:34-19 provides that it shall be a misdemeanor to pay any fee, commission, compensation, gift or gratuity of any kind, directly or indirectly, to any person employed by the Department of the Treasury or to any other person in the employ of the State having any duties or responsibilities in connection with the purchase or acquisition of any property or services by the State or any agency or instrumentality thereof by or on behalf of any seller or supplier of such goods or services or other party to a contract with the State; and

WHEREAS, it is essential that persons providing goods or services to, or performing contracts for, the State be fully informed of the policies of the State concerning their relationships with State officers or employees and special State officers or employees and that these policies be uniformly applied by the various agencies of the Executive Branch; and

WHEREAS, it is therefore necessary to supplement Executive Order No. 34 (1976), which provides the grounds and procedures applicable to the debarment, suspension and disqualification of State vendors, to encompass appropriate standards prohibiting conflicts of interest on the part of present and prospective State vendors;

NOW, THEREFORE, I, THOMAS H. KEAN, Governor of the State of New Jersey, by virtue of the authority vested in me by the Constitution and by the Statutes of this State, do hereby ORDER and DIRECT:

APPENDIX 7 Page 2 of 3

1. As used in this Order, "vendor" means any person, firm, corporation, or other entity which provides or offers or proposes to provide goods or services to or perform any contract for any State agency.

- 2. The executive head of each department or agency in the Executive Branch with the lawful authority to engage in State contracting shall, in accordance with the provisions of the Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., promulgate regulations supplementing those heretofore established pursuant to Executive Order No. 34 (1976) governing the causes, conditions and procedures applicable to determinations of debarment, suspension and disqualification by the department or agency to include the minimum standards hereinafter set forth. In addition to any other filing required by law to be made, each executive head shall file with the Attorney General and Treasurer a copy of such rules and regulations as may be promulgated.
- 3. The rules and regulations referred to in Paragraph 2 shall include the following prohibitions on vendor activities, the violation of which shall render said vendor liable to debarment in the public interest, pursuant to the procedures established by Executive Order No. 34 (1976), by any Executive department or agency:
- a. No vendor shall pay, offer to pay, or agree to pay, either directly or indirectly, any fee, commission, compensation, gift, gratuity, or other thing of value of any kind to any State officer or employee or special State officer or employee, as defined by N.J.S.A. 52:13D-13b. and e., in the Department of the Treasury or any other agency with which such vendor transacts or offers or proposes to transact business, or to any member of the immediate family, as defined by N.J.S.A. 52:13D-13i., of any such officer or employee, or any partnership, firm, or corporation with which they are employed or associated, or in which such officer or employee has an interest within the meaning of N.J.S.A. 52:13D-13g.
- b. The solicitation of any fee, commission, compensation, gift, gratuity or other thing of value by any State officer or employee or special State officer or employee from any State vendor shall be reported in writing forthwith by the vendor to the Attorney General and the Executive Commission on Ethical Standards, now known as the State Ethics Commission.
- c. No vendor may, directly or indirectly, undertake any private business, commercial or entrepreneurial relationship with, whether or not pursuant to employment, contract or other agreement, express or implied, or sell any interest in such vendor to, any State officer or employee or special State officer or employee having any duties or responsibilities in connection with the purchase, acquisition or sale of any property or services by or to any State agency or any instrumentality thereof, or with any person, firm or entity with which he/she is employed or associated or in which he/she has an interest within the meaning of N.J.S.A. 52:13D-13g. Any relationships subject to this provision shall be reported in writing forthwith to the Executive Commission on Ethical Standards, now known as the State Ethics Commission, which may grant a waiver of this restriction upon application of the State officer or employee or special State officer or employee upon a finding that the present or proposed relationship does not present the potential, actuality or appearance of a conflict of interest.

APPENDIX 7 Page 3 of 3

d. No vendor shall influence, or attempt to influence or cause to be influenced, any State officer or employee or special State officer or employee in his/her official capacity in any manner which might tend to impair the objectivity or independence of judgment of said officer or employee.

- e. No vendor shall cause or influence, or attempt to cause or influence, any State officer or employee or special State officer or employee to use, or attempt to use, his/her official position to secure unwarranted privileges or advantages for the vendor or any other person.
- f. The provisions cited above in paragraph 3a. through 3e. shall not be construed to prohibit a State officer or employee or special State officer or employee from receiving gifts from or contracting with vendors under the same terms and conditions as are offered or made available to members of the general public subject to any guidelines the Executive Commission on Ethical Standards, now known as the State Ethics Commission. may promulgate under paragraph 3c of Executive Order No. 189.
- 4. The rules and regulations referred to in Paragraph 2, supra, shall require that the prohibitions set forth Paragraph 3, supra, shall be included in all requests for proposals issued by any State department or agency and in all contracts executed on behalf of a State department or agency, other than those of an interstate agency to which New Jersey is a party and contracts entered into on behalf of the interstate agency.
- 5. Nothing required by this Order shall be construed to limit the authority of any State department or agency to refrain from contracting within the discretion allowed by law, or to limit N.J.S.A. 52:34-19 or any other applicable statute or regulation.
- 6. This Order shall take effect on the ninetieth day following its execution.

GIVEN, under my hand and seal, this 20th day of July in the Year of Our Lord, one thousand nine hundred and eighty-eight, and of the Independence of the United States, the two hundred and thirteenth.

/s/Thomas H. Kean GOVERNOR

(seal)

Attest:

/s/ Michael R. Cole

Chief Counsel

| Bidder/Offeror: | |
|--|---|
| | |
| Pursuant to Public Law 2012, c. 25, any person or entity that submits a bid or propose tenew a contract with the Passaic Valley Sewerage Commission must complete the perjury, that the person or entity's parents, subsidiaries, or affiliates is not identified of Department of the Treasury as a person or entity engaging in investment activities in 25 List") The Chapter 25 list is found on the Division's website at http://www.state.nj.us/treasury/purchase/pdf/Chapte | certification below to attest, under penalty of on a list created and maintained by the N.J. n Iran pursuant to P.L. 2012, c. 25 ("Chapter |
| Bidders must review this list prior to completing the below certification. Failure to complete non-responsive. | the certification will render a bidder's proposal |
| f PVSC finds a person or entity to be in violation of the principles which are the subjappropriate and provided by law, rule or contract, including but not limited to, imposidamages, declaring the party in default and seeking debarment or suspension of the | ng sanctions, seeking compliance, recovering |
| PLEASE CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX: I certify that I am the person listed above, or I am an officer or representative of to the certification on its behalf. I will skip Part 2 and sign and complete the Certification on its behalf. I will skip Part 2 and sign and complete the Certification on its behalf. | |
| ☐ I am unable to certify as above because the bidder and/or one or more of its pare New Jersey Department of Treasury Chapter 25 list. I will provide a detailed, accurated a securated to the securated and the securated are the securated and the securated are the securated as the securated are the securated are the securated as the securated are the securated as the securated are the sec | |
| and sign and complete the Certification below. Failure to provide such will result in the and appropriate penalties, fines and/or sanctions will be assessed as provided by law | W. |
| PROVIDE FURTHER INFORMATION RELATED TO INVESTMENT ACTI | PART 2: PLEASE |
| You must provide a detailed, accurate and precise description of the activit ts parents, subsidiaries or affiliates, engaging in the investment activities in poxes below. | |
| Name: | |
| Relationship to Bidder/Offeror: | |
| Description of Activities: | |
| - | |
| | |
| Duration of Engagement: | Anticipated Cessation |
| Proposer Contact Name: Number: | |
| Certification: I, being duly sworn upon my oath, hereby represent and state that attachments thereto to the best of my knowledge are true and complete. I attest certification on behalf of the above-referenced person or entity. I acknowledge the information contained herein and thereby acknowledge that I am under a contriction through the completion of any contracts with the State to notify the answers of information contained herein. I acknowledge that I am aware that it statement or misrepresentation in this certification, and if I do so, I recognize the law and that it will also constitute a material breach of my agreement the State at its option may declare any contract(s) resulting from this certification. | st that I am authorized to execute this that the State of New Jersey is relying on continuing obligation from the date of this ne State in writing of any changes to the tis a criminal offense to make a false that I am subject to criminal prosecution of the state of New Jersey and that |
| Full Name (Print) Signature | |
| Title Date: | |
| unie | |